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EXHIBIT A

Financial Reports

The Interim Report of the Company for the nine months ended September 30,
2001 (in English).

The Interim Report of the Company for the six months ended June 30, 2001
(in English).

The Press Release of the Company dated April 27, 2001 with a Report on
operations for the three months ended March 31, 2001 (in English).

The 2000 Annual Report of the Company (in Swedish with an explanatory
note in English).

The 1999 Annual Report of the Company (in Swedish with an explanatory
note in English).

The Interim Report of AssiDomén for the nine months ended September 30,
2001 (in English).

The Interim Report of AssiDomién for the six months ended June 30, 2001 (in
English).

The Interim Report of AssiDomin for the three months ended March 31, 2001
(in English).

The 2000 Annual Report of AssiDomin (in English).

The 1999 Annual Report of AssiDomén (in English).

The Interim Report of Stora Enso for the nine months ended September 30,
2001 (in English).

The Interim Report of Stora Enso for the six months ended June 30, 2001 (in
English).

The Interim Report of Stora Enso for the three months ended March 31, 2001
(in English).

The 2000 Annual Report of Stora Enso (in English).

The 1999 Annual Report of Stora Enso (in English).

Press Releases of the Company and General

Press Release dated November 16, 2001, “Billerud to invest in Gruvén.”

The Listing Particulars dated October 31, 2001, distributed in connection with
the Spin-off.

Press Release dated October 31, 2001, “Billerud to the stock exchange.”

The Application to list the Company Shares on the O-List of the Stockholm
Stock Exchange dated October 23, 2001, including all documents attached as
exhibits thereto (in Swedish with a full translation in English of the
application)

Press Release dated August 1, 2001, “New financing in connection with the
listing.”

The Company’s Newsletter dated May 2001.

The Information Brochure dated April 27, 2001 entitled “Information to
shareholders in AssiDomén AB regarding the distribution of shares in Billerud
ABR”

A-l
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Press Releases of AssiDomin

Press Release dated October 31, 2001, “Go-ahead for distribution of Billerud.”
Press Release dated October 23, 2001, “Billerud - earlier third quarter report
and preliminary number of shares.”

Press Release dated October 16, 2001, “Distribution of Billerud — Preliminary
timetable.”

Press Release dated October 10, 2001, “Statement by the Board of Directors of
AssiDomin AB.”

Press Release dated October 9, 2001, “AssiDomin sells Swedish glueglam
plant to Norrfog.”

Press Release dated October 3, 2001, “AssiDomién signs deal with Vilhemina
ovre allménningsskog.”

Press Release dated September 28, 2001, “Sveaskog and AssiDomin in talks.”
Press Release dated August 22, 2001, “AssiDomin’s financial targets
adjusted.”

Press Release dated August 22, 2001, “The new AssiDomin.”

Press Release dated May 22, 2001, “Welcome to smart forestry.”

Press Release dated May 22, 2001, “Decisions taken at AssiDomin’s 2001
AG

Press Release dated May 21, 2001, “AssiDomén proposes redemption of
shares for SEK 12 billion.”

Press Release dated May 18, 2001, “Sale to Kappa completed.”

Press Release dated May 11, 2001, “European Commission approves
AssiDomin’s sale to Kappa”

Press Release dated April 27, 2001, “AssiDomén Frévi to invest in a new
digester plant.”

Press Release dated April 18, 2001, “AssiDomin reports environmental
improvements in several prioritized areas.”

Press Release dated March 15, 2001, “Payout of redemption amount.”

Press Release dated March 12, 2001, “AssiDomin to sell Corrugated &
Containerboard to Kappa Holdings.”

Press Release dated February 22, 2001, “Formation of Billerud finalized.”
Press Release dated December 22, 2000, “EC approves formation of Billerud.”
Press Release dated December 22, 2000, “Financial Calendar 2001.”

- Press Release dated December 14, 2000, “AssiDomin investing.”

Press Release dated November 30, 2000, “Bert Ostlund appointed President of
Billerud.”

Press Release dated November 27, 2000, “AssiDomin transfers SEK 4,411
million to its shareholders through share redemption.”

Press Release dated November 20, 2000, “AssiDomin seeks stronger
ownership structure for packaging operations.”

Press Release dated November 10, 2000, “Stora Enso and AssiDomin sign
final agreement concerning formation of Billerud.”

Press Release dated November 8, 2000, “AssiDomin increases capacity for
recycled-fibre based containerboard.”

Press Release dated November 1, 2000, “Fagerdala Industri AB to by
AssiDomén Por-Pac.”

Press Release dated October 27, 2000, “Formation of Billerud will have
positive effects on AssiDomén.”
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Press Releases of AssiDomiin (cont’d)

Press Release dated October 27, 2000, “Billerud — Stora Enso and AssiDoméin
to form joint company for packaging paper.”

Press Release dated October 9, 2000, “Resolution at AssiDomin’s
extraordinary general meeting on 9 October 2000.”

Press Release dated September 29, 2000, “Proposed terms for the redemption
of shares in AssiDomén AB.”

Press Release dated September 8, 2000, “AssiDomin buys corrugated
companies in Finland.”

Press Release dated September 7, 2000, “AssiDomin proposes redemption of
shares for SEK 4.5 billion.”

Press Release dated September 7, 2000, “New MD at AssiDomiin Kraftliner.”
Press Release dated August 11, 2000, “Sale to Frantschach completed.”

Press Release dated August 1, 2000, “European Commission approves
AssiDomén’s sale to Frantschach.”

Press Release dated June 28, 2000, “AssiDomén aborts sale of Cartonboard.”
Press Release dated June 22, 2000, “Final agreement on the sale of JCP
Izolacie.”

- Press Release dated June 22, 2000, “AssiDomin invests MEUR 14 in French

corrugated operation.”

Press Release dated May 16, 2000, “Final agreement between AssiDomin and
Frantschach.”

Press Release dated May 3, 2000, “Peter Méansson new head of Investor
Relations AssiDomin.”

Press Release dated April 17, 2000, “Decisions at AssiDomin’s Annual
General Meeting 2000.”

Press Release dated April 17, 2000, “A customer-responsive, profitable and
value-creating AssiDomin.”

Press Release dated March 20, 2000, “AssiDomaén improves its environmental
key ratios.”

Press Release dated March 16, 2000, “Proposed Board of AssiDoméin AB.”
Press Release dated February 17, 2000, “AssiDomén’s future direction.”
Press Release dated February 3, 2000, “AssiDomén and Frantschach sign
Letter of Intent.”

Press Release dated January 26, 2000, “AssiDomén and Frantschach are
discussing.”

Press Release dated January 17, 2000, “Vida to buy Niab Hestra from
AssiDomén.”

Press Release dated January 11, 2000, “Flnanc1a1 hlstory according to new
reporting structure.”

Press Releases of Stora Enso

Press Release dated November 14, 2001, “Stora Enso Packaging expanding in
Greece.”

Press Release dated November 8, 2001, “2001 Finnish Quality Award to Stora
Enso’s Oulu Mill.”

Press Release dated November 8, 2001, “Stora Enso wins Swedish prize for
financial reporting in 2000.”
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Press Releases of Stora Enso (cont’d)

Press Release dated November 2, 2001, “Stora Enso has appointed Hannu
Karppinen General Manager of its Anjalankoski mills.”

Press Release dated October 30, 2001, “Stora Enso’s Website best.”

Press Release dated October 25, 2001, “Interim review January — September
2001.”

Press Release dated October 17, 2001, “Stora Enso share capital increased.”
Press Release dated October 12, 2001, “Stora Enso shareholding in Suzhou
mill in China increased.”

Press Release dated October 10, 2001, “Stora Enso’s shareholding in Billerud
reduced.”

Press Release dated October 8, 2001, “Stora Enso to form a new Business
Group.”

Press Release dated October 4, 2001, “Stora Enso’s converted shares
registered in Finnish trade register.”

Press Release dated October 2, 2001, “Period for conversion of Stora Enso
shares over.”

Press Release dated October 1, 2001, “Stora Enso’s new ecologically efficient
fibre line at Imatra.”

Press Release dated September 4, 2001, “Stora Enso again included in Dow
Jones Sustainability Index.” '

Press Release dated August 20, 2001, “Corenso to develop core production in
China.”

Press Release dated August 17, 2001, “Stora Enso to buy out minority
shareholding in Stora Enso Timber.”

Press Release dated August 17, 2001, “Stora Enso’s Board defines annual
period for conversion of A shares.”

Press Release dated August 17, 2001, “Stora Enso s subsxdxary Corenso to
acquire two Swedish core factories.”

Press Release dated August 17, 2001, “Stora Enso management
appointments.”

Press Release dated August 17, 2001 “Stora Enso Board approves asset
improvement programme at Langebrugge Belgium.”

Press Release dated August 13, 2001, “Stora Enso sawmill in Austria damaged
by fire.”

Press Release dated July 26, 2001, “Interim Review January — June 2001.”
Press Release dated July 20, 2001, “Stora Enso shares subscribed under Stora
Enso’s North American option programme.”

Press Release dated July 11, 2001, “Stora Enso included in index of social
responsibility.”

Press Release dated July 9, 2001, “Stora Enso chooses IconMedialab to lead
global online initiative.”

Press Release dated July 2, 2001, “Stora Enso’s repurchase of its own shares.”
Press Release dated June 19, 2001, “Stora Enso Annual Report on Form
20-F.”

Press Release dated June 18, 2001, “Notice of shareholding changes in
accordance with Chapter 2, section 10 of the Finnish Securities Markets Act
and the relevant decision of the Finnish Ministry of Finance.”

Press Release dated June 8, 2001, “Stora Enso financial information release
dates in 2002.”
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Press Releases of Stora Enso (cont’d)

Press Release dated June 6, 2001, “Stora Enso overall winner of annual report
competition in Finland.”

Press Release dated May 29, 2001, “Stora Enso shares subscribed under 1997
bonds with warrants.”

Press Release dated May 18, 2001, “Stora Enso successfully launches and
prices its US dollar 750 million debut SEC registered global bond offering.”
Press Release dated May 16, 2001, “Sale of shares registered in Stora Enso’s
joint book entry securities account.”

Press Release dated May 16, 2001, “Changes in Stora Enso’s Management
Group.”

Press Release dated May 10, 2001, “Stora Enso to launch a SEC registered US
dollar global bond offering.”

Press Release dated May 9, 2001, “Stora Enso welcomes the new EMAS
logo.”

Press Release dated May 4, 2001, “Finnish State’s holding in Stora Enso
increased.”

Press Release dated May 3, 2001, “Stora Enso’s subsidiary Corenso
strengthens UK market presence.”

Press Release dated April 26, 2001, “Interim review January — March 2001.”
Press Release dated April 25, 2001, “Reduction in Stora Enso share capital.”
Press Release dated April 10, 2001, “Dissolving of Stora Enso’s Pulp
Division.”

Press Release dated April 9, 2001, “Stora Enso Packaging increasing
investment in Russia.”

Press Release dated March 30, 2001, “Stora Enso’s subsidiary Corenso
strengthens UK market presence.”

Press Release dated March 29, 2001, “Stora Enso has started the repurchase of
its on shares.”

Press Release dated March 20, 2001, “Stora Enso’s Annual General Meeting
and decisions by the Board of Directors.”

Press Release dated March 20, 2001, “Stora Enso to dissolve Pulp Division.”
Press Release dated March 16, 2001, “Stora Enso shares subscribed under
Stora Enso’s North American option programme.”

Press Release dated March 15, 2001, “Stora Enso to increase SEK-
benchmarks.”

Press Release dated February 20, 2001, “Stora Enso to rebuild Summa paper
machine no. 3 and thermomechanical pulping plant.”

Press Release dated February 7, 2001, “Stora Enso’s Board proposals to the
Annual General Meeting.”

Press Release dated February 7, 2001, “Stora Enso’s year 2000 EPS at record
EUR 1.32, up 48%.”

Press Release dated January 17, 2001, “Stora Enso, UPM-Kymmene and
Tampere University of Technology to cooperate on research and
development.”

Press Release dated January 16, 2001, “Stora Enso Timber investing in heat
treatment of wood.”

Press Release dated January 9, 2001, “Stora Enso plans to restructure its
production capacity.”

Press Release dated January 2, 2001, “Stora Enso shares subscribed.”
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Press Releases of Stora Enso (cont’d)

Press Release dated December 20, 2000, “Stora Enso’s subsidiary Corenso
expanding into North America.”

Press Release dated December 14, 2000, “Stora Enso Pulp Division
appointment.”

Press Release dated November 29, 2000, “Competition Council has given its
ruling in a case against Stora Enso, UPM-Kymmene and Metsilito for breach
of the Act on Competition Restrictions.”

Press Release dated November 28, 2000, “Stora Enso Oyj internal
restructuring.”

Press Release dated November 23, 2000 “Stora Enso to 1ssue SEK-
benchmarks under EMTN-programme.”

Press Release dated November 17, 2000, “Stora Enso Packagmg to invest in
mobile phone packaging in Hungary and Finland.”

Press Release dated November 13, 2000, “Stora Enso North America earns
Sustainable Forestry Initiative Certification.”

Press Release dated November 9, 2000, “Finnish Quality award for
Laminating Papers Oy.”

Press Release dated November 8, 2000, “Agreement concerning Stora Enso’s
shareholding in Kittild Wood.”

Press Release dated November 3, 2000, “Stora Enso’s converted shares
registered in the Finnish trade register.”

Press Release dated November 2, 2000, “Stora Enso reports best ever
quarterly reports.”

Press Release dated November 2, 2000, “Period for conversion of Stora Enso
shares over.”

Press Release dated October 27, 2000, “Stora Enso and AssiDomaén reached
an agreement in principle to form a new company from the paper mills
Gruvén, Karlsborg and Skirblacka.”

Press Release dated October 25, 2000, “Stora Enso North America to
permanently retire two paper machines, reducing annual capacity of 80,000
tonnes.”

Press Release dated October 10, 2000, “Stora Enso plans to close its Newton
Kyme packaging board mill.”

Press Release dated October 10, 2000, “Stora Enso, Aracuz and Odebrecht
sign final agreements regarding the Veracel pulp mill project.”

Press Release dated October 3, 2000, “Summary of Stora share buy backs up
to 2 October 2000.”

Press Release dated September 19, 2000, “Stora Enso to acquire Tetra Pak’s
Forshaga production unit.”

Press Release dated September 18, 2000, “Finnish State’s and Investor AB’s
holdings of Stora Enso decreased.”

Press Release dated September 13, 2000, “Stora Enso listed on New York
Stock Exchange.”

Press Release dated September 11, 2000, “Stora Enso share capital to
increase.”

Press Release dated September 11, 2000, “Stora Enso announces merger
consideration.”

Press Release dated August 31, 2000, “Stora Enso management appointment.”
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Press Releases of Stora Enso (cont’d)

Press Release dated August 31, 2000, “Stora Enso acquisition of Consolidated
Papers completed.”

Press Release dated August 30, 2000, “Stora Enso merger with Consolidated
Papers approved by the shareholders of Consolidated Papers.”

Press Release dated August 28, 2000, “Stora Enso receives approval of New
York Stock Exchange listing; Acquisition of Consolidated Papers to close
August 31, 2000.”

Press Release dated August 25, 2000, “Stora Enso and Consolidated Papers to
clarify PUHCA status.”

Press Release dated August 21, 2000, “Stora Enso financial information
release dates in 2001.”

Press Release dated August 18, 2000, “Stora Enso Extraordinary General
Meeting on 18 August 2000.”

Press Release dated August 18, 2000, “Meeting of Stora Enso Board of
Directors on 18 August 2000.”

Press Release dated August 9, 2000, “Stora Enso announces its North
American organisation.” :

Press Release dated August 2, 2000, “Good six months for Stora Enso.”

Press Release dated July 31, 2000, “Stora Enso’s Registration Statement on
Form F-4 declared effective.”

Press Release dated July 27, 2000, “Stora Enso Extraordinary General
Meeting on 18 August 2000.”

Press Release dated July 10, 2000, “Change in the publishing timetable of
Stora Enso interim review.”

Press Release dated July 6, 2000, “Stora Enso, Odebrecht and Aracruz decide
to associate in Veracel pulp mill project.”

Press Release dated June 29, 2000, “Kai Korhonen to be responsible for Stora
Enso’s North American operations.”

Press Release dated June 26, 2000, “Stora Enso and Vapo Oy Energia agree to
increase large-scale use of forest chips in Finland.”

Press Release dated June 16, 2000, “Stora Enso investing in Kotka Mill.”
Press Release dated June 15, 2000, “New organization for Stora Enso
Timber.” :

Press Release dated June 9, 2000, “Stora Enso to own 60% of Indonesian
plantation project.”

Press Release dated June 5, 2000, “Stora Enso and Huhtamiki Van Leer form
joint venture in packaging for mobile communications.”

Press Release dated May 31, 2000, “Stora Enso and Fortum close the deal on
sale of power assets.”

Press Release dated May 19, 2000, “Jorma Westlund appointed Stora Enso’s-
Senior Vice President, Public Affairs, Finland.”

Press Release dated May 5, 2000, “Stora Enso inaugurates new research center
in Ménchengladbach.”

Press Release dated May 4, 2000, “Stora Enso delivered good results in
January — March.”

Press Release dated April 19, 2000, “Production restarted at Stora Enso’s mills
as strike ended.”

Press Release dated April 18, 2000, “First prize in business-to-business class.”
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Press Releases of Stora Enso (cont’d)

Press Release dated April 17, 2000, “Stora Enso and Fortum sign agreement
on sale of power assets.”

Press Release dated April 11, 2000, “Strike has stopped production at Stora
Enso’s Finnish mills.”

Press Release dated March 24, 2000, “Appointments at Stora Enso.”

Press Release dated March 22, 2000, “Cooperation related to wood trade
referred to the Competition Council.”

Press Release dated March 21, 2000, “Stora Enso’s Annual General Meeting.”
Press Release dated March 1, 2000, “Corenso acquires tube plants in the
Netherlands, Sweden and Spain.”

Press Release dated February 22, 2000, “Stora Enso to acquire Consolidated
Papers for EUR 4.9 billion.” v

Press Release dated February 10, 2000, “Stora Enso’s financial results for
1999.”

Press Release dated February 10, 2000, “Stora Enso delivers improved
results.”

Press Release dated February 10, 2000, “Stora Enso’s Board proposals to the
Annual General Meeting.”

Press Release dated January 27, 2000, “Stora Enso and Fortum reached
agreement on Stora Enso’s power assets.”

Press Release dated January 26, 2000, “Stora Enso registers new shares.”
Press Release dated January 14, 2000, “Appointment in Stora Enso internal
audit.”

Press Release dated January 11, 2000, “Stora Enso to cease board production
in Mélndal.”

Press Release dated January 7, 2000, “Pakenso Oy became Stora Enso
Packaging Oy.”

Press Release dated January 5, 2000, “Franklin Resources Group’s holding of
Stora Enso below 5 percent.”

Press Release dated January 4, 2000, “Stora Enso/Papyrus acquires Norwegian
paper merchant.”
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This document is a translation of the original, published in Swedish. In cases of any discrepancies between
the Swedish and English versions, or in any other context, the Swedish original shall have precedence.

INTERIM REPORT

Bl LI_ERU D January-September 2001

Corporate Identity No. 556025-5001 www.billerud.com

The establishment of Billerud through the merger of AssiDomén’s Skarblacka and Karlsborg
paper mills with Stora Enso’s Gruvén paper mill has created a new, competitive and in many
respects leading company in packaging paper. On 30 September, Billerud was 50% owned
by. AssiDomén and 50% by Stora Enso.

After the end of September, Stora Enso agreed with AssiDomén to sell 20% of the shares in
Billerud to AssiDoman, AssiDomén therefore now holds 70% of the shares in Billerud.

(All financial information relating to 2000 is pro forma)

January-
Quarter September
2001 2001 2000
i Il il 2001 | 2000

1 Net tui’nover, MSEK 1,593 1,742 1,696 5175, 4,895
Operating profit, MSEK 246 319 483 1,034 998
Operating margin, % 15 18 28 20 20
Profit after financial items, MSEK 217 292 D 951 -
Earnings per share, SEK 2.45 3.33 1 10.83 } -

1) Historical data not available

¢ Downward trend in the market continued.

e Operating profit for the period January-September 2001 was slightly better than in the
same period last year.

¢ Earnings declined by MSEK 73 in the third quarter compared with the previous quarter,
mainly due to lower average prices for market pulp, maintenance shutdowns at Gruvén
and Karlsborg and costs for the build-up of Billerud and stock-exchange listing (MSEK
22).

® Return on capital employed, measured as a moving 12-month figure, amounted to 30%
(30% for the full year 2000).

e Stock-exchange listing planned for 20 November 2001.

® Earnings for the fourth quarter are expected to be slighths =~
quarter.

If you have a
Bert Ostlund, Prt R
or Nils Lindh. a1 'l




The accounts are prepared in accordance with the recommendations of the Swedish
Financial Accounting Standards Council. For further details, see page 7.

Billerud Group
Market

Demand for Billerud’s products has been relatively stable during the year with delivery
volumes only marginally below the previous year's level. The market for Billerud's packaging
paper was strong at the beginning of the year, but has subsequently gradually weakened.
Price reductions were implemented in local currencies but this was compensated by the
weakening of the Swedish krona.

Demand for market pulp has been low but, due to substantial production curtailments, stocks
held by pulp producers fell during the year. The price of long-fibre market pulp fell
considerably, from USD 710 per tonne at the beginning of the year to USD 450 per tonne at
the end of September. Starting in October, however, some price increases have been
effected for market pulp.

Billerud implemented production curtailments due to the demand situation in the first half of
the year. The annual maintenance shutdowns took place at Gruvdn and Karisborg in the third
quarter, which led to lower production and deliveries.

Sales and results

Third quarter

Net turnover for the period amounted to MSEK 1,593, a decrease of 9% compared with the
second quarter. The lower turnover is explained by lower deliveries, mainly of
containerboard, as well as reduced prices for market pulp. Prices for Billerud’s paper
products, expressed in Swedish kronor, were on average relatively stable. The lower
volumes are mainly due to the annual maintenance shutdowns at two mills (Gruvén and
Karlsborg) in the third quarter but only in one mill (Skarblacka) in the second quarter.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 246, a decline compared with the previous quarter of
MSEK 73 or 23%. The reduced prices for market pulp and lower deliveries due to the
maintenance shutdowns had a negative impact on earnings. Furthermore, earnings for the
quarter were charged with MSEK 22 in non-recurring costs for the build-up of Billerud and
the stock-exchange listing.

Comments on the earnings trend for each product area are provided on page 5.
January - September

Compared with the first nine months of 2000, net turnover increased by 6% and amounted to
MSEK 5,175. The higher turnover was attributable to higher prices for kraft paper and
containerboard and the weakened Swedish krona. This was offset by lower prices for market
pulp. In total, deliveries decreased by 3% compared with the same period in 2000.

The operating profit of MSEK 1,034 represents an improvement compared with the first nine
~ months of 2000 of MSEK 36 or 4%. The increase was attributable to the higher average
prices for Billerud's paper products. The effect of the higher prices in Swedish kronor was



offset, however, by reduced pulp prices and higher variable costs, mainly due to higher wood
and chemical prices.

Compared with the previous year, earnings were charged with MSEK 32 in non-recurring
costs for the formation of Billerud and the stock-exchange listing. In the previous year, a
MSEK 25 repayment of funds was received from SPP. Adjusted for these two items, the
earnings improvement, compared with 2000, amounted to MSEK 93.

Net financial items, amounting to MSEK -83, related to interest paid at market rates on loans
from the company’s owners. o

The estimated tax charge was MSEK 271. The tax charge corresponds to a tax rate of just
over 28%.

Return on capital employed, calculated on the latest 12-month period, amounted to 30%,
compared with 30% for the full year 2000. Return on equity was 35%.

Foreign exchange exposure

25% of the Group's sales are in Swedish kronor and 75% in foreign currency, primarily EUR,
USD and GBP. Most sales in SEK, however, are closely related to market pricing in other
currencies, primarily USD. The Group's currency hedging takes these underlying flows into
account. The majority of costs are in Swedish kronor. The Group is therefore exposed to
exchange rate fluctuations. In order to manage this, Billerud has hedged exchange rates as
shown below.

Currency breakdown of the Group’s sales in % of turnover, Jan-Sept 2001

EUR 40%
SEK 25%
usD 20%
GBP ‘ 5%
Others 10%
Total 100%

Hedging as % of forecasted underlying net flows for the next 12 months

Currency Months 1-3 Months 4-6 Months 7-12 Total ' Average rates
EUR 100 80 55 70 9.58
USD 100 100 95 95 10.56

GBP - 100 60 50 65 -15.21

Investments, cash flow and financial position

Billerud's capital employed amounted to MSEK 4,745 on 30 September 2001, compared with
MSEK 4,828 pro forma on 1 January 2001.

Gross investments amounted to MSEK 275, while depreciation during the same period

* amounted to MSEK 259. Most of the investment amount relates to investment projects
started before year-end 2000, primarily an evaporation unit and soda recovery boiler at
Gruvén. Investment projects decided after year-end 2000 include replacement of washing
filters at Skarblacka.



Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MSEK 1,035. After net investments (MSEK
272) the operating cash flow amounted to MSEK 763. The operating cash flow corresponds
to the change in Billerud's net debt. After amortisation of interest-bearing liabilities (MSEK
1,356) the total cash flow amounted to MSEK -593. The interest-bearing net debt amounted
to MSEK 1,841 on 30 September 2001 compared with MSEK 2,604 pro forma on 1 January
2001.

The Group'’s net debt/equity ratio at the end of the period was 0.6 compared with 1.2 at the
beginning of the year. The positive operating cash flow explains the reduced net debt/equity
ratio.

In the third quarter, Billerud concluded a bridge financing agreement with SEB. This means
that refinancing of loans from the present owners has been secured. This relief will be
implemented in conjunction with the planned stock-exchange listing.

Personnel

"The average number of employees in the first nine months of 2001 amounted to 2,357
compared with 2,486 in the same period a year ago. The average number of employees thus
decreased by approximately 130 people.



Product areas

Net turnover and operating profit, January-September

Net turnover Operating profit

2001 2000 % 2001 2000 %
MSEK change change
Kraft paper 2,615 2421 8 602 430 40
Containerboard 1,468 1,321 11 303 240 26
Market pulp 1,092 1,153 -5 208 371 -44
Other - - - 79"V 43 -84
Total Group 5175 4,895 8 1,034 = 998 4
1) Includes MSEK 32 in costs for the build-up of Billerud and stock-exchange listing.
Kraft paper
Third quarter

The operating profit for the period was MSEK 192. Compared with the second quarter of
2001, profit rose by MSEK 13 or 7%, mainly due to lower costs.

‘January — September

‘Compared with the first nine months of 2000, earnings rose 40% to MSEK 602. Deliveries fell
9%, which was entirely attributable to sack paper volumes. Deliveries of technical kraft paper
were unchanged. These improved earnings are due to higher prices, which consequently
more than compensated for the lower deliveries.

- Containerboard

Third quarter ‘
Operating profit amounted to MSEK 87, a decrease of MSEK 22 compared with the previous
quarter, This decline is explained by 8% lower deliveries compared with the previous quarter.

January - September

Compared with the first nine months of 2000, earnings increased by 26% to MSEK 303
Prices were higher this year, but the earnings impact of this was limited by higher costs
DeInverles were more or less unchanged.

Market pulp

Third quarter

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 19, a decrease of MSEK 29 from the level in the second
quarter. The main explanation for this result was falling prices although slightly lower
deliveries also contributed.

January - September

Compared with the same period in 2000, deliveries were 7% higher in the first nine months of
this year. Operating profit amounted to MSEK 208, a decrease of 44%. This decline was
mainly due to reduced prices.



Parent Company

Billerud AB comprises Gruvon, the sales organisation for the Nordic market and markets
outside Europe, and head office functions.

In the first nine months of 2001, net turnover amounted to MSEK 2,366. Profit after financial
items amounted to MSEK 379. Fixed-asset investments, excluding shares, amounted to
MSEK 150. The average number of employees was 1,104. Liquid assets and short-term
investments amounted to MSEK 99.

Planning for stock-exchange listing

AssiDoman AB's Annual General Meeting held in May 2001 decided to distribute all the
shares owned by AssiDoman AB in Billerud AB to its shareholders. Now that Stora Enso has
exercised its option to sell 20% of the shares to AssiDoman AB, AssiDoméan AB holds 70%
of the shares in Billerud AB, which will be distributed. An Extraordinary General Meeting of
Billerud AB held on 17 October 2001 decided on a split and bonus issue. The number of
shares in Billerud subsequently amounted to 62,740,998.

The Stockholm Stock Exchange’s Listing Committee is expected to consider Billerud's listing
application on 31 October. If the application is approved, listing of Billerud's shares on the O
List is expected to start on 20 November.

Ownership structure

The table below illustrates Billerud’s ownership structure had the distribution to shareholders
in AssiDoman taken place on 4 October 2001. Based on ownership in AssiDoméan on 4
October 2001, the table also shows the ownership structure in Billerud if the Swedish State’s
offer to shareholders in AssiDoman, made through Sveaskog AB, is accepted by the
shareholders listed below and completed according to the terms announced on 10 October
2001, which includes payment partly comprising shares in Billerud.

After completion of Sveaskog’s

After distribution offer for AssiDoman
% of % of
Number of capital and Number of capital and
shares votes shares votes

Stora Enso 18,822,300 30.0% 18,822,300 30.0%
Swedish State 15,510,088 24.7% 0 0.0%
Capital Group funds 2,584,615 4.1% 3,995,723 6.4%
Alecta 2,504,710 4.0% 3,872,193 6.2%
Franklin Templeton funds 2,188,361 3.5% 3,383,127 5.4%
SEB funds 1,745,234 2.8% 2,698,069 4.3%
Investor 1,375,385 2.2% 2,126,296 - 3.4%
SEB-Trygg Férsékring 709,154 1.1% 1,096,327 1.7%
SEB 556,483 0.9% 860,303 1.4%
Zenit fund , : 473,077 0.8% 731,360 1.2%
Tredje AP-fonden 439,431 0.7% 679,344 1.1%
Andra AP-fonden 345,849 0.6% 534,671 0.9%
Forsta AP-fonden 317,908 0.5% 481,474 0.8%
SPP Livforsakring AB : 251,432 0.4% 388,705 0.6%
QOthers 14,916,971 23.7% 23,061,106 36.6%

Total 62,740,998 100.0% 62,740,998 100.0%



Outlook

So far this year market conditions have been mixed. The market for Billerud's paper products
was strong at the beginning of the year but has subsequently gradually weakened. At the
same time, prices for market pulp have fallen substantially, although some stabilisation
occurred in the autumn.

After the end of the period covered by this report, the market continued to weaken. Earnings
for the fourth quarter are expected to be slightly lower than the level in the third quarter. The
reason is that some price reductions have been implemented for Billerud's paper products.’

Stockholm, 25 October 2001
Billerud AB (publ)

Board of Direct_ors

All financial information relating to 2000 is pro forma. Since until 31 December 2000 the
paper mill in Gruvdn comprised a profit unit within the then Stora Enso Paperboard AB, it did
not have an independent balance sheet with its own loan financing, untaxed reserves and
shareholders’ equity. The Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’s
recommendation on accounting for income tax (RR 9) is applied with effect from 1 January
2001. Against this background, the result is reported in the pro forma profit and loss accounts
down to operating profit and since a retroactive recalculation could not be performed with

- reasonable accuracy, such recalculation has been performed from 1 January 2001. For the
same reason, no cash flow statement is reported for the period January — September 2000.
With these exceptions, this interim report has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish
Financial Accounting Standards Council’s recommendation for interim reports (RR 20).

Information regarding the accounting principles applied and definitions of key figures can be
obtained from the Company. '



Review Report

We have reviewed this Interim Report in accordance with the recommendation issued by the
Swedish Institute of Authorised Public Accountants (FAR). A review is substantially less
comprehensive in scope than an audit. Nothing has come to our attention to indicate that this
Interim Report does not satisfy the requirements of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

Stockholm, 25 October 2001

Owe Wallinder Caj Nackstad ‘
Authorised Public Accountant Authorised Public Accountant

Financial calendar

Year-end report for 2001 7 February 2002

Billerud AB (publ) Box 703, SE-189 27 Solna Corporate Identity Number 556025-5001
Tel +46 8 553 33500 Fax +46 8 553 33580 E-mail: info@billerud.com
Internet website: http://www.billerud.com

" Billerud-manufactures and sells packaging paper in the form of kraft paper and
containerboard as well as market pulp. Production is carried out at the Group's integrated
pulp and paper mills in Gruvén, Karisborg and Skédrblacka. Billerud has a world-leading
position within several well-defined product segments. The main customer base is Europe
but also includes the rest of the world. Billerud has annual sales of approximately
SEK 7 billion and 2,400 employees



Appendix

Billerud Group
Profit and Loss Account 3 months 9 months

July-Sept  April-June July-Sept Jan-Sept Jan-Sept
MSEK 2001 2001 2000 2001 2000
Net turnover 1,593 1,742 1,696 5,175 4,895
Other income 2 1 16 8 25
Operating income - 1,895 1,743 1,712 5,183 4,920
Operating expenses -1,262 -1,336 -1,154 -3,890 -3,697
Depreciation -87 -88 -75 - -259 -225 -
Operating expenses -1,349 -1,424 -1,229 -4,149 -3,922
Operating profit ' 246 319 483 1,034 998
Financial items ‘ -29 -27 - -83 -
Profit after financial items - 217 292 - 951 -
Tax . -63 -83 - -271 -
Net profit for the period 154 209 - 680 -
Earnings per share : 245 3.33 - 10.83 -

Balance Sheet Pro forma
' 30 Sept 1 Jan
MSEK 2001 2001
Fixed assets 4,270 4,257
Stocks 639 833
Accounts receivable 1,142 1,064
Other current assets 111 176
Cash, bank balances and short-term .
investments 136 729
Total assets : 6,298 6,859
Sharehciders’ equity 2,904 2,224
Interest-bearing provisions 73 102
Non-interest-bearing provisions 416 431
Interest-bearing liabilities L 1,904 3,231
Accounts payable . 368 508
Other, non-interest-bearing liabilities 633 363
Total shareholders’ equity, provisions ’ '
and liabilities ‘ 6,298 6,859
Specification of change in equity Jan-Sept
MSEK 2001
Opening equity 2,224
Net profit for the period 680

Closing equity 2,904



Average number of employees

" Historical data not available
Moving 12 months
¥ Historical 12-month results not available

The calculation includes net profit for the period, proportionally adjusted upwards to a full-year value

“Pro forma 1 January 2001
 Number of shares: 62,740,998

Cash Flow Statement Jan-Sept
MSEK -2001
Operating surplus 1,292
Change in working capital, etc. -174
Net financial items, taxes, etc. -83
Cash flow from operating activities 1,035
Cash flow from investing activities -272
Operating cash flow 763
Cash flow from financing activities -1,356
Total cash flow -593
Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 729
Total cash flow -593
Liquid assets at the end of the period 136
Jan-Sept Jan-Sept Full year
Key Figures 2001 2000 2000
Margins :
Gross margin, % 25 25 25
Operating margin, % 20 20 21
Return . _
Return on capital employed, % 30 ¢ 28 ¥ 30
Return on equity, % 3 -7 =
Capital structure
Capital employed, MSEK 4,745 4834 4828 4
Shareholders’ equity, MSEK 2,904 - 2224 Y
Interest-bearing net debt, MSEK 1,841 - 2804 ¥
Net debv/equity ratio, times 0.6 - Y 12 9
Equity ratio, % 46 -0 32 ¥
Earnings per share, SEK * 10.83 -V 1440
-Gross investments, MSEK 275 527 - 879
2,357 2,486 2442

10



Product areas

Quarterly breakdown of net turnover by product area and for the Group -

2001 2000 .
MSEK : il I | Y] i i |
Kraft paper 797 847 971 860 830 788 804
Containerboard 475 511 482 438 448 432 441
Market pulp 321 384 387 472 418 392 343
Other and eliminations - - - - - - -
Total Group - 1,593 1,742 1,840 1,770 1,696 1,612 1,588

Quarterly breakdown of operating profit by product area and for the Group

2001 2000
MSEK n I | 0\ il 1] |
Kraft paper 192 179 231 158 213 123 94
Containerboard 87 109 107 59 115 81 64
Market pulp 19 48 141 183 169 120 81
Other and eliminations 52V 17 10 44 <14 14 14
Total Group 246 319 4869 386 483 290 225

1) Includes MSEK 22 in costs for the build-up of Billerud and stock#exchange listing.

Quarterly breakdown of operating margin by product area and for the Group

2000
% I il [ v I i I
. Kraft paper 24 21 24 18 26 16 12
Containerboard 18 21 22 13 26 14 14
Market pulp 6 12 36 39 40 31 24
Group 15 18 25 22 28 18 14
Quarterly breakdown of deliveries by product area
2001 ~ 2000
ktonnes 1 il | v 11 I [
Kraft paper 107 109 130 120 125 123 132
Containerboard 106 115 108 102 102 112 118

Market pulp 78 81 64 72 70 71 68
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January — June 2001

Quarter Jahuary-June
MSEK 200111 2001 1] 2000l 2001 2000
Net tumover, MSEK 1,742 1,840| 1612 3,582 3,200
Operating profit, MSEK 319 469 290! 788 515

® Billerud was formed through a merger of the paper mills in Skérblacka, Karlsborg
and Gruvén. '

® Return on capital employed, measured as a moving 12-month figure, amounted
to 34% (30% for the full year 2000).

e Downward trend in the market continued.
® Stock-exchange listing planned for December 2001.

o
)
o
!

-

oo
o

)

) If you have any questions concerning this report, please contact
Bert Ostlund, President & CEQ. Telephone: +46 8 553 33 500, mobile +46 70 518 2757.
‘ E-mail: info@billerud.com



The accounts are prepared in accordance with the recommendations of the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council. For further details, see page 6.

Billerud Group

The establishment of Billerud through the merger of AssiDoman’s Skérblacka and
Karlsborg paper mills with Stora Enso’s Gruvén paper mill has created a new, competitive
and in many respects leading company in packaging paper Today, Billerud is 50% owned
by AssiDomén and 50% by Stora Enso

(All financial information relating to 2000 is pro forma)
Sales and results
Second quartér

Net turnover for the period, MSEK 1,742, decreased compared with the previous quarter by
MSEK 98 or 5%. The lower turnover was due to lower volumes of kraft paper. In the same
period last year, net turnover amounted to MSEK 1,612.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 31 9, a decrease compared with the previous quarter
of MSEK 150 or 32%. Lower prices for market pulp and the annual maintenance shutdown
in Skéarblacka had an impact on earnings. in the same perlod last year, operating profit
amounted to MSEK 290.

January - June

Compared with the first half of 2000, net turnover increased by MSEK 382 or 12% and
amounted to MSEK 3,582. All product areas increased their turnover.

The operating profit of MSEK 788 represents an improvement over the first half of 2000 of
MSEK 273 or 53%. The increase was attributable to higher average prices mostly due to
the favourable foreign exchange trend with a weakened Swedish krona. The result for the
period was affected by production shutdowns resulting from the weak market situation.
The cost level rose slightly, mainly due to higher prices for wood and chemicals.

Net financial items, amounting to MSEK -55, mainly pertained to interest at market rates
charged on loans from the company’s owners.

The estimated tax charge was MSEK 208. The tax charge corresponds to a tax rate of just
over 28%.

Return on capital employed, calculated on the latest 12-month period, amounted to 34%,
compared with 30% for the full year 2000. Return on equity was 42%.

Foreign exchange exposure

25% of the Group's sales are in Swedish kronor and 75% in foreign currency, primarily
EUR, USD and GBP. The majority of costs are in Swedish kronor. The Group is therefore
exposed to exchange rate fluctuations. In order to manage this, Billerud has hedged
exchange rates as shown below.



Currency breakdown of the Group's sales in % of turnover

EUR 40%
SEK 25%
usD , 20%
GBP 5%
Others 10%
Totals 100 %

Hedging as % of forecasted net flows for next 12 months

Currency Months 1-3  Months 4-6  Months 7-12 Total Average rates
EUR 90 50 15 40 9.29
Usb : 100 100 100 100 10.43
GBP _ 85 60 25 45 15.27

Investments, cash flow and financial position

Billerud's capital employed amounted to MSEK 4,853 on 30 June 2001, compared with
‘MSEK 4,828 pro forma on January 1 2001.

Investments amounted to MSEK 198, while depreciation during the same period amounted
to MSEK 173. Most of the investment amount relates to investment projects started before
year-end 2000, primarily an evaporation unit and recovery boiler at Gruvn.

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MSEK 698. After investments (MSEK 198)

the operating cash flow amounted to MSEK 500. After amortisation of interest-bearing

. liabilities (MSEK 898) the total cash flow amounted to MSEK -398. The interest-bearing net
-debt amounted to MSEK 2,104 on 30 June 2001, compared with MSEK 2,604 pro forma on

1 January 2001.

The Group's net debt/equity raﬁo at the end of the period was 0.8 compared with 1.2 at the
beginning of the year. The positive operating cash flow explains the reduced debt/equity
ratio. .

An agreement on bridge financing has resulted in refinancing of loans from the present
owners being secured. This relief will be carried out in conjunction with the planned stock-
‘exchange listing.

Personnel

The average number of employees in the first half of 2001 amounted to 2,412 compared
with 2,494 in the same period a year ago. The number of employees was reduced by
“approximately 140 people in the mills, and some 50 employees in foreign sales companies
joined the company in the second quarter through transfers from AssiDoméan and Stora
Enso.



Product areas

Net turnover and operating profit January - June :
Net tumover Operating profit

MSEK 2001 2000 % 2001 2000 %
change change
Kraft paper 1,818 1,593 14 410 217 89
Containerboard 993 873 14 216 125 73
Market pulp 77 734 5 189 201 -6
Other - - - -27 -28 -
Total Group 3,582 3,200 12 788 515 53
Kraft paper
Second quan‘er

The operating profit for the period was MSEK 179. Compared with the first quarter of 2001
profit fell by MSEK 52 or 23%, mainly due to lower volumes.

January - June

Compared with the first half of 2000, earnings rose by MSEK 193 to MSEK 410. Thls
improved result was due to higher prices, which were mainly attributable to the weaker
Swedish krona. Volumes were lower this year and costs were slightly higher.

. Containerboard

Second quarter
Operating profit amounted to MSEK 109, an increase of MSEK 2 over the previous quarter.
Volumes were higher than in the previous quarter, while prices were lower.

January - June

- Compared with the first halif of 2000, earnings increased by MSEK 91 to MSEK 216. Prices
were higher this year. However, volumes were lower than in the first half of 2000 and costs
were slightly higher.

Market pulp

Second quarter

Sales volumes for market pulp were higher in the second quarter than in the first quarter of
this year. Market prices, however, continued to fall which led to operating profit decreasing
from MSEK 141 to MSEK 48.

January June

Compared with the same period in 2000 volumes were slightly higher in the first half of
this year. Prices in Swedish kronor were largely unchanged, while higher costs in the first
six months of the year explain the slightly lower resuit. :

Integration

At the beginning of the year a number of projects were initiated where the potential
synergies between the three paper mills, Gruvén, Karisborg and Skéarblacka, were
identified. These efforts, which are organised in a number of working groups, are
continuing with great intensity. The largest structural synergy gains are to be found within
production as well as in the sales organisation.



The combination of three mills with a similar product mix provides major opportunities for
efficiency enhancement and co-ordination. In addition, there is the effect of increased
capacity from recently completed investments which has not yet been fully utilised.
Synergies, including this higher capacity, are expected to have an eamings impact of
approximately MSEK 200 with full effect in 2003, provided capacity utilisation is normal.

Parent Company

Billerud AB comprises Gruvén, the sales organisation for the Nordic market and markets
outside Europe, and head office functions.

In the first half of 2001, net turnover amounted to MSEK 1,645. Profit after financial items
amounted to MSEK 326. Fixed-asset investments, excluding shares, amounted to
MSEK 107. The average number of employees was 1,110 (1,156). Liquid assets and
short-term investments amounted to MSEK 255.

Planning for stock-exchange listing

AssiDoman intends to distribute its shares in Billerud to its shareholders in accordance
with a decision adopted at the Annual General Meeting. The distribution is expected to be
carried out at the end of 2001. Listing on Stockholmsbdrsen (O-list) is planned in
conjunction with the distribution. A listing prospectus will be published prior to the
distribution.

Ownership structure

30 June 2001

AssiDoman AB » 50%
_Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags AB 50%

Total . 100%

The following illustrates Billerud's ownership structure had the distribution taken place in
February 2001. The table below reflects the ownership structure in Billerud assuming that
prior to the distribution Stora Enso sells 20% of its shares to institutional investors (alt. 1)
or if Stora Enso alternatively sells its shares to AssiDoman (alt. 2). In the latter case,
AssiDoman will also distribute these shares to its shareholders.

Stora Enso intends to sell its remaining shareholding.

Alt. 1 Alt. 2

% of capital % of capital

and votes and votes

Stora Enso ‘ 30.0 30.0
New institutional investors 20.0 0
Swedish State o : 17.6 247
Capital Group funds 3.5 5.0
SEB funds 3.0 o 4.1
Franklin-Tempieton funds 25 ' 3.5
Alecta 1.4 : 1.8
Others 22.0 30.8

Total 100.0% 100.0%



Market prospects

Demand remained weak in the second quarter. The order book for kraft paper has
decreased significantly compared with the situation a year ago. Marginal price reductions
have been made in local currencies during the quarter and price pressure remains, largely
due to falling pulp prices.

The market for containerboard has also weakened considerably compared with the
previous year. Minor price reductions have been made and there is still price pressure.

In the market for pulp deliveries were low, but due to substantial production curtailments =
stocks at pulp producers only rose marginally compared with the situation at year-end
2000. The price of long-fibre pulp of Nordic type (NBSK) fell during the quarter by USD 100-
120 to USD 480. Continued price reductions cannot be ruled out and there is considerable
uncertainty as to when this trend will be reversed.

The planned annual maintenance shutdown at Skérblacka took place in the second
quarter. Maintenance shutdowns will be carried out in Gruvén and Karisborg in the third
quarter. Billerud implemented production curtailments due to the demand situation in the
first and second quarters. The current market situation, combined with a normal weaker
‘trend during the holiday period in Europe, means that further production curtallments are
expected in the third quarter.

Stockholm, 31 July 2001
Billerud AB (publ)

Board of Directors

All financial information relating to 2000 is pro forma. Earnings per share are not reported since the
future share structure of the company will first be decided ahead of the stock-exchange listing. Since
untif 31 December 2000 the paper mill in Gruvén comprised a profit unit within the then Stora Enso
Paperboard AB, it did not have an mdependent balance.sheet with its own loan financing. Against
this background, the result is reported in the pro forma prof it and loss accounts down to operating
profit.

This interim report has not been reviewed by the Company's auditors.

Financial calendar ' S
Interim Report for January-September 2001 30 October 2001

Billerud AB (publ) Box 703, SE-169 27 Solna Corperate Identity No. 556025-5001
Tel +48 8 553 33500 Fax +46 8 553 33580 E-mail: info@billerud.com
Internet website: http://www billerud.com

Billerud manufactures and sells packaging paper in the form of kraft paper and
containerboard as well as market pulp. Production is carried out at the Group’s integrated
pulp and paper mills in Gruvdn, Karlsborg and Skérblacka. Billerud has a world-leading
position within several well-defined product segments. The main customer base is Europe
but also includes the rest of the world. Billerud has annual sales of approx:mately
SEK 7 billion and 2,400 employees.



Closing equity

Appendix
Billerud Group
Profit and Loss Account April-Jun  Jan-Mar Jan-Jun Jan-Jun
MSEK 2001 2001 2001 2000
Net turnover 1,742 1,840 3,582 3,200
Other income 1 5 6 8
Operating income 1,743 1,845 . 3,588 3,208
Operating expenses -1,336 -1,291 -2,627 -2,543
Depreciation ‘ -88 -85 173 -150
Operating expenses -1,424 -1,376 -2,800 -2,693
Operating profit 319 469 788 515
Financial items -27 -28 -55 -
Profit after financial items 292 441 733 -
"~ Taxes -83 -125 -208 -
Net profit for the period 209 316 525 -
Balance Sheet Pro forma
30 June 1 Jan
MSEK " 2001 2001
Fixed assets 4,282 4,257
Stocks 676 633
Accounts receivable 1,209 1,064
Other current assets 139 176
Cash, bank balances and short-term
investments 331 729
Total assets 6,637 6,859
Shareholders' equity 2,749 2,224
Interest-bearing provisions 74 102
Non-interest-bearing provisions 448 431
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,361 3,231
Accounts payable 354 508
Other, non-interest-bearing liabilities 651 363
Total sharehoiders’ equity, provisions
and liabilities 6,637 6,859
Specification of change in equity Jan-Jun
MSEK 2001
Opening equity 2,224
Net profit for the period 525
2,749



Cash Flow Statement Jan-June
MSEK 2001
Operating surplus 961
Change in working capital, etc. 0
Net financial items, taxes, etc. -263
Cash flow from operating activities 698
Cash flow from investing activities -198
Operating cash flow 500
Cash flow from financing activities -898
Total cash flow -398
Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 729
Total cash flow -398
Liquid assets at the end of the period 331

Jan-June Jan-June Full year
Key Figures 2001 2000 2000
Margins
Gross margin, % 27 21 25
Operating margin, % 22 16 21
Retumn
Return on capital employed, % 34 ? 22 9 30 ?
Return on equity, % 42 9 - -0
Capital structure .
Capital employed, MSEK 4,853 4,658 4,828 ¢
Shareholders’ equity, MSEK 2,749 - 2,224 ¢
Interest-bearing net debt, MSEK 2,104 -0 2,604 ¢
Debt/equity ratio, times 0.8 - 1.2 9
Equity ratio, % 41 - 32 9
Gross investments, MSEK 198 379 679
Average number of employees 2,412 2,494 2,442

" Historical data not available
3 Moving 12 months
3 Histarical 12-month results not available.

" The calculation inclides net profit for the period, proportionally adjusted upwards to a full-year value.

9 Pro forma 1 January 2001



Product areas

Quartrerly breakdown of net turnover by product area and for the Group

2001 2000
MSEK ’ 1l | v I 1l I
Kraft paper 847 9N 860 830 . 788 804
Containerboard 511 482 438 448 432 441
Market pulp 384 387 472 418 392 343
Other and eliminations - - - - - -
Total Group 1,742 1,840 1,770 1,696 1612 1,588

Quarterly breakdown of operating profit by product area and for the Group

2001 2000
MSEK 1] | 1\ 1] ] |
Kraft paper , 179 231 158 213 123 - 94~
Containerboard 109 107 59 115 61 64
Market pulp 43 141 183 169 120 81
Other and eliminations A7 -10 14 -14 14 14
Total Group 319 469 386 483 290 225

Quarterly breakdown of operating margin by product area and for the Group

2001 : 2000
% ‘ 1l | \Y4 1] Il |
Kraft paper ‘ 21 24 18 26 16 12
Containerboard 21 22 13 26 14 14
Market puip 12 - 36 39 40 31 24
Group 18 25 22 28 18 14

Quarterly breakdown of deliveries by product area

2001 2000
ktonnes ' i [ N ] Il |
Kraft paper v 106 133 120 125 123 132
Containerboard 115 108 102 102 112 118

Market pulp 81 64 72 70 71 68






BILLERUD
Billerud AB (publ) Press release

Billerud has been formed through the merger of AssiDomén’s Skérblacka and
Karlsborg paper mills and Stora Enso’s Gruvon paper mill. Today, Billerud is
jointly owned by AssiDoman and Stora Enso, each with a 50 -percent
ownership interest.

Report on operations for the
three months ended March 31, 2001

Net sales and earnings

Net sales for the first quarter of 2001 totaled SEK 1,840 M, up 16 percent on
the corresponding quarter of the preceding year. Operating profit rose to SEK
469 M, compared with SEK 225 M for Q1 2000. The improvement was due to
higher average prices combined with a favorable exchange-rate trend.

. Expressed in tonnes, deliveries were slightly lower than for the corresponding
quarter of the preceding year.

Income Statement, including operating profit, in summary:

Actual Pro forma Pro forma

(SEKM) Jan-March 2001 2000 Jan-March 2000
Net sales ' 1,840 6,666 1,588
Other revenues 5 .39 3

- Operating expenses -1,291 -5,019" -1,291
Depreciation -85 ’ -302 . -75
Operating profit 469 1,384 - 225

" Operating expenses have been reduced by SPP refund of SEK 36 M.

The below table shows net sales and operating profit for the first quarter of
2001 per product area (preliminary distribution):

Net sales Operating profit

Actual  Proforma Actual  Proforma

Jan-March Jan-March| Jan-March Jan-March

(SEK M) 2001 2000 2001 2000
Kraft paper 972 804 231 94
Containerboard 481 441 | - 107 .64
Market pulp 387 343 141 81
Other ' 0 0 -10 -14
Total 1,840 1,588 469 225
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Balance Sheet, in sum'mary

Actual Pro forma
(SEK M) March 31, 2001 January 1, 2001
Assets ' .
Fixed assets 4,283 4,257
Other current assets 1,945 1,873 -
Cash and bank balances 429 729
Total assets 6,657 6,859
Shareholders’ equity, .
provisions and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 2,542 2,224
Interest-bearing provisions 99 102
Interest-free provisions 431 431
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,732 3,231
Interest-free liabilities 853 871
Total shareholders’ equity,
provisions and liabilities 6,657 6,859

At the beginning of the year, the company’s net debt/equity ratio was close to
a multiple of 1.2. As a result of the strong cash flow during the first quarter, net
indebtedness declined to approximately SEK 2.4 billion at the same time as
shareholders’ equity increased to SEK 2.5 billion. Accordingly, the net
debt/equity ratio slightly exceeded a multiple of 0.9. The interest-bearing
liabilities relate to debts to the current owners and will be refinanced during

the year.

Investments

Investments in plant amounted to SEK 111 M and depreciation amounted to
SEK 85 M. Most of the investments related to decisions made in preceding
~ years, and in particular to an evaporation plant at Billerud Gruvén.

Key data
Actual Pro forma
Jan-March Pro forma Jan-March
2001 2000 2000
Gross margin, % 30 25 19
Operating margin, % 25 21 14
Capital employed, SEK M 4,944 4,804 4,689
Average number of employees " 2,351 2,442 2,480

1) Excluding personnel employed in sales companies outside Sweden that belong to Stora Enso and
AssiDoman. The approximately 50 employees concerned will be transferred to Billerud during the

current year.

Gross margin: Operating profit before depreciation as a percentage of net sales.
Operating margin: Operating profit as a percentage of net sales.
Capital employed: Total assets less cash and bank balances and interest-free liabilities and provisions.

As at the end of the period.
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Integration work

A number of projects were initiated at the beginning of the year to capitalize
on the coordination potential identified between the Gruvén, Karlsborg and
Skarblacka paper mills. The work, organized through different working groups,
is progressing energetically. The largest structural coordination gains relate to
the production and sales areas. The combination of three mills with a similar
product mix creates significant opportunities for efficiency and coordination
improvements. In addition, there is the effect of the increased capacity
contributed by recently implemented investments, which has yet to be fully
utilized. Combined, the coordination gains and higher capacity are expected
to generate a positive impact of approximately SEK 200 M on Billerud'’s
earnings, which will be fully realized during 2003, subject to normal capacity
utilization. :

Market outlook

Demand declined gradually during the first three months of the year. This
particularly applied to market pulp, for which deliveries were low and producer
pulp inventories have risen. During the quarter, the price of Nordic long-fiber
pulp dropped from USD 710 per tonne to USD 580-600 per tonne and the
downward trend is continuing. Demand for containerboard was also weak.
Towards the end of the quarter, softer demand was also noted for kraft paper.
The fall in pulp prices depressed the price of kraft paper. To meet the
prevailing demand situation, Billerud has implemented production cutbacks
and further curtailments are anticipated during the next few quarters. Earnings.
will therefore be lower. :

Share listing planned

In accordance with a proposal to the Annual General Meeting, AssiDom&n
intends to spin off its entire holding in Billerud to shareholders. This
transaction is expected to be implemented at the end of 2001. In conjunction
with the spin off, the Billerud shares will be listed on the O List of
Stockholmsbérsen. Further information will be available in the listing
prospectus. | -

All figures related to 2000 are pro forma.

- Stockholm, April 27, 2001
Billerud AB (publ)

Board of directors

- The interim report contained in this press release has been reviewed by the
company'’s auditors.

For further information, please contact:
Bert Ostlund, President and CEO, telephone +46 8 655 92 54, +46 70 518 27 57
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

The following Annual Report of Billerud AB (publ) (formerly known as Stora Enso
Paperboard AB) (the “Company”) covers the period from January 1, 2000 through and
including December 31, 2000 (the “Annual Report”). The Annual Report is in Swedish and
no translation is being provided in English as permitted under Rule 12g3-2(b)(4) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 12g3-2(b)(4)”’). As the Company has
not been obligated to make any information public, file any information with any securities
exchange or distribute any information to shareholders since the beginning of its last fiscal
year and no English translations, versions or summaries of the Annual Report have been
prepared or caused to be prepared by the Company, the Annual Report was not required to be
submitted with this application pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b)(4). In the period concemned, the
Company was a wholly owned subsidiary of Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags AB, which in turn
was a wholly owned subsidiary of Stora Enso Oyj. Accordingly, the financials of the
Company were consolidated into the financials of Stora Enso Oyj which are presented in the
2000 Annual Report of Stora Enso Oyj at tab A.14. Furthermore, the financials of the
Company as it is presently constituted are not represented in the following Annual Report,
instead pages 60-72 of the listing particulars (at tab B.2.) set forth the relevant financials for
2000.
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Styrelsen cch verkstdilande direkiSren f6r Billerud AB avger hirmed foljande drsredovisning {&r verksamhets-
aret 2000-01-01 -- 2000-12.-31, Bolagets firma har &ndrats fran Stara Enso Paperboard AB till Billerud AB, vilker
registreraces av Patent- och Registreringsverket 2001-02-05.

FORVALTNINGSBERATTELSE

Agarférhallanden och verksamhetsinriktning

Billerud AB &r ett heligt catterbalag till Stora Kapparbergs Bergslags AB. | Billerud AB ingdr de bada pro-
duktionsenheterna Cruvén och Skoghall. Belager ingédri Stora Enso-koncernens division fér karteng- och f§r-

packningspapper.

Vid dcets slut undertecknade Billerud AB ett rérelsedverlitelseavial med innebérden att all verksamhet vid
Skoghalls Bruk inkluderande samtliga tillgingar och skulder Sverlats till balaget Stora Enso Skoghall AB, vilket
dr ett heldgt dotterbolag till SteraKopparbergs Bargstags AB.

Billerud AB kommer att bli moderbelag i en koncern, bestdende av produktionsenheterna Gruvén, Karlsborg
och Skérblacka. Billerud AB kommer att bli halftendgt av Stora Kopp arhergs Bergslags AB ack Assi Domidn AB.

Resultat for verksamhetsaret och framtida resultatutveckling

Bolagets resultat fére bokslutsdispositioner och skatt uppagick til =2.781,3 (62,0) MSEX. Resultatet har pé-
verkats negativt av den koncerninterna gveriatelsan av anldggningstillgdngarna vid Skoghalls Bruk med -
2.901,2 MSEK samt pé grund av avyttring av aktier och andelar med ~0,9 MSEK. Vidare dr resultatet befastat
med nedskrivaingar av anldggningstliigdngar p4 €00,0 MSEK vid fabriken i Gruvdn, som en f3lid aven
anpasining av avskrivaingspianerna far specifika maskiner och andra tekniska anldggningar. | rérelseresuitatet
ingér en intakt pd 25,3 MISEK avseende SPP féretagsanknutna medel. Den ej likviderade delen av dessa medel,
20,2 MSEK, har Gverlatits till anrat koncernbolag per 2000-12-31. Den totala produktionen uppgick till 1.114
ktan, vilket &r 12,4% hdgre dn 1999, Antalet leverarade ton dkade med 7,3% till 1.113 kton.

Marknadssituationen for férpackningspapper och —kartong har varit mycket stark under 4r 2000 med god
ef‘cer\‘régan och successiva prishéjmingar. Under andra halvaret marktes en viss férsvagning i Nordamerika,
vitket till viss del har paverkat situationen under sista kvartalet i Visteuropa. Aven om konjunkturtoppen har
nétts sd forvdntes marknadssituationen vara fortsatt stark, dtminstone dnder férsta halvaret 2001, delvis tack
vare att producenterna kommer att vidtaga preduktionsbegrinsningar i férebyggande syfte.

Investeringar

Arets investeringar uppgick till 495,2 MSEK (744,0). Av investeringarna ucgtr firdigstdllandetav en ny soda-
panna samtinstallation av indunstningsanidggning vid Gruvén de enskilt storsta projekten.

Forskning och utveckling

Balagets kostnader fér forskning och utveckling (FOU) bestidr dels av ersdttning f8r nyttjande av Stora Ensos
gemensamma FOU-enhat, dels egna rasurser for process- och produktutveckling. Oen sammaniagda kestna-

den f&r datta uppgick til 75,9 MSEK (108, 4).
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Milispdyerkan

Bolagets produktion avser messa, férpackningspapper och kartong. Verksamheten vid bada preduktionsen-
heterna &r tillstandspliktig enligt milj&balken. Den yttre miljén pavarkas av att frimst kaldioxid sldpps utiluften
och act framst kemiske syreférbrukande dmnen sldpps utivatten. Ansokan inldmnades under 1998 till kon-
cessionsndmnden for miljskydd med anlecning av planerad produkticnsgkaing vid Skoghalisenheten, Under
januari 2007 har farhandlingarna infér Miljddamstalen dgtrum. Balaget har dnnu ej erhallitndgot utslag frin

dessa férhandlingar.

Forslag till vinstdisposition

Styrelsen och verkstéllande direktéren foresiar att till bolagsstimmans férfogande stiende vinstmedel (KSEK)

Kvarstiende vinstmede! frdn féregdende 3r 6.764
Arels resultat 134.800
1471.564

disponeras sdlunda
Utdelning tll moderbolaget 141.564
: Q
141.564

3\.\ Kvarstaende vinstmedel att balansera i ny rékning



JL‘L

OLITTUU AD
Qrg nr556025-5001

<4 (19)

RESULTATRAKNING

(MSEK) Not 2000 1599
Nettoomsattning 1 6 270,4 502C,4
Féréndring av lager av férdiga varor 76,1 7,7
Aktiverat zrbete fér egen rékning 8.2 106

§354,7 50233

Rdrelsans kostncder

Frakter och f&redljningskammissioner -654,9 -560,0

Ravaror ach fgrnddenheter -2818,4 -2 209,3
Rersonalkostnader 2 -884,5 -884,8

Ovriga externa kostnader 3 -650,3 -695,2
Nedskrivning av anldggningstiligdrgar 5 -600,0 -6,6

Planenliga avskrivningar S -536,3 -549,8
Realisationsresultat 3 -2 1 80435 12 490609
Rdrelsaresultat -2693,8 116,4
Rénteintdkter frdn koncernbolag 33,8 4,2
Ovriga rénteintikter 5.9 1,3
Rantekastnader till koncernbolag -116,7 45,0
Ovriga rintekostnader och liknande _

resultatposter 10.¢ 87 8 -15.0 .94 %
Resuftat efter finansiella poster -2781,3 61,9
Bokslutsdispositioner 5,12 3835,7 -433,0
Koncernbidrag -916,9 419,9
Skatter 412 -2,7 .
Arets resultat . 1348 48,8



o.

oiligrda Ao
Oranr556025-3001

BALANSRAKNING

TILLGANGAR  (MSEX) Not 2000 1999
Anliggningstillgangar

Materiella anldggningstillgdngar 5

Byggnader, mark ach markanidggningar 299,5 §55,7

Maskiner och andra tekniska anliggningar 1467,4 5921,1

Inventarier och utrustning 85,2 147,9

Pigdende nyanldggningar och farskatt 2021 20546 §83.1 73878
Finansiella anlaggningstiligangar

Andelar | koncernfdretag * 6 - 1090,0

Fordringar hos koncernfératag 7 - 420,0

Andelar i vriga féretag 8 a.o c,0 33 13133
Omsdttningstillgdngar

Varulager m.m. $ 335,6 755,6
Fordringar

Kundferdringar 478,4 £59,8
Fordringar hos koncernfdretag 577,7 1171,7
Ovriga fardringar 93,9 152,9
Férutbetaida kostnader och

upplupna intdkter 10 2,8 1158,8 10,8 19950
Kassa och bank 23,4 14,5
3573,4 11666,2

\\\ Ssumma tillgangar
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BALANSRAXNING
ECET KAPITAL OCH SKULDER (MSEK) Not 2000 ' 1999
Eget kapital 11

Buridet egat kogital

Aktiekapital 350,0 350,0

Reservfond 70.0 70.0
420,0 420,0

Fritt eget kopital

Balanserade vinst 6,7 28575

Arets resultat 134.8 483

1415 561,5 29067 33267

Obeskattade reserver 12 966,9 4802,6
Avsattningar
Avsdtiningar fér pensianer 13 65,1 370,58
Ouriga avsidttningar 14 s0.0 116,1 83, 459,0
Skulder 15
Leverantdrsskulder 148,8 186,2
Skulder till koncernfdretag 15541 2503,4
Guriga skulder 52,1 285,4
Upplupna kostnader och

fdrutbetalca intdkter 16 173 9 19289 02.9 30779
Summa eget kapital och skulder ' . 35734  11666,2
Stallda panter v 17 inga inga

\:w Ansvarsforbindelser ‘ 17 10,3 10,3
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KASSAFLOGESANALYS
(MSEK) 2000 19995
Den idpande verksambeten
Resultat efter finansiella poster ’ 27813 61,9
Justeringar fér poster som inte ingdr [ kassaflodet, mm 40318 §45.7
1270,5 707,6
Betald skatt 27 43
Kassaflgde frin den ldpande verksamheten f5re

férindring avrarelsekapital 1287,8 703,3

Kassafldde fedn f8rindring { rdrelsekagital ‘
Skning(-)/minskning(+) av varulager -33,8 -34,5
Okning(-)/minskning(+) av rérelsefordringar 98,8 .128,3
Okning(+)/minskning(-) av rérelseckulder 359 872
Kassafldde fran den lopande verksamheten 1171,1 627,7

Investetingsverksamheten

Forsdlining av rérelsegren -5C9,7 -
Forvarv av materiella anldggningstillgangar -498,2 -744,C
Férsaljning av materielia anldggningstillgdngar 1,8 2,4
Farindring av dvriga fordringar 1191,9 -53,0
Farsdlining av finansiella tillgéngar (aktier) 2831 =
Kassafidde fran investeringsverksamheten 1176,9 -794,6
Erhélina kancernbidrag 420,0 -
Férindring av gvriga skulder -2403,0 -
Amortering av laneskuld - -107,7
Reglerade koncernbidragsfordringar- = 4499
Kassafldde fran finansieringsverksamheten -2 403,0 333,3
Arets kassaflde 365,0 166,4
Likvida mede| vid arets bdrjan 204,1 3it.7
' 569,1 204,1

'\\\,\ Likvida mede] vid drats slut



Org nr 358025-5007
TILLASGSUPPLYSNINCAR TILL KASSAFLODESANALYS

(MSEK) _ 2000 1999

Batalda rintor och erhidllen utdeining

Ernillen rdrta 33,6 3,6
Erlagd rénta ' . 842 346
-60,6 -51,0

justeringar for poster som Inte ingar i kassafiodet mm

Av- och nedskrivningar av tiligdngar ' 1157,5 556,4
Orealiserade kursdifferensar . -6,4 4,7
-Rearasultat farsdljning av anldggningstillgingar o 29021 1,2
Raaresuitat férsdlining av rdrelse/doTterfGratag . 8,1
Avsdutningar till pensioner 13,9 29,2
Ovriga avsittningar 173 3

4051,8 ' 645,7

Forsdljning av rorelsegren
Anldggningstillgdngar : 18724

Andro tillgdngar exkl. kassa, bank och kencernkonto

Rgrelsekapitaltilgingar 9521 -
Ovriga tiligdngar 412,9 -
Skuider

Rorelsekapitalskulder . L -418,0 .
Pensionsskuider o -320,7 -
Ovriga avséttningar ‘ -20,8 -
Qvriga skulder | ' 21815 =
Delsumma ' 285,4 -
Fordringar avseende §verldtna nettotiligdngar 8051 -
Effekt pa kassa, bank och koncernkanto -509,7 A -

Likvida medel
Féljande delkempenenter ingér { likvida medel:

| Kassa ech bank 23,4 14,5
N Keneernkents 3437 1385

563,1 204,1
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TILLAGGSUPPLYSNINCAR
Koncernuppgifter
® Billerud AB &r =tt heldgtdotterdolag till Storz Kooparbergs Bergslags AB med sdte i Faluns kommun (org ne 558002-2094),
som uppréttar kencernredovisning for den minsta koncernen. Scora Ense Cyj (handelsreg. 676.550) med séte | Helsingfars,
Finland, uppréttar koncarnredevisning for den stérsta koncernen.
Det utlindska moderrdretagets kancernradovisning finas att tiligd hos Stara Enso Qyj, Kanavaranta 1,
FIN-CQ1680 Helsingfors, Finland.
® inkOp frén koncernbelag uppaick till 1.6719,7 MSEK (1.802,8). Férinterna leveranser tillimgpas marknadsprissatining (resale
price method), '
Redovisnings- och virderingsprinciper
Allmanpz radavisningseringiper
Arsradovisningen ir uppricad enlige drsredevisningslagen fran 1895 (ARL, 1995:1554). Belaget harfaljt
o rekemimendationer frdn Féreningan Auktoriserade Revisorer (FAR) och Redovisningsradet.
Koncernkanton
dolaget dr anslutec till ett koncernkontosystem. Tillgodohavarcan pd kancernkanlo respaktive utnyl(jande av
koncernkoncakredit receovisas som fordringsr hics kencernfdretag respektive skulder titl koncernféretag.
¢ Virderinasprinciper
fordringar ock skuider f utldndsk voluta
Fordringar och skuldar i utldndsk valuta har varderats ill balansdagskurs.
Védrdering av varulager
® Varulagrat virderas tll det Idgre av anskaffnings-/tillverkningsvirde och nettafdrséljningsvirde. Anskalfnings-
ftillverkaingsvdrdet har bestames eftar "faest in, f8est ut” (FIEQ) metaden. Generellt inkuransavdrag har gjorts med 3%.
Avskrivning pd an/dggn/ngscillgdngar
Awskrivningar enligt plan baseras pd tillgingarnas anskaffningsvirden ach berdknade ekanomiska livstingder. Faljande
procentsatsar tillimpas: ‘
® Bostider, kantarsfastigheter och l2boratoriebyggnader 3%
industribyggnader, markanidggningar och tyngre maskiner 5%
Reservdelar S%
Laceare maskiner samtinventariar 10%
Dacaytrustning - 25%
Fordon 5%

@ Bokféringsmissiga avskrivningar ar Derdknade enlige fag ocn dverensstammer mad skatiemassige maximalt tilidtna
avskrivaingar, Skillnaden meilan planenliga ach bokfdringsmdssigz avskrivhingar redovisas i resultatrdkningen blang
bokslutsdispositenar. Ackumulerade svsirivaingar §ver plan redevisas i galansrikningen bland obeskartade recervar.
Aktivera: orpers [ egen rakning

\,\:\ Aktiverade Lostnadar avser enbart av egen persongl madlagd td pi sterre invesreringsprofekr:,

. .
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NOTER

Mot1 Nettocmsidttning per marknad

ALy

Av bolagets nettoomsittning utgdr 286,3 MSEK (275,1) {8rséljning till andra balag inom Stora Enso-
kancernen, Oen externz nettcomsitiningen utgér 5.984,1 MSEK (4.745,3) och fordelar sig pé olika

marknader enligt fdljande:

Andel av Andel avy

MSEK 2000 total % 1999 total %
Sverige 975,9 16,3 9926 20,8
Ovriga EU-ldnder 3173,9 531 25729 381
Ovriga Europa 690,7 11,5 649,90 11,8
Summa Eurepa 4 840,5 80,9 41154 90,7
USA och Kanada 1511 2,8 9,3 0,
Ovrigs marknader 992.5 16,8 520,6 9,2
5984,1 10C,0 4.745,3 100,0
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NOTER

Not2 Personal och personalkostriader

2000 1999

Medeltal anstillda
Antal anstdlida 215 2163

varav kvinner 466 443
Antal arbetsstétlen 3 3
Perzonalkostnader {MSEX)
Léner och andra erséttningor
Styralse ach VD 1,4 1,4
Ovriga anstilida §29 9 6223
Summa ldner och zndre ersittningar 631,3 : 623,7
Soclala kostnader
Avtalsenliga pensioner titl styrelse ech VD g1 0,1
Avtalsenliga pensicner, &vriga 34,5 54,8
Ovriga sccizla kostnader 2208 2082
Summa sociala kostnader 255,2 261,1
Summa personalkestnader 886,5 834,83

Négra férpliktelser gentemot styrelse och VD féreligger inte utéver pensionsfgrpliktelser (Not 13) och
normalt farekommande uppsdgningsisn f8r verkstsllande direktdren.

Av nedanstdende forteckning framgér férdelningen av antalet amsislida Sverige per kemmun
och arbetsstdlle:

Kommun/arbetsstille i Sverige

Hammare
Skaghalis bruk 268 ' 949
Huvudkontaret = 28
048 Q77
Crums
Cruvdns bruk 1181 1184
Sdffle
<t Kontor ' 2 2
”\\ 2151 2182
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NOTER

Not 3 Ovriga externa kostnader och realisationsresultat

MSEK 2000 195¢
Reallsationsrasultat vid avytring ech ut-
rangering av maskiner och Inventarier, m.m.” -2892,6 -1,2
Byggnader och mark’ -8,6
Aktier och andelar™” 0,9
-2902,1 1,2

=) Avser Gverldtelse av anldggningstillgingar vid Skoghalls Bruk till bolaget Stora Enso Skoghall AB
=) Aktier och andelar har { huvudsak Gverldtits tll madearbolaget Stora Kapparbergs 8argslags AB

Av bokidrda kostnader till revisionsfdretaget KPMG svser 0,5 MSEX revision och 0,3 MSeK andra uppdrag.

Not 4 Skatter

Arets skattekostnad -2,7 MSEK avser beskatiningsret 1999 (tax 2000).

\bk‘ Den latenta skatteintikt som beldper pa 2000 4rs resultat, har berdknats till 1.052,1 MSEK (-135,2).

Ny

-
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NOTER

Not5 Anlaggningar

Materiella anldggningstiligangar

Maskiner Pigdende o
och andra  Inventarier nyanldgg-
Bvggnadsr tekniska an- och  ningar och
MSEK och mark  ldggningar  utrustning forskott Tatalt
Anskafiningsvérden B
Ingdende vérden 2000-01.C1 1107,4 10 4685,4 430,4 6631 12 686,3
Investeringar 48,4 243,2 32,2 172,4 4962
Omklassificeringar 80,7 541,7 0,8 -623,2 0,0
Avytiring till koncernbolag -687,8 -6 505,5 -221,5 -10,2 -7 425,0
Ovriga avyttringar och utrangeringar 4,5 -43,0 -7,3 - -84,8
Ovriga f§rindringar e -929.5 7.4 - 9221
Utgdende vdrden 2000-12-31 5442 37723 262,0 2021 4780,6
Ackumulerade avskrivningar enligt plan
ngiende vdrden 2000-01-01 431,7 45443 302,5 - 5298,5
Planenliga avskrivningar 48,3 442,8 44,9 - 536,3
Nedskrivningar ‘ 600.0 - 600,0
~ Avyttringar tll koncernbolag -252,6 -2 331,4 -170,8 - -27354,8
Ovriga avyttringar och utrangeringar -3,4 22,4 -6,0 - -31,8
Cvriga férindringar -528.4 6,2 - 922,2
Utgdende vdrden 2000-12-31 244,3 23049 176,3 27260
Virde enligt balansrikning :
2000-12-31 299,39 1467,4 85,2 202,1 2054,6
Ackumulerade avskrivningar utéver plan -
Ingdende vdrden 2000-01-01 1 128,8 46239 ° - - 4752,7
Avskrivninaar -110,4 -3 6754 - - -3 785,8
Utgdende vdrden 2000-12-31 18,4 9485 966,9
Bokfdéringsmassigt varde
200Q-12-31 281,5 5138,9 85,2 2021 1087,7

Taxeringsvirder ph byggnader och mark Lppgar till $16,0 MSEK (1.433,0). Texaringsvardet inkluderar tll-
géngar vilka | balansrdkningan redovisats undar posten maskiner och inventarier.

Operationella leasingavtai

L2asingavgiter utgdr uncer 2000 3.0 MSEX (13,9). Avialade framude lessingavgifier uppgdr ill3 2,9 MSEX

(56,17,
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NQTER

Not 6 Andelarikcncernforetag

Andelarna | de tidigare detterbolagen Stora Snse Fors AB, Opgloga AR ach Stora £nso Skoghall A3 (f.d. Stora
Fagerbosrd Scancinavia A8) har §varfatits till Stara Kopparbergs Bergslags AS medan Stera Ense Billerud AB her
gverlatits tll Stora Enso Skoghall AB.

Not 7 Fardringar hos koncernforetag

MSEK 2000 1998
Anskaffaingsvarden

Ingdende vdrcen 420,0 385,9
Tilkommande fordringar - 333
Reglerade fordringar 4200 -
Utgdende virden . 420,0

Not 3 Andelari Gvriga foretag

Pt NUA)

Sdte/ Kapital- Antal Nominellt Bokfort
Namn Org-Nr Land andel, % aktier varde virde
ScankraftPeper A8 $56459.7572 SE 125« 128 12 500 0,0

co
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NCTER

Not S VYarulagerm.m.

MSEXK 2000 1999
Rivaraor 51,8 1358
Férbrukningsartiklar och férnddenheter 72,5 117,4
Firdiga varor 212,3 502,4

336,6 755,6

Not 10 Fdrutbetalda kostnader och upplupna intikter

N&gra enskilda poster av beloppsmissig betydelse fsrekammer inte.

Not 11 Eget kapital

Bundet eget kapital Eritt eget kapital

15018)

Aktie- Reserv- Balanse- Arets

hkapital " fond rad vinst resultat Totalt

Ingiende virden 2000-01 -0 350,0 70,0 28579 48,3 33267

Arets resuitat 134,38 1348
Vinstdisposition enligt beslut ay

polagsstamma 48 8 -48,8 6,0

Utdeining till moderbolagat -25800,0 -2 500,0

Utgiends virden 2000-12-31 350,0 70,0 §,7 134,8 5615

.‘\1\‘ Aktiekapitalet bestér av 3.500.000 aktier & 100 kronor.
A}
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NOTER

Not 12 Bekslutsdispositioner och okeskattade reserver

Arets bokslutsdispositioner

16(19)

MSEX 2000 1999
Skilinad mellan bokférd avskrivning och
avskrivningar enligt pian 3 785,8 -477,5
Aterféring av skatteutjdmningsraserv (SURVK) 44,9 449
Uppl&sning pericdiseringsfond ' 5,0 -
3 835,7 -433,0
Obeskattade reserver
Periodi- Ackumulerada  Skatteytjim-
serings- avskrivningar  ningsreserv
MSEK fond *  utdverplan (SURV) K Totalt
ingdende vdrden 2000-01-01 5,0 4752,7 44,9 48026
Arets boksfutsdispositioner 5.0 -3 785,8 -44.9 -3835,7
0,0 966,9 0,0 966,59

Utgdende virden 2000-12-31

*  Avser taxeringsdr 199§

* Den latenta skatteskuiden har berdknats till 256,7 MS2K (1.308,8) och sammanhénger frdmst med

bolagets cheskattade reserver.

Not 13 Avsattningar for pensioner

PRI-skulden uppgar tll 66,1 MSEK efter det att dtaganden motsvarande 301,1 MSEK harldvertagits av
Stora Enso Skoghall AB. Vid drets bérjan uppgick den totaia PRI-skulden till 345,98 MSEK.

Réntan har beriknats med 4,2% (3,8) pa &rets genomsnittliga skuld. PRI-skulderna dr kreditfdrsékrade

via FPG/PRI.

i PRI-skulden ingdr avsatning il styrelse och VD mad 0,9 MSEK (4.8).
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NOTER

Not 14 Ovriga avsdttningar

MSEK 2000 1999
Avsdlining fér kommandea omstrukturering 50,0 58,5
Avsattning f&r punktskatter m.m. . 5,6
Avsdttning far dterstilining av fabrikslokaler - 23,0
Summa 50,0 88,1
Not 15 Skulder

Skuldernas férfallostruktur framgidr av nedanstienda tabell.

MSEK inom 1 ar 1-5 &r Mer dn 3 ar Totalt
Leverant&riskulder 148,8 - - 148,8
Skulder tll kancernfgretag 155471 - 1 554,71
Ovriga skulder 52,1 - - 52,1
Upplupna kostnader och f3rutbetalda

intdkter 173,9 - - 173,9
Summa 1928,9 - - 1928,9
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NOTER
Not 16 Upplupna kostnader och forutbetalda intikter

Storre delen av beloppet utedres av personalrelaterade skulder inkiusive sociala avgifter 96,1 MSEK (22,0),
punktskatter 17,3 MSEK (11,3) samt reservering fdr leveranskastnader 46,6 MSEK (47,8).

Not 17 Stadlldasakerheter

Stillda panter

MSEK 2000 1999
Fastighetsinteckningar inga inga
Ovriga panter Inga Inga
Ansvarsfdrbindelser

2000 1999
Carantiférbindalser 7.5. 7,2
Borgensfsrbindelser 2,8 3,1
Summa 10,3 10,3
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vir revisionsberattelse har avgivits den

KPMG

G3ran Blomquist
Auktodserad revisor
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Pekka Suursalmi
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Yngve Stada Pexka Suursalmi
Vir revisionsberittelse har avgivits den ib{-L 2001 :‘.‘_,
KPMGC

.
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Géran Blomquist
Auktoriserad revisor



Revisionsberittelse

T{ll bolagsstmman | Bﬂléfllld. AB

Orz nr 536025-5001

Vi har granskat irsredovisningen och bukfdringen same styrelsens och verkstillande dirck-
t8rens fGrvalming 1 Billerud AB £8r ir 2000. Det ir styrelsen och verkstillande direkidren
s har ansvaret for rikenskapshandlingarna och forvaltningen. VArt ansvar dr att uttala
0ss om drsredovisningen och fSrveltningen pd grundval av vir revision.

Revisionen har utfdres ¢ enlighet med god revisionssed i Sverige. Det innebir att vi plane-
rat och genomfdrt revisicnea fOr aw i nmlig grad férsdkra oss om atr drsredovisningen inte
innehdller vdsentliga fel. En revision innefatiar att granska etz urval av underlagen 5 be-
lopp och annan mformation 1 rikeaskapshandlingama. [ en revision ingir ocksd au préva
redovisningsprincipema och siyrelsens och verkstillande direltérens tillimpning av dem
same att bedéma dea samlade informationen t arsredovisningen. Som underlag for virt
uttalande om ansvarsfrihet har vi granskat visentliga beslut, dtgirder och furhdllanden i
bolaget {Or att kunna beddma om ndgon styrelseledameot eller verksuillande direkiren ir
ersitmingsskyldig mot bolaget, Vi har dven granskat om nigon stvrelseledamot eller verk-
stillande direkéren pé annat sir haor handlat ¢ strid med akuiebolagslagen, Arsredovis-
ningslagen eller bolagsordningen. Vi anser att vir revision ger oss nimlig grund for vira
uttalanden nedan.

Arstedovisningen har upprinas | enlighet med &rsredovisningslezen och ger diemed en
rittvisande hild av bolagess resultat och suillning | enlighet med god redovisningssed i
Sverige.

Vi ullstyrker an bolagsstimman faststiller resultarrdkningen och balansrdkningen, dispo-

nerar vinsten enligt forslaget | forvalmingsberinelsen och beviljar styrelsens ledaméter
och verkstillande direkwren ansvarsiriher f8r rikenskapsaret,

Karlstad den 16 fabruar 2001

KPMG

Ur -

oran Blomquist e
Aukteriserad revisor



Protokoll fért vid ordinane
bolagsstimma tned aktiedgama i
Billerud Aktiebolag, 556025-3001, i

Skoghall, Hammars kommun den 14

februari 2001.
Nirvarande: | Aktier
Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags AB 3500000

genom Yngve Stade

Dessutom var Per Lyrvall nirvarande.

Oppnades stimman zv Yagve Stade, som valdes till ordf3rande tillika prowkollfdrare.
§2

Godlkindes ovanstéende nirvaroférteckning att gilla sisom réstlingd vid stimman, varvid

konstaterades att samtliga aktier var representerade.

Utsags Per Lyrvall att justera protokollet.

COTEMB O mare Dot o7 Salterng AUl



<

rorxlarades stimman vara | belidrig ordaing sammankallad samt godkindes dagordningen.

§3

Fdredrogs &rsredevisningsn samt revisionsberittelsen {6r rik=nskapsiret 2000.
= >

§6

Faststilldes de [ drsredovisningen intagna balans- och resultairikningama samt godkindes
styrelsens och verksidllande direktSrens f&rslag till vinstdisposition innebirande att
141 564 293 kronor och 73 &re skall delas ut till aktiedzaren Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags

AB. Nagra kvarstdende vinstrnede! att balansera freligger drefter inte.

§7
Beviljades styrelsen och verkstillande dirsktéren ansvarsfrihet for det gingna rakenskapsiret

§8

Till styrelseledaméter for tiden intill nista ordinarie bolagsstimma valdes Ingvar Petersson,

Yagve Stade, Pekka Suursalmi och Bert Ostlund (samtliga omval).

[74 7]
O

Till revisorar utsdgs Caj Nackstad och Ove Wallinder.

§10

Beslutades utt inga arvoden skall urgd il styreiseledaméema. Arvode till revisorerna utgic

mot rikninyg.

U TSP e Solsnc e Sillen. 3 46 .2ou



§ 11

Inga dvriga frigor fGrekom till behandlin

Vid protaokollet:

Yngve Stade

CATEMP Qraingne Seiston Silnmie AS, see

g och stimman f8cklarades dirmed avslutad.

Justeras:

<\
L el
A1

Per Lyrvall







EXPLANATORY NOTE

The following Annual Report of Billerud AB (publ) (formerly known as Stora Enso
Paperboard AB) (the “Company”) covers the period from January 1, 1999 through and
including December 31, 1999 (the “Annual Report”). The Annual Report is in Swedish and
no translation is being provided in English as permitted under Rule 12g3-2(b)(4) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 12g3-2(b)(4)”). As the Company has
not been obligated to make any information public, file any information with any securities
exchange or distribute any information to shareholders since the beginning of its last fiscal
year and no English translations, versions or summaries of the- Annual Report have been
prepared or caused to be prepared by the Company, the Annual Report was not required to be
submitted with this application pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b)(4). In the period concerned, the
Company was a wholly owned subsidiary of Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags AB, which in turn
was a wholly owned subsidiary of Stora Enso Oyj. Accordingly, the financials of the
Company were consolidated into the financials of Stora Enso Oyj which are presented in the
1999 Annual Report of Stora Enso Oyj at tab A.15. Furthermore, the financials of the
Company as it is presently constituted are not represented in the following Annual Report,
instead pages 60-72 of the listing particulars (at tab B.2.) set forth the relevant financials for
1999.

LO_DOCS\82084.1[W2000]
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Styrelsen och verkstallande direktdren f6r Stora Enso Paperboard AB avger hirmed foljande drsredovisning fér
verksamhetsaret 1999-01-01 - 1999-12.31.

FORVALTNINGSBERATTELSE

Agarférhallanden och verksamhetsinriktning

Stora Enso Paperboard AB &r ett heldgt dotterbolag till Stora Kopparbergs Bergslags AB. | Stora Enso
Paperboard AB ingdr de bida produktionsenneterna Gruvin och Skeghall. Bolagetingari STORA ENSO-
koncernens division for kartong- och férpackningspapper.

Resultat for verksamhetsaret och framtida resultatutveckling

Bolagets resultat fare bokslutsdispasitioner och skatt uppgick till 62,0 (-534,1). Den totala produktionen
uppagick till 991 kton, vilket &r 1,8% l§gre n 1998. Antalet levererade ton Skade med 3,2% till 1.037 kton.
Marknadssituationen I Vésteuropa for producenterna av férpackningspapper och ~kartong starktes successivt
under 1999, gynnad av priskningar pd massa och stor efterfrigan fran marknader utanfér Vésteuropa.
Pristkningar genomfdrdes framgangsrikt under andra halvéret inom flertalet produktomraden, men pa grund
av den svaga inledningen pa dret, med omfattande produktionsbegransningar, férblev I6nsamheten svag.

Marknadssituationen forvéintas bli &nnu starkare under 2000, tack vare i frimsta hand stark global ekonomisk
tillvixt. Resultatet for 2000 férvintas darmed bli hogre n resultatet for 1999.

Investeringar

Arets investeringar uppgick till 744,0 MSEK (679,0). Av investeringarna utgdr installationen av en ny
sodapanna samt ombyggnad av barrlinjen vid Gruvdn de anskilt st¥rsta projekten.

Forskning och utveckling

Bolagets kastnader far forskning och utveckling (FOU) bestdr dels av ersattning for nyttjande av STORA ENSOs
gemensamma FOU-enhet, dels egna resurser fér process- och produktutveckling. Den sammanlagda

“kostnaden f&r detta uppgick till 108,4 MSEK (78,8)..

Miliopaverkan

Bolagets produktion avser massa, férpackningspapper och kartong. Verksamheten vid bada produktionsen-
heterna ar tillstandspliktig enligt miljabalken. Den yttre miljén paverkas av att frimst koldioxid slapps ut i luften
och att frimst kemiskt syreférbrukande dmnen sldpps ut i vatten. Ansakan inlamnades under 1998 till kon-
cessionsndmnden fér miljdskydd med anledning av planerad produktionsékning vid Skoghallsenheten..

Eérslaq till vinstdisposition

Styrelsen och verkstéllande direktdren f3reslar att till bolagsstimmans férfogande stiende vinstmedel (KSEK)

Kvarstaende vinstmedel fran fGregdende &r ' 2.857.925
Arets resultat 48.838
2.906.763

disponeras sdlunda
Utdelning till moderbcolaget _ 2.900.000
Kvarstaende vinstmedel att balansera i ny rdkning 6.763
2.906.763



Stora Enso Paperboard AB

3(18)
Org nr 556025-5001
RESULTATRAKNING
(MSEK) Not 1999 1998
Nettoomsdttning 1 50204 ‘ 5319,8
Férindring av lager av férdiga varor 7,7 -31,9
Aktiverat arbete fér egen rékning 106 10.2
5023,3 52381
Réreisens kostnader
Frakter och f¥rséljningskommissioner -560,0 -677,8
Ravaror och fdrnddenheter - -2 209,3 -2444,3
Personalkostnader 2 -884,8 -920,5
Ovriga externa kostnader 3 -695,2 -747,3
Nedskrivning av anldggningstillgingar S 6,6 -400,1
Planenliga avskrivningar 5 -543,8 .531,6
Realisationsresultat 3 12 409069 31 =57347
Rérelseresultat 116,4 -436,6
Rénteintakter fran koncernbolag 4,2 6,1
Owriga rinteintdkter 1,3 0,2
Réntekostnader tll koncernbolag 45,0 85,4
Ovriga rintekostnader och liknande .
resultatposter -15.0 2545 2184 925
Resultat efter finansiella poster 61,9 -534,1
Bokslutsdispositioner 5,12 -433,0 34,7
Koncernbidrag 419,8 431,5
Skatter 4,12 - -4,2
M. Arets resultat 48,8 -72,1
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BALANSRAKNING

TILLCANCAR  (MSEX) Not 1999 1998

Anldggningstillgangar

Materiella anldggningstillgangar 5

Byggnader och mark _ . 655,7 676,6

Maskiner och andra tekniska anléggningar 5921,1 6178,9

inventarier och utrustning 147,9 149,3

Pégaende nyanldggningar och férskott €63.1 7 387.,8 1988 7 203,6

Fixiansiella anldggningstillgdngar

Andelari koncernfdratag 6 1 08Q,0 10991
Fordringar hos koncernfsretag 7 420,0 366,9
Andelari §vriga féretag 8 3.3 1613,3 3.4 1 469,4
Omsattningstillgdngar
Varuloger m.m, S : 755,56 _ 7271
Fordringar
Kundfordringar 659,6 : 704,9
Fordringar hos koncernféretag 1171,7 §22,6
Ovriga fordringar . 152,9 80,1
Fdrutbetalda kostnader och
upplupna intdkter 10 10,8 19%5,0 19,8 1427,4
Kassa och bank 14,5 36,1

M. Summa tillgdngar : 11666,2 10857,6
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BALANSRAKNING
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EGET XAPITAL OCH SKULDER (MSEK) Not 1999 1998
Eget kapital 11
Bundet eget kapital
Aktiekapital 350,0 350,0
Reservfond 20,0 249
420,0 420,0
Fritt eget kapital
@alanserade vinst 28579 29300
Arets resultat 488 72,1 Ix
2906.7 3326,7 28579 32779
Obeskattade reserver 12 4 802,6 4 369,6
Avsaittningar
Avs‘a’ftningar fér pensioner 13 370,9 341,7
Ovriga avsittningar 14 821 . 459,0 336 375,3
Skulder 15
Leverantdrsskulder 186,2 201,6
Skulder till kancernféretag 25034 2226,9
Skatteskulder - 4,3
Ovriga skulder 285,4 145,0
Upplupna kostnader och B
férutbetalda intdkter 16 1029 3077,9 25280 2834,8
Summa eget kapital och skulder 11666,2 10857,6
. Stillda panter 17 Inga Inga
Ansvarsforbindelser 17 10,3 10,8
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KASSAFLODESANALYS
(MSEK) 1999 1998
Den lfipande verksamheten
Resultat sfter finansiella poster 61,9 -534,1
Justeringar f§r poster som inte ingér i kassafiédet, mm 645.7 960.8
707,6 426,7
Betald skatt 4.3 -
Kassaflode frin den Iopande verksamheten fore :
férandring av rérelsekapital 703,3 426,7
Kassaflide frin farindring i rérelsekapita
Okning(-)/minskning(+) av varulager -34,5 38,6
Okning(-)/minskning(+) av rérelsefordringar -128,3 -1,8
Okning(+)/minskning(-) av rérelseskuider 872 -68.9
Kassafléde frin den l6pande verksamheten 627,7 394,5
F8rvarv av materiella anlggningstiligdngar -744,0 -679,0
Férsdljning av materiella anldggningstillgéngar 2,4 7,6
Férvdrv av finansiella tillgangar ' -53,0 -
Frsdljning av finansiella tillgdngar - 24
Kassafléde fran investeringsverksamheten -794,6 -668,0
Amortering av laneskuld -107,7 -851,3
Reglerade koncernbidragsfordringar 4410 11119
Kassaflode fran flnansieringsverksamheten 333,3 259,7
Arets kassafléde 166,4 -13,8
Likvida medel vid arets bérjan 37.7 51,5
204,1 37,7

%Likvida medel vid &rets slut



»

Stora Enso Paperboard AB 7(18)

Org nr §56025-5007

TILLAGGSUPPLYSNINGAR TILL KASSAFLODESANALYS

(MSEK) 1999 1998

Betalda rintor och erhallen utdelning

Erhallen rdnta 3,6 4,7

Erlagd rinta 546 938
-51,0 -89,1

Justeringar for poster som inte ingdr | kassaflédet mm

Av- och nedskrivningar av tiligéngar 556,4 931,7

Orealiserade kursdifferenser 4,7 -5,9

Rearesultat fdrsdljning av anldggningstiligangar 1,2 13

Rearesultat fdrsdljning av réreise/dotterfsratag 9,1 .

Avsittningar till pensioner 29,2 10,4

Owriga avséttningar 545 115
645,7 960,8

Likvida medel

Féljande delko'mponenter ingdr i likvida medel:

Kassa och bank 14,5 36,1

Koncernkonto 189 8 1.6
204,1 37,7
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TILLAGGSUPPLYSNINGAR

Koncernuppgifter

Stora Enso Paperboard AB &r ett heldgt dotterbolag till Stera Kopparbergs Sergsiags AB med séte i Faluns kommun (org ne
556002-2096), sam upprittar kancernredovisning fr den minsta koncernen. Stora Ensa Oyj (handelsreg. 676.530) med
sdte i Helsingfors, Finland, upprittar koncernredovisning &+ den stéesta koncarnen.

Det utl¥ndska moderfdretagets koncernredovisning finns att tillga hos Stora Ensc Oyj, Xanavaranta 1,
FIN-00160 Helsingfors, Finland.

Inkdp frém koncernbalag uppgick till 1.802,5 MSEK (2.142,2).'F8r interna leveranser tilidmpas marknadsprissatining (resale
price method).

Redovisnings- och varderingsprinciper
Allménna redovisningsprinciper

Arsredovisningen 4r upprittad enligt drsredavisningslagen frin 1995 (ARL, 1995:1554). Bolaget har f3ijt
rekommendaticner frdn Foreningen Auktoriserade Revisorer (FAR) och Recdovisningsrédet.

Kanmcernkonton

Bolaget r anslutet till ert koncernkontosystem. Tillgcdahavanden pd koncernkento respektive utnyttjande av
koncernkontokredit redovisas som fordringar hos koncernféretag respektive skulder till kancernfgretag.

Virderingsprinciper

Fordringor och skulder i utldndsk voluta

Fordringar och skulder i utlandsk valuta har vdrderats till balansdagskurs eller terminskurs om kurssakring har skett genom
terminskontrake. )

Vérdering av varuloger

Varulagret varderas till det ligre av anskaffnings-/tillverkningsvérde och nettoférsiljningsvérde. Anskaffnings-
[tillverkningsvdrdet har bestimts efter “fGrst in, f&rst ut” (FIFO) metoden. Inkuransavdrag har gjorts efter individuell
bedémning.

Avskrivning pd anlaggningstiligdngar

Avskrivningar enligt plan baseras pd tillgangarnas anskaffningsvirden och berdknade ekonomiska Iivsl&rfgder. Féijande
avskrivningsperioder tilldmpas:

Bastader, kontorsfastigheter och laboratoriebyggnader 1%
Industribyggnader, markanidggningar och tyngre maskiner 5%
Reservdelar 5%
Littare maskiner samtinventarier ‘ 10%
Datautrustning 25%
Fordon ' 25%

Bokfdringsmassiga avskrivningar dr berdknade enligt lag och Sverensstimmer med skattemassigt maximalt tillatna
avskrivningar. Skillnaden mellan planenliga och bokféringsmissiga avskrivningar redovisas i resultatrikningen bland
boksiutsdispositioner. Ackumulerade avskrivningar §ver plan redovisas i balansrikningen bland obeskattade reserver.

Aktiverat arbete far egen rdkning

p./\ Aktiverade kostnader avser enbart av egen persanal nedlagd tid pd storre investeringsprojekt.
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NOTER

Not 1 Nettoomsidttning per marknad
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Av bolagets nettoomsattning utgér 275,1 MSEK (262,0) férsiljning till andra bolag inom STORA ENSO-
koncernen. Den externa nettoomséttningen utgdr 4.7¢5,3 MSEK (5.057,8) och férdelar sig pa olika

marknader enligt féljande:

Andel av Ande] av

MSEK 1999 total % 1998 total %
Sverige 952,6 20,8 1051,0 20,8
Ovriga EU-ldnder 25729 58,1 2936,5 58,1
Ovriga Eurepa 649,9 11,8 595,6 11,8
Summa Europa 4 27 5,4, 90,7 4 583,1 90,7
USA och Kanada 9,3 0,1 5,6 0,1
Ovriga marknader 520,6 9,2 469,1 9,2
47453 100,0 5057,8 100,0
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NOTER

Not 2 Personal och personalkostnader

1999 1998
Medeltal anstillda
Antal anstallda ‘ : , 2163 2214
varav kvinnor : 443 454
Antal arbetsstéllen ‘ : 3 3
Personalkostnader (MSEK)
L&ner och-andra ersédttningor
Styrelse och VD 1,4 6,0
© Ovriga anstalida : €223 £28.6
Summa l8ner och andra ersdttningar 623,7 6346
Sociala kostnader
Avtalsenliga pensioner till styrelse och VD 0,1 : 2,5
Avtalsenliga pensioner, 8vriga ‘ - 54,8 36,6
Ovriga sociala kostnader . 206.2 2137
Summa sociala kostnader 261,1 252,8
Ovriga personalkostnader 33,1
Summa personalkostnader 884,8 920,5

Nigra forpliktelser gentemot styrelse och vb féreligger inte utéver pensionsfrpliktelser (Not 13) och
normalt fsrekommande uppsdgnings!dn fr verkstiilande direktdren.

Av nedanstiende férteckning framgdr férdelningen av antalet anstilida i Sverige per kommun
och arbetsstille:

Koemmun/arbetsstille i Sverige .

Hammar$

Skoghallsverken 949 977

Huvudkontoret 28 33
977 1012

Grums

Cruvéns bruk 1184 1199

Saffle

Kantor 2 2

Mélndal - 1
(\'\ 2163 2214
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NOTER

Not 3 Ovriga externa kostnader och realisationsresultat

MSEK 1999 1998

Realisationsresultat vid avyttring och ut-
rangering av maskiner och inventarier, m.m. 1,2 2131
-1,2 -13,1

Av bekfgrda kastnader till revisionsforetaget KPMG avser 0,6 MSEK revision och 0,3 MSEK andra uppdrag.

Not 4 Skatter

% Den Jatenta skattekostnad, som beldper pa 1998 irs resultat, har berdknats till -139,2 MSEK (24,9).
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Not 5 Anlaggningar
Materiella anldggningstillgangar
Maskiner Pagiende
ochandra  Inventarier  nyanldgg-
Byggnader tekniska an- och  ningaroch
MSEK ochmark ldggningar  utrustning férskott Totalt
Anskaffningsvdrden
Ingdende vérden 1999-01-01 - 1082,7 102721,0 410,5 158,8 11963,0
Investeringar 243 1911 46,7 481,9 744,0
- Omklassificeringar , 0,4 3,7 1,% -11,0 0,0
Avytrring och utrangeringar, o
nedskrivningar - -5,4 -8,7 -6,6 -20,7
Utgaende viirden 1999-12.31 1107,4 10 465,4 450,4 663, 12 686,3
Ackumulerade avskrivningar enligt plan
ing&ende vérden 1999-01-01 406, 4092,1 261,2 4759,4
Planenliga avskrivningar 45,6 456,5 47,7 549,8
Avvyttringar och utrangeringar - -4,3 -6,4 -10,7
Utgdende viirden 1999-12-31 451,7 45443 3025 5298,5
Virde enligt balansrikning
1999-12-31 ' 655,7 5921,1 147,9 663,1 7 387,8
Ackumulerade avskrivningor utéver plan
Ingdende vérden 1999-01-01 138,6 4136,2 - 4274,8
Avskrivningar -9,8 487,7 - 477,9
Utgdende virden 1999-12-31 128,8 46239 - 4752,7
Bokféringsmassigt virde
1999-12-31 526,9 1297,2 147,9 663,1 2635,1

Taxeringsvdrdet pd byggnader och mark uppgar till 1.455,0 MSEK (1.462,7). Taxeringsvérdet inkluderar till-
gangar viika | balansrédkningen redovisats under posten maskiner och inventarier.

Operationella leasingavtal

Leasingavgifter utgdr under 1999 15,9 MSEK (13,0). Avtalade framtida leasingavgifter uppgar till 56,1 MSEK

(72,1).
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Not 6 Andelar] koncernforetag
\nnehavets omfattning Innehavets virde
Kapital- Antal Nominellt Bokfort
Namn Org-Nr Kommun andel aktier " varde virde
Stora Enso Billerud A8 556000-1595 Hammard - 100% 2 000 100000 100,1
Stora Enso Fors A8 556012-86861 Avesta 100% 1 800 000 1 800000 975,4
Cppboga AB 556004-3600  Llindesberg 100% 12000 12000000 14,4
Stora Enso Paperboard
Scandinavia AB 556298.2545 Karlstad 100% 1000 10C 000 0,1
1090,0
Not 7 Fordringar hos koncernféretag
MSEK 1959 1998
Anskaffaingsvdrden '
Ingéende virden 366,9 370,4
Tillkommande fordringar 53,1 .
Reglerade fardringar ' - 3,5
Utgaende varden 420,0 366,9
Not 8 Andelariovriga foretag
Sate/ Kapital- Antal Nominelit Bokfart
Namn Org-Nr Land andel, % ' aktier virde virde
Otor S.A. FR 10,2 44 250 4 425000 3,2
Svensk Kartongater- )
vinning AB 556483-8323 SE 10,0 50 50000 0,1
Fastighets AB Taredom 556285-3224 St 2,5 50 5000
Scankraft Paper AB 556459-7572 SE 12,5 125 12500
Méarmo Bostadsrattsférening 3 2
Skoghalisverkens Bruksbar
Ek f&¢ SE ]
HSB Skoghall SE 4
HSB Crums (Nalby) St k!
HSEB S&ffle (Apoilo) SE 1
Brf Utsikten SE S
3,3
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Not 9 Varulager m.m.
MSEK 1999 1998
Rivaror 135,8 123,8
Férbrukningsartiklar och férnédenheter 117,4 92,6
Fardiga varor 502,4 504,7
7556 7211
Not 10 Fdrutbetalda kastnader och upplupna intikter
Stérre delen av beloppet utgdres av upplupna hyresintdkter och f&rutbetalda
fSrsékringspremier 7,0 MSEK (9,0).
Not 11 Eget kapital
Aktie- Reserv- Balanse- Arets
kapital fond rad vinst resultat Totalt
Ingdende virden 1599-01-01 350,0 70,0 2930,0 72,1 3277.9
Arets resultat 48,8 48,8
Vinstdisposition enligt besfut av
bolagsstimma -72,1 72,1 0,0
Utgdende virden 1999-12-31 350,0 70,0 2857,9 - 43,8 3326,7

M Aktiekapitalet bestar av 3.500.000 aktier 3 100 kronor.
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Not 12 Bokslutsdispositioner och obeskattade reserver
Arets bokslutsdispositioner
MSEK 1999 1998
Skiltnad mellan bokférd avskrivning och
avskrivningar enligt pian -477,8 -10,1
Aterfsring av skatteutjigmningsreserv
(SURV) K 449 44,8
-433,0 34,7
Obeskattade reserver
Periodi- Ackumulerade  Skatteutjdm-
. serings- avskrivningar  ningsreserv
MSEX fond * utdver plan (SURV) K Totalt
lngdende virden 1999-01-01 5,0 42748 89,8 4 369,5
Arets bokslutsdispositioner " 4779 449 433,0
Utgidende varden 1999-12-31 5,0 4752,7 44,9 4802,6 **

*  Avser taxeringsdr 1996

** Den latenta skatteskulden har berdknats till 1.308,8 MSEK (1.171,6) och sammanhénger frimst med

bolagets obeskattade reserver.

Not 13 Avsattningar for pensioner

PRI-skulder ingar med 345,9 MSEK (338,4). Rantan har beriiknats med 3,6% (4,9) pd drets genomsnittliga

skuld. PRI-skulderna 3r kreditforsakrade via FPG/PRI.

W\ | PRI-skulden ingar avsattning till styrelse och VD med €,8 MSEK (§,6).
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NOTER

Not 14 Ovriga avsiattningar

MSEK 1999 1998
Avsittning fér kommande omstrukturering 59,5

Avsattning fér punktskatter m.m. 5,6 9,0
Avsittning for dterstédlining av fabrikslokaler 23,0 '
Avsittning fér garantikostnader . 24,6
Summa 83,1 33,6
Not 15 Skulder
Skuidernas férfaliostruktur framgér av nedanstiende tabell.
MSEK Inom 1 ar 1-5ar Meridnsar Totalt
Leverantdrsskulder 186,2 | 186,2
Skulder till koncernféretag 2503,4 _ 2503,4
Ovriga skulder _ 233,0 1,6 50,8 285,4
Upplupna kostnader och férutbetalda .

intdkter 102,9 102,2

Summa

3 025,5 1,6 50,8 3077,9
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Not 16 Upplupna kostnader och férutbetaida intakter (totalt 102,9 MSEK)

Stdrre delen av beloppet utgdres av [6neskuld och sociala avgifter 22,0 MSEK (168,6), punktskatter
11,3 MSEK samt reservering fér férsdljningskostnader 47,8 MSEK (39,4).

Not 17 Stilida s3akerheter

Stallda panter

MSEK ' 1999 1998
Fastighetsinteckningar Inga Inga
Ovriga panter Inga Inga
Ansvarsforbindelser

1999 1998
Carantiférbindelser 7.2 7.2
Borgensférbindelser 3,1 3,6

“kSumma ' 10,3 . 10,8
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Interlm Report
January September 2001

Quarter January - September
MSEK 2001 Q3 2001 Q2 2001 2000
Net turnover 1,643 3,031 | 9,564 18,827
Operating profit 319 1,703 . 2,711 2,667
Profit after net financial items 354 1,607 | 2,741 2,402
Earnings per share, SEK 2.68 20.70 27.45 17.18
- calculated on average ‘
number of shares 95,157,179 | 95,157,179 | 98,616,673* | 118,373,034

* weighted average

® The Swedish State has through Sveaskog AB made a public offer for alil the shares in
AssiDoman AB. The offer value is estimated to correspond to approximately SEK 280 per
share. AssiDomén’s Board has recommended shareholders to accept the offer.

® Profit after net financial items decreased in the third quarter by MSEK 1,343,
compared with the previous quarter. This decline is mainly due to capital gains in the
~ second quarter. In the first nine months of 2001, profit after net financial items
improved by MSEK 339, compared with the same period in the previous year.

~® Operating profit for remaining units, excluding Billerud and property sales, decreased
by MSEK 21 to MSEK 181, compared with the previous quarter. This decline is
mainly seasonal. Operating profit for the first nine months of the year increased by
MSEK 56 to MSEK 591, compared with the same period in the previous year.

If you have any questions concerning this report, please contact
Peter Mansson, Vice President, Investor Relations, Berit Hallberg, Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications,
or Sven Eric Lundstrém, Executive Vice President, CFO. Telephone: +46 8 655 90 00.
E-mail: maitbox @asdo.se (Corporate Communications), ir@asdo.se (investor Relations)



Market

The terrorist attacks in the United States and the subsequent political uncertainty are having a
negative impact on the already weak growth in the global economy. The intensity and duration of
the global economic downturn are difficult to estimate today. The North American economy is
expected to show negative growth figures in the fourth quarter while the economy in Europe is still
showing slightly better development.

Despite this, a relatively even volume development is expected for sawlogs and pulpwood,
although with lower deliveries than in the same period last year. Demand for sawn timber has
weakened in Europe but a more balanced supply situation has temporarily improved market
conditions. Demand for cartonboard has risen following a seasonal decline.

Prices for sawlogs, pulpwood and cartonboard are expected to be relatively stable. For sawn
timber, redwood prices have leveled while a weak rise in market prices for whitewood products
can be noted.

Sales, results and profitability

The sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard business area was completed in May 2001. In 2001,
the business area is included in AssiDoman’s consolidated accounts for the period January -
April. The overall net earnings impact of this transaction amounted to MSEK 1,791, of which
MSEK 1,603 was reported in the second quarter and MSEK 188 in the first quarter. Earnings for

- the third quarter were not affected by the sale.

Third quarter

AssiDoman’s net turnover for the period amounted for remaining units (excluding Billerud) to
MSEK 1,643, a decrease of 21% compared with the previous quarter mainly due to seasonal
fluctuations. In total, turnover decreased by 46% as a result of the sale of the Corrugated &
Containerboard business area.

Operating profit for remaining units amounted to MSEK 181, a decrease of MSEK 21 compared
with the previous quarter. For Forestry & Wood Supply this deterioration was seasonal. Timber's
profit was also adversely affected by a reduction in volumes during the vacation period.
Cartonboard's earnings were negatively affected by a major planned maintenance and investment
shutdown. Lower restructuring costs and elimination of the intercompany profit reserve in stocks
reduced group-wide costs considerably.

In total, operating profit amounted to MSEK 319, compared with MSEK 1,703 in the second
quarter. Earnings for the second quarter included an overall earnings impact from the sale of
Corrugated & Containerboard of MSEK 1,333. Capital gains from property sales amounted to
MSEK 29 (20).

Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 354, a decline of MSEK 1,343 compared with
the previous quarter. Corrugated & Containerboard affected earnings for the second quarter by
MSEK 1,318. . '

Net financial items amounted to MSEK 35 compared with MSEK -6 in the second quarter. This
improvement was mainly due to interest income on a purchase price received.



January - September

Net turnover for the first three quarters amounted to MSEK 5,528 for remaining units, an increase
of 3% compared with the previous year. In total, turnover amounted to MSEK 9,564, a decrease
compared with the same period in 2000 of MSEK 9,263 or 49%. This change is essentially
attributable to the sale of operations in both 2000 and 2001 and the formation of Billerud.

Operating profit for remaining units increased by MSEK 56 to MSEK 591. Both Cartonboard and ‘
Forestry & Wood Supply improved their earnings while Timber's earnings decreased. The
operating margin amounted to 11% during the period.

Total operating profit amounted to MSEK 2,711, compared with MSEK 2,667 in the first nine
months of 2000. The total earnings impact from Corrugated & Containerboard amounted to MSEK
1,610 (694). The results for the previous year included MSEK 388 for units sold to Frantschach -
and MSEK 332 in funds from Alecta (formerly SPP). The capital gain from property sales
amounted to MSEK 52 (232).

Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 2,741, compared with MSEK 2,402 in the same
period last year. Net financial items improved by MSEK 295 due to a substantially reduced net
debt.

Net tax of MSEK -32 is reported for the period. This corresponds to a tax charge of 28% for
remaining units and a positive tax effect from the sale of Corrugated & Containerboard. In the first
three quarters of 2000, the tax charge was MSEK 364, corresponding to an average tax rate of
35% as well as a positive tax effect from the sale of operations.

Return on capital employed amounted to 14% during the period and return on equity was 15%, all
calculated on a full-year basis. Interest cover was 13.3. :

The number of employees decreased due to the sale of operations and rationalization measures.
The average number of employees in remaining units amounted to 2,272.

Investments, cash flow and financial position

Investments amounted to MSEK 507 during the period January — September. The amount for
remaining units was MSEK 246, with Cartonboard accounting for more than half.

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MSEK 1,282. Interest-bearing net cash amounted
to MSEK 4,919 on September 30, 2001, compared with a net debt of MSEK 2,177 at year-end
2000. Liquid assets increased mainly through liquid assets received from the sale of Corrugated &
Containerboard but decreased through payment of the previously decided share redemption of
MSEK 4,411, The interest-bearing debt also decreased through debts transferred to Billerud in
conjunction with the company’s formation.

The Group'’s visible equity ratio at the end of the period was 72%, compared with 62% at the
beginning of the year. The debt/equity ratio was —0.22 (0.09).



Business areas
Forestry & Wood Supply

Third quarter

The market for pulpwood gradually weakened during the period. A subdued trend in the pulp and
paper markets, together with market-related and other production shutdowns at the mills, '
contributed to some surplus supplies, mainly of pine pulpwood and chips. The sawlogs market
was more balanced with some shortages in both north and south Sweden. Price reductions were
implemented for both pulpwood and timber.

O'perating profit amounted to MSEK 186, compared with MSEK 274 in the previous quarter. This
downturn is mainly seasonal with lower delivery volumes and a higher proportion of pulpwood.

January - September

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 695, compared with MSEK 655 in the same period last year.
Lower harvesting costs and higher deliveries from own forests contributed to this improvement
and compensated for the slightly lower price level.

Timber
_Third quarter

The European market for sawn timber remained uncertain with signs of lower demand in key sub
markets. Despite this, prices for redwood products stabilized and rose slightly for whitewood
products due to lower supplies in the summer. AssiDoman’s delivery volumes were lower than in
the previous quarter.

Operating profit for the quarter amounted to MSEK 1 compared wnth MSEK 11 in the previous
quarter. This decline was mainly due to lower volumes.

January - September

Operating profit for the first nine months was MSEK 14, a decline of MSEK 15 compared with the
same period in 2000. Higher deliveries could not compensate for lower selling prices.

The Swedish sawmill industry has been characterized by serious profitability problems for many
years. During the year, these problems were aggravated in step with shrinking margins. For
AssiDoman's sawmill operations, however, the focus on strategically selected markets and
customers has increased resistance to the general deterioration in conditions for the industry. All
. units therefore show positive earnings.

Cartonboard

Third quarter

The general market situation for packaging board was characterized by a seasonal weakening in
the third quarter. Prices were unchanged within the product areas in which AssiDomén operates.
AssiDoman’s delivery volumes decreased during the period, among other things due to the annual
maintenance shutdown. Average prices rose slightly due to earlier price increases.

Operating profit for the quarter amounted to MSEK 18 éompared with MSEK 56 in the previous
quarter. This deterioration was due to the effects of the extended production shutdown which led
to lower volumes and higher costs.



January — September

Operating profit for the period amounted to MSEK 114, an increase of MSEK 60 compared with
the same period last year. This improvement was mainly due to higher selling prices, an improved
product mix, higher delivery volumes and improved productivity.

Billerud
Third quarter

The trend for Billerud’'s paper products was relatively stable during the period while market pulp
was affected by significant price decreases

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 246, a decrease of MSEK 73 compared with the previous
quarter. This decline was mainly due to lower average prices for market pulp, maintenance
shutdowns at Gruvén and Karlsborg and the costs for the stock-exchange listing. Profit after net
financial items amounted to MSEK 217,

January - September

Operating profit in the first nine months of 2001 amounted to MSEK 1,034, compared with MSEK
998 in the same period last year. This improvement was mainly due to higher average prices for

paper products, expressed in Swedish kronor, which were counteracted by lower pulp prices and
higher variable costs. Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 951.

Changes in the Group
Billerud

At the beginning of the year, AssiDoman’s pulp and paper mills in Karlsborg and Skarblacka and
Stora Enso’s mill in Gruvdn were merged to form the 50/50 owned company Billerud AB.

Following a decision at AssiDomén’s Annual General Meetiﬁg in May 2001, AssiDoman’s
shareholding in Billerud will be distributed to shareholders in conjunction with the stock- exchange
listing of the company. This is planned to take place in November this year.

Prior to the distribution, AssiDoman will acquire 20% of the shares in Billerud from Stora Enso. As
a result, 70% of Billerud will be distributed to AssiDomén’s shareholders. More detailed
information in the terms for the distribution will be made available to shareholders at the beginning
of November.

Public offer for AssiDomaéan

AssiDomaén is now primerily a forestry company with 2.4 million hectares of productive timberland
in Sweden. After the distribution of Billerud, the industrial operations will comprise the sawmill
operations and the cartonboard mill in Frovi.

On October 10, the Swedish State, via its wholly owned company Sveaskog AB, made a offer to
acquire all the shares in AssiDomén AB. The offer is subject to AssiDoman completing the
distribution of its shares in Billerud. Payment is intended to take the form of cash and shares in
Billerud which the State will receive when AssiDoman distributes Billerud.



The total value of the distribution of shares in.BiHerud and the takeover offer is estimated to
correspond to approximately SEK 280 per share in AssiDoman. The MSEK 12,000 redemption
program previously announced by AssiDomén will not be carried out if the offer is completed.

AssiDoman’s Board has found the offer acceptable and has therefore unanimously decided to
recommend the shareholders of AssiDoman AB to accept the State’s offer. The State intends to

present its offer in more detail in November through a prospectus which will be sent to all
AssiDoman’s shareholders.

Stockholm, October 30, 2001

Gunnar Palme
President

AssiDoman AB (publ) (556016-9020)

This interim report has not been reviewed by the Company’s auditors.

Financial calendar
Year-end report for 2001 January 29, 2002



AssiDomén Group-
Accounting principles

AssiDomén follows the recommendations of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council. The
accounting principles, as described in the Annual Report for 2000, are unchanged except for a change in the
translation method for one subsidiary and adoption of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council's
recommendation RR 9 Income Taxes. The effects of these changes are described in the table “Changes in
shareholders’ equity” below. Comparative periods have been recalculated in a similar manner.

This interim report has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council's recommendation RR 20, Interim Reports.

3 months 9 months 12 months

Profit and Loss Account Q3 Q2 Q3 Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Oct2000- Full year

MSEK 2001 2001 2000 2001 2000 Sep 2001 2000

Net turnover ' 1,643 3,031 5,458 9,564 18,827 15,380 24,643

Other operating income 33 1,287 611 1,331 709 1,188 566

Raw materials and consumables -549 -1,196 -2,037 -3,615 -6,636 -5,545 -8,566

Change in stocks -87 -38 175 -84 130 -60 154
- QOther external costs -462 -878 -1,564 -2,740 -5,465 -4,519 -7,244

Staff costs* , =275 -486 -1,055 -1,664 -3,611 -2,510 -4,457

Share of profits of associated _

companies 109 148 0 473 -1 470 -4

Depreciation according to plan -93 -165 -407 -554  -1,286 -887  -1,619

Operating profit 319 1,703 1,181 2,711 2,667 3,517 3,473

Financial items 35 -6 -86 30 -265 -88 -383

Profit after financial items 354 1,697 1,095 2,741 2,402 3,429 3,090

Taxes -98 273 93 -32 | -364 66 -266

Minarity interests -1 0 -1 -2 -4 -4 -6

Net profit for the period 255 1,970 1,187 2,707 2,034 3,491 2,818

Net earnings/share, SEK 268 20.70 10.02 27.45 17.18 34.08 23.81

- calculated on average number of ‘ '

shares, millions 95.2 95.2 118.4 98.6** 118.4 102.4™ 118.4

* of which, SPP funds - - 332 - 332 - 332

** weighted average v

Balance Sheet Sep30 Sep30 Dec 31

MSEK 2001 2000 2000 .

Fixed assets, non-interest bearing 22,484 16,849 - 30,164

Stocks ' 716 2,240 2,305

Current receivables, etc., non-interest-bearing 2,057 5,652 4,910

Liquid assets and interest-bearing receivables 6,350 3,245 2925 -

Total assets . 31,607 27,986 40,304

Shareholders’ equity 22,816 14,507 24,931

Minority interests 0 24 29

Non-interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 7,360 7,128 10,242

Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 1,431 6,327 5,102

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 31,607 27,986 40,304




AssiDoman Group

Cash Flow Statement Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Full year
MSEK 2001 2000 2000
Operating surplus 1,677 3699 - 4,739
Change in working capital, etc. -260 -461 -599
Net financial items, taxes, etc. -135 -1,130 -921
Cash flow from operating activities 1,282 2,108 3,219
Investments in fixed assets -507 -1,033 -1,490
"~ Company acquisitions - -42 -46
Sale of fixed assets 10,556 5,023 5,282
Change in interest-bearing receivables 70 -442 16
Cash flow from
investing activities 10,119 3,506 3,762
Cash flow from
financing activities 7,906 -4,084 -5,326
Total cash flow ' 3,495 1,530 1,655
Liquid assets at the beginning of the
year 2,853 1,187 1,187
Exchange differences in liquid assets 0 0 11

Ligquid assets at the end of the period 6,348 2,717 2,853

: ' ' Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Full year
Changes in shareholders’ equity 2001 2000 2000

Opening equity on January 1 .

“according to adopted balance sheet 24,843 13,194 13,194
Change in translation method * 95 89 95
Effect of adoption of RR 9 Income Taxes -7 - -7
Adjusted opening equity 24,931 13,283 13,282
Redemption of shares ** -4.411 - -
Dividend . -619 -710 =710
Provision to revaluation reserve - - 9,604
Realized transiation difference taken up as
income 137 -
Translation difference for the period 137 <73 22
Adjustment for hedging carried out ' -66 -27 -85
Net profit for the period. 2,707 2,034 2,818
Closing equity at the end of the period 22,816 14,507 24,931

* Starting in 2001, translation of the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the subsidiary in
St. Petersburg, Russia, is carried out according to the monetary method. The current method was
previously applied. Comparative figures for the Russian subsidiary for January — September and the full year
2000 have been recalculated in this interim report and included in the consolidated balance sheet according
to the monetary method. This change was realized in conjunction with the sale to Kappa.

** On March 29, 2001, shareholders ‘equity decreased through redemption of 23,215,855 shares at
SEK 190: The number of shares has thus decreased from 118,373,034 to 95,157,179.



AssiDomén Group

Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Full year
Key Figures * 2001 2000 2000
Operating margin, % 1) 11 10 10
Return on capital employed, % 2) 14 17 14
Return on equity, % 2) 15 20 15
Equity ratio, % ~ 72 - b2 62
Debt/equity ratio, times -0.22 0.21 0.09
Interest-bearing net debt, MSEK -4,919 3,082 2,177
Earnings per share after full tax, SEK 3) 27.45 17.18 23.81
Cash flow per share; SEK 3) 29.13 31.93 40.80
Equity per share, SEK 3) 240 123 210
Average number of employees 5,994 15,248 14,506
Average number of employees in remaining units 2,272 2,398 2,342

1) Operating margin relates to remaining units, other key figures pertain to the entire Group.

2) Calculated on an annual basis.

3) Second and third quarters of 2001 calculated on 95.15

on
118,373,034 shares.

* Definitions, see Annual Report for 2000.

Business areas

Quarterly breakdown of net turnov

er by business area and for the Group

7,179 shares, first quarter of 2001 and 2000 calculatgd

1999

2001 - 2000

MSEK Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qi Q4 Q3
Forestry & Wood Supply 966 1,158 1,225 1,257 964 1,212 1,276 1,206 888
Timber 568 623 622 612 501 585 671 730 558
Cartonboard 510 555 529 494 444 539 473 435 475
Other & intra-Group deliveries 401 -263 . -564 -526 -447 -384 -489 -327  -535
Total remaining units 1,643 2,073 1,812 1,837 1,462 1,952 1,931 2,044 1,386
AssiDoman units included in '

Billerud since January 1, 2001 - - - 1,068 928 902 847 789 719
Units sold to Kappa - 1,066 3,401 3,247 2,906 3,116 2,919 2,804 2,651
Units sold to Frantschach - - - - 502 1310 1,311 1,138 1,275
Other & intra-Group deliveries - -108 -323 -336  -340 -471 -448 -363  -268
Total Group 1,643 3,031 4890 5,816 5,458 6,809 6,560 6,412 5,763




Quarterly breakdown of earnings by business area and for the Group
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1) Deliveries from Group forests

2001 2000 1999
MSEK Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3
Forestry & Wood Supply 186 274 235 235 162 217 276 ‘247 139
Timber . 1 11 2 12 2 14 13 0 -4
Cartonboard 18 56 40 46 26 24 4 20 31
Other and eliminations -24 -139 -69 -108 -53 121 -29 -94  -78
Total remaining units 181 202 208 185 137 134 264 173 78
Property sales 29 " 20" 3 29 200 15 17 7 21
SPP funds - - - - 332 - - - -
Share of profit of Billerud 109 148 218 - - - - -
AssiDoman units included in '
Billerud since January 1, 2001 - - - 285 264 186 98 82 86
Units sold to Kappa - 1,333 % 277 324 199 299 196 37 114
Units sold to Frantschach ' - - - - 70 184 134 -106 94
Other and eliminations - - -17 -17 -21 -20 -21 -20 -21
Operating profit before
write-downs 319 1,703 689 806 1,181 798 688 173 372
Write-downs - : - - - - - - -1,540 -
Operating profit/loss after
write-downs 319 1,703 689 806 1,181 798 688 -1,367 372
Financial items 35 -6 1 -118 -86 -56  -123 -133  -134
Profit/loss after financial :
items * 354 1,697 690 688 1,095 742 565 -1,500 238
Taxes -98 273 -207 98 93 -258 -199 151 -116
Minority interests -1 0 -1 -2 1. -2 -1 1 -1
Net profit/loss for the period 255 1,970 482 784 1,187 482 365 -1,348 121
Net earnings/share, SEK 2,68 2070 4.07 6.63 10.02 4.08 3.08 -11.39 1.02
- excl. write-downs -0.59
- calculated on average number : : .
of shares, millions 95.2 95.2 1184 1184 1184 1184 1184 1184 1 18.4 -
" * Non-recurring items and earnings from units sold to Kappa
1) capital gains
property sales ‘ 29 20
2) earnings from units ‘
sold to Kappa .- 1,319
3) additional purchase price - 13
Total 29 ° 1,352
Quarterly breakdown of deliveries and production volumes by business unit
2001 2000 1999
Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3
Forestry ' '
Deliveries, 000 m’sub 1) 1,211 1,357 1,276 1,531 1,137 1,259 1,376 1,450 1,067
Timber ,
Deliveries, 000 m’fo 286. 310 315 312 255 303 325 366 251
Production, 000 m’fo 260 315 314 321 246 302 322 333 266
Cartonboard ‘
Deliveries, ktonnes 73 80 76 71 65 82 75 67 67
Production, ktonnes 60 80 78 76 73 73 72 67 75
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AssiDomén Group in euros *)
*) Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro Appendix 4

3 months 9 months 12 months

Profit and Loss Account Q3 Q2 Q3 Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Oct 2000- Full year
MEUR 2001 2001 2000 2001 2000 Sep 2001 2000
Net turnover 1183 3286 6202 982.3 2,209.5 1,553.9 2,781.1
Other operating income -4.7 1402 716 136.7 832 1174 ~ 639
Raw materials and consumables -37.2 -129.8 -2321 -371.3 -778.8 -559.2  -966.7
Change in stocks -8.9 -4.2 20.6 -8.6 15.3 . -85 17.4
Other external costs -33.2 951 -177.7 -281.4 -641.4 -457.6 -817.6
Staff costs * -18.6 -52.6 -119.9 -170.9 -423.8 -250.1  -503.0
Share of profits of associated B

companies 8.8 16.1 0.0 . 48.5 -0.1 48.1 -0.5
Depreciation.according to plan -6.7 -17.9 -464 -56.9 -150.9 -88.7 -182.7
Operating profit 17.8 1853 136.3 2784  313.0 357.3 391.9
Financial items 3.6 -0.6 -9.8 3.1 -31.1 -3.0 -43.2
Profit after financial items 21.4 1847 1265 = 2815 2819 348.3 3487
Taxes -10.5 29.8 11.6 -3.3 -42.7 9.4 -30.0
Minority interests -0.1 0.0 -0.1 -0.2 -0.5 -0.4 -0.7
Net profit for the period 10.8 2145 138.0 278.0 2387 357.3  318.0
Net earnings/share EUR ' 0.12 2.25 1.18 2.82 2.03 3.48 2.69
- calculated on average number of : - .

share, millions : 95.2 95.2 118.4 98.6 ** 118.4 102.4 " 118.4

* of which, SPP funds - - 39.0 - 38.0 -1.5 37.5
** weighted average

Balance Sheet Sep 30 Sep 30 Dec 31

MEUR 2001 2000 2000

Fixed assets, non-interest-bearing 2,309.3 1,977.3  3,404.2

Stocks 73.5 262.9 260.1

Current receivables, etc., non-interest-bearing  211.3 663.3 554.1

Liquid assets and interest-bearing receivables  652.2 -  380.8 3301

Total assets .- 3,2463 3,284.3 45485

Shareholders’ equity 2,343.4 1,702.5 2,813.4

Minority interests 0.0 2.8 3.3

Non-interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 755.9 . 836.5 1,156.0

Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 147.0 742.5 575.8

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 3,246.3 3,284.3 4,548.5



AssiDoman Group in euros *

* Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro Appendix 4

Cash Flow Statement Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Full year
MEUR 2001 2000 2000
Operating surplus 172.2 434.1 534.8
Change in working capital, etc. -26.7 -54.1 -67.6
Net financial items, taxes, etc. -13.8 ~132.6 -103.9
Cash flow from operating activities 131.7 2474 363.3
Investments in fixed assets -52.1 -121.2 -168.1
Company acquisitions - -4.9 -5.2
Sale of fixed assets 1,084.2 589.4 596.1
Change in interest-hearing receivables 7.2 -51.9 1.8
Cash flow from

. investing activities 1,039.3 411.4 424.6
Cash flow from v
financing activities -812.0 -479.2 -601.1
Total cash flow 359.0 179.6 186.8
Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 322.0 138.9 138.8
Exchange differences in liguid assets -29.0 0.4 . -3.7
Liquid assets at the end of the period 652.0 3189 322.0

1,702.5

\ Jan-Sep Jan-Sep Full year
Changes in shareholders’ equity 2001 2000 2000
Opening equity on January 1
according to adopted balance sheet 2,803.6 1,544.1 1,544.1
Change in transiation method 1) _ 9.8 10.5 10.7
Effect of adoption of RR 9 Income Taxes -0.7 - -0.8
Adjusted opening equity 2,812.7 15546 1,554.0
Translation difference in opening equity -252.0 43 -55.1
Dividend -63.6 -83.3 -80.1
Redemption of shares 2) -453.1 - -
Provision to revaluation reserve - - 1,083.8

' Realized translation difference taken up as

income - 14.1 - -
Translation difference for the period 14.1 -8.6 2.4
Adjustment for hedging carried out -6.8 -3.2 -9.6
Net profit for the period 278.0 238.7 318.0
Closing equity at the end of the period 2,343.4 28134

1) Starting in 2001, translation of the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the subsidiary in
St. Petersburg, Russia, is carried out according to the monetary method. The current method was
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previously applied. Comparative figures for the Russian subsidiary for January - September and the full year
2000 have been recalculated in this interim report and included in the consolidated balance sheet according
to the monetary method. This change was realized in conjunction with the sale to Kappa.
2) On March 29, 2001, shareholders’ equity decreased through redemption of 23,215,855 shares at SEK 190.
The number of shares has thus decreased from 118,373,034 to 95,157,179.
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Euro Appendix 3

AssiDoman Group in euros *
* Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro Appendix 4

Jan-Sep Jan-Sep  Full year

Key Figures * : 2001 2000 2000
Operating margin, % 1) 11 10 10
Return con capital employed, % 2) 14 17 14
Return on equity, % 2) _ 15 20 15
Equity ratio, % 72 52 62
Debt/equity ratio, times -0.22 0.21 0.09
Interest-bearing net debt, MEUR -505.2 361.7 245.7
Earnings per share after full tax, EUR 2.82 2.03 2.69
Cash flow per share, EUR 3) : 2.99 3.75 4.60
Equity per share, EUR 3) ‘ 24.63 14.38 23.68
Average number of employees 5,994 - 15,248 14,506
Average number of employees in remaining units 2,272 2,398 2,342

1) Operating margin relates to remaining units, other key figures pertain to the entire Group.

2) Calculated on annual basis.

3) Second and third quarters of 2001 calculated on 95,157,179 shares, first quarter 2001 and 2000 calculated on
118,373,034 shares.

* Definitions, see Annual Report for 2000.

Business areas in euros *)
*) Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro Appendix 4

Quarterly breakdown of net turnover by business area and for the Group

2001 2000 1999
MEUR Q3 Q2 Qf Q4 Q3 Q2 Qi Q4 Q3
Forestry & Wood Supply 844 1258 133.8 126.3 109.3 1420 153.8 149.0 102.8
Timber 50.5 67.7 68.0 61.2 569 684 809 89.7 645
Cartonboard v 456 603 57.8 49.2 50.6 633 57.0 - 54.0 549
Other & intra-Group deliveries  -36.0 -285 -61.6 -534 -51.2 -449 -589 -41.5 -61.6
Total remaining units 144.5 2253 198.0 183.3 165.6 228.8 232.8 251.2 160.6

AssiDoman units included in

Billerud since January 1, 2001 - - - 108.4 106.3 105.9 102.0 97.2 83.1
Units sold to Kappa -27.9 1150 3717 326.2 3319 365.6 351.8 3478 3065
Units sold to Frantschach - - - -14.0 54.9 153.6 158.0 141.7 1472
Qther & intra-Group deliveries 27 117 -353 -32.3 -385 -552 -54.0 -451 -31.2
Total Group 119.3 328.6 5344 571.6 620.2 798.7 790.6 792.8 666.2
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* Non-recurring items and earnings from units sold to Kappa

1) capital gains

property sales 2.8 22
2) earnings from units -10.0 143.6
sold to Kappa
3) additional purchase price -0.1 1.4
Total -7.3 147.2
Exchange rates EUR1 =
September 30, 2001 SEK 9.736200
June 30, 2001 SEK 9.178000
March 31, 2001. SEK 9.151000
December 31, 2000 SEK 8.861000
September 30, 2000 SEK 8.521000
June 30, 2000 SEK 8.412000
March 31, 2000 SEK 8.298000
December 31, 1999 SEK 8.545000
September 30, 1999 SEK 8.719800
June 30, 1999 SEK 8.752500
March 31, 1999 SEK 8.880600

. Euro Appendix 4
Business areas in euros *)
*) Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table below
Quarterly breakdown of earnings by business area and for the Group
2001 2000 1999

MEUR Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3
Forestry & Wood Supply 15.9 29.8 257 235 183 253 333 307 186.3
Timber . 0.0 1.2 0.2 12 02 16 1.6 0.1 -1.6
Cartonboard 1.2 6.1 44 50 30 28 05 23 3.6
Other and eliminations -1.1 -15.2 -75 -113 -6.0 -143 -35 -114 -90
Total remaining units 16.0 219 . 228 184 155 154 319 215 93
Property sales 28 " 22" 0.3 23 234 18 20 1.1 24
SPP funds - - - -1.5 39.0 - - - -
Share of profit of Billerud 8.9 16.1 23.8 - - - - - -
AssiDomén units included in '
Billerud since January 1, 2001 - - - 297 305 220 118 9.7 9.8
Units sold to Kappa -10.0? 14517 303 335 226 352 236 53 132
Units sold to Frantschach - - - 1.7 77 217 161 . -120 108
Qther and eliminations 0.1 - -1.9 -18 -24 23 -25 -2.8 -25
Operating profit before ’
write-downs "17.8 185.3 75.3 789 1363 938 829 22.8 43.0
Write-downs - - - - - - - -180.0 -
Operating profit/loss after :
write-downs 17.8 185.3 75.3 789 1363 938 829 -157.2 43.0
Financial items 3.6 -06™ 01 -121 -98 -65 -148 -16.4 -155
Profit/loss after financial ' o
items* ‘ 21.4 184.7 75.4 66.8 1265 873 68.1 -173.6 275
Taxes -10.5 29.8 -22.6 127 11.6 -30.3 -24.0 16.9 -13.4
Minority interests -0.1 0.0 -0.1 -0.2 -01 -03 -0.1 0.1 -01
Net profit/loss for the period 10.8 214.5 52,7 79.3 138.0 56.7 44.0 -156.6 14.0
Net earnings/share, EUR 0.12 2.25 045 066 1.18 048 037 -1.32 0.12
- excl. write-downs -0.06
- calculated on average number ,

~ of shares, millions 95.2 95.2 118.4 118.4 1184 1184 1184 1184 1184
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Interim Report
January — June 2001

Quarter January - June
MSEK 2001 Q2| 2001Q1 2001 2000
Net turnover 3,031 4,890 7,921 13,369
- | Operating profit 1,703 689 2,392 | 1,486
Profit after net financial
items 1,697 690 2,387 1,307
Earnings per share, SEK 20.70 4.07 24.77 7.16
- Calculated on average
number of shares 95,157,179 | 118,373,034 | 98,990,715* | 118,373,034

* weighted average

® Profit after net financial items increased in the second quarter by MSEK 1,007,
compared with the previous quarter. In the first half of 2001, profit after net financial
items rose by MSEK 1,080, compared with the first half of the prevuous year. This
improvement is due to the sale of units.

- & Operating profit for remaining units excluding Billerud increased by MSEK 11 to MSEK
222, compared with the previous quarter. Operating profit for the first half of 2001
increased by MSEK 3 to MSEK 433, compared with the same period in 2000.

® The sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard business area to the Dutch company
Kappa was completed following EU approval in May. As of 1 January 2001, this
transaction provided a capital gain (including tax effect) of MSEK 1,870.

® [n autumn 2001, the Board of Directors will call an extraordinary general meeting and
propose a transfer of approximately MSEK 12,000 to sharsh~'~~ lemption
of shares.

g 08
g\ ‘\‘ \’ L L 1

. If you have any questions concerning this report, piease contact
Peter Mansson, Vice President, Investor Relations, Berit Hallberg, Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications,
or Sven Eric Lundstrém, Executive Vice President, CFO. Telephone: +46 8 655 90 00.
E-mail: mailbox@asdo.se (Corporate Communications), ir@asdo.se (Investor Relations)




Market

Growth in the global economy is expected to remain weak throughout the rest of the year. At
present, the decline in the US is expected to reach its lowest point in autumn at the earliest.
Since the downturn in Europe started later than in the US, the weakening of the European
economy will probably continue.

A relatively stable volume development is expected for AssiDoman's remaining products despite
slower demand growth than in the same period last year.

Prices for cartonboard and sawlogs are relatively stable while a continued fall in market prices
for sawn timber can be noted.

Sales, results and profitability

The sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard business area was completed in May 2001. In
2001, the business area is included in AssiDomén’s consolidated accounts for the period
January — April. Completed restructuring may make comparisons between different perlods
difficult (see below under Changes in the Group).

Second quarter

AssiDomaén’s net turnover for the period, MSEK 3,031, decreased compared with the previous
quarter by MSEK 1,859 or 38% due to the sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard business
area. Turnover for remaining units (excluding Billerud) rose 14%.

Operating profitimproved for all remaining units. Earnings were charged with a higher provision
for intercompany profits in stocks. In the first quarter, elimination of the intercompany profit
reserve had a positive impact on earnings. Taken overall, earnings increased by MSEK 11
compared with the previous quarter and amounted to MSEK 222.

Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 1,697, an increase of MSEK 1,007 over the
previous quarter. Corrugated & Containerboard, including the effects of the sale in the second
quarter, had an impact on the result for the second quarter of MSEK 1,319, compared with
MSEK 237 in the first quarter. Capital gains from the sale of properties amounted to MSEK 20
compared with MSEK 3 in the first quarter.

Net financial items émounted to MSEK -6 compared with MSEK 1 in the first quarter. The
positive effect of the purchase price received from Kappa during the quarter was neutralised by
the share redemption carried out in the first quarter.

January - June

Net turnover for the first six months of 2001, MSEK 7,921, decreased compared with the first
half of 2000 by MSEK 5,448 or 41%. This change is essentially attributable to the sale of
operations in both 2000 and 2001 as well as the formation of Billerud. Turnover for remaining
units was on a par with the previous year.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 2,392, compared with MSEK 1,486 for the first half of 2000.
The overall earnings impact from Corrugated & Containerboard amounted to MSEK 1,610 (495).
The results for the previous year included MSEK 318 for units later sold to Frantschach. The
capital gain from the sale of properties amounted to MSEK 23 (32).



Operating profit for remaining units increased by MSEK 3 to MSEK 433. Cartonboard in
particular, but also Wood Supply & Forestry, noted improved results while the trend for Timber
was less favourable. The operating margin amounted to 11% during the period.

Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 2,387, compared with MSEK 1,307 in the
same period last year. Net financial items improved by MSEK 174. This is mainly due to
‘purchase prices received for sold operations, lower debt as a result of the establishment of
Billerud and an additional purchase price from Frantschach of MSEK 52.

Positive net tax of MSEK 66 is reported for the period. This reflects a 28% tax charge for
remaining operations and a positive tax effect of MSEK 300 from the sale of Corrugated &
Containerboard. In the first haif of 2000, the tax charge was MSEK 457, corresponding to a tax
rate of 35%. ’

Return on capital employed amounted to 19% during the period and return on equity was 21%,
both calculated on a full-year basis.

The number of employees decreased due to the sale of operations and rationalisation
measures. The average number of employees in remaining units _amounted to 2,255.

Investments, cash flow and financial position

Investments amountéd to MSEK 433 in the period January - June. The amount for remaining
units was MSEK 171.

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MSEK 1,927. Interest-bearing net cash
amounted to MSEK 4,784 at 30 June 2001, compared with a net debt of MSEK 2,177 at year-
end 2000. This change was mainly attributable to liquid assets received from the sale of
Corrugated & Containerboard and payment of the MSEK 4,411 share redemption decided in
2000. The establishment of Billerud reduced the interest-bearing net debt by MSEK 1,522,

The Group's visible equity ratio was 72% at the end of the period, compared with 62% at the
beginning of the year. The debt/equity ratio was —0.21 {0.09).

Business areas

Cartonboard

Second quarter

The general market situation for packaging board was characterised by stable but weak demand

- with short order stocks. Earlier price increases were accepted by the market. AssiDomén’s
delivery volumes increased slightly during the period. The average price also rose, as a result of
earlier price increases and an improved delivery mix.

Operating profit for the quarter amounted to MSEK 56, compared with MSEK 40 in the previous

quarter. Higher selling prices, lower raw material prices and increased deliveries contributed to
- this improvement.

January - June



Operating profit for the period was MSEK 96, an increase of MSEK 68 compared with the same
period last year. This improvement was mainly attributable to higher selling prices which were
due, among other things, to an improved delivery mix and improved productivity.

Timber

Second quarter

The European market for sawn timber remained uncertain during the quarter with falling prices
for both redwood and whitewood products. Although demand remained high, a surplus exists.
AssiDoman’s deliveries were largely unchanged compared with the previous quarter.

Operating profit for the quarter amounted to MSEK 11 compared with MSEK 2 in the previous
quarter. The reasons for this improvement included a favourable foreign exchange trend.

January - June

Operating profit for the first half of the year was MSEK 13, a decrease of MSEK 14 compared
with the same period in 2000. Lower selling prices were the main contributor to this decline.

Wood Supply & Forestry

Second quarter

The timber market improved slightly during the period. Prices have stabilised. In southern
Sweden, however, there is still a surplus of spruce timber and pulpwood. The market in northern
Sweden is more balanced but with a shortage of spruce timber.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 274, compared with MSEK 235 in the previoUs quarter. This
~ improvement was mainly due to higher delivery volumes.

January - June
Operating prdﬁt amounted to MSEK 509, compared with MSEK 493 in the same period last year.

Delivery volumes from the Group's forests remained largely unchanged. Lower costs
compensated for the slightly lower prices. o

Billerud
Second quarter

Development for market pulp and kraft paper was weak during the period. The market for
containerboard was more balanced but with some price reductions.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 319, a decrease of MSEK 150 compared with the previous
quarter. Lower prices for market pulp and the planned annual production shutdown at
Skarblacka were the main factors behind this decline. Profit after net financial items amounted to
MSEK 292.

January - June



5

Operating profit in the fifst half of 2001 amounted to MSEK 788, compared with MSEK 515 in the
same period in 2000. Higher average prices including a favourable foreign exchange trend
contributed to this improvement. Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 733.

Changes in the Group

Corrugated & Containerboard

The sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard business area to the Dutch company Kappa was
completed in May 2001 following EU approval. The purchase price amounted to MSEK 10,410
on a debt-free basis, of which tax debts account for MSEK 350 and interest-bearing net liabilities
for MSEK 4,680.

The overall earnings imbact of the sale is shown in the table below.

Deconsoli-
dation of
Effect of Earnings  earnings
trans- Translation differences in sold in soid of of
action Interest until units units Total| which which
at 1 Jan purchase 31 Dec Jan-Apr  Jan-Apr  Jan-Apr Jan-dunf Q2 Q1
MSEK . 2001 price 2000 2001 2001 2001 2001} 2001 2001
Capital gain 1,570 1,570| 1,570 -
Transactions 2001 129 -71 345 -226 177] -100 277
Realised trans- »
lation difference -208 71 -137| -137 -
Operating profit 1,570 129 -208 0 345 -226 1,610! 1,333 277
Net financial items -54 -54{ -14 -40
Profit after net ‘
financial items 1,570 129 -208 0 291 -226 1,556 1,319 237
Tax 300 -65 235 284 -49
Net profit 1,870 129 -208 0 226 -226 1,791, 1,603 188

As of 1 January 2001, the transaction has provided a capital gain of MSEK 1,570. In addition to
this there are positive tax effects of MSEK 300. Taken overall, this provided a positive earnings
impact as of 1 January 2001 of MSEK 1,870.

Interest on the purchase price from 1 January to the day the purchase price was paid was
also received and amounted to MSEK 129.

Since the sale was made with transfer of the sold companies as of 1 January 2001, the net
profit for 2001 accrues to the purchaser. Before the sale was completed in May, the units’

earnings were included in AssiDoman’s total result. This net profit for the period January —
April amounted to MSEK 226. Following deconsolidation this amount has been eliminated.

Foreign currency translation differences on the sold units’ capital during the holding period were
previously booked direct against shareholders’ equity without going through the profit and loss
account in accordance with existing accounting rules. In conjunction with a sale, according to the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council’'s recommendations (RR 8), this translation
difference must also be reported via the profit and loss account. At 1 January 2001, this
translation difference amounted to MSEK —208. The MSEK 71 translation difference for this year
(January-April 2001) is also included.

The total net earnings impact of this transaction in 2001 amounts to MSEK 1,791, of which
MSEK 1,603 was reported in the second quarter. The total increase in shareholders’ equity



amounts to MSEK 1,999, since the translation difference of MSEK 208 had previously
affected shareholders’ equity.

Billerud

On 1 January 2001, AssiDoman's pulp and paper mills in Karlsborg and Skérblacka and Stora
Enso’s pulp and paper mill in Gruvén were merged to form the 50/50 owned company Billerud
AB.

AssiDoman’s Annual General Meeting in May 2001 resolved, applying the Lex ASEA Swedish
legal precedent, to distribute AssiDomén’s shareholding in Billerud to shareholders in
conjunction with the stock-exchange listing of Billerud in autumn 2001. More information about
the terms of the distribution of Billerud will be provided to AssiDoman’s shareholders prior to the
listing.

Stora Enso intends to sell 40% of its holding in conjunction with the listing (i.e. 20% of Billerud's
shares). Ahead of the listing, Stora Enso will place this 20% with financial institutions,
alternatively sell it to AssiDoman. If Stora Enso sells to AssiDoman, these shares will also be
distributed to AssiDoman’s shareholders.

Changed operational focus for AssiDomin

- AssiDomaén is the largest listed forest owner in Europe with 2.4 million hectares of productive
timberland in Sweden. The sale of Corrugated & Containerboard marked a decisive step in the
re-focusing of AssiDomén as a pure play forestry company. The industrial operations in the
Group now comprise the cartonboard mill in Frovi, the sawmill operations and, for the time
 being, a 50% share in Billerud AB. Efforts to find stronger structures for the remaining industrial
operations will continue. ‘

The intention is to adjust the Group’s capital structure in line with the character and scope of its
remaining operations. AssiDoman’s Board of Directors will therefore call an extraordinary

~ general meeting in the autumn which will be asked to approve the transfer of approximately
MSEK 12,000 to shareholders through redemption of shares. The terms of the redemption will
be published prior to the extraordinary general meeting.

Parent Company

AssiDoman AB owns and manages property and shares in subSIdlanes and is responsible for
group-wide financing.

Net turnover amounted to MSEK 637 (643). Most of turnover comprised remuneration from the
- Wood Supply business unit for felling assignments on timberland owned by the Parent
Company.

Profit after financial items amounted to MSEK 3,066 (987), of which MSEK 2,922 (467) relates to
result from participations in subsidiaries. This result also includes capital gains from the sale of
properties of MSEK 23 (32). The average number of employees decreased to 355 (522).

Fixed-asset investments, excluding shares, amounted to MSEK 68 (75). Liquid assets and short-
term investments amounted to MSEK 6,766 (5,288) at 30 June 2001, compared with MSEK
3,893 at year-end 2000. Interest-bearing net cash amounted to MSEK 1,553, compared with an
interest-bearing net debt of MSEK 4,340 at year-end 2000.

AssiDoman shares



AssiDoman’s share price was SEK 230 on 27 July. Since the beginning of the year, the shares
have appreciated by 21%. In the same period, the Sweden SX Paper & Forest Products index
increased by 5.4%. The average daily trading volume in the first half of 2001 was 260,529

- shares (198,367 in full year 2000).

_ At 30 June 2001, the total number of shareholders in AssiDoman AB was 210,160. The
proportion of institutional ownership was 54% on the same date compared with 49% on 30 June
2000. Foreign ownership fell by 5 percentage points in the first haif of 2001 and now amounts to
18%.

The previously decided redemption of shares was completed at the end of March 2001 whereby
23,215,855 shares were redeemed and MSEK 4,411 was transferred to shareholders. The
number of shares in AssiDoméan subsequently amounts to 95,157,179.

Shér_eholders

The five largest Swedish shareholders

30 June 2001
Swedish State 35.3%
Alecta 6.0 %
SEB mutual funds ' 4.9%
investor 3.4%
SEB Trygg férséakring ' 1.7 %
Total 51.3 %

All Swedish shareholders are named in VPC's register while foreign shareholders are usually registered under the
names of nominees. Unidentified foreign institutions can therefore be among the largest shareholders.

Ownership structure o
30 June 2001 31 December 2000

Swedish State 35,3 % 35,3 %
Owners of 1-10,000 shares 21,0% 16,6 %
10'largest Swedish shareholders excl.

State 19,7 % 16,5 %
Foreign shareholders 18,4 % - 235%
Other Swedish sharehoiders 5,6 % 8,1 %
Total ' 100,0 % 100,0 %

Stockhaolm, July 2001

Gunnar Palme
President

AssiDoman AB (publ) (556016-9020)
This interim report has not been reviewed by the Company’s auditors.

Financial calendar
Interim Report for January-September 30 October 2001



AssiDomaén Group

Accounting principles

AssiDoman follows the recommendations of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council. The
accounting principles, as described in the Annual Report for 2000, are unchanged except for a change in
the translation method for one subsidiary and adoption of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council's recommendation RR 9 Income Taxes. The effects of these changes are described in the table
“Changes in shareholders’ equity” below. Comparative periods have been recalculated in a similar manner.

3 months 6 months 12 months
Profit and Loss Account Q2 Q1 Q2 Jan-dun Jan-Jun Jui 2000- Full year
MSEK 2001 2001 2000 2001 2000 Jun 2001 2000
Net turnover 3,031 4,890 6,809 7,921 13,369 19,195 24,643
Cther operating income ‘ 1,287 11 39 1,298 98 1,766 566
Raw materials and consumables -1,196 -1,870 -2,295 -3,066 -4,599 -7,033 -8,566
Change in stocks -38 41 -100 3 -45 202 154
Other external costs -878 -1,400 -1,917 -2,278 -3,901. -5,621 -7,244
Staff costs * - =486 -903 -1,305 - -1,389 -2,556° -3,290  -4,457
- Share of profits of associated

companies 148 216 0 364 -1 361 -4
Depreciation according to plan -165 -296 -433 -461  -879 -1,201  -1,619
Operating profit . 1,703 689 798. 2,392 1,486 4,379 3,473
Financial items : -6 1 -56 -5 -179 -209 -383
Profit after financial items 1,697 690 742 2,387 1,307 4170 3,090
Taxes 273 -207 -258 66 -457 257 -266
Minority interests ' 0 -1 -2 -1 -3 -4 -6
Net profit for the period 1,970 482 482 2,452 847 4,423 2,818
Net earnings/share, SEK - 20.70 4.07 4.08 24.77 7.16 41.42 23.81
- calculated on average number of : , _

shares, miltions 95.2 118.4 1184 g9.0** 118.4 101.0* 118.4
* of which, SPP funds - . - - - 332 332
"*weighted average
Balance Sheet 30 June 30 June 31 Dec
MSEK 2001 - 2000 2000
Fixed assets, non-interest-bearing 22,466 20,402 - 30,164
Stocks _ B - 795 2,881 2,305
Current receivables, etc. non-interest- ‘
bearing : 2,038 6,605 4,910
Liquid assets and interest-bearing , .
receivables ' 6,242 738 2,925
Total assets. 31,541 30,626 40,304
Shareholders’ equity 22,559 13,408 24,931
Minority interests 0 35 29
Non-interest-bearing liabilities and
provisions 7,524 7,850 10,242
Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 1,458 9,333 5,102
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 31,541 30,626 40,304



AssiDoman Group

Cash Flow Statement Jan-dune Jan-June Full year
MSEK 2001 . 2000 2000
Operating surplus 2,672 2,304 4,739
Change in working capital, etc. -78 -652 -599
Net financial items, taxes, etc. -667 -517 921
- Cash flow from operating activities 1,927 1,135 3,219
Investments in fixed assets -433 -768 -1,490
Company acquisitions - - -46
Sale of fixed assets L 10,537 1156 5,282
Change in interest-bearing receivables 70 -93 16
Cash flow from
investing activities 10,174 -705 3,762
Cash flow from :
financing activities -8,714 -1,052 -5,326
Total cash flow 3,387 -622 1,655
Liquid assets at the beginning of the , :
year 2,853 1,187 1,187
" _Exchange differences in liquid assets ‘ 0 -5 11
Liquid assets at the end of the period 6,240 560 2,853

Jan-dune Jan-June Full year

Changes in shareholders’ equity 2001 2000 2000
Opening equity on 1 January

according to adopted balance sheet 24,843 13,194 13,194
Change in translation method * 95 87 95
Effect of adoption of RR 9 Income Taxes -7 - -7
Adjusted opening equity : 24,931 13,281 13,282
Redemption of shares ** o -4,411 - -
Dividend : -619 -710 -710
Provision to revaluation reserve : ' - - 9,604
Realised transiation difference taken up as

income 137 - -
Translation difference for the period 135 -59 22
-Adjustment for hedging carried ou -66 49 -85
Net profit for the period : 2,452 847 2,818
Closing equity at the end of the period 22,558 13,408 24,931

* Starting in 2001, transiation of the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the subsidiary in
St. Petersburg, Russia, is carried out according to the monetary method. The current method was
previcusly applied. Comparative figures for the Russian subsidiary for January - June and the full year
2000 have been recalculated in this interim report and included in the consolidated balance sheet according
to the monetary method.
This change was realised in conjunction with the sale to Kappa.
** On 29 March 2001 shareholders’ equity decreased through redemption of 23,215,855 shares at SEK 190.
The number of shares has thus decreased from 118,373,034 to 85,157,179.



AssiDoman Group

Jan-June Jan-June Full year
Key Figures * 2001 2000 2000
Operating margin, % 1) 10 11 14
Return on capital employed, % 2) 19 13 14
Return on equity, % 2) 21 13 15
Equity ratio, % 72 44 62
Debt/equity ratio, times -0.21 0.64 0.09
Interest-bearing net debt, MSEK -4,784 8,595 2,177
Earnings per share after full tax, SEK 3) 24.77 7.16 23.81
Cash flow per share, SEK 3) 26.09 16.53 40.80
Equity per share, SEK 3) 237 113 210
Average number of employees 7,838 16,452 14,506
Average number of employees in remaining units 2,255 2,475 2,342

1) Excluding capital gain from the sale to Kappa and share of profits of Billerud.

2) Calculated on an annual basis.

3) Second quarter 2001 calculated on 95,157,179 shares, first quarter 2001 and 2000 on 118,373,034 shares.

* Definitions, see Annual Report for 2000

Quarterly breakdown of net turnover by business unit/business area and for the Group

10

2001 2000 1999

MSEK Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qf Q4 Q3 Q2
Cartonboard 555 529 494 444 539 473 435 475 424
Timber 623 622 612 501 585 671 730 558 8670
Wood Supply & Forestry - 1,158 1225 1,257 964 1,212 1276 1,206 888 1,227
Other & intra-Group deliveries -263 -564 -526 -447 -384 -489 -327 -535 -364
Total remaining units 2,073 1,812 1,837 1,462 1952 1,931 2,044 1,386 1,957
AssiDoman units included in ‘

Billerud since 1 January 2001 - - 1,068 928 202 847 789 719 739
Units sold to Kappa 1,066 3,401 3,247 2,906 3,116 2,919 2,804 2,651 2,962

Units sold to Frantschach - - - 502 1,310 1,311 1,138 1,275 1,191

Other & intra-Group deliveries -108  -323 -336  -340 -471 -448 -363  -268 -474
Total Group 3,031 4890 5,816 5458 6,809 6,560 6,412 5,763 6,375




Business areas

Quarterly breakdown of earnings by business area and for the Group .

11

** Non-recurring items and earnings from units sold to Kappa

1) capital gains
property sales
2) earnings from units
sold to Kappa
3) additional purchase price
Total

20 3
1,319 237
13 39
1,352 279

Quarterly breakdown of deliveries and production volumes by business unit

2001 2000 1999

MSEK Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2
Cartonboard 56 40 46 26 24 4 20 31 -29
Timber 11 2 12 2 14 13 o] -14 -16
Wood Supply & Forestry 274 235 235 162 217 276 247 139 306
Property sales 20" 3" 29 200 15 17 7 21 66
Other and eliminations -139 -69 -108 -53  -121 -29 -94 -78 -56
Total remaining units 222 211 214 337 149 281 180 99 27
SPP funds - - - 332 - - T - - -
Share of profit of Billerud 148 218 - - - - - - -
AssiDoman units included in ,

Billerud since 1 January 2001 - - 285 264 186 98 82 86 17
Units sold to Kappa 1,333 7 277 324 199 299 196 37 114 184
Units sold to Frantschach - - - 70 184 134 -106 94 38
Other and eliminations - -17 -17 -21 -20 -21 -20 -21 -21
Operating profit before

write-downs 1,703 689 806 1,181 798 688 173 372 489
Write-downs - - - - - - -1,540 - -
Operating profit after

write-downs 1,703 689 806 1,181 798 688 -1,367 372 489
Financial items 6™ 1% 413 86 -56_ -123  -133  -134 -111
Profit after financial

items ** 1,697 690 688 1,095 742 565 -1,500 238 378
.Taxes 273 -207 98 93 -258 -199 151 -116 -132
Minority interests 0 -1 -2 -1 -2 -1 1 -1 -1
Net profit/loss for the period 1,970 482 784 1,187 482 365 -1,348 121 245
Net earnings/share, SEK - 20.70 4.07 6.63 1002 408 308 -11.39 1.02 208
- excl. write-downs -0.59

- calculated on average number .

of shares, millions 95.2 118.4 118.4 1184 1184 1184 1184 1184 1184

2001 2000 1999
Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 .

Cartonboard .

Deliveries, ktonnes 80 76 71 65 82 75 67 67 65

Production, ktonnes 80 78 76 73 73 72 67 75 63
Timber ,

. Deliveries, 000 m*fo 310 315 312 255 303 325 366 251 339

Production, 000 m*fo 315 314 321 246 302 322 333 266 323
Forestry

Deliveries, 000 sm’ub 1) 1,357 1276 1,531 1,137 1,259 1,376 1,450 1,067 1,563

1) Deliveries from Group forests



AssiDoman Group in euros *)

*} Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro appendix 4
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Eurc appendix 1

3 months 6 months 12 months
Profit and Loss Account Q2 Q1 Q2 Jan-dun Jan-dun Jul 2000- Full year
MEUR 2001 2001 2000 2001 2000  Jun 2001 2000
Net turnover 328.6 5344 7987 863.0 1,589.3 2,0548 2,781.1
Other operating income 140.2 1.2 4.5 141.4 11.6 193.7 63.9
Raw materials and consumables -129.8 -204.3 -269.0 -334.1 -546.7 -754.1 -966.7
Change in stocks -4.2 4.5 -11.9 0.3 -5.3 23.0 17.4
Other external costs -95.1 -153.1 -224.6 -248.2 -463.7 -602.1 -817.6
Staff costs * -52.6 -987 -153.1 -151.3 -303.9 -350.4  -503.0
" Share of profits of associated
companies 16.1 23.6 0.0 39.7 -0.1 393 -05
Depreciation according to plan -179 -323  -50.8 -50.2  -1045 -1284 1827
Operating profit 185.3 753 - -938 - 2606 176.7 475.8 391.9
Financial items ' -0.6 . 0.1 -6.5 -0.5 -21.3 -22.4 -43.2
Profit after financial items ‘ 184.7 75.4 87.3 2601 1554 453.4 348.7
Taxes 29.8 -22.6 -30.3 7.2 -54.3 315 -30.0
Minority interests 0.0 -0.1 -0.3 -0.1 -0.4 -0.4 -0.7
Net profit for the period 214.5 52.7 58.7 267.2 100.7 484.5 318.0
Net earnings/share, SEK . 228 0.45 0.48 2.70 0.85 4.54 2.69
- calculated on average number of v
shares, millions 95.2 118.4 118.4 99.0** 118.4 101.0*" 118.4

- * of which, SPP funds - - - - - 37.5 37.5
** weighted average

Balance Sheet 30 June 30 June 31 Dec

MEUR 2001 2000 2000

Fixed assets, non-interest-bearing 2,447.8 2,425.3 3,404.2

Stocks ~ 86.6 3425 260.1

Current receivables, etc. non-interest-

bearing ‘ _ 2221 785.2 554.1

" Liquid assets and interest-bearing

receivables 680.1 87.7 330.1

Total assets 3,436.6 3,640.7 4,548.5

Shareholders’ equity 2,457.9  1,593.9 28134

Minority interests 0.0 4.1 3.3

Non-interest-bearing liabiiities and

provisions 819.8 933.2 1,156.0

Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 158.9 1,109.5 575.8

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 3,436.6 3,640.7 4,548.5



AssnDoman Group in euros *

* Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro appendxx 4

Cash Flow Statement Jan-June Jan-June Full year
MEUR 2001 2000 2000
Operating surplus 291.1 273.9 534.8
Change in working capital, etc. -8.5 - 775 -67.6
Net financial items, taxes, etc. ‘ -72.7 -61.5 -103.9
Cash flow from operating activities . 209.9 134.9 363.3
Investments in fixed assets -47.1 -91.3 -168.1
Company acquisitions - - -5.2
Sale of fixed assets 1,148.0 18.5 596.1
Change in interest-bearing receivables 7.6 -11.0 1.8
Cash flow from v

investing activities 1,108.5 -83.8 424.6
Cash flow from

financing activities -949.4 -125.0 -601.1
Total cash flow 369.0 -73.9 186.8
Liquid assets at the beginning of the - 322.0 138.9 138.9
year '
Exchange differences in liquid assets -11.1 1.6 -3.7
Liquid assets at the end of the period 679.9 66.6 322.0

Jan-June Jan-June Full year:

Changes in shareholders’ equity 2001 2000 2000
Opening equity on 1 January according to v :
adopted balance sheet 2,803.6 1,5441 1,544
Change in translation method 1) 10.4 10.3 10.7
Effect of introduction of RR 9 Income Taxes -0.6 - -0.8
Adjusted opening equity 2,813.4 15544 1,554.0
Translation difference in opening equity -97.0 244 . -B5.1
Dividend -67.4 -84.4 -80.1
Redemption of shares 2) -480.6 - -
Provision to revaluation reserve - - 1,083.8
Realised translation difference taken up as
income 14.9 - -
Translation difference for the period 14.6 7.0 2.4
Adjustment of hedging carried out -7.2 58 -9.6
Net profit for the period 267.2 100.7 318.0
2,457.9 15939 2,813.4

Closing equity at the end of the period

13
Euro appendix 2

1) Starting in 2001, transiation of the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the subsidiary in

St. Petersburg, Russia, is carried out according to the monetary method. The current method was

_previously applied. Comparative figures for the Russian subsidiary for January — June and the full year
2000 have been recalculated in this interim report and included in the consolidated balance sheet accordmg

to the monetary method.

This change was realised in conjunction with the sale to Kappa.
2) On 29 March 2001 shareholders’ equity decreased through redemption of 23,215,855 shares at SEK 190.
The number of shares has thus decreased from 118,373,034 to 95,157,179.



AssiDoman Group in euros *
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Euro appendix 3

* Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro appendix 4

Jan-dune Jan-June Full year

Key Figures ** 2001

2000 2000
Operating margin, % 1) 10 11 14
Return on capital employed, % 2) 19 13 14
Return on equity, % 2) 21 13 15
Equity ratio, % 72 44 62
Debt/equity ratio, times -0.21 0.64 0.09
Interest-bearing net debt, MEUR -521.2  1,021.8 245.7
Earnings per share after full tax, EUR 3) 2.70 0.85 2.69
Cash flow per share, EUR 3) : 2.84 1.97 4.60
Equity per share, EUR 3) 25.83 13.47 23.68
Average number of employees 7,838 16,452 14,506
Average number of empioyees in remaining units 2,255 2,475 2,342

1) Excluding capital gain from the sale to Kappa and share of profits of Biflerud.

2) Calculated on an annual basis.

3) Second quarter 2001 calculated on 85,157,179 shares, first quarter 2001 and 2000 on 118,373,034 shares.

** Definitions, see Annual Report for 2000

Quarteriy breakdown of net turhdver by business area, business unit and for the Group

2001 2000 1999
MEUR Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2
Cartonboard 60.3 57.8 432 506 633 57.0 54.0 549 491
Timber 67.7 68.0 612 569 684 809 89.7 645 776
Wood Supply & Forestry 125.8 133.8 126.3 109.3 142.0 153.8 149.0 102.8 1422
Other & intra-Group deliveries -28.5 -61.6 -53.4 -51.2 -449 -589 -415 -61.6 -425
Total remaining units 225.3 198.0 183.3 165.6 228.8 232.8 251.2 160.6 226.4
AssiDomén units included in '
Billerud since 1 January 2001 - - 108.4 106.3 1059 102.0 972 831 854
Units sold to Kappa 115.0 371.7 326.2 3319 365.6 351.8 347.8 306.5 3429
Units sold to Frantschach - - -14.0 549 153.6 158.0 1417 147.2 138.0
Other & intra-Group deliveries -11.7 -35.3 -32.3 -38.5 -55.2 -54.0 -451 -31.2 -545
Total Group 3286 5344 5716 620.2 798.7 790.6 792.8 666.2 738.2




Business areas in euros*)
*) Exchange rates used are shown in the Exchange rates table in Euro appendix 4

Quarterly breakdown of earnings by business area and for the Group
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Euro appendix 4

118.4

** Non-recurring items and earnings from units sold to Kappa

1) capitai gains
property sales
2) earnings from units
sold to Kappa
3) additional purchase price
Total

Exchange rates

0.3

2.2
143.6 25.9
1.4 4.3
147.2 30.5
EUR1=

30 June 2001

31 March 2001

31 December 2000
30 September 2000
30 June 2000

31 March 2000
31 December 1999
30 September 1999
30 June 1999

31 March 1999

SEK 9.178000
SEK 9.151000
SEK 8.861000
SEK 8.521000
SEK 8.412000
SEK 8.298000
SEK 8.545000
SEK 8.719800
SEK 8.752500
SEK 8.880600

2001 2000 1999
MEUR Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qi Q4 Q3 Q2
Cartonboard 6.1 4.4 5.0 3.0 2.8 0.5 2.3 36 -34
Timber 1.2 0.2 1.2 0.2 1.6 16 01 -16 -19
Wood Supply & Forestry 29.8 25.7 235 183 253 333 30.7 163 355
Property sales 22" 03" 23 234 18 20 1.1 24 7.6
Other and eliminations -15.2 -7.5 -11.3 60 -143 -85 -114 -90 -64
Total remaining units 24.1 23.1 207 389 172 339 226 117 314
SPP funds - - -1.5 390 - - - - -
Share of profits of Billerud 16.1 23.8 - - - - - - -
AssiDoman units included in
Billerud since 1 January 2001 - - 29.7 305 220 118 9.7 9.8 1.9
Units sold to Kappa 1451 3037 '335 226 352 236 53 132 212
Units sold to Frantschach - - -1.7 7.7 217 161 -120 108 4.3
Other and eliminations - -1.9 -18 24 23 -25 2.8 . -25 24
Operating profit before
write-downs 185.3 75.3 78.9 136.3 938 829 22.8 43.0 564
Write-downs - - - - - - -180.0 - -
Operating profit after
write-downs 185.3 75.3 789 136.3 938 829 -1572 430 564
Financial items -06 * 01 *-121 -98 -65 -148 -16.4 -155 -12.9
Profit after financial
items ** 184.7 75.4 66.8 1265 873 68.1 -173.6 275 435
. Taxes 29.8 -226 127 116 -30.3 -24.0 16.9 -13.4 -15.2
Minority interests 0.0 -0.1 -02 -01 -03 -0.1 01 -01 -01
Net profit /loss for the period 214.5 52.7 79.3 138.0 567 440 -1566 140 282
Net earnings/share, EUR 2.25 0.45 066 118 048 0.37 -1.32 012 024
- excl. write-downs . -0.06
- calculated on average number
of shares, millions 95.2 118.4 1184 118.4 1184 1184 1184 1184
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: . Quarter
-MSEK 2001 Q1 2000 Q4 | 2000 Q1
Net turnover 4,890 5,81 6 6,560
Operating profit 689 806 688
Profit after net financial :
items 690 688 585
Earnings per share, SEK - 4.07 6.63 3.08

® Profit after net financial items increased in the first quarter by MSEK 2 compared with
the previous quarter. Excluding items affecting comparability, profit rose by MSEK 65.
Compared with the same period in the previous year, the increase was MSEK 125,

¢ Operating profit for remaining units (excluding units under sale and share in Billerud)
decreased by MSEK 3 compared with the previous quarter. Compared with the same
period in the previous year, the decrease was MSEK 70.

® An agreement has been concluded with the owners of the Dutch company Kappa
Packaging for the sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard business area. The deal
requires EU approval and is expected to be completed in the first half of 2001. The
transaction is estlmated at 1 January 2001 to provude a capltal gain (including tax effect)
of MSEK 1,870.

e With effect from 1 January 2001, AssiDoméan and Stora Enso placed the pulp and paper
mills in Karisborg, Skarblacka and Gruvén in jointly owned (50/50) Billerud AB. The plan
is to list the company in autumn 2001.

® The redemption of shares decided in autumn 2000 was completed and MSEK 4,411
was transferred to AssiDomén AB's shareholders in March 2001.

* Calculated on 118,373,034 shares. Earnings per share after redemption amount to SEK 5.07, calcuiated on
95,157,179 shares.

If you have any questions concerning this report, please contact
Peter Méansson, Vice President, investor Relations, Berit Hallberg, Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications,
or Sven Eric Lundstrédm, Executive Vice President, CFO. Telephone: +46 8 655 90 00.
E-mail: mailbox @ asdo.se (Corporate Communications), ir@asdo.se (Investor Relations)



Market

The growth rate in the global economy continues to weaken but is still positive. For the most
part, demand within AssiDoman’s products areas is stable.

Prices of most paper-based products remain at a high leve! but with increased price pressure
- within certain product areas. The market for paper pulp remained subdued with increased stocks
and lower prices.

Economic activity in Europe remains at a high level. A continued, relatively stable development ié
expected for most of AssiDomén’s products, although demand during the rest of 2001 is
expected to grow more slowly than in 2000.

Sales, results and profitability

Starting in the first quarter of 2001, AssiDoman’s share (50%) in Billerud AB is reported as a
participation in an associated company. This means that 50% of Billerud's net profit before tax
(after adjustment for inter-company profits) is included in AssiDomén'’s operating profit and 50%
of Billerud's tax expense is included in AssiDoman’s tax expense. On the other hand, Billerud is
not a component in AssiDoman's net turnover.

An agreement has been concluded for the sale of the Corrugated & Containerboard busrness
area (see below under Changes in the Group) with effect from 1 January 2001. Pending
completion of the sale, the business area is included in the consolidated financial statements for
. the first quarter of 2001 in the same manner as previously.

AssiDoman’s net turnover for the period, MSEK 4,890, decreased compared with the previous
quarter by MSEK 926 or 16%. This change is mainly attributable to the transfer of operations to
Billerud AB. Compared with the first quarter of 2000, net turnover decreased by MSEK 1,670,
mainly as a result of the sale of operations to Frantschach and the formation of Billerud.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 689, compared with MSEK 806 for the previous quarter
(which included a MSEK 76 capital gain from the sale of operations). The capital gain from the
sale of properties amounted to MSEK 3 compared with MSEK 29 in the previous quarter. The
operating margin amounted to 10% durlng the period (excluding share of profits of Billerud).

The changed value of the Swedish krona against AssiDoman’s export currencies, including the
effect of forward exchange contracts, affected operating profit for the period, excluding Billerud,
by MSEK -13. _

Compared with the first quarter of '2000 consolidated operating profit increased by MSEK 1.
Profit for the first quarter of 2000 included companies sold to Frantschach in the amount of
MSEK 134.

For remaining units (after the sale of operations to Frantschach, transfer of operations to Billerud
and excluding Corrugated & Containerboard) turnover decreased by 1%. This change is
attributable to Wood Supply & Forestry. Compared with the first quarter of 2000, net turnover fell
by MSEK 119 or 6%.

The operating profit for remaining units decreased by 1%. Compared with the first quarter of
2000, profit fell by MSEK 70 or 25%. Cartonboard rmproved its result while a decline was noted
for Timber and Wood Supply & Forestry.

Profit after net financial items amounted to MSEK 690, an increase compared with the previous
quarter of MSEK 2. Net financial items improved by MSEK 119 compared with the fourth quarter
of 2000. This was mainly attributable to costs in the fourth quarter for redemption of outstanding



bond locans, reduced debt as a result of the establishment of Billerud AB and an additional
purchase price from Frantschach of MSEK 39.

The estimated net tax charge was MSEK 207, corresponding to a tax rate of 30%. In the
previous quarter the tax item was positive at MSEK 98 due to appropriations, etc.

Return on capital employed amounted to 10% during the period and return on equity was 8%.

‘The number of employees decreased as a result of the sale of operations and rationalisation.
The average number of employees amounted to 10,653 compared with 14,506 in the previous
year. For remaining units, the average number of employees amounted to 2,214.

Investments, cash flow and financial position

Investments amounted to MSEK 237 during the period, of which MSEK 196 pertained to
Corrugated & Containerboard.

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MSEK 480. The interest-bearing net debt
amounted to MSEK 4,705 on 31 March 2001 compared with MSEK 2,177 at year-end 2000. The
change was mainly due to payment of the share redemption of MSEK 4,411 decided in 2000.
The establishment of Billerud reduced the interest-bearing net debt by MSEK 1,522.

The Group's visible equity ratio was 54% at the end of the period, compared with 62% at the
beginning of the year. The debt/equity ratio was 0.22 (0.09).

Business areas

 Cartonboard

Demand for packaging board remained stable during the period but with differences between
different markets. Following earlier increases, the price level for packaging board stabilised.
AssiDoman'’s delivery volumes increased compared with the previous quarter.

Operating profit for the period amounted to MSEK 40, a decline of MSEK 6 compared with the
previous quarter. This decline was due, among other things, to higher raw material costs.
Compared with the first quarter of 2000, earnings improved by MSEK 36, mainly due to increased
prices and higher production efficiency.

Timber

The European market for sawn timber was uncertain in the first quarter. This applied particularty
to redwood products. Demand was high but a large supply contributed to falling prices.
AssiDoman’s delivery volumes were largely unchanged compared with the previous quarter.

Operating profit for the period was MSEK 2, a decline of MSEK 10 compared with the previous
quarter, mainly due to lower prices. Compared with the first quarter of 2000, earnings declined
by MSEK 11.

Wood Supply & Forestry

The timber market weakened during the period. At present, there is a surplus in southern
Sweden, while in northern Sweden the market remains balanced. There is some price pressure.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 235, which is the same level as in the previous year. Lower
deliveries from the Group's own forests were compensated by lower costs. Compared with the




O

first quarter of 2000, earnings declined by MSEK 41 due to lower timber deliveries and lower
prices. Deliveries of timber were unusually high in the first quarter of 2000 due to extensive
storm-related felling of seed trees.

Corrugated & Containerboard

Demand in Europe for corrugated board remained good with considerable variations between
different markets. Overall, AssiDoman’s delivery volumes rose. Average prices were stable in
most markets. The previous strong demand for containerboard decreased somewhat but
remains high. Prices remained stable but with some decline in Southern Europe. There was a
slight increase in delivery volumes.

Operating profit for the period was MSEK 277, a fall of MSEK 47 or 15% compared with the
previous quarter. This decline was due to non-recurring items in 2000. Compared with the first
quarter of 2000, earnings improved by MSEK 81, mainly due to higher deliveries of corrugated
board and increased selling prices.

Billerud

Demand steadily declined during the period, particularly for market pulp but also for
containerboard. A weaker trend for kraft paper was noted towards the end of the period. Falling
pulp prices led to price pressure for kraft paper.

Operating profit amounted to MSEK 469, compared with MSEK 225 in the same period in 2000.
Higher average prices, including a favourable exchange rate trend, contributed to this
improvement. Deliveries in tonnes were slightly lower than in the same period last year.

Changes in the Group»

The present restructuring within AssiDomdn is intended to guarantee profitability and sustained
growth in the Group's various operations. A key part of this work is the creation of long-term
competitive structures through integration with closely related operations in other companies.

Corrugated & Containerboard

In March this year, AssiDomén signed an agreement with Kappa Alpha Holdings on the sale of
Corrugated & Containerboard. Kappa Alpha Holdings is owned by Cinven Ltd and CVC Capital
Partners, two UK private equity companies. The intention is to integrate the acquired operations
with the aiready owned-Dutch company Kappa Packaging.

The selling price amounts to MSEK 10,410 on a debt-free basis, of which tax debts account for
MSEK 350 and net interest-bearing liabilities for MSEK 4,680.

The formal takeover of the business will take place as of 1 January 2001. The deal requires the
approval of the EU competition authorities but is expected to be completed with payment of the
purchase price in the first half of this year. Earnings accrue to the purchaser as of 1 January

2001, Interest on payment for the shares will be paid from 1 January 2001.

At 1 January, this transaction is expected to provide a capital gain of MSEK 1,570. In addition,
there will be positive tax effects of approximately MSEK 300. Overall, the sale is expected to
have a positive earnings impact in 2001 of approximately MSEK 1,870, corresponding to SEK
19.70 per share. The capital gain does not include the effect of transiation differences on the
sold units’ shareholders’ equity during the holding period.

AssiDoman’s packaging operations are the third-largest supplier of corrugated board and
containerboard in Europe and these operations constitute the entirely dominant part of
AssiDoman’s industrial operations.

Kappa Packaging is one of Europe’s largest companies in the packaging sector and is focused
on solid board, corrugated and carton packaging, fine papers and speciality papers. The




company has a market-jeading position and through more than 50 operating companies
conducts business in a large number of European countries. The company has approximately
8,200 employees and an annual turnover of about MEUR 1,700.

Billerud

- Since 1 January 2001, AssiDoman’s pulp and paper mills in Karlsborg and Skérblacka and Stora

Enso's pulp and paper mill in Gruvon have been merged into the 50/50 owned company Billerud
AB.

AssiDomén'’s Board has proposed that the Annual General Meeting resolves, applying the Lex
ASEA Swedish legal precedent, to distribute the shareholding in Billerud to sharehoiders in
conjunction with a stock-exchange listing of the company in autumn 2001.

Stora Ensa’s long-term intention is to sell its entire holding, of which 20% of the company in
conjunction with the listing (i.e. 40% of Stora Enso’s holding). Ahead of the listing Stora Enso will
place this 20% holding with financial institutions, alternatively sell it to AssiDoman. In the event
Stora Enso sells to ASS|Doman these shares will also be distributed to AssiDoman’s
shareholders.

information about the terms for the distribution of Billerud will be provided in a separate
memorandum which will be made available to AssiDoman’s shareholders prior to the 2001
Annual General Meeting.

Future focus of operations

AssiDomaén is the largest listed forest owner in Europe with unique assets in the form of 2.4
million hectares of productive forest land in Sweden. The sale of Corrugated & Containerboard
marks a decisive step in the re-focusing of AssiDomén to a pure piay forest owning company.
After this sale, the industrial operations in the Group comprise the cartonboard mill in Frévi, the
sawmill operations and a 50% share in Billerud AB. The work of seeking stronger structures for
the remaining industrial operations will continue.

Against the background of the dominant position of the forest assets in AssiDomén after the
sale, the potential positive effects of a possible separation between forestry and industry appear
to be relatively small. AssiDomén’s Board has therefore decided not to present to the Annual
.General Meeting its previously announced proposal on a division of the forestry and industrial -
operations into two separate companies.

Its new future focus on forest ownership will give AssiDomén the capacuty to generate a strong
and stable cash flow. Earnings fluctuations are considerably less for forestry than for industrial
operations and forestry does not require major ongoing investment. Historically, forest ownership
has been an investment which provides a good return and low risk. A stable cash flow and -
limited investment requirements will provide scope for a dividend policy that allows distribution of
a high proportion of earnings. The company can also strengthen its cash flow through regular
land transactions, as it has done until now.

The future capital structure of the company will be adjusted to the ongoing re-focusing of
operations. Further information about the future capital structure and forms for the transfer of
capital to shareholders will be provided after completion of the sale of Corrugated &
Containerboard.




Redemption of shares
The redemption offer decided at the extraordinary general meeting held in October 2000, has
been completed. 23,215,855 shares were redeemed and MSEK 4,411 was transferred to

shareholders at the end of March 2001. The number of shares in AssiDoman AB now amounts
to 95,157,179.

. Stockholm, Aprii 2001

Gunnar Palme
President

AssiDoman AB (publ) (556016-9020)

The interim report has not-been reviewed by the company’'s auditors.

Financial calendar
Interim Report for January-June 31 July 2001
interim Report for January-September 30 October 2001




AssiDoméan Group

Accounting principles

AssiDoman follows the recommendations of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council. The
accounting principles, as described in the Annual Report for 2000, are unchanged except for a change in
the translation method for one subsidiary and adoption of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards
Council's recommendation RR 9 Income Taxes. The effects of these changes are described in the table
“Changes in shareholders’ equity” below. Comparative periods have been recalculated in a similar manner.

Profit and Loss Account

Quarter 1 Quarter4 Quarter1  April 2000-  Full year.
MSEK 2001 2000 2000 March 2001 2000
Net turnover 4,890 5,816 6,560 22,973 24,643
Other operating income M 189 59 518 566
Raw materials and consumables -1,870 -1,930 -2,304 -8,132 -8,566
Change in stocks 41 24 55 140 154
Other external costs -1,400 -1,779 -1,984 -6,660 7,244
Staff costs * -903 -1,178 -1,251 -4,109 -4,457
Share of profits of associated companies 216 -3 -1 213 -4
Depreciation according to plan -296 -333 -446 -1,469 -1,619
Operating profit 689 806 688 3,474 3,473
Financial items 1 -118 -123 -259 -383
Profit after financial items 690 688 565 3,215 3,090
Taxes _ -207 98 -199 -274 -266
Minority interests -1 -2 -1 -6 . -6
Net profit for the period 482 - 784 365 2,935 2,818
* of which, SPP funds - - - 332 332
Balance Sheet 31 March 31 March 31 Dec
MSEK 2001 2000 2000
Fixed assets, non-interest bearing . 29,282 20,541 30,164
Stocks 2,141 2,859 2,305
Current receivables, etc., non-interest bearing 4,608 5,840 4,910
Liquid assets and interest-bearing ,
receivables 2,767 1,812 2,925
Total assets 38,798 31,052 40,304
Shareholders’ equity 21,088 13,615 - 24,931
Minority interests 32 32 29
Non-interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 10,206 7,236 10,242
Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 7,472 10,169 5,102
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 38,798 31,052 40,304
Cash Flow Statement Jan-March Jan-March Full year
MSEK 2001 2000 2000
Operating surplus 762 1,113 4,739
Change in working capital, etc. -1 -280 -599
Net financial items, taxes, etc. =271 -384 -921
Cash flow from operating activities 490 449 3,219
Cash flow from investing activities 1,393 =435 3,762
Cash flow from financing activities -2,063 503 -5,326
Total cash flow -180 517 1,655
Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 2,853 1,187 1,187
Exchange differences in liquid assets 16 -7 11
Liquid assets at the end of the period 2,689 1,697 2,853




AssiDoman Group .

Jan-March
Changes in shareholders’ equity 2001
Opening equity on 1 January 24,843
Change in translation method * 95
Effect of adoption of RR 9 Income Taxes -7
Adjusted opening equity 24,931
Redemption of shares ** -4,411
Translation difference for the period 175
Adjustment for hedging carried out -89
Net profit for the period ’ 482
Closing equity at the end of the period 21,088

* Starting in 2001, translation of the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the subsidiary in
St Petersburg, Russia, is carried out according to the monetary method. The current method was
previously applied. Comparative figures for the Russian subsidiary for January — March and the full
year 2000 have been recalcuiated in this interim report and included in the consolidated balance

~ sheet according to the monetary method.

** On 29 March 2001 sharehoiders’ equity decreased through redemption of 23,215,855 shares at SEK.
190. The number of shares has thus decreased from 118,373,034 to 95,157,179.

Jan-March Jan-March  Full year

Key figures *** 2001 2000 2000
Operating margin, % 10 10 14
.Return on capital employed (2000 excl. :

revaluation, 1999 excl. write-down), % 1) 18 7 18
Return on equity % 1) 17 neg 15
- 2000 excl. revaluation, 1999 excl. write-down 22 -5 20
Equity ratio, % ' 54 44 - 62
Debt/equity ratio, times 0.22 0.62 0.09
Interest-bearing net debt, MSEK 4,705 8,357 2,177
Earnings per share after full tax, SEK 2) 4.07 3.08 23.81
Cash flow per share, SEK 2) 746 = 7.70 40.80
Equity per share, SEK 3) 222 114 210
Average number of employees 10,653 16,288 14,506
Average number of employees in remaining ‘

units 2,214 - 2403 2,342

1) Moving 12-month figures

2) Calculated on 118,373,034 shares.

3) 2001 caiculated on number of shares after redemption 95,157,179, 2000 calculated on number of
shares after redemption, 118,373,034

*** Definitions, see Annual Report for 2000



Business Areas

Quarterly breakdown of net turnover by business unit/business area and for the Group

2001 2000 1999

MSEK Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qf
Cartonboard 529 494 444 539 473 435 475 424 433
Timber 622 612 501 585 671 730 558 670 598
Wood Supply & Forestry 1,225 1,257 964 1,212 1276 1,206 888 1,227 1,205
Other & intra-Group deliveries -564 -526  -447 -384 -489 -327  -535 -364 -478
Total remaining units 1,812 1,837 1,462 1,952 1,931 2,044 1,386 1,957 1,758
Units under sale

Corrugated 2,651 2,602 2,354 2,372 2,266 2,236 2,050 2,367 2,235

Containerboard 1,103 986 918 1,135 988 858 860 891 776

Intra-Group deliveries -353 -341  -366  -391 -335 =290 -259 -296 -259

3,401 3,247 2,906 3,116 2,919 2,804 2,651 2,962 2,752
AssiDoman units included in ,
Billerud as of 1/1/2001 - 1,068 928 902 847 789 719 739 640
- Companies sold to
Frantschach - - 502 1,310 1,311 1,138 1,275 1,191 1,146
Other & intra-Group deliveries -323 -336  -340 -471  -448 -363 -268 -474 -349
Total Group 4,890 5816 5,458 6,809 6,560 6,412 5,763 6,375 5,947
Quarterly breakdown of earnings by business area and for the Group
2001 2000 1999
MSEK Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qi Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Cartonboard 40 46 26 24 4 20 31 -29 -11
Timber 2 12 2 14 13 0 -14 -16 -23
‘Wood Supply & Forestry 235 235 162 217 276 247 139 306 356
Property sales 3V 29" 200 15 17 7 21 66 4
Other and eliminations -69 -108 53 -121 -29 -94 -78 -56 -43
- Total remaining units 211 214 337 149 281 180- 98 271 283
SPP funds - - 332 - - - - - -
Units under sale ‘

Corrugated & Containerboard . 277 3242 199 299 196 37 114 184 104
Share of profits of Billerud 218 - - - - - - - -
AssiDomén units included in : ,

Billerud as of 1/1/2001 - 285 264 186 98 82 86 17 -75
Companies sold to Frantschach - - 70 184 134 -106 94 38 13
Qther and eliminations -17 -17 -21 20 -21 -20 -21 -21 -20
Operating profit before )
write-downs 689 806 1,181 798 688 173 372 489 305
Write-downs R - - - - - -1,540 - - -
Operating profit after
write-downs 689 806 1,181 798 688 -1,367 372 489 305
Financial items 19 -118 -86 -56  -123 -133  -134 111 -122.
Profit/loss after financial items 690 688 1,095 742 565 -1,500 238 378 183
Taxes =207 o8 93 -258 -199 151 -116 -132 -64
Minority interests -1 -2 -1 -2 -1 1 -1 -1 0
Net profit/loss for the period 482 784 1,187 482 365 -1,348 121 245 119
Net earnings/share, SEK 4.07 6.63 10.02 4.08 3.08 -11.39 1.02 208 1.00
- excl. write-downs -0.59
** Non-recurring items
1) capital gain property sale 3 29
2) capital gain sale of
operations - 76
3) additional purchase price 39 -
Total non-recurring items 42 105



Business areas

Quarterly breakdown of deliveries and production volumes by business unit (remaining
units) :

2001 2000 1999
Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qf

Corrugated

Deliveries, Mm? 526 507 505 487 485 527 476 483 472

Production, Mm? 561 522 532 540 538 541 512 533 489
Containerboard : _

Deliveries, 000 tonnes 249 224 224 263 244 217 225 248 227

Production, 000 tonnes 244 215 243 259 257 218 227 245 211
Cartonboard

Deliveries, 000 tonnes 76 71 65 82 75 67 67 65 54

Production, 000 tonnes 78 76 73 73 72 67 75 63 49
Timber .

Deliveries, 000 m’fo 315 312 255 303 325 366 251 338 285

Production, 000 m*fo 314 321 246 302 322 333 266 323 305
Forestry

Deliveries, 000 sm’ub 2) 1,276 1,531 1,137 1,259 1,376 1,450 1,067 1,563 1638

1) Deliveries from Group forests and agency sales
2) Deliveries from Group forests



AssiDomén Group in euros *)

Profit and Loss Account

Euro appendix 1

Quarter 1 Quarter4 Quarter1  April 2000- Full year
MEUR 2001 2000 2000 March 2001 2000
Net turnover 534.4 571.6 790.6 2,5249 2,781.1
Other operating income 1.2 19.7 71 58.0 63.9
Raw materials and consumables -204.3 -187.9 -277.7 -893.3  -966.7
Change in stocks 4.5 2.1 6.6 15.3 17.4
Other external costs -153.1 -176.2 -239.1 -731.6  -817.6
Staff costs ** -98.7 -118.2 -150.8 -450.9  -503.0
Share of profits of associated companies 23.6 -0.4 -0.1 23.2 -0.5
Depreciation according to plan -32.3 -31.8 -53.7 -161.3  -1827
Operating profit 75.3 78.9 82.9 384.3 391.9
Financial items 0.1 -12.1 -14.8 -28.3 -43.2
Profit after financial items 75.4 66.8 68.1 356.0 348.7
Taxes -22.6 12.7 -24.0 -28.6 -30.0
Minority interests -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 -0.7 -0.7
Net profit for the period 52.7 79.3 44.0 326.7 318.0
** of which SPP funds - - . 37.5 37.5

Balance Sheet

31 March 31 March 31 Deé

*} For information on exchange rates used, see Exchange Rates table in Euro appendix 2

MEUR 2001 2000 2000
Fixed assets, non-interest bearing 3,199.9 2,475.4 3,404.2
Stocks 234.0 3445 260.1
Current receivables, etc., non-interest-bearing - 503.5 703.8 554.1
Liquid assets and other interest-bearing '
receivables 302.4 2184 3301
Total assets 4,239.8 3,742.1 4,548.5
Shareholders’ equity 2,304.5 1,640.7 2,813.4
Minority interests 3.5 3.9 3.3
Non-interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 1,1153 872.0 1,156.0
Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 8165 12255 5758
' Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 4,239.8 3,742.1 4,548.5
Cash Flow Statement Jan- Jan- Full.
March March year
MEUR 2001 2000 2000
Operating surplus 83.2 134.1 534.8
Change in werking capital, etc. -0.1 -33.7 -67.6
Net financial items, taxes, etc. -29.6 -46.3 -103.9
Cash flow from operating activities 53.5 541 363.3
Cash flow from
investing activities 152.2 -52.4 4246
Cash flow from
financing activities -225.4 60.6 -601.1
Total cash flow -19.7 62.3 186.8
Liquid assets at the beginning of the year 322.0 138.9 1389
Exchange differences in liquid assets -8.5 3.3 -3.7
Liquid assets at the end of the period 293.8 204.5 322.0
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AssiDomén Group in euros *

Jan-March
Changes in shareholders’ equity 2001
Opening equity on 1 January 2,803.6
Change of translation method 1) 10.6
Effect of adoption of RR 9 Income taxes -0.8
Adjusted opening equity 2,813.4
Translation difference in opening equity -89.0
Redemption of shares 2) -482.0
Translation difference for the period 19.1
Adjustment for hedging carried out -9.7
Net profit for the period 52.7
Closing equity at the end of the period 23045

12
Euro appendix 2

1) Starting in 2001, translation of the balance sheets and profit and loss accounts of the subsidiary in
St Petersburg, Russia, is carried out according to the monetary method. The current method was
previously applied. Comparative figures for the Russian subsidiary for January — March and the full
year 2000 have been recalculated in this interim report and included in the consolidated balance

sheet according to the monetary method.

2) On 29 March 2001 shareholders’ equity decreased through redemption of 23,215,855 shares at
SEK. 190. The number of shares has thus decreased from 118,373,034 to 95,157,179.

Jan-March Jan-March Full year

Key Figures ** 2001 2000 2000
Operating margin, % 10 10 14
Return on capital employed {2000 excl.
revaluation, 1999 excl. write-down), % 3) 18 7 18
Return on equity, % 3) 17 neg 15
- 2000 excl. revaluation, 1999 excl. write-down 22 5 20
. Equity ratio, % - 54 44 62
Debt/equity ratio, times 0.22 0.62 0.09
Interest-bearing net debt, MEUR 514.1 1,007.1 245.7
Earnings per share after full tax, EUR 4) 0.45 0.37 2.69
Cash flow per share, EUR 4) 0.82 0.93 4.60
Equity per share, EUR 5) 24.22 13.77 23.68
Average number of employees 10,653 16,288 14,506
Average number of employees in remaining units 2,214 2,403 2,342

3) Moving 12-month figures
4) Calculated on 118,373,034 shares.

5) 2001 calculated on number of shares after redemptlon 95,157,179, 2000 calculated on number of

shares after redemptlon 118,373,034

* For information on exchange rates used, see Exchange Rates table below

** Definitions, see Annual Report for 2000.

Exchange Rates EUR1 =

31 March 2001 SEK 9.151000
31 December 2000 SEK 8.861000
30 September 2000 SEK 8.521000
30 June 2000 SEK 8.412000
31 March 2000 SEK 8.298000
31 December 1999 SEK 8.545000
30 September 1999 SEK 8.719800
30 June 1999 SEK 8.752500

31 March 1999 SEK 8.880600
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‘ Euro appendix 3
Business areas in euros *)

Quarterly breakdown of net turnover by business unit/business area and for the Group

2001 2000 1999

MEUR Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qi1
Cartonboard 57.8 492 506 633 570 540 549 49.1 488
Timber 68.0 612 569 684 809 = 897 645 776 673
Wood Supply & Forestry 133.8 1263 109.3 1420 153.8 149.0 102.8 142.2 1357
Other and intra-Group '
deliveries -61.6 534 -512 -449 -589 -415 -61.6 -425 -53.8
Total remaining units 198.0 183.3 1656 2288 2328 2512 160.6 226.4 198.0
Units under sale

Corrugated 289.7 262.1 269.2 2783 2731 2772 2371 2741 251.7

Containerboard 120.5 97.6 1046 1332 1191 1064 994 103.1 873

Intra-Group deliveries -38.5 -33.5 -41.9 -459 -404 -35.8 -30.0 -34.3 -29.1

. 371.7 326.2 3319 3656 351.8 347.8 306.5 3429 309.9
AssiDoman units included in :

Billerud as of 1/1/2001 - 1084 106.3 1059 1020 972 83.1 854 721
Companies sold to

Frantschach - -140 549 1536 158.0 1417 147.2 138.0 129.0
QOther and intra-Group

deliveries -35.3 323 -385 -552 -540 -451 -31.2 -B45 -394
Total Group 5344 571.6 6202 7987 790.6 7928 666.2 738.2 669.6

*) For information on exchange rates used, see Exchange Rates table in Euro appendix 2



Quarterly breakdown of earnings by business area and for the Group
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AssiDoman AB (publ) SE-105 22 Stockholm Corporate identity number 556016-9020
Tel +46 8 655 90 00 Fax+46 8 655 94 01 E-maii: mailbox@asdo.se
Internet website: http://www.asdo.se

2001 2000 1999

MEUR Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Qi Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Cartonboard 4.4 5.0 3.0 2.8 0.5 23 36 -34 -2
Timber 0.2 1.2 0.2 1.6 1.6 01 -16 -19 -26
Wood Supply & Forestry - 25.7 235 183 253 333 307 163 355 40.1
Property sales 03" 23" 234 18 20 1.1 - 24 76 04
Other and eliminations -7.5 -11.3 6.0 -143 -3.5 114 90 64 -49
Total remaining units 23.1 20.7 38.9 172 339 226 117 314 318
SPP funds v - -1.5 39.0 - - - - - -
Units under sales :

Corrugated & Containerboard 30.3 3352 226 352 236 53 132 212 11.7
Share of profits of Billerud 23.8 - - - - - - - -
AssiDoman units included in
Billerud as of 1/1/2001 - 29.7 305 220 118 9.7 9.8 19 -85
Companies sold to ' :
Frantschach - -1.7 7.7 21.7 1641 -12.0 108 4.3 1.5
Other and eliminations -1.9 -1.8 24 23 25 28 25 -24 -22
Operating profit before
write~-downs 75.3 78.9 136.3 93.8 829 228 430 564 343
Write-downs - - - - - -180.0 - - -
Operating profit/loss after
write~downs 75.3 78.9 136.3 93.8 829 -157.2 43.0 564 343
Financial items 01 -121 98 65 -148 -164 -155 -129 -13.7
Profit/loss after financial
items ** 75.4 66.8 1265 87.3 681 -173.6 275 435 206
Taxes -22.6 12.7 116 -30.3 -24.0 16.9 -134 -152 -7.2
Minority interests -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 -0.3  -0.41 01  -01 -0.1 0.0
Net profit/loss for the period 52.7 79.3 138.0 567 440 -1566 140 282 134
Net earnings/share, EUR 0.45 0.66 118 048 037 -1.32 012 024 0.11
- excl. write-downs -0.06
** Non-recurring items

1) capital gain :
property sales 0.3 3.3
2) capital gain sale of
operations - 85
3) additional purchase price 4.3 -
Total non-recurring items 4.6 11.8

AssiDoman is one of Europe’s leading forest products companies. Production is focused on
sawn timber, packaging paper and packaging.
The Group had a turnover of approximately SEK 24.5 billion in 2000 and has 11,000 employees.
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Key events

& Operational disposals
The Sepap and Dynéds paper mills, plus AssiDomaén’s sack opera-
tions and Barrier Coating, were divested to Austrian corporatnon
Frantschach AG in August.

¥ Redemption programme

Proceeds from the Frantschach transaction, of some MSEK 4 500,
were returned to shareholders through a redemption programme
resolved at an Extraordinary General Meeting in October, encom-
passing over 23 million shares. MSEK 4,411 was paid out in spring
2001.

~ & New jointly owned enterprise

Billerud AB, a new enterprise jointly owned with Stora Enso, was
announced in November. it comprises the Skarblacka, Karlsborg .
(AssiDomdn) and Gruvén (Stora Enso) kraft paper mills. This new
enterprise became operational on 1 January 2001, and will be
floated on the stock market not later than 2002.

Write-up of forest assets

As of December, AssiDoman wrote up the value of its forest assets
to an aggregate MSEK 17,500 {previously MSEK 4,160). The
intention is to create the right prospects for the expedient capital
structure of an autonomous forest land owning corporation.

Financial key figures, group

B Consolidated structure for Corrugated & Containerboard
AssiDoman reached an agreement regarding the divestment of the
Corrugated & Containerboard business area to Kappa Holdings in
March 2001, as an element of its efforts to identify consolidated
structures for its industrial operations.

B Significant reduction of emissions
The group achieved far lower fossil fuel consumption and
emissions of acid-forming substances at its pulp and paper mills.

® AssiDomin - constituent of environmental stock indexes
For the second consecutive year, AssiDoman is one of only four of
the world’s forest product corporations to become a constituent of
the Dow Jones Sustainability Group Indexes, which underscores the
group’s successful integration of finandcial, social and environmental
objectives within its business operations.

1998 1997 1996

2000 1999

Net turnover, MSEK

24,643 20,725 18,548

23,993

Net profit per share, SEK *
Cash flow per share, SEK

Retum on equlty % v

*  Including MSEK 1,540 write-down on fixed assets in 1599,

** Including write-ups and write<downs on fixed assets of MSEK 13, 340 in 2000 and MSEK 1,540 in 1999 respectively.

*** Excluding write-ups and write-downs an fixed assets in 2000 and 1999 respectively.

Environmental key ratios, group

OPERATING PROFIT
BY BUSINESS AREA

Harvesting in relation to growth in proprietary forest reserves,
including forest reserves not cultivated %

2000 1999
c ngrrugaéed % Cartonboard 3%
ntainerboar
7 68 antaine 29%

Timber 1%

Operations with certified/registered enwronmental
_Mmanagement systems, % of the group’s net turnover

o B
QOther 41%

1) Units divested to Frantschach in 2000, units
consolidated into Billerud from 2001 onwards
(see page 30) and other.




I PRESIDENT'S COMMENTS

AssiDomadn intends to create new, strong industrial structures

Expectations of AssiDoman’s future achievements have gradually risen, and to justify the market’s

confidence, it is vital that we honour the undertakings we made ahead of 2000. Indeed, we've

delivered on our promises - our rationalisation initiatives have generated results, while our

restructuring rolls on. We have also created more shareholder value. We've maintained a high

tempo, along with dual efficiency and profitability focuses throughout our process flows, while

also making good progress in realigning the group’s future structure.

Enhanced profitability

We have rolled out profitability and rationalisation initiatives
throughout the group using an array of localised projects. In
turn, these have been co-ordinated to exchange experience and
best practice across all organisational borders. The results include
increased capacity utilisation of cur machinery, maintenance
efficiency, as well as reduced waste and energy consumption.

We've also been pursuing aggressive revenue and margin-
enhancing measures to consolidate our profitability — marketing
and sales drives, plus a sharper customer focus, both on individu-
al clients and entire market segments.

The supply of our wood raw material is another notable
project, where AssiDomdn was successfully able to reduce the
capital tied-up in its operations. We've also been successful in
reducing our raw material inventories at stock yards, on forest
roadways and at our mills. We are well on the way towards the
targeted one week’s inventories at the paper mills, which apart
from reducing costs, also improves the utilisation of fibre as a
consequence of raw materials always being fresh.

Qur Profit Improvement Program implied profitability en-
hancements exceeding MSEK 800 in 2000, beating our own
targets.

Positive external factors ~ firm demand and favourable price
performance ~ obviously helped raise profitability. Meanwhile,
our fine-tuning has optimised our ability to exploit a positive
business cycle.

Qverall, this implies that we can be satisfied with achieving
the highest profitability in five years for the group, a 20% return
on equity and 18% return on capital employed.

Structure and strategy

In parallel with these activities, AssiDoman has taken extensive
steps regarding the group’s future strategic orientation and
structure. The drivers here are our intent to assure profitability
and sustainable growth in the group’s operations - i.e. to
enhance competitiveness and shareholider value.

The accentuating competition in our sector necessitates
players having a chance of securing leading positions, requiring
critical mass and high skills levels. This, in turn, implies that we

. cannot run an excessive number of diverse operations sim-
ultaneously, with the according need for focus and con-
centration. After a thorough review of AssiDoman’s market
positions, preduct portfolio and other factors, we have form-

ulated a strategy intended to create competitive structures
- securing the best possible havens for our businesses to
progress is the optimal way of revealing values in the group.

Considerations including our need to focus elicited the
divestment of our sack operations, the Dynds and Sepap mills
and Barrier Coating. European consumption of sacks and sack
paper is declining, while the need for sector consolidation
remains. Frantschach was prepared to concentrate on pioneering
this restructuring, at a price that exceeded our internal strategic
value for these operations. -

Similarly, we were later able to find a structurally and industri-
ally appropriate solution for our Skarblacka.and Karlsborg units,
which were integrated with Stora Enso’s Gruvon facility in a newly
incorporated jointly owned enterprise, Billerud. Billerud enjoys
bright prospects of evolving into a leading global provider in
several kraft paper segments, particularly white packaging paper.
Both these transactions brought our shareholders substantial
values; the redemption of over 23 million shares provided SEK
4.4 billion for our shareholders. We are now also proposing
AssiDomin's holdings in Billerud AB being transferred to share-
holders coincident with a stock market flotation of this new
corporation, by no later than 2002. ’

Through our agreement with Kappa Holdings we have
created an appropriate and stronger ownership structure for
Corrugated & Containerboard’s operations.

For these operations, our European market share is a modest-
7%; even as the third-largest player we have not been able to
avoid the extensive ongoing international restructuring and trans-
formation of the European corrugated and containerboard
markets - the result is progressively larger players and more
intense competition. Mergers and acquisitions for a value of
USD 58 bn were effected in 2000.

Our prospects of effecting aggressive initiatives such as
acquisitions have been limited by the high prices and substantial
premiums that potential acquisition targets command. | think the
stock market would take a sceptical view of further acquisitions,
with the resulting destruction of value. There are plenty of
illustrative examples in this context, not least in the forest
products industry. Meanwhile, acquiring smaller enterprises
would tie up considerable time and management capacity, which
the brisk pace of the prevailing transformation does not permit.
The decision | and our Board reached is that our corrugated and
containerboard activities are too small to remain a profitable pan-



European player but 100 big to be an efficient, flexible niche
player.

The divestment to Kappa makes Corrugated & Container-
board part of a far stronger player on the European market
for these products. In industrial terms, this is a logical and

“very capable constellation,

B Future orientation

Qur efforts to create new, secure industrial structures and to
reveal values have meant us taking a decisive step on our
road to becoming a pure forest owning AssiDomdn. We have
also written up the book value of our forest assets to MSEK
17,500 from the previous MSEK 4,160 in order to create the
right prospects for this type of corporation. Moreover, we will
gain the possibility of adapting our capital structure to these
re-focused activities.

AssiDoman is Europe’s largest listed forest owner; we
have a unigue asset in our 2.4 million hectares of productive
forest land. We will now progress towards becoming an
increasingly strategic and commerdcially active player, building
on our extensive forest assets and the competencies
harboured in our operations.

Qur intention is to sustain our efforts to identify more
secure structures for our remaining industrial activities, and

*after this transaction, the group comprises Cartonboard,

with the Frovi mill, our sawmilling activities and the 50%
holding in Billerud AB, which we intend to spin off to our
shareholders.

# Environmental successes
AssiDoman’s operations are based on-ecological cycles to a
very great extent — AssiDomén’s products are to 98%

~comprised of renewable raw materials.

| view emissions of greenhouse gases and the ensuing

_environmental impact as one of the major challenges the

global community must deal with through future environ-
mental efforts. Growing forests bind carbon dioxide in the
photosynthesis process, and at present, we leave some 30%
of the annual growth of our forest land un-harvested,
implying a timber reserve and continuous increase in the
volume of carbon dioxide bound up. In international terms,
Sweden should be striving towards creating a philosophy
where growing forests are assigned greater financial value as
a consequence of their status as carbon sinks. Qur energy-
saving measures form part of our prioritised assignment of
reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Our efforts to reduce
energy consumption are part of our group environmental
management systems.

Active and credible environmental efforts are vital, as is
communication and coliaboration with external parties.
Qur work alongside the WWF regarding the establishment
and expansion of forestry certification systems, gaining
participants increased positive attention, is an example of
our successful efforts here.

PRESIDENT'S COMMENTS

The fact that the group is a constituent
of the Dow Jones Sustainability Group
Indexes is very pleasing, underscoring the
success-ful integration of finandial, social
and environmental objectives in our
operations.

8 Personal commitment

The divestments, rationalisation measures,
restructuring and ownership realignments
we have implemented, and can be
expected to continue, affect-everybody

in the group to varying degrees. .
However, all AssiDoman professionals

are working towards a common objec-
tive - the long-term survival and com-
petitiveness of our operations. Change

is an element of this process, while
adapting to new conditions is the best
safety factor to ensure our future.

I can also detect the personal
commitment — @ competitive spirit ~in
many of our professionals throughout
the organisation. Their intent to make
the company and our businesses stili
better is the driver that creates
developmental opportunities and a
positive outlook.

8 Outlook
As a pure forest land-owning corpor-
ation, AssiDomén will have the capacity
to generate strong and stable cash flows
- profit variations within forestry are lower
than in industrial operations. Historically,
forest ownership represents a high-yield-
ing, low-risk investment. Stable cash flows
and limited investment requirements create
the scope for high dividend pay-out ratios.
Additionally, the corporation will have the
right prospects for consolidating its cash
flows through ongoing land transactions.
Investment in a pure forest land-owning
corporation implies low risk, with consistent
positive returns, which will be attractive to
small and large investors alike.

Gunnar Palme
President and Chief Executive Officer
Stockholm, Sweden, March 2001



| THE FUTURE ASSIDOMAN

AssiDomadn — heading towards pure forest land ownership

Consistently, the primary objectives of focusing AssiDomén are to build

strong, competitive structures for group operations, while also creating

shareholder value. Like previous restructuring measures, the divestment

of Corrugated & Containerboard satisfies both objectives.

The divestment of Corrugated & Containerboard

In March 2001, AssiDoman signed an agreement with Kappa
Alpha Holdings ("Kappa Holdings”) regarding the divestment of
AssiDomén Corrugated & Containerboard. Kappa Holdings was
incorporated by Cinven. Ltd. and CVC Capital Partners with the
intention of acquiring AssiDomén Corrugated & Containerboard,
integrating its activities with Kappa Packaging.

The operations will be formaily taken over as of 1 January
2001, the transaction is conditional on the approval of the EU
competition authorities, with final approval and transfer of the
acguisition fee in the first half-year 2001,

& Strategy
AssiDoman's strategy is to participate in the creation of secure
market structures by pursuing European leadership in its various
product areas. On the corrugated and containerboard side, the
divestment of the business area to Kappa Holdings means the
creation of a business with greater integration, broader geo-
graphical coverage and higher market shares in key European
volume markets. Together, AssiDomén's and Kappa's businesses
form a prominent European paper and packaging corporation.
Subsequent to this transaction, AssiDomdn's industrial
operations comprise Cartonboard, with its mill at Frovi, Sweden,
sawmill operations and 50% holdings in Billerud AB. The
intention is to float Billerud AB on the Stockholm Exchange as

. soon as possible, althcugh by no later than 2002, with a

coincident spin-off to AssiDoman AB shareholders. AssiDoman's
efforts to identify stronger structures for our industrial operations
will continue.

Financial objectives

AssiDoman initiated a review of its financial objectives in 2000;
the current extensive restructuring in the group has ruled out the
meaningful formulation of new financial objectives. With its new
future orientation towards forest land ownership, AssiDoman will
have the capacity to generate strong and stable cash flows - the
profit fluctuations of these activities are lower than in industrial
operations, while forests require no major ongoing investments.
‘The new operational structure will be considered when
AssiDoman revises its financial objectives in 2001. The capital
structure will be modified to a debt level suitable for a
corporation with stable cash flows, while we will also review

our dividend poalicy - our present abjective is to pay out 4% of
shareholders’ equity at year-end. Stable cash flows and limited
investrnent requirements create the scope for dividend policies
that imply high dividend pay-out ratios.

#® A focused forest land owner -

AssiDoman’s central long-term orientation will be forest land
ownership. With 2.4 million hectares of productive forests, the
group is the biggest listed forest land owner and cultivator in
Europe. ‘

AssiDomdn divides its harvesting 50% in northern Sweden
and 50% in the rest of Sweden, with yearly harvesting of 5.2
million sm3ub distributed 60% between sawlogs and 40%
comprising pulpwood and other grades. Sawlogs are much more
valuable because the price per cubic metre is far higher than
pulpwood. Subsequent to the write-up of fixed assets, the book
value of forest land is MSEK 17,500, equivalent to its taxable
value. The Swedish tax authorities stipulate that taxable values
should comprise approximately 75% of market values.

Forest is a renewable asset ~ yearly growth means forest is
continually renewed without any costs incurred. Because, at
present, AssiDoman harvests only 70% of its growth, it has
significant potential to increase its timber harvests, despite the
low growth rates at our latitudes. AssiDomdn could increase the
output volumes from its forest by some 20% over the next 20
years; some increases are also possible after this period.

In historical terms, forest ownership has been a high-yield,
low-risk investment, generating stable cash flows as a
consequence of consistent high margins. As a focused forest
owner, AssiDoman’s strategy will be to preserve its ability to
generate cash fiows.

Purchases and sales of forest land have been an element of
AssiDomdn’s strategy of optimising the value of its assets, and
will remain so. The scope for such transactions is substantial,
particularly in southern Sweden, where prices are highest and
land represents some 65% of the total taxable value of
AssiDoman’s forest land.

The fact that forestry is becoming less finked to the industry
means that it is also easier to exploit the forestry skills harboured
within AssiDomdn for external assignments.

® Environmental strategy

AssiDomén‘s Environmental Policy (see page 51) stipulates that
the group will pursue operations to contribute to sustainable
progress in society. Each day, AssiDomén translates the guidelines
and undertakings of this Policy into practical action.

Taking a holistic approach to environmental issues is a natural
element of AssiDomin’s business development, while incorpora-
ting environmental initiatives into day-to-day business also
ensures that these activities are pursued cost efficiently.

AssiDoman’s forestry activities comprise four key elements for



sustainable development: forestry pursued with good long-term
returns considering ecological, social and cultural issues, This is -
achieved through certification according to FSC principles for
sustainable forestry. AssiDoman’s certified environmental
management systems constitute a guarantee for good practice
and continuous improvements in the entire chain right to the
customer. '

EXTERNAL SALES BY BUSINESS AREA

MSEK

30,000

25,000 22843

20,000

15,000
10,000

$,000

2000 Divestments Profarma 2000

W Forestry 3 Timber
Ml Cartonboard 3 Corrugated & Containerboard
ZH Units divested to Frantschach and transferred to Sillerud

&8 AssiDomin excluding units being divested pro forma

Income Statement

THE FUTURE ASSIDOMAN

AssiDomén will consolidate its customers’ overall perceptions of
the experienced benefit of its products, and of AssiDomaén as a
cost-efficient and environmental corporation. AssiDoman will
view this as a strategic initiative, expected to generate new
business opportunities in those spheres where the group has
expressed ambitions to progress and be a leader.

ASSIDOMAN'S
FUTURE STRUCTURE

The divestment of Corrugated & Cantainerboard constitutes 3
decisive step in AssiDoman's transformation into a more focused
corporation. Forest ownership will be the corporation’s core
business. Revised ownership still constitutes 3 future opportunity
for Cartonboard, Timber and the holding in Billerud.

Balance sheet

Pro forma

Pro forma Full year 31 Dec.
MSEK 2000 2000 MSEK - 2000
Ne ' 7,182 24643 Fixed assets, non i
. EE} 566 3
Qperating costs * e -6,128 -20,113 Current receivables, etc., non interest-bearing 2,223 4,910
Profit share in associated companies - 810 -4 Liquid assets and interest-bearing receivables 16,774 2,925
Depreciation according to plan -404 -1,619 Total assets s 41,925 40,209
Qperating profit 1913473,
Financial items -206 -383 Shareholders' equity 26,713 24,843
Profit after financial items 1,585 3,090 - Minority interests
T e ‘ 484 =286 Non-interestbearing liabilties and provisions 7,843 10235
Minority share ) - —5 Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 7,369 5,102
Net profit 1,141 2,818 Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 41,925 40,209

* Including MSEK 144 respectively of SPP surpius consolidation funds and
MSEK 332 in staff costs. '

The above pro forma income statements and balance sheets are based on the following

assumgptions: -

« Corrugated & Containerboard has been de-consolidated from AssiDomdn's accounts.
The. units divested to Frantschach in 2000 are entirely excluded.

« Calculated net profit from the divestment of Corrugated & Containerboard (MSEK
1,870) has not been included in the income statement. This amount dees not include
the effect of translation differences on the shareholders' equity of units during their
period of ownership.

« No adjustment of net financial items has been made apart from the elimination of the
atorementioned units' net financial items. Accordingly, no interest on the purchase price
is included.

= Tax costs have been calculated at an average tax rate of 28%.

* An estimated capital gain (MSEK 1,570} and positive tax effect (MSEK 3Q0) from
divested units has been posted to shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet.

« The balance sheet as of 31 December 2000 has alsa been adjusted for the effects of
the incorporation of Billerud; the AssiDoman Skarblacka and Karisborg units have been
de-consolidated, instead accounted as profit share in associated companies.

Key figures and per share data

Pro forma
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2000 2000
Number of shares 118,373,034 118,373,034

Sharehclders’ equit
Net debt, MSEK ...
Oeptiequity ratio, muitipie
Return on equity, %
i 0 7 20




The AssiDomaéan share

AssiDomdn régistered a solid share price performance
during last year; the year-end price paid was SEK 190,
implying 37.2% gains on the year-end price paid of
SEK 138.50 in 1999. The price comparison does not
consider the detachment of redemption rights on 10

. October, worth SEK 8 per share,

AssiDomén’s share price performance featured fairly
sizeable fluctuations early in the year; resisting the
sharp downturn of other forest products industry shares
until early June, when AssiDomin followed the forest
products industry index downturn.

However, after the end of June, AssiDoman’s share
price rose resolutely, by 51.4% from 30 June to 31
December, while Affarsviriden's benchmark forest
products index gained 31.7% and the all-share
Generalindex dropped 17.4%.

The Board's proposal to transfer MSEK 4,411 to
sharehalders through share redemptions, the creation
of Billerud and efforts to find stronger structures for
the packaging operations have all gained a positive
market reception.

The year high of SEK 200 was achieved on 5
December, with the low of SEK 121 on 29 June.

Until 15 March 2001, AssiDoman's share price had
risen by 8.2% to SEK 205.50 (Forest products index:
+5.2%, Generalindex: -12.8%).

The total return on the AssiDoman share — price
increase plus dividends, if continuously re-invested in
AssiDomén shares — amounted 1o 107.8% between the
initial public offering in April 1994 and 31 December
2000. This does not include the proposed dividend
for 2000 (SEK 6.50). ]

At year-end 2000, AssiDomdn’s market capitalisation

‘was MSEK 22,491 (16,395), including the value of

redeemed shares of MSEK 4,411. These shares were
liquidated on 29 March 2001, when the translation was
registered and the redemption fee paid.

#| Exchange trading

The AssiDoman share is quoted on the OM Stockholm
Exchange A-list of highest-turnover shares. Trading
blocks are 100 shares; the nominal amount is SEK 20.

Average daily turnover in 2000 was 198,367
(192,38S), up by some 6,000. A total of 49.6 (48.5)
million shares were traded in 2000, corresponding to
42% of the total number of shares.

According to the stock exchange’s latest definition,
the AssiDoman share’s beta value (see definitions on
page 11)is 0.51. The correlation co-efficient was 0.10,
implying that 10% of AssiDoman’s share price per-
formance is due to general stock market performance.

Share price performance* and traded volumes 1 Jan. 99-15 Mar. 01

20— 17,500

-200 - - 15,000
, I

180 : l H 12,500

160 ' 'I 10,000

120

5,000

100

2,500

il

80 - ; S S h -
1999 2000 . 2001
' Assilomén share : Turnover, 000 £
— Affarsviriden’s forest products index {ind. after-haurs trading) i
* Weekly values . Source: SIX

Share price performance* 8 Apr. 34-15 Mar. 01

220
SEK

200

| i
i ‘{Mm /J;
NN A

v

120 U] V AR |
100
e AssiDomin share — Affdrsviriden’s forest produ!ns index
80
8 Apr. 94 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000
* Weekly values Source: ECOWIN

Share price performance prior to 15 jun. 39 has been adjusted
for the spin-off of Sveaskog in both figures.

B Ownership structure

The following describes AssiDoman’s ownership structure excluding
those shares registered for redemption; the biggest change amongst
the 10 largest owners in 2000 was the Fourth AP (National Pension



Insurance) Fund’s transfer of its 3.3% ownership to the First,
Second and Third AP Funds (1.1% each). This transfer is a
response of the new distribution of assets between these
buffer funds resolved by the Swedish government in late
2000. ‘ -

Other changes include the departure of AMF Pension,
Handelsbanken Fonder, the Union of Technical and Clerical
Employees in Industry, insurance corporation Lansfarsakringar
and the Zenit hedge-fund from the list of major shareholders,
with the aforementioned AP Funds, the Foundation for
Knowledge and Competence and SEB new to the list. The
number of shareholders with holdings of less than 10,000
shares represents 16.6% of the total number of shares; the
number of AssiDomén shareholders fell by 32,435 to
221,400. The share of foreign owners increased by 6%
to 23.5% through the year, with the majority registered in
the US.

When collating the largest shareholders, some uncertainty
is implied regarding holdings registered outside Sweden. VPC
(the Central Swedish Securities Depository) maintains share
registers of all Swedish shareholders, while generally, foreign
holdings are only stated via custodian institutions. Accord-
ingly, the table indicates only the largest Swedish owners,
despite the fact that un-identified foreign institutions may be
present amongst major shareholders.

_Ownership structure

THE ASSIDOMAN SHARE

Major Swedish shareholders 31 Dec. 00
(including effect of redeemed shares)

Number of Proportion of
Shareholder shares shares and votes, %
Swedish Government 33,605,190 35.3
&35 650 &5
3143027 3y
.......... 1,013,260':: Bt

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

............. s ie

454,000 0.4

Other shareholders 46,304,612 438.6

Total number of shares after redemption 95,157,179 100.0
Share redemption 23,215,855
Total number of shares 31 Dec. 00 118,373,034

Ownership structure 31 Dec. 00

Number of Proportion of Number of  Proportion of
Shareholding owners total owners, % shares share capital, %
1-10,000 221,259 99.94 15,812,423
B 005 3343809
0.00 ,
221,400 100.00 95,157,179
Share redemption 23,215,855
Total number of shares 118,373,034

Share capltal history, AssiDoméin AB
Number of shares

Share capital (SEK 000)

Number of shares  Proportion, % Year Change Total Change Total
Swedish Government 353 1988 . 160,000.0
Owners of 1- 10,000 shares 16.6 1992 Non-cash issue 50,000.0 310,000.0

Ten largest Swedish shareholders
excluding Governme:

1,272,509.0

1994 Split 1:50

1994 New issue 599,989.9

Other Swedish sharehoiders 7.705,885 81 3188091

Total 95,157,179 100.0 PR i io et S, S S .

Share redemption 23,215,855 2001 Share redemption  -23.215.855 95,157,179 -464,317.1  1,903,143.8

Total number of shares 118,373,034

Key figures per share "

Calculated on the number of shares outstanding as of 31 December. Average
2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1994-2000

SEK per share unless otherwise indicated.

- share price {dividend vield)

. - B
dosmgeqwty .................................................

Net turnover

Beta value

1) Definitions, see page 11. * including MSEK 1,540 write-down in 1999.

** Excluding write-ups and wnte—downs on fixed assets of MSEK 13,340 in 2000 and MSEK 1,540 in 1929 respectively.




\ GROUP SUMMARY

Net turhover

External net turnover 2000

Container-  Corrugated
MSEK board board

Packaging

Carton- Sawn  Round % of

paper Pulp board timber timber QOther Total total

T e Z1%s 2143 2
L e e
e P o 2
Total 2819 9577 1839 1,074 1,943 2145 1,530 3,716 24643 100
% of total - - n ) 8 4 8 9 6§ 15 100

1) Operations divested to Frantschach and other.

In 2000, 39% of consolidated turnover was generated from
corrugated board, and with containerbdard, these two related
grades comgprised as much as 50% of turnover,

The fact that AssiDoman’s sales are made in multiple geo-
graphical markets means that exchange rate variations influence
both income and costs. In many cases, production and customers
are in different countries and currencies, which influences profits;
. only 16% of consolidated net turnover is generated from

EXTERNAL NET TURNOVER
BY PRODUCT GROUP, MSEK

Corrugated board

Caontainerboard
Sawn timber
Cartonboard
Packaging paper
qund timber
pulp’

Other

2,000 4,000 6,000 8000 10,000

customers in Sweden, while as much as 77% of consolidated
group capital employed is SEK-denominated {(see opposite).
France, the UK and Germany have the converse imbalance,
generating a total of 35% of consolidated net turnover, against
an aggregate of 8% of group capital-employed. This implies that
AssiDoman is heavily dependent on Swedish krona exchange
rates and economic conditions in Sweden.

EXTERNAL NET TURNOVER
BY MARKET, MSEK

Sweden
Germany
UK
France
italy
Spain
Denmark

Netherlands

1.000 2,000 3,000 4000 5000
Eight markets provide 77% of sales.

Raw materials and electricity supply 2000

Wood raw material,*

External fibre raw material,*

Electrical power,*

million sm’ub net thousand tonnes GWh
Market Swedish Foreign AssiDoman
AssiDomdn  External Total Recycled fibre pulp units units total
Swedish mills . Swedish mills 110 125 Purchased
Domestic e LR S 2 dt
imported D 05 Foreign mills 330 -
otal ] ) Total 440 125 produced by
SUbwta .......................................... 1 8 ......... 29 AssiDoman 381 153 534
Total ) 1,110 . 386 1,496
Foreign mitls - 02 0.2
Total 1.1 2.0 3.1

* Excluding units divested to Frantschach in 2000 and units consofidated in Billerud from 2001 onwards.



Operations in different countries
(included in the Directors’ Report)

Operations in group companies by country

GROUP SUMMARY

Net turnover by

Capital Average number  Salary and social receiving country

Net turnover employed Investments of employees security costs * Proportion, %
MSEK 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999
Sweden 12,661 11,682 23,192 12,887 380 625 5,430 6,083 2,076 2,489 4,038 3,905 16 16
Austria - - - ~ - 1 i - - 254 196 1 1
arune 4
Benmark 6
Finland !

EU excluding Sweden 9,403 9,877 5,499 6945 513 580 6,151 6902 2,065 2360

16,366 16,163 67 66

EU total 22,064 21,559 1,393 4,141 4849 20,404 20,068 83 82
Croatia W24 79 1 - 2. = T "
Czech Republic 1,158 1488 a2 206 614 804 3 3
Hungary 38 47 1 a2 97 - -
Lavia . 16 15 1 20 14 oo oo

Lithuania e 80 3430

Jurkey ORI SUool
Rest of Europe 119 1
Europe excluding EU 2,579 2938 1,283 3084 140 367 2925 4074 316 383 2.557 10 11
Europe total 24,643 24,497 29,974 22,916 1,533 1,572 14,506 17,059 4,457 5232 | 22,961 93 93
Africa e e e o o =53
AMeica e D Qo s 2 ! = = = 432
ASI e : " T " AR T T LSS T 625 .75 .33
Rest of world - - - - - e - - - 72

24,643

Total 24,643 24,497 29,974 22918 1,536 1573 14,506 17,060 4,457 5232

* Of which surplus consoidation funds from fund manager SPP in Sweden comprised MSEK =332 in 2000.

Production capacity’

k tonnes i : Containerboard

Corrugated Testliner/ Carton- - Sawn
Unit Country board ? Kraftliner fluting SC fluting board timber?
Corrugated & Containerboard Eurcpe 2,200

Sturovo Slovakia

Deliveries to AssiDoman mills

Capacity - external deliveries

1) Excluding units divested to Frantschach in 2000 and units consolidated in Billerud from 2001 onwards.  2) Mm?, corresponds to approximately 1,400 k tonnes.  3) 000 m?,




| GROUP SUMMARY

Seven-year summary, group
(included in the Directors’ Report)

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

Income Statement, MSEK .
Net turnover 24,643 24487 23993 20,725 18548 21,016 16,762
Otheroperatmgmcome ........................................................................................................................................................................................
Operating costs

Operating profit before depredation

Deprecxatlon
Profit share in assooated companxes

-20.710
3,428

Minority interests

Net profit i
Balance Sheet, MSEK . ?‘
O : Fixed assets, non-interest bearing 29,988 20,515 24,662 22,740 16.91.3. . 14,951 12,4?9._._ ?‘%
| Shate nd paricpatons B 05 s ise g6 isds 148 0
nventories T 2305 2826 3,020 2338 2712 5
Current recewables etC., non- mteresi be;};ﬁg ) 4,910 5,586 5,117 3,798 , “c<
Liquid assets and interest-bearing receivablas T aas 1372 s 1496 1476 1,868 E
Total assets ) 40,209 30,304 33,842 31,194 25,571 24,994 20,059
‘ ' © Shareholders’ eq”it}',_ .................... 24,843 13,194 ‘ 15,777 15.623'._ 15,499 14,707 11,688

Minority interests
Non-interest bearing fiabilities and provisions 10235 7386 7458 7,255 @ 6297 6428 508
Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions 5,102 8,251 3.774 3,774 3,260

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 40,209 30,304 33,842 31,194 25,571 24,994 20,059

29,974 22918 26384 23,939

8420 9600 6979 -

Key figures" . :
Return on equity % * 20 3 5 5 9 26 18

g e o, il - SN~ SO N R < N
Gross margin, % 2z LR Lo 6B
- Operating margin, % ** 14 5 7 9 10 21

Investments, MSEK

Co isiti 46 s3 1,681 3,109 676 3,762 416 .
estments
. Personnel
Average number of empioyees ' 14506 17,060 17543 16914 13648 13113 1324
Salary and other remuneration paid, MSEK 3,529 3,880 3,967 3,677 3,436 3,145 2,963

1) Key figures per share, see page 7. :
* Excluding write-downs in 1599 and excluding wnte—ups in 2000.
** Excluding write-downs in 1999.

)






® demand for food, variations in industrial production become the -
primary explanation for price fluctuations on these products, and
the ensuing variations in consolidated profits.

Demand for liquid packaging board has exhibited the
corresponding stability to the corrugated board used for food
and drinks packaging; prices have been stable. Packaging board
is subject to slightly wider variations, in both demand and price.

o Sawn timber shadow the general business cycle, with saw log
: CORRUGATED BOARD PRICES KRAFTLINER PRICES
® GERMANY 1994 -2000 GERMANY 19942000
: SEKfonne ke
4,000 nn 6.000 SEK/tonne
8,000 A
5,000
[‘\ K(afthr\er
7.000
Corrugated board
4,000
® © 6,000 /L 'S
i WAV W
: 3,000
5,000 E
4,000 ~ 2,000
94 95 95 97 98 98 00 O 94 95 9% 97 98 99 00 O1
AssiDoman has corrugated board A 5% price change would have a
capacity of 2,200 Mm2, correspanding MSEK 56 profit impact. AssiDoman
. 10 just under 1,400 k tonnes. A 1% sells approximately 400 k tonnes
price increase would raise operating kraftliner externaltly. Because the
prafit by MSEK 96. company also purchases approx
imately 150 k tonnes, the net
exposure comarises sales of
approximately 250 k tonnes.

Sensitivity analysis and financial risk management

(Part of Directors’ Report)

The forest products industry is capital intensive and cyclical,
implying high operating risk, which should be offset by low
financial risk.

Sensitivity analysis
- AssiDomaén’s operating profit and operating margin exhibit
significant fluctuations from year to year, which are principally a
function of price changes caused by demand vanatlons for the
corporation’s products.

In 2000, corrugated board represented 39% of consolidated
turnover, and alongside containerboard, these two related
product areas represented as much as 50% of turnover.

In turn, demand far corrugated board is attributable to the
various product spheres where this material is used as transport
packaging; corrugated board for food and drinks on the one

~ hand, and industrial products on the other, each comprised 43%
of demand. Food and drinks products are subject to stable
demand growth over time, the exception being those corrugated
board boxes used for fruit and vegetable harvests. With stable

5,000 - 350 ~

4,000 ﬁ ’ 300

3,000 230

2,000 200

000
94 95 96 97 98 99 00 O1

volumes and prices determining profits; raw materials comprise
some 60% of a sawmill’s costs.

Production capacity build-outs are another factor influencing
price and profits; if extensive production capacity expansion is
coincident with an industrial production slowdown, this implies
the accentuation of price downturns, while the opposite also
applies.

& Profit influences

Product prices

Price variations exert the greatest direct profit impact -
straightforward thearetical terms, price changes should feed
through to profits directly. However, this seldom applies because
in most cases, price increases often mean the business cycle is
such that costs are also rising. Price fluctuations can be extremely
sizeable - in cyclical upturns, containerboard and pulp prices can
double. AssiDoman’s net exposure to these products is reduced
as a consequence of the corporation not merely selling, but also
purchasing containerboard and pulp, as well as round timber. -
AssiDoman’s net exposure to containerboard implies that 5%
price increases generate a3 MSEK =38 profit effect.

Costs

Despite the fact that raw material costs can fluctuate almost as
much as product prices, the majority of other costs vary far more
slowly.

PULPWOOD PRICES
SWEDEN 1994 - 2000

TESTLINER PRICES
GERMANY 1994 -2000

SEK/tonne SEK/Mfub

Testliner

Pulpwood

150
94 95 96 97 98 99 00 O7

A 5% price increase would éxert a
prafit impact of MSEK -9. AssiDomén
purchased 2.5 M tonnes pulpwood
and sawmiil chips externally at a cast
of MSEK 580, and sald 1.7 M tonnes.
The net exposure emerges at oniy 0.8
M tonnes, corresponding to MSEK 186.

AssiDoman is a net buyer af nearly
200 k tornes of containerboard.
Exposure is expected to increase to
approximately 300 k tonnes in 2001,
Accordingty, the carporation is a net
buyer of approximately 530 k tonnes
of testliner. A 5% price variation
woutd have a MSEK 34 profit impact.
The aggregate net effect on con-
tainerboard (testliner ang kraftiiner)
from a 5% price increase is MSEK ~38.




SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Volumes exert substantial influences on delivered volumes. The volume
Generally, the demand for paper and cartonboard is in annual influences exert 2 direct impact on profits because fewer sold units
trend growth of 2.5-3%, although variations between individual make a contribution to operating profit. However, the influence is
years can be sizeable, and due partly to cyclically related alse indirect, because margins are pressurised when fixed casts
demand fluctuations, but stockpiling and de-stocking aiso must be distributed between fewer manufacturing units.

Sensitivity analysis, +/-5% change

Income

2000
Propor- Annual average price (SEK) ¥
Products Effect, MSEK tion; % Unit 2000 1994-2000 High
Corrugated board® . 480 o 33 tonne 6,273 6,338 8,329
g'g_r.\.t.ainerboard 3 4,482

&

.P';.ﬂp

_Income, total 1,240 100
Costs
2000
Propor- Annual average price (SEK) !
Praducts Effact, MSEK tion, % Unit 2000 1994-2000 High Low
Paper & pulp 7 ' 180 18 . tonne 3,558 3,042 4,829 1,961
R 5 - 535 Sag 37 i
Retaried Tora s G e eSS e i
Total ! 320 32
2000
Propor- Annual increase, % Cost index '®
Other costs Effect, MSEK tion, % 1997-2000 2000 1999 1998 1997
“Salary and-social security costs - 250 24 26 - 120 17 . 114 112
SRR ORROd, e :
50
120 17 . 109 104 102 103
i56 o ’
Totai 69¢ 68

Costs, total 1,010 100

1) Prices PP Germany, unless otherwise indicated.  2) Price from VOW - Verband der Wellenpappenpapier. 3} Price relates to kraftliner (+175 g).  4) The Swedish Wood Exporters’
Assaciation.  5) Sawn timber, the National Board of Forestry. 6) Mainly divested operations in the Barrier Coating business area and sack conversion. 7) Price relates to testiiner.
8) Pulpwood, the National 8oard of Fcres(ry 9) Recycled corrugated board. 10) Index 100 = 1995

Annual volume change, Europe

Average
% 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 1994-2000

" Paper and cartonboard ? 6 1 1 9
Dehvenescorrugatedboard s 5 e e 5 3 : 3 ¢

1) Estimate  2) CEP} consumption  3) FEFCO deliveries
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® Financial risk management

Long-term financial stability is a basic prerequisite for
AssiDomaén’s continued growth, and therefore, the corporation
prioritises the avoidance of dependence on individual sources
of financing, plus minimising the financing and interest risks
associated with funding.

" Efforts to reduce financial risks conform to the Finance Policy.
determined by the Board. Responsibility for the group’s financing
and financial risk management rests centraily with the parent
company’s finance department.

Financing risk
Financing risk is the risk that a major borrowing reguirement will
arise in a tight credit market.

AssiDoman’s interest-bearing net debt was reduced from
MSEK 8,420 to MSEK 2,177 during the year. As of 31 December
2000, parent company liquid assets were MSEK 2,311;
committed credit facilities were MSEK 3,935, Thus, immediately
available funds were MSEK 6,246, corresponding to 25% of
turnaver, which is well in excess of the minimum level according

1o the group’s policy.

Interest-bearing liabilities, excluding pension liabilities,
amounted to MSEK 3,988 at year-end, of which the majority is
included in AssiDomaén’s funding programme. In order to obtain
the desired financing adapted to subsidiary domiciles and
currencies, AssiDoman hedges using derivatives.

The AssiDoman group's primary funding base comprises four
commercial paper and bond issues. As 3 result of the divestments
completed and announced during the year, Standard & Poor’s
has decided to place all the group’s market programs on credit-
watch.

Funding program and credit rating as of 31 Dec. 2000

31 Dec. 2000 Credit rating
Principal amount MSEK  S&P/Moody's
Commercial paper MSEK 5,000 2,632

MUSD 750

Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN)

MSEK 1,000 283
Total 3,160

A-/Baa2

Considering its revised structure, the group undertook a review
of its funding in the autumn, reaching a-decision to make an
offering to re-purchase all MTN and EMTN issues. At year-end,
80% and 87 % of holders respectively had accepted these
offerings, while at the same time, AssiDoman cancelled a
“revolving bank funding facility of MUSD 600, against the back-
ground of these same considerations, while also raising short-
term bank funding of MSEK 7,000.

M interest rate risk
The interest-rate risk corresponds to the profit effect of a change
in interest rates. How fast a trend-related change in interest rates
affects earnings depends on the interest fixing period of loans
and investments.

The average interest fixing period, including interest rate

derivatives of the group’s liquid assets and interest-bearing
receivables of MSEK 2,925 was approximately two manths,

AssiDomén pursues a six-month average interest fixing period,
effected through interest rate derivatives. The average interest
fixing period, including interest rate derivatives, was approx-
imately four manths at year-end. The table illustrates the .
maturity structure of AssiDomdn’s borrowing as of 31 December
2000.

Maturity structure, interest-bearing liabilities

Year ) . MSEK

2006 and beyond 320

Total , '3.988

Liquidity management

In recent years, AssiDomadn has signed agreements regarding
overall account structures for the group. Cash pools have been
established for all significant countries in collaboration with
global banks. These structures allow cross-border concentration
of flaws in EUR, implying that the graup can control and manage
its liquidity more efficiently.

Trading on money and foreign exchange markets
in order to generate higher returns, AssiDoman takes calculated
risks on the money and foreign exchange markets, subject to
stipulated defined risk limits. The total risk mandate for interest-
rate and currency risks was MSEK 75 for the year; the calculated
loss in the event of an unfavourable interest rate change of two
percentage points (parallel yield curve shift) and an unfavourable
5% change in exchange rates. Risk and results are measured
daily. The average utilisation of the risk mandate was MSEK 24
for the year. In order to reflect the group’s reduced business
volumes, the risk mandate was reduced to MSEK 50 at year-end.
The above calculation model for exchange rate and interest rate
risk remains.

With regard to liquidity risks and credit risks, AssiDoman
may invest only in instruments with high liquidity and
creditworthiness, and within established counterparty limits.
For Swedish issuers, the requirement is a K1 rating from Standard
& Poor’s, For foreign issuers, the minimum Standard & Poor’s and
Moody's credit ratings are A-1 and P-1 for short-term risk and
A and A-2 for long-term risk. Certain exceptions are allowed for
short-term investments following specific assessments. Cal-
culation of credit risks also includes gains on derivative contracts
with counterparties. No credit losses were incurred in 2000.

B Exchange rate risk

Exchange rate fluctuations influence the value of AssiDoman’s
export and import, foreign currency-denaminated assets and
fiabilities and the corporation’s competitive position.




Transaction exposure

Transaction exposure arises when a company enters into a
business agreement that will generate future payment flows in
currencies other than the company’s local currency, when
currency risks arise. Most of AssiDoman‘s production is in
Sweden. Approximately 75% of invoicing, however, is in
currencies other than Swedish kronor (SEK), in the form of
foreign subsidiaries sales and exports from Sweden. In 2000,
AssiDomadn’s exposure to net flows was MSEK 7,100.

The forest products industry’s cyclicality limits the scope for
making long-term income forecasts. Therefore, actual transaction
exposure is defined as the net of accounts receivable and
accounts payable, plus any additional amounts that can be
regarded as stable future flows from time to time. This means
that the exposure is defined on the basis of the time it takes to
adjust the corporation to a new price level. Essentially, this means
that flows of about four months are hedged on an ongoing
basis, and accordingly, exchange rate fluctuations exert their ear-
nings effect with the corresponding delay — four months. In addi-
tion, Executive Group Management may decide on shorter or
longer hedging periods in certain cases. The group’s net currency
exposure is hedged externally through derivatives, mainly forward
contracts, and by raising foreign currency loans. As of 31
December 2000, future currency flows corresponding to MSEK
1,893 had been hedged. .

A change in the value of the Swedish krona affects con-
solidated operating profit, primarily by shifting the value of the
Swedish companies’ net exports. AssiDomén’s own SEK index,
calculated at average exchange rates during the period, weighted
in relation to the Swedish companies’ net exports, depreciated by
0.9% in 2000 compared to 1999. In 2000, the effect on operat-
ing profit was approximately MSEK 103. This must be offset by
the effect on operating profit generated through hedging net
flows, amounting to MSEK ~134, of which unrealised profits
from hedging activities was MSEK -2S.

SEK depreciation of 5%, in terms of exchange rates as of 31
December 2000, would affect net currency flows into Sweden
and in¢rease operating profit by approximately MSEK 170,
excluding hedging effects.

Information By currency

Flow exposure 2000
MSEK  Proportion

Hedging 31 Dec. 2000
MSEK  Exchangerate

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Translation exposure ‘

The currency exposure which arises when the group’s net assets
outside Sweden are translated into SEK is called translation or
balance exposure. The group’s policy is to hedge this exposure.
Of consolidated shareholders’ equity of MSEK 24,843 as of on
31 December 2000, MSEK 3,928 comprised net assets in foreign
associated companies and subsidiaries, of which 80% was
hedged at year-end. There are exceptions to the hedging rule in
situations where costs are considered excessive as a result of
inadequate functioning of the capital markets and/or excessive
interest rate spreads. '

Economic exposure

Changes in the relative competitiveness of various countries,
known as economic exposure, has a significant impact on the
market pesition of a forest products corporation’s market
position. AssiDoman is indirectly affected by USD, CAD and EUR
exchange rate performance as a result of competition from forest
products players with production focused in the US, Canada and
Finland. When these currencies are appreciating, particularly
against the SEK, the group becomes more competitive because
relative costs in Sweden reduce, and vice versa. Economic
exposure is hard to influence and represents a substantial risk in
terms of the profit performance of certain products like kraftliner
and pulp coincident with sudden, significant exchange rate
fluctuations.

EMU

Eurozone currencies will cease to exist by 31 December 2001,
and accordingly, all corporations located in the affected countries
must have converted their accounting to euros exdusively by this
time. This also encompasses the conversion of recent income -
statements and balance sheets. AssiDoman has scheduled the
completion of these tasks well in advance of 31 December 2001.
The group’s efforts are rigorously defined and will entail
considerable systematic efforts. AssiDoman will review all
systems coincident with this conversion, with the intention of
utilising synergies to achieve better general functionality and
enhanced cost-efficiency.

Interest-bearing liabilities
including derivatives, MSEK

Net assets of foreign associated
companies and subsidiaries, MSEK

1,07

8.56

KK - - AL R - S,
Qther - - 35 1,104 mnm
Total 7.100 3,928 1,710

100% 1,893






Corrugated & Containerboard

~ —advancing positions on many markets

AssiDomén Corrugated & Containerboard is Europe’s third

CORRUGATED & CONTAINERBOQARD

largest ma_hufacturer and supplier of these two materials.

Corrugated offers high-quality packaging solutions, tailorad in
terms of construction and print quality, plus close customer
collaborations built on local service. The chief customer
categories are the food industry and producers of consumer
goods and industrial products.

Corrugated manufactures 12 million corrugated board
packages daily at some 60 facilities in 16 countries; its yearly
production capacity is 2.2 billion m2. Europe is its main market.

Containerboard produces basepaper for corrugated, such as
kraftliner, testliner and fluting, with these grades manufactured
from virgin fibre from sources including AssiDoman's forest land
in Sweden, as well as fibre recycled from corrugated board.
Containerboard operates four facilities, in Sweden, ltaly, France
and Slovakia, with aggregate yearly capacity of approximately
1.1 million tonnes.

M Operations in 2000

Profit

Business area profit rose by MSEK 612, or 136%, to MSEK
1,061, gains principally the result of increased delivered volumes
and higher containerboard prices.

CORRUGATED

Market and sales

The corrugated board market was stable through the year,
exhibiting firm demand. Although growth Europe wide was
3.5%, variations between constituent markets and countries
were sizeable.

Germany, Italy and Spain traced the highest growth in
Western Eurape, while UK consumption of corrugated board
continued to decline. Central and Eastern European growth
rates varied between 1 and 5%. AssiDoman advanced its market
positions in most markets.

Prices

Brisk market growth for corrugated board impiies firm demand
for the raw material, and accordingly, increased raw materials
prices. Only limited corrugated board price increases were
possible as a consequence of acute competition, and in some
cases, price pressure has sustained, impacting on margins at the
conversion level.

Production
Business unit rationalisation initiatives continued, with measures
last year oriented on increasing volumes and income, cutting

costs and improving capital utilisation.

Efforts ta expand volumes and income have resuited in
significant improvements in new corrugated board start-ups in
countries including Poland, the Czech Republic and Italy -
AssiDomin achieved volume expansion of over 250% in Poland.

The operations in St Petersburg expanded, with extensive
sales and many new customer relations secured in the Moscow
region.

AssiDomén has targeted measures on realigning its product
and customer mixes on several markets including the UK, -
Benelux and Italy. The objective here is to concentrate on more
profitable segments.

Investments

During the year, AssiDomén Corrugated acquired three sheet
plants in Finland, located at Helsinki, Tammerfors and Seingjoki,
with total turnover of approximately MSEK 60. These acquisitions
consolidate the business unit's market presence in the Nordic
region.

CONTAINERBOARD

Market and sales
Healthy corrugated board market performance elicited firm
demand for containerboard,

Prices

A positive demand situation enabled several price increases
through the year; prices of recycled fibre raw materials increased
in the spring.

Production

Rationalisation measures and productivity projects within the
auspices of AssiDoman’s Profit Improvement Program resulted in
some MSEK 250 profitability gains. These measures encompassed
the rationalisation of production, the utilisation of capital, and

at the market level, concentrating on enhanced effective
productivity. '

In 2000, business unit output was 1,065,000 tonnes
containerboard, with over 400,000 tonnes consumed internally.
External sales increased as a consequence of positive progress on
the corrugated board market.

Investments
AssiDoman increased the yearly birchwood pulp bleaching
capacity of its Pited kraftliner mill from 90,000 tonnes to




‘ CORRUGATED & CONTAINERBOARD

125,000 tonnes. These investments, totalling MSEK 138, encom-
passed realignment concentrated on the pulp mill, soda recovery
boiler and lime kiln,

AssiDoman invested MSEK 116 in re-building one paper
machine at its Ania recycled paper mill. Apart from enhanced
paper quality and the more efficient utilisation of machines, this

- resulted in yearly production capacity increases of 40,000 tonnes
testliner and 180,000 tonnes fluting.

§ Market and competitive conditions

CORRUGATED

The total market for packaging is expanding, with the estimated:
valué of the European market for paper and cartonboard
packages exceeding MSEK 400,000, with half of this total
comprising corrugated board, although competition from other.
materials, particularly plastic, is intensifying.

Growth was some 3.5% in 2000, which is consistent with
overall economic growth and industrial production. However,
progress on various geographical markets, in terms of growth
and pricing, does vary.

Increasingly, larger packaging purchasers are featuring on the
Western European market. Foods and consumer goods producers
are becoming global, co-ordinating their procurement, with
implications including packaging purchases concentrated on
fewer packaging providers.

Simultaneously, larger, co-ordinated purchasing implies
greater demands for fast and reliable deliveries. Accordingly,

it is necessary to produce packages locally, close to customer
facilities an their geographical markets. ’
Europe harbours some 400 corporations that manufacture
corrugated board packaging, and compared to cther elements of
the paper industry, the ten largest packaging manufacturers
control @ modest market share. The sector has aiso been
engaged in pronounced restructuring and consolidation for
several years, with the objective of creating increased profitability

-and following progress amongst customers.

Customers are demanding packaging solutions more tailored
to their exposure and sales direct to consumers, implying reduced
handling upstream of retail stores. Accordingly, good printability
is also vital, and a significant quality and competitive factor for
corrugated board packaging.

Product development

AssiDomén has, in collaboration with the Norwegian fishing’
industry, developed a new form of corrugated board packaging
for transporting fresh or frozen fish. The resulting boxes satisfy
stacking strength, damp-tolerance and recycling standards, while
also occupying one-tenth of the volume of boxes made from

competing materials.

Alongside International Paper, Corrugated has developed its
fruit and vegetable box concept ~ P84 - into an international

" standard under the auspices of Fefco, the European corrugated

board producers’ sector organisation and its American counter-
part, the Fibre Box Association.

CONTAINERBOARD

There are fewer containerboard producers than
corrugated board producers, with the five largest
corporations controlling some 35% of the market,
or 8 million tonnes liner and fluting in Europe.

In total, the European market encompasses over
20 million tonnes, of which a quarter is virgin
fibre-based product.

The global market has an estimated volume of
some 90 million tonnes, with some 4% yearly,
recycled fibre-based product in the fastest growth.
Growth of virgin fiore-based grades is slightly
lower. White-top grades are experiencing volume
expansion, the consequence of raised standards
on the printability of complete packaging.

The majority of providers supply container-
board to proprietary corrugated production
operations, but also make external sales to other

AssiDomin Corrpack, Denmark,
has created a Pokémon packaging
series tor the European market.




corrugated board producers. The integration between
paper production and the conversion stage is decisive to
the optimal ytilisaticn of production resources.

Of Containerboard’s total output of 1.1 million tonnes,
39% was consumed internally.

B Environmental initiatives

CORRUGATED

. Operations at facilities were pursued within the framework
of existing permits, while a few facilities are engaged in
consultation with environmental authorities regarding
operational permits. -

The Esldv, Arlév and Lubeck facilities received 1SO 14001
certification in 2000, while facilities in France, Spain,
Belgium, the Netherlands and italy are expected 1o receive

_the corresponding certification in 2001,

An Agenda 21 (Green Network) programme was
introduced in Denmark; Dansk Kraftemballage has
participated in this network, which functions as a base for
ongoing efforts towards implementing an certified
environmental management system.

The purification of waste water contaminated by pigment
and adhesives is a prioritised issue for operations; purification
systems are installed at many facilities, while existing systems
are continuously improved.

Any emissions to air are modest and mainly attributable
to the combustion of fossil gas for the production of heating
and steam.

AssiDoman assigns high priority to environmental factors
as early as the product development stage of corrugated
board packaging, such considerations including the
conservation of resources and waste management.
Accordingly, the development of lightweight packaging is
prioritised, and is consistent with EU Packaging Directive,
which stipulate the minimisation of package weight and
volume, without compromising function, hygiene or safety.

Recycled fibre is a key raw material for corrugated board
packaging, which is collected and recydled after use, and
thereby, such packages are included in a highly developed

recycling system.
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CONTAINERBOARD

Achieving the optimal ecclogical compatibility of paper products
in European terms necessitates the use of virgin and recycled

fibre. AssiDoman Kraftliner and Sturovo mainly use virgin fibre as .

their raw material, while at the Ania and Lecoursonnois facilities,
production is based exclusively on fibre recycled from corrugated
board. '

AssiDomén has impiemented certified environmental
management systems at Kraftiiner (1998), Sturovo (1998) and
Ania (2000); certification of Lecoursonnois is scheduled for the
first half-year 2001. All facilities satisfy the environmental
standards af the relevant authorities, with the exception of
Lecoursonnois.

AssiDomin Kraftliner has improved its environmental situation
in terms of noise and odours and has reduced its consumption of

fossil fuels by some 40%. Investigations of surrounding water do
not reveal any effects that can be linked to Kraftliner's emissions
of process waste water.

At Ania, environmental initiatives have been focused on
reducing emissions to air and water. The facility’s biclogical treat-
ment plant has been optimized; air-borne emission menitoring
systems have been enhanced, while measures intended to reduce
the consumption of water are planned. Environmental objectives
to increase the utilisation of fibre and reduce waste volumes have
been established.

At Sturovo, projects intended to improve the environmental
conditions in terms of emissions to air and water are underway,
while the improvement of waste management is another
prioritised issue. Since the mill was acquired by AssiDomén in
1997, the facility’s SO, emissions have reduced by 60%.

At Lecoursonnois, water is utilised in an almost completely
closed process, necessitating multi-stage purification of process

- water. However, the facility was unable to secure the relevant

permits for operations because of the unsatisfactory function
of its biological treatment plant. Production was interrupted
in early November to maintain the facility and install new
treatment equipment.

During the year, AssiDoman undertook investigations at
various facilities into the potential incidence of pollution in the
surrounding land; nothing has been discovered resulting in cost-
intensive decontamination efforts.

The standards levied by authorities and the IPPC EU directive
will tighten the standards applying to emissions in a five to ten-
year perspective; the business unit considers that its facilities
have good prospects of satisfying these standards.

¥ Strategy and organisational resources

AssiDomén Corrugated's ambition is to follow its main pan-
European customers on their largest and important markets; a
new organisational structure has been established implying the
clearer responsibility for, and control of, individual geographical
markets.

M Outlook
The overarching group strategic review focused on the future
structure of Corrugated & Contairierboard in late 2000.

The impending orientation is intended to increase the
integration of the business area’s operations and to create a more
advantageous balance of raw materials, particularly between
virgin fibre and recycled fibre grades. A secure position on key
markets and high competency levels throughout the vatue chain
from raw material to retailer, linked to high profitability and
productivity, are prioritised competitive factors.

Corrugated hoard comprises a strong
outer cover - kraftliner - and a rippled
middle layer, known as fluting.




CARTONBOARD

Cartonboard — new market organisation

and improved productivity

' Cartonboard manufactures coated liquid ; The cartonboard market improved progressively through the
. . year, with demand increasing gradually on the majority of
packaging board and packaglng poard Cartonboard's markets.
intended mainly for drinks and solid foods; Efforts to deliver increased production volumes to strategic
0 . ‘ customers have continued, with volume growth of 30% achieved
92% of output is exported. in the prioritised customer segments. A gradual reduction has

occurred in smaller or non-strategic segments.
The liquid packaging board market saw a temporary down-,
Cartonboard’s operations encompass the integrated pulp and turn in the summer, the consequence of reduced drinks
cartonboard mill at Frévi, Sweden, as well as sales offices in consumption. However, in full-year terms, both order bookings
several European countries. The Frovi cartonboard machine is one  and liquid packaging board deliveries progressed positively.
of the world's largest with annual capacity of 350,000 tonnes.

Prices
@ Operations in 2000 Rising demand enabled modest price increases.
Profit ‘ .
Operating profit rose by MSEK 89 to MSEK 100, mainly the resuit Production
of expanded volumes, more efficient production and reduced The expansion and retrofit of the pulp mill and cartonboard
costs. . machine have crested a solid foundation for growth and

B

Packaging board that is entirely neutral in
terms of taste and odour is well suited to
packaging various types of food: packaging

for Triumph ice cream desserts is an example of
the- end-products constructed from ‘Frovi Light'.
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CARTONBOARD

enhanced profitability. In 2000, efforts were focused on realising
those possibilities created by Frovi's previous extensive invest-
ments. These efforts are targeted on effective customer service
and improved prospects of developing and manufacturing
products with high customer values.

The business unit enhanced capacity and efficiency un-
remittingly through the year, although it was not possible to fuily
exploit the expanded capacity early in the year, and accordingly,
some production downtime was taken in this period. Frovi has
also produced reduced quantities of white-top liner from time to
time, implying less financial pay-off from production resources.

& Market and competitive conditions
The total European market for cartonboard amounted to some
5.5 million tonnes, with growth of approximately 4-5% in the

" year, although the Cartonboard business unit has achieved higher
growth.

Cartonboard manufactures high value-added products from
virgin fibre. The market for these products is approximately half
of total European cartonboard consumption. tiquid packaging
board represents over 1.1 million tonnes of total consumption in
a segment harbouring a cluster of players dominated by Tetra
Pak.

Consumption of packaging board is 3.9 million tonnes, 30%
of which is in the segments Cartonbeard serves. This market

encompasses an array of conversion corporations, which
manufacture and sell packages to end-users, i.e. producers of
frozen and dried foods, chocolate and confectionery, as well
as pharmaceuticals.

Europe’s eight largest cartonboard producers control an
aggregate 92% of the market, although progress towards still
more concentration and globalisation at the producer and
conversion level is underway.

Meanwhile, fewer, larger customers mean increased
competition; the sector is attempting to create new and
stronger strategic constellations. h

B Environmental initiatives

AssiDomdn Frévi has ISO 14001 certification, and has been
EMAS registered, since 1996. Operations in the year fully
observed legislated requirements and existing permits.

Several years’ experience of environmental management
systems has resulted in a well-organised and well-structured
approach to environmental initiatives, with issues relating to
indoor environments and quality pursued in a similar manner.

For 2000, environmental objectives included measures to
conserve resources -~ reducing the sulphate mill's electricity
consumption. by 8% per produced tonne of pulp, while also
achieving a 10% reduction in the cartonboard machine’s steam
consumption per ton of production.

Improvements in terms of emissions to
air and water have also been achieved;
improved bio-fuel quality has meant both
the utilisation of fossil fuels and emissions
of acid-forming substances to air reducing,
while oil consumption was cut by 35%
from 1999 levels.

AssiDoman Cartonboard has continued
its efforts to optimize the purification of
waste water in its biclogical treatment
plant, resuiting in a reduction of some 10%
in the emission of oxygen-demanding
substances per tonne of cartonbeard
produced since 1999.

An overall investigation into potential
land contamination in the area around the -
facility was undertaken, although the
results did not imply any decontamination
measures being taken. Complementary-
geological and hydrological investigations
will be performed in the land-fill zone.

Several projects are being implemented
as part of the technological adaptation of
operations, for means including identifying
alternative applications for land-fill waste.

Pontus Andersson and Tapio Livanainen
{back to camera) taking samples from a
¢ylinder/tambur, which will be submitted
for quality control at the plant‘s laboratory.
A tambur weights some 50 tonnes and can
measure up to about 4 m across,



Lime siudge from land-fills is recycled as calcium substitute in
the lime kiln. The objective for 2000 was that 25% of the
caldium used in the lime sludge would be recycled from land-
fill, with the actual level achieved being 65%. Techniques for
land-filling in sorted cells have been introduced, with thereby
facilitating recycling.

More detailed information on Frovi's environmental
initiatives is available in the mill's EMAS report.

M Strategy and organisational resources

AssiDomdn Frovi is a prominent manufacturer of cartonboard
for customers with high standards on efficient packaging
solutions in terms of service levels and product guality
expressed as strength, purity and printability.

Increasingly, product development and marketing is
oriented on application-specific solutions. A revised, product
line-based organisational structure is part of this new
strategy, which puts customer and product tailoring in focus,
thereby enhancing Cartonboard’s prospects of satisfying
customer standards and expectations and developing product
concepts appropriate for each customer segment more
efficiently.

In order to sustain healthy growth, Cartonboard has
transferred from a geographically structured marketing
organisation to 3 matrix structure, this new structure based

~on three product lines, complemented with resources from
production and group resources.

This new organisational structure is based on strategically
selected customer and market segments; the product lines
‘embody proncunced specialisation on each end-user sphere.
Each product line assumes responsibility for its entire flows,
from development, production and sales to logistics,
customer service and profitabitity. ’

After only a few months, these revised working methods
have resulted in new business relations and new product
applications, in liquid and regular packaging board.

@ OQutlook

Cartonboard is expected 1o sustain robust performance in
2001, primarily through implementing is revised market
strategy, but also through sustained rationalisation
throughout its process flows. )




TIMBER

Timber - focusing on selected customers

assures quality and profitability

AssiDoman Timber pursues sawmilling operations including the production
and marketing of sawn timber. These activities also harbour processing into
fittings such as mouldings, panels, gluelam and shelving.

AssiDoman’s sawmilling-operations are pursued at seven units, Market and sales .
with processing at three units. The sawn goods are tailored The market for sawn timber progressed positively through
products for wood processing corporations and standardised the year, with brisk consumption on most markets. Some
products for building materials trade. deterioration was evident late in the year, due to unfavourable
All sawmills are tailored to wood type, implying the efficient climatic conditions, with rain and flooding hindering construction
utilisation of AssiDoman’s extensive proprietary raw material activity in markets including the UK, Spain and central Europe.
reserves. Sawn timber is mainly sourced from the group’s - Simuitaneous with firm demand, competition at the supplier
proprietary forest land, the majority comprising high-grade level intensified. Most players increased their output, while an
redwood. expanded influx of timber from the Baltic states and Russia”

arrived on many of Timber's key markets.
3 Operations in 2000

Profit ‘ . o Prices

Profit rose to MSEK 41, up MSEK 94 on 1999; Timber's turnover Redwood prices remained stable in the year, whilst whitewood
reduced to MSEK 2,369, due to operational divestitures of Hestra pricing saw a modest increase. Pricing levels deteriorated again
sawmill and Niab Hestra AB. late in the year.




Production
Production amounted to 1,191,000 m?, down 36,000 m?
on 1999; the reduction of whitewood volumes implied by
the divestment of the Hestra sawmill was partly offset by
increased redwood production. :

A series of profitability-enhancing projects were
implemented, including measures to increase the utilisation
of timber, and to raise sawmill capacity utilisation.

B Investments

The year featured normalised investment activity; log sorting
equipment at Ldvholmen were initiated, an investment
totalling MSEK 44. Total business area investments in the
year were some MSEK 70, the main constituent being
increased kilning capacity.

‘M Market and competitive position

The global market for sawn timber amounts to some 500
_million m?, with the highest volumes produced in North.
America and Scandinavia. Europe and Japan are the main
markets for Scandinavian producers.

Europe is Timber's main market; the continent consumes
some 70 million m? of timber, 40% comprising construction
materials. Timber for constructing furniture, windows, doors
and floors - the "appearance segment’ - comgrises 30% of
European consumption. Timber's market share in these
segments is approximately 7%.

The Scandinavian sawmifl sector is distinctly fragmented,
which highiights the importance of restructuring this

" business, particularly integrated sawmilling. AssiDoman’s
ambition is to be a leader in this process.

8 Environmental initiatives -

Swedish environmental legislation stipulates that sawmiliing
and wood processing facilities require permits. In 2000, all
operations were pursued observing existing permits, with
the exception of a few cases of non-compliance, where the
requisite remedial measures have been undertaken.

All sawmills have 1SO 14001 certification, while four saw-
mills aiso have EMAS-registered environmental management
systems. All facilities apart from one sawmill are also
certified according to the FSC’s Chain of Custody.

Energy production has been outsourced to utilities
at severa! sawmills, as have log handling and truck
maintenance. These measures will result in the realign-
ment of environmental management systems.

During the year, environmental initiatives were focused
on rationalising electricity consumption, reducing the noise
from operations and processing emissions of leachates from
timber watering. Noise has the highest priority as an
environmental issue, both at present and in the future.

The business unit has well-established waste sorting
routines, while efforts to identify alternative applications for
the various waste types currently land-filled are in hand.

More information regarding environmental initiatives at
Lévholmen, Seskard, Mald and Kvarnasen is available in the
EMAS report from Nord Trd AB.
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TIMBER

Strategy and organisational sources
Timber's strategy is to concentrate on markets in stable
economic growth ~ where high product quality is significant,
and where Timber enjoys the prospects of growth to secure 3
strong position. Europe and Japan are prioritised markets.
Timber is focusing on selected customer groups such as
building materials trade, the furniture industry and producers of
fittings such as windows, doors and flooring. At present, over
80% of sales are made to selected markets and customers; the
strategic focus also implies the concentration of production on a
limited number of products, and 10 fewer, specialised production

“units. Thereby, Timber will be able to utilise its production and

organisational resources efficiently.

Timber implemented a new organisational structure during
the year, with the intention of creating more market and
customer-oriented operations. Timber divided activities into
four market regions ~ Scandinavia, Central Europe and Japan,

UK/Spain/italy, and the Mediterranean countries (including North
Africa). The sawmills are organised into the new structure
through three supply units, with responsibility for optimising
product flows and production resources. Two of the supply units
- Norr and Bergslagen - concentrate on redwood, while the
whitewood supply unit optimises these goods flows at Hasselfors
Trd. :

Tailored training initiatives for sales professionals were
implemented in the year as an element of Timber’s focus on
selected markets and customers. Dedicated customer days were
also undertaken at all sawmills, where production personnel
met customers and discussed their needs.

# Outloak

No dramatic changes are expected in 2001, with sustained
firm demand anticipated on key markets.. Continued intense
competition is expected to feature on the supply side.

Redwood timber heading to
the Skinnskatteberg sawmill
subsequent 1o size sorting
and debarking.



Forestry — rationalised raw materials

flow_s cut customer lead-times and costs

AssiDomén Forestry manages the group’s forest assets; this
business unit’s assignment is to generate the maximum possible
returns and ensure the right conditions for favourable raw
material supplies to the group’s industrial operations, by

focusing on growth, forest management and the environment.

& Operations in 2000

Profit

Operating profit reduced by MSEK 158 to MSEK 890, a down-
turn due primarily to the spin-off of Sveaskog, which generated
profits of MSEK 100 in 1999.

Market and’sales ‘

in overall terms, the supply/demand balance was favourable for
most of the year, although in early 2000, significant excess
supply, mainly of timber, was evident, in southern Sweden. This
supply glut was a consequence of trees felled by storms in the
fourth quarter of 1999.

The volume of AssiDoman timber felled by storms is estimated

at approximately 300,000 smub.

" Prices

Prices remained stable for much of 2000, with some players
increasing pulpwood prices late in the year, although this exerted
no notable influence on market conditions.

Land transactions
Some 15,000 ha of forest land was divested during the year, -of
which 8,080 ha was productive. The larger transactions included
Akers kronopark, of some 4,000 ha and 1,50C ha forest land in
the Municipality of Klippan. .

AssiDomdn forestry acquired 3,960 ha of productive forest
land including extensive reserves in the Swedish province of
Gdstrikland from Sandvik AB.

Production .

AssiDoman’s harvesting of its proprietary reserves was slightly
higher than in 1999, which was consistent with plans. Supplies
increased by 86,000 sm’ub, or 2%, in the year, with half of this
increase through reducing inventories-by roadways.

The reduction of surplus value in the harvesting of proprietary
forest as a consequence of timber price growth was partly offset
by reduced costs. ’

Enhanced in-house monitoring and updates of operations has
improved the quality of forest management. The corresponding
routines are also being introduced in Forestry's harvesting and
ecology activities. An expanded programme of roadway
construction and preparatory planning zhead of harvesting is
rationalising raw materials flows and reducing Wood Supply’s

FORESTRY
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costs - particularly significant in the light of the extreme
climatic conditions of recent years.

A business development project has been initiated with the
intention of creating more clearly defined business relationships
between Forestry and its industrial customers. This project is also
intended to develop efficient systems for selling standing forests.

B Market and competitive conditions

The Swedish forestry industry consumed some 65 million sm*ub
of wood raw material in 2000. The sawmill, pulp and paper
industries are increasing consumption by an annual average of
2%. The Swedish forest products industry is tending towards



FORESTRY

increasing imports, particularly sawn timber from Russia and the
Baltic states.

B Environmental initiatives

AssiDoman’s Forestry cperation has had an certified environ-
mental management system since 1998, A business area re-
organisation in 1999 resuited in the system being consolidated
into two certificates, for northern and southern operational
regions.

The objective of the environmental initiatives is to preserve
the-bio-diversity of forest reserves, and to reduce the con-
sumption of fossil fuels in harvesting and transportation.

A number of complaints, incidents and non-comgpliance with
FSC criteria arose in the year; these issues are being processed
through remedial measures within the auspices of the environ-
mental management system.

AssiDomén had assigned high priority to site-adapting its
operations and nature conservation before FSC-related efforts
began. At present, the entire group’s forestry operations and
holdings are FSC-certified, which unequivocally corraborates the
fact that AssiDoman pursues sustainable forestry that must
always satisfy demanding environmental standards. But FSC-
labelled products offer access to environmentally conscious
markets, consolidating AssiDoméan’s market position.
® Nursery environmental management systems operated by
‘ ‘ AssiDoman have been certified since 1998; environmental
initiatives are focused on reducing emissions, mainly of nitrogen,
Considering expected environmental requlatory standards, the
reduction of chemicals consumption of operations is a prioritised
issue.

B Strategy and organisational resources

L AssiDomadn’s 2.4 million hectares of productive forest land is
concentrated on three Swedish regions - the coasts of northern
Norrland, Bergslagen and Gotaland - and almost exclusively, this
is high-yielding forest,

In preparation for the incorparaticn of a pure forest land-
owning corporation, AssiDoman has highlighted and written up
the long-term value of these assets by MSEK 13,340 to MSEK

@ . 17,500.

From an operational perspective, the forest holdings have a
favourable geographical structure and location, and accordingly,
Forestry has modified its strategy and created opportunities for
increased trading in forest land, focused on a business-oriented
approach instead of the former geographical orientation.

A pure forest land-owning cerporation would have the
preconditions for stable long-term returns and high margins.
AssiDomdn’s broad-based experience and substantial forest
management competencies constitute a growth opportunity in
Sweden and internationally.

Forestry has functioned through an organisational structure
modified to conform to its revised strategy since 1999,
concentrating on'its core business - forest management from
nursery and regeneration to the planning and sale of felling
rights, land transactions and hunting and fishing permits.

#® Outlook )

In 2001, operations will be gradually oriented on plans ahead of
the creation of an autonomous forest land-owning corporation;
more than previously, Forestry will be an active strategic and
commerdial player, proceeding from the scale of the forest
holding and competencies harboured within its organisational

- resqurces.

Wood Supply

Wood Supply manages the harvesting and supply of wood and
fibre raw materials, and apart from harvesting proprietary forest
reserves, these operations also encompass the purchase and
exchange of timber, pulpwood and chips, as well as timber
imports. A total of 5.2 million sm?ub was harvested in
AssiDoman’s proprietary forest reserves. The group’s industrial
operations consume approximately 9 million sm?ub of round
timber, chips and bio-fuel. :

@ Operations in 2000

Market

The demand for fibre raw materials was favourable throughout
the year, with Wood Supply providing a total of 12.8 million




sm’ub, 8.8 million smub of which was provided to
AssiDoman industrial operations and sawmills. Timber
volumes procured from AssiDoman forests amounted to 5.2
million sm*ub.

Unfavourable dimatic conditions late last year created
some problems, although supplies to industry were resolved
without any major disruptions; because of relatively stable
pricing, it was possible to maintain raw materials costs for
the industrial operations at a satisfactory leve!.

Prices

The paper and pulp industry’s favourable market conditions
elicited an upturn in pulpwood prices. Some excess supply of
redwood in southern Sweden did create localised price
pressure, although sawn timber prices in northern Swedish
regions remained stable.

Production
Harvesting totalled S.8 million sm?ub (internal and external
forests), of which 65% was final felling and 28% thinning.
Wood Supply embarked on a Supply Chain Management
(SCM) programme in the spring, intended to reduce capital
tied-up and production costs, to increase quality and shorten
lead-times. The first phase was focused on raw materials
flows, from harvesting to raw material inventories at mills. The
abjective of this programme is to halve the throughput time of
this flow; Wood Supply expects to achieve this objective
before the mid-point of 2001. Efforts to rationalise the flow
- from sawmill to customer also began in early 2001.

W Environmental initiatives .

.Wood Supply has 1SO 14001 certification. An internal council
- the Imported Timber Group - assigned to review. and
enhance purchasing policies, agreements and supplier
structures to enable responsible trading in timber imported
from Russia and the Baltic states, was formed during the year.
The group will also in the future promote the establishment of
FSC certification systems in these countries.

_In Sweden, smaller forest land owners can certify their
forestry operations according to FSC standards under the
auspices of an umbrella organisation, where Wood Supply is
responsible for group certification.

B Strategy and organisational resources
Wood Supply’s operational role and management structures
were realigned late in the year, with this realignment repealing
Wood Supply’s status as an autonomous business unit. The
consolidated accounting of its profits with the Forestry
business unit ceased, effective from 1 january 2001.
Controlling and management is effected through regional
boards ~ Wood Supply South and Narth. The intention here is
to tie aperations closer to raw material customers and end-
users - 1o the needs of industrial corporations, their customers
and markets. The regional boards will formulate raw materials
and market strategies; it will then be possible to define the
business relationship to the Forestry business unit more clearly.
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1 RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Localisation tailors

R&D to markets

AssiDomdn de-centralised R&D in 2000, with individual business areas

now responsible for these activities. The intention of this process was to

enhance efficiency by bringing R&D closer to business areas’ day-to-day

activities. The primary task of R&D activities is to contribute to the develop-

ment of products that create value-added for customers, contributing to

enhancing the group’s profitability and competitiveness.

Sharper competitiveness and enhanced profitability are central
concepts of these operations; in 2000, AssiDoman invested some
MSEK 230 in R&D.

N Sharper competitiveness ,
Apart from in-house projects associated with individual business
areas, R&D also encompasses external initiatives. The objective is
to gain access to new discoveries that can contribute to honing
the corporation’s competitiveness. The exchange of best practice
in external projects is mutual, so AssiDoman can work actively on
exerting an influence on various research environments.

At present, the most common form of external project is
research collaborations with universities and institutes of further

. education. For example, AssiDomin finances an associate

chemical technology professor at the Luled University of
Technology and an associate professor at the University of
Umead’s inorganic chemistry department. These academics, whose
work is divided between the corporation and their academic
institutions, are intended to function as links in the chain of
know-how and information between the worlds of research and
business. This distribution of input is intended to orient research
towards enhanced knowledge that is also beneficial to industry.
AssiDoman also incorporates this objective when managing
projects alongside the Universities of Technology at Lund and

Linkdping, and the University of Karlstad. -

AssiDomadn also collaborates on, and finances, a broad array
of projects with STFI, the Swedish forest products industry
technical research institute, the YKI surface chemistry institute
and Packforsk, the packaging sector research institute. One
project, a collaboration with YKI, will investigate enhanced water
resistance of liner and cartonboard grades.

Bl Choosing the right packaging is getting easier

One key R&D project in 2000 is centred on the optimisation of
cartonboard packaging; its intention was to develop a tool to
determine the stacking strength of various types of cartonboard
packaging. The tool is user-friendly, and intended to function as
a reference guide, while also considering the various needs of
the logistics chain. The tool recommends the appropriate

grammage in specific circumstances, with the user gaining a
simple means of comparing stacking methods, loading criteria
and altering the desired material compaosition of the selected
packaging. Accordingly, the tool offers support for optimal
packaging choices based on customer needs.

B Enhanced pulp capacity

Producing bleached pulp in closed systems offers several
advantages, one of the biggest gains being that the emissions
of oxygen-consuming substances reduces. However, closed
manufacturing processing systems are complex, with one
problem being returning washing fiquor upstream in the
bleaching process. However, AssiDoman Kraftliner and
Cartonboard have successfully developed processes to produce
bleached pulp in closed systems for several years. Their know-
how has increased, with capacity expanding as their expertise
has grown. Moreover, the quality of the produced pulp has been
enhanced, through means including introducing more washing
stages in the bleaching process.

Further investments were made in 2000, with production at
Frévi realigned to a fibre line with expanded capacity, simul-
taneous with the re-construction of the soda recovery boiler. The
result is-an 40,000 tonnes increase to production, implying total
current annual birchwood bleaching capacity of 125,000 tonnes.
The result is that the external procurement of bleached pulp has
reduced, lowering AssiDoman’s production costs.

¥ Competitive corrugated board packaging
AssiDomaén has developed new corrugated board packaging for
fish, to compete with plastic boxes; this new concept copes with
freezing and the transport of fresh fish by air or road, white also
satisfying fishery standards of stacking strength, damp resistance, .
recycling characteristics and environmental considerations. The
new box is recyclable and aiso offers a series of logistical
advantages ~ 8,000 empty boxes can be loaded on a single
truck, instead of 1,400 plastic equivalents.

The corrugated board box occupies just one-tenth of the
space necessary for plastic equivalents, facilitating handling and
storage at packing facilities and with end-customers.




Anna-Karin Berglind preparing experimental
cartonboard printing at the Frévi print laboratory.

% Improved, more efficient packages
Alongside food provider ICA, AssiDoman Kraftiiner has initiated

® the development of a new packaging management information
system, which encompasses 120-130 million transport packages
yearly. The objective is to improve the ergonomics of packaging,
while also revising packages to enhance the efficiency and quality
of day-to-day handling. This new system is intended to collate
and structure all information relating to packages throughout
the logistics chain, right from packaging production through
distributors, wholeszlers and on to store staff. The system is

® based on wholesale and retail staff reporting the problems they
encounter in terms of structures, stacking characteristics,
strength, opening characteristics or other'considerations. All
information will be collated in a database at ICA, then forming
part of the supporting data for ongoing enhancement efforts.

Competitive window products

® Timber specialises in supplying raw materials for visible wood
products such as flooring, walls, roofing and window products,
which is where the business area'’s R&D initiatives are focused. In
this context, the collaboration with the Danish window industry
- which has been intensified in recent years - is an example.
The most topical project is oriented on developing windows that
offer longer maintenance intervals, constituting a significant
competitive advantage. AssiDomdn has contributed knowledge

® of raw materials and sawing techniques, with the end result
being to put timber window frames in a stronger position,
recovering market shares from competing materials.

The patented fish box, peoduced in collaboration with Milje-
pack AS of Norway, may well revoiutionise an entire sectar.
The corrugated board box occupies less volume than plastic
equivalents, rationalising freighting, handling and sterage
at packing facilities and with customers.

8 A new philosophy in wooden housing construction '
AssiDomaén Timber is participating in a construction project
regarding timber apartment blocks; the first block, complete in
spring 2001, comprises 36 apartments on three storeys. Timber
not only supplied necessary materials, but also participated in the
entire project planning process, encompassing research based on
a genuinely novel approach. The new block incorporates a
wealth of exciting technological and practical solutions, creating
radical new ideas for the development of apartment blocks. The
commissioner for the building is the Vetenskapsstaden science
community in Stockholm, which will use the block for visiting
foreign researchers.

Heartwood with a pronounced environmental profile
Timber is also pursuing efforts in heartwood product develop-
ment; its objective is to create products from heartwood capable
of competing with impregnated wood products, with the biggest
application being outdoor carpentry. Heartwood's key advantage
is natural impregnation, and accordingly, any need for.chemicals,
necessary with artificial impregnation, is eliminated. This project,
which began in 2000, has been pursued in-collaboration with
major Swedish construction sector market players. One expected
effect is to alleviate the need for impregnated timber products.
Moareover, heartwood has an environmental image that
contributes to enhancing the construction players’ customer
orientation.



HUMAN RESQURCES AND SKILLS ENHANCEMENT

Concentrating on people is

- concentrating on profitability
- Human resources and skills enhancement is an integral f
° element of AssiDomén’s over-arching efficiency and

profifability objectives:.




at the groups Busmes School during the académic year.This. N
course blends theary: and practlcal studies, with content oriented
. towards courses.intended to enthance the effrcnency and growth .

- of Aseroman s aperations.. Pa rpants also garn an opportumty
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The Youn Graduates Programme - mcreasmg moblhty
Collaborations with universities and institutes of further
educatron compnse a central element of AssiDoman’s long-term’
hlnng, wnth the corporatlon offering | mtemshrps and collabora-

ns on dlssertatsons to undergraduates AssiDoman runsa ..
Young Graduates Programme (YGF)-a group-wrde introduction

‘and training programme, — also part of the AssiDoman Leadership
: :Cotlege The YGP comprises seminars on subjects such as.

management and entrepreneurship, as weli:as cultural and

“'strategic issues. Some 170 graduates have participated in the
 Programme since its inception in 1995. The intention is to - ‘

increase employees” awareness of the group's various operations,
while the: YGP also_contributes to mability within the group’s

: vanous umts Approxrmately 25 trannees were on the. YGP Iast .




ASSIDOMAN'S SOCIETAL ROLE

Broader perspectives

AssiDomén’s operations exert an impact on
various parts of society generally - dialogue
between involved parties is important,
particularly in spheres such as the ecohomy,
the labour market and the environment, where
communication and collaboration are key
concepts. The intention. is to secure close

and long-term relationships in the world
surrounding AssiDomén.

Forward-looking environmental initiatives have become a central

part of AssiDoman’s.corporate image, while it makes substantial

efforts to promote awareness of the company and its operational
conditions.

_# Forestry - a sector of the future

AssiDoman participates in events including recruitment days and
various activities in order to increase awareness of the forestry
sector - and particularly of future job opportunities. Framtids-
resan {Journey to the Future) is a topical example of this type of
sector project, a one-day course in which natural sciences and
technology students participate. This course is a medium for
young forest products industry employees to communicate the
stimulating and educational assignments the sector can offer,

~ with efforts focused on spheres including the high-technology

and environmental features of the industry. This initiative also
includes an emphasis on chemistry teachers, offering a specific
course focused on issues and subjects related to the forest
products sector. This programme was launched in 1999, with
some 20,000 students and over 200 teachers participating.

Skogens Dagar (Forest Days), is a sector-wide initiative pursued
since 1994, offering information on the correlation between
plants and products from an ecological perspective. The target
group is intermediate and senior schoal students, with some
44,000 pupils participating in 2000. .

M Partnerships for ecologlcal and sustainable forestry
In 1998, AssiDoman secured a partnership with the WWF (world
Wildlife Fund), the idea being to promote the achievement of
ecologically sustainable forestry, through means including ex-
tending the market for FSC-labelled products. This international
environmental standard assures responsible and ecological
forestry. AssiDoman has been a prominent player on the market
for these products for many years. The WWF collaboration has a
three-fold focus, with participants active in spreading awareness
of FSC and environmentally labelled products among market
players, primarily processing corporations, purchasing groups and
consumers. The second focus is the EU, with participants
attempting to improve the information on FSC that polmcxans
and decision-makers receive. The third implies parties acting to
harmonise and imprave comparability between the various
forestry standards now present on the European market.
Knowledge of FSC has increased since this collaboration

"began, notably because of the raised publicity the standard has

attracted. The exchange of best practice has also improved
through expos and seminars that AssiDoman and the WWF
regularly participate in. The collaboration implies AssiDoman’s
environmental image being underscored in a further context. In
its current form, this collaboration will continue until the mid-
point of 2001.

# Forests — for recreation and enjoying life

AssiDoman’s operations emphasise the economic potential of
forests, but because this enviranment is also associated with rec-
reation and enjoying life, the corporation also concentrates on
promoting these additional opportunities, Swedish legislation
governing the right of free access implies free movement across
forest land - open access for picking wild mushrooms or just for
experiencing this beautiful, inspiring environment. Sport fishing
and hunting are also available on AssiDomén forest reserves.
AssiDoman is striving to increase awareness of, and access 1o, its
forest land, with communication being central in this context.
Accordingly, the corporation has produced Ut i skogen (Outin
the Forest), a practical, informative pocketbook, dealing with the
cycles of nature, flora and fauna species but also information on
the history of forests and contemporary forestry. Some 50,000
copies of this publication are yearly distributed to schools, non-
profit organisations and private individuals.

M Reduced land-filling

The majority of waste from energy generation and pulp
manufacture is sourced from forests; AssiDoman Kraftliner is
participating in the V&g i Norr (Northern Roads) project, whose
intention is to reduce the land-filling of waste - and additionally
increase the utilisation of resources. The objective is to be able to



use the industrial waste from forest products to replace
traditional road construction materials. Moreover, using this type
of waste implies that the extraction and use of virgin material
such as gravel and stones may be reduced. Apart from
AssiDomén Kraftliner, the Swedish National Roads Administra-

- tion, utility Vattenfall AB, Billerud Karisborg and SCA Munksund
are all participating. Laboratory quality testing of waste has been
underway for some time, with road-section testing with various
types of composites being constructed through 2001 and
stretches of road evaluated subsequently. The resuiting materials
and environmental effects will be studied through a sampling
programme, '

B Regional environmental network

In 2000, AssiDomdn Dansk Kraftemballage was awarded a
diploma from Green Network, a collaboration between the
authorities, corporations and institutions on Jutland, Denmark.
The Green Network, a regional project pursued under the
auspices of Agenda 21, has over 220 members; its over-arching
objective is ta support members in their efforts to reduce their
environmental impact. A proprietary environmental concept,
which necessitates members developing an environmental policy,”
defines environmental objectives; the members have a concrete
plan of action for pursuing environmental initiatives at their dis-
posal. The concept has distinct similarities with the environmental
management systems implemented through many corporations
and sectors, and thereby, Dansk Kraftemballage has made
considerable progress in establishing an certified environmental
management system through its participation in Green Network.

ASSIDOMAN'S SOCIETAL ROLE"

AssiDomdn is striving to increase o
L - o CE L
awareness of, and access to, its’ ,,

" forest land.

®| An internal environmental council for the Eastern states
Environmental considerations are central in AssiDomén’s
relationships with customers and business partners, with timber
imports from the Baltic states and Russia a definitive example

in this context.

The Import Timber Group is an internal council assigned to
review and enhance purchasing policies, contracts and supplier
structure. A dedicated environmental policy applying to wood
imports has also been produced, with the group’s efforts
creating the framework for responsible trading in timber frem
the Baltic states and Russia. Alongside the Import Timber Group,
AssiDoman will also support the introduction of certification
systems in these regions, under the auspices of systems such
as FSC.

@ Uniting environmental and economic progress
AssiDoman has been a constituent of the Dow Jones

* Sustainability Group Indexes since 1999. This index encompasses
. corporations that have demonstrated their ability to integrate

financial, social and environmental objectives in their operations.
The index operates as a support for analysts, investors and other
financial market players, with some 2,000 corporations screened
in this year’s selection process; just over 10_% became index
constituents. The screening included some 30 forest products
groups; AssiDomén was one of only four such corporations that
became index constituents.
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-~ Technology & Environ-

. -performs this task:

. close collaboration

" with environmental

managers and pro-
fessionals at individual

~facilities.

_AssiDomén's Envl'ronmenta/ Policy stipulates the group
© actively strlwng for stistainable progress. The fact that

' 'envrronmental efforts are rntegrated into day—to day bu /ness

s busmessl/ke terms and cost effrcrent/y

: ‘Ass:Doman S envrronmental initiatives are an.element of rts day-

: obJectrves for AssiDomaén’s contrnuous rmprovement Overall
" these efforts are; expected to generate envnron' ental enhance-
o ments, as. well: as srgnrfrcant efﬂcrency gains &

,mental controllers rmplymg that any p _ev al hortcomrngs are
o revealed and rectrfled srmultaneo
The Corporate Envrronmental Counil, an advrsory envrronmental -

.During the year, AssiDoman rmplemented Quepass (qualrty

.customers’ demands for high enwronmental quality in’ processes‘_ )

ment to support busi- : ‘

turnover were subject to envrronmental management syste ms:
:14001,-and in certain cases
37 December 2000. The

- ‘pulp and paper mill at
_Lecoursonnois, France, and
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©:also assures that enwronmenta/ /n/t/at/ves are pursued on "

l Envrronmental management
to- day business, and accordrngly, working accordrng'to environ-
mental management systemsis an obvrous ong- -tefm and.
central investment for. the Group. Several years expenence

_garnered from envrronmental management systems:has demon-

strated their excellent surtabtllty for AssiDoman’s forestry business
and its small or large manufacturing facilities.: Environmental
management systems encompass a thorough systematrc review

of internal arganisational resources and establrsh envnronmental v

avmgs :
“To be able to achreve the establrshed Bjective envi

any

its envrronmental management system §. =~ and to “assure- hlgh
environmental quality from all busmesses iinked to the Group. .

environment-product safety-assessment) Group-wrde for.
evaluating its business | partners, allowmg AssiDomén to satlsfy .

and products. ‘
Operations generatrng 67% (64%) of consohdated ne

ertified according to ISO

egistered on-EMAS, as of

Taking.a holistic view

of environmental issues -
several of Corrugated's )
facilities, are scheduted to

receive certification in the
first half-year 2001,

is a natural element of
AssiDomain’'s business

development
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“Environmental key ratios and accounting
,‘The remalnmg key ratlos measu use of re_ovurces and

) ln order to be sure AssnDoman |s progressmg in. the nght : _3» : flnanclal terms AssnDoman has adopted the methodology used i
' dlrectlon and mamtarnmg a reasonable fate, the group has . in Sweden S N ’ 1onal Accounts 0.¢ m‘pare key. ratios relatmg t
»»-formulated key ratio. for busrness in. these areas. Efforts to~. & vvalue-added proceedmg ‘from. 1995, It is then’ possible to -

g momtor progress are based on extensrve environmental statistics compare values from ind ‘ldual years in flxed “price terms;- w:th :
' _from all group operatlons The |mplementat|on of these key accordmgly, the'value- added "actuals for 1999 and 2000 adyusted
ratlo was initiated at unit leve! throughout the group which?. .-~ " bythe producer price mdlces for pulp; paper, paper products and

woad products industries for these years.
The. table |llustrates AssuDoman s objectives. in its pnontlsed
‘ duced for sustalnable

: . eventually, will lead to the formulation of quantitative objectives
for each key ratios. i fthese key ratlos constltut o

Prioritised Areas and Key ratios " : 2000 1999
Group Objectives '

Envirc ! gement systems
* No later than year-end 2001 all units to Operations with certified/registered environmental
have started introducing environmental management system, % of the group’s net turnover 67 64

management systems

Products .
« Manufacture praducts with less use of resources Conversion plants - land-filled and hazardous waste in
and environmental impact relatian to the total volume of input raw materials, % 0.5 0.7

Ecocycle compatibility

» Increase the proportion of rerewable resaurces Proportion of renewable raw matenials in AssiDoman’s products, 98 ) 97
used excl, water, %
iesi f ) - 107 1463

* Reduce emissions of greenhouse gases €O, equivalentsvalue-added?, fossil CO/SEK

Energy use .

 Use energy more efficiently Total fuel consumptionivalue-added, MYSEK 43 5.3%
Total use of electricityvalue-added, kWH/SEK : 0.26 0.32%

« Increase use of bio-fuels Bio-fuel propartion of total fuel requirements, % 67 63
Bio-fuel proportion of Swedish pulp and paper mills’ fuel
requirements, % 86 83

Acid-forming emissions

* Reduce acid-forming emissions Acid-forming equivalentsivalue-added, g SO,/SEK 087 1.18%

= "Make transport more efficient Emissions of sulphur dioxide, g SOy/tanne-km 0.128 0.131
Emigsions of nitrogen oxides, g NOy/tonne-km ~ ~ 0.405 0.419

Land and water
* Obtain information abeut and if necessary Not available . See page 49
decontaminate polluted land

« Reduce emissions tc water Reported at plant level " : See pages 49, 52-53
Forestry .
) v * 100% FSC-certified forestry Praportion of FSC-certified forestry, area group forests, % 100 100
o o « Guarantee sustainable forestry and biodiversity - Grade according to ecological balance sheet See page 50 See page 50
Harvesting in relation to growth in group's own forests,
incl. forest nat under cultivation, % n 68
Area given special consideration for nature conservation reasons, % 19 19

1) From nursery to custorier lncludrng (ranspons : :
2) Value-added is operating profit before depreciation excluding salary costs expressad in fixed prices as of 1995, ln 2000
value-added for the group (excludlng units dsvested to Frantschach in 2000) was. MSEK 8,570, or MSEK S, 191 in flxed prlces ’
© 3 Amended srnce 1999 : :




l Comments on envrronmental key ratlos_

. Sustarnab/e deve/opment L o i .
Aseromans products are to 98% compnse of renewable raw

- cycle wrth favourable long term prospects of progressrng on our
“markets.
" AssiDomdn’s supply of. energy is also largely based on re-
newable resources wrth bao-fuels comprrsrng 67% of total fuel

- AssnDomans forestry perations in its propnetary reserves
have been certrfred accordlng to. FSC. pnncrples for sustainable
S - forestry. since 1998. Nearly.40% of the wood Used as raw

e jmatenals for AssiDoman’s pulp, paper and'sawmills is sourced

o from proprietary forest reserves, implying ‘that the total share of
FSC-standard raw materials is at least this level. In- 2000 71% of
the growth in Aseroman 's forest land: was harvested, and.:
ccordmgly, trmber reserves are rncreasmg con nuously he’

o ‘Aseroman monrtors its energy efflcrency through the.
o relatronshrp between the cansumption: of fuels and electncal
. “energy and its value~added with both thesé key ratios revealrng
a 20%: reduction. The reduced fuel consumption: is-a conse- -
uence of the efforts taken through the year to-reduce the
umption of fossil fuels.. The emrss' fossil carbon’..
‘dioxide; expressed in CO; equivalen
Aanother measure of the envrronmental efficiency of Aseroman H
-supply of fuel, and since 1999, this’ key frgure has reduced by
©25% - a vital result, because reduced:

- . gases are an jmperative. _ '

consumption ~ AssiDomén-collates the acid-forming qualities of

_sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxides in a'single measure: .
" acidification equivalents, whlch express environmental effrcrency
when sét |n relatron to value added Aseroman has also

'rnmal Ievel ‘o only O 5% _

- consequence of the efforts AssiDomén has made within the
e framework of its environmental management systems. By year-
end 2000, AssiDomén had rmplemen_ted_ certified/registered
environmental management systems‘ at facilities with business
® generating 67% of the group‘s net turnove'r. '

8 Environmental accountmg data

In the |ate-1990s, the group:m: de xtensrve investments in rts
operations,.a substantial propo of. whrch compnsed
envrronmental measures The need for- excluslvefy envrronmental

: vAseroman s proprietary. bio-fuels (hquors and by- products) used

* value, which-expressed.i
;:':MSEK 1,300, )

_ V_Environmental-'e_cono'mi'c data
. MSEK i
- Environmental investments?®

Water costs” .
".vSales revenues from by products”

) Aseroman excludrng Dynés Sepap Sacks and Barrier Coatin
' 2) AssiDoman including Dynds,. Sepap Sacks and Barrler Coatlng

L8 _Arnended,smce 1999_ o

q to Value addEd IS <) Land-fill tax was xntroduced

.9 !n:iudlng sawdust chrps tall oal turpennne and recy:ied.pape

. Acid-forming emissions are basrcally a: consequence of energy i
" Environmental initiatives consolrdate AssiDoman ﬁnancrally in

n'many:cases, those enhancements achreved in the year are‘a mental’ mrtratrves should also be included under. value-added

* by combining financial opportunrtles with a responsrble'vrew of
' envrronmental and human resources issues,.

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

measures has graduafly reduced, compnsrng 4% (5 (s %) of total

.-|nvestments in 2000. However, the majorrty of mvestments
|mplemented also imply environmental garns meanrng that the
actua( share of environmental- investments |s far higher, The use
of fossil fuels in 2000 reduced across aif the groups mrHs from "
1999 levels, resulting in reduced direct. and- mdrrect costs express”
sed as taxes and surcharges. Sustained energy ratronalrsatron
efforts will produce further profitability enhancements

iIn its processes at pulp; paper and sawmr!ls represent a sizeable

00" 1999%
26580

Envrronmental costs : N
. Deprecratlon"of environmental rnvestmens operatlng costs‘

3) Environmental investments,

) 4) In.2000, environmental, mvestments represented 4% of total thrs share i

estimated at 18%. for 1994—

6): European collection system

8) Excluding envrronmental taxatlon and surcharges for eml on

B The value- added from enwronmental mrtlatlves )

several respects. They increase’ AssiDoman’s strategic values * . |
embodied as assets in ecologlcally sustainable forest,. compe- .

" tencies and external confidence in the corporation:- Environ-

: mental initiatives also contribute to products’ value- ddded, and
“AssiDomén’s market positioning. However, separatmg such.

: envrronmental values from other prrce-sensmve factors has

proved problematlc
; - External interested partres valuatrons o 1 e groups envrron-
which is very hard to quantify. One example in this context is
AssiDoman becoming a constituent in several environmentally
oriented mutual funds offered by banks and other financial
institutions, necessitating the group satisfying a lengthy series
of environmental criteria,

For the second consecutive year, AssiDomén became a
constituent of the Dow Jones Sustainability Group Indexes, a Iist
of the world’s best corporations:in terms of achieving objectives
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| Prod_uclrs

qualrt/es' F Aseroman s products must encompass

thelr ent/re /rfe cycles, from the extractron of raw matena/s to frna/ waste

s management To satlsﬁy the resultmg standards itis necessary to wew the

: products in a holrstrc perspect/ve effectively rntegratrng enwronmenta/
L performance commercral consrderatrons and product development e

T‘ne envrronment' sooety constltutes a.frame of reference for
Aseroman S produ s, rmplymg that largely. thelr competltrveness N
s linked to environmerital profiles, expressed through measures -
uch as the conservatlon o esources and renewabrlrty Because
llv A55|Domans products 'woo'd.‘ ased thelr envrronmental

5 optrmally to satlsfy functronal requrrements and customers
;wrshes Within: Corrugated, somé 55% of all corrugated boad

* “packaging is manufactured from recycled fibire; with 98% of the

: jgroups aggregate product output compnsmg renewable raw

s materlals '

lymg on:its markets.
ment:and fmancmg

actrvrtres Assi oman lnaugurated'and partrcrpated in through
2000, which mcluded 3 sector conference in London focusrng on
FSC - an international envrronmental standard guaranteeing
ecologrcal forestry, and |ts semmar "The Packagmg Challenge
in Hanover, Germany. . L
Corrugated board _ackagmg offers a wealth of advantages in.
terms of ‘environment ses:
fibre = an entlrely [{ ey
recycllng is atveryrhigh evels averaglng ‘Soma- 75°/ on European
markets, and 84% i Sweden. Recycled fipre Ifrorn corrugate‘
_ board packagmg can also be returned to the paper cycler many
times over. o

n Focusing on efficient packaging management.

Packages must also satisfy a series of practical demands

- protecting goods and also facilitating handling and enabling
transports with minimat environmental impact. Moreover,
packaging must also constitute a base for informing consumers
and other interested parties, thereby becoming a key element of

GREENsystem‘ i
packagmg concepts b
grade and packaging. that is constructed on a modular basis.
The result is a complete col 'ept compnslng strong, lightweight
packages that-ar _to handle and transport:

mque caorrugated board

a2
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communlcatro with market‘ Packagxng ' ufﬁ ) ) u Tmber advancmg posmons
haractenstrcs regarding openrng stackrng and their ability .._':FSC-certrfled forestry fias been an integrated. element ;
lfor modrfrcatlon accordlng to’ customers’ varyrng needs i e AssiDomdn’s operatlons for some years:-The groups sawmills

are afso- srgnrflcant competitive factors. : and wood processung {nits manufacture and market FSC-labelled
S ~ Packages must be suffrcrently strong to protect therr contents v products in several European markets. Market pIayers have
® - " anid must also be resistant to damp tow and hrgh temperatures. . exhibited gradually increasing interest in FSC, and through active
7 Thisis particularly rmportant when transpomng food in instances | -lobbying, and modlfyrng progressively more of AssiDoman’ s
such as dlsaster recovery and when transportrng goodsiin internal operatrons to conform to these standards, the
countries with’ extreme climates or. poor mfrastructure Thus " corporation rntends to mcrease lts FSC labelled product
‘;'packagmg serves an'ir'nportant role in the supply of food world- ; market shares stnll f rther

o7, In the constru Aon market ‘ 1mber ompetes pnmanly with
plastlc concrete steel an plaster products However wood

' ‘rde This is. one sphere where ‘much’ wor ‘,remams 10 be done,
uch as. the exchange of best pr ctrces m packagmg and related

echnology Research by the UN's World Food Councrl rndrcates
hat 30~50% _of food produce in developmg cournitries.is renewaole
5 :destroyed largely a consequence of rnadequate transport ' » .envrronmental rmpact throughout |ts llfe-cycl‘ Moreover tlmber b
".packagrng ~“.creates better indoor. envrronments than plastlc products for _'_"
y - : r;'example Certarn trmber products such as wmdow frames
[ Umque qualrtres ‘ : :
.. Corrugated’ board packagrng offers an array of unique qualmes i marntenance frequencres than several competmg matenals_ .
which when lntegrated create-a very competrtlve concept : Moreover txmber is.an undoubtedly aesthetlc materi

B Corrugated board-utilises materials very economlcally, |mplyrng
.the need an unusually small amount of: materlal to achreve

- mple because it.can be- punched f_ ded glued and pnnted ina
- ,_vanety of ways. The material can also. be lmpregnated with a’ :
- plastic surface, thereby confernng it wnth protectron against - 7 Timber 2000 has two parts a medra campaig

‘damp and water resistance. e UK public, and-a marketlng campaign- rntended for builders’

" Launched in 1998, GREENsystemfM is an example of merchants and lumber yards. Timber. 20005 over- archrng
AssiDomén’s successful packaging concepts, based on a unique objective is to increase the consumptron of wood products in
corrugated board grade, with boxes constructed in a modular - Europe by 3 million m? by 2005, - :

. _system. The result is a complete concept of strong lightweight
‘ packages that are easy fo handle and transport.
Clearly stated envrronmental |nformatron s a pro-
- gressrvely more |mportant competmve advantage and
'_ accordingly, environmental. product declaratlons area-
central’ element of: AssiDoman’s er vrronmental efforts.
Such statements provrde an overall rmpressxon ‘of the
. - envuronmental performance of any product, often as life-
o cycle analyses. The environmental product declaration
® for, say, paper packaging includes a presentation of the
package’s environmental lmpact from the nursery to the
manufacturing process. Four such envrronmental
. product declarations were produced in 2000, including
. those for AssiDoman’s kraftliner, fl -tnng and corrugated
“board products

Timber 2000 compnses two parts a.media campalg
targeted at the UK publlc. and a marketmg campargn
intended for bunlders merchants and lumber, yard




ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

‘Ecological cycles

The ecc ycle compatlb/lrty ] Aseroman 5 in 2000, 989 <97%) Of AssiDom
’ N renewable r 2 i .
_ Some 12% of total wood_ [faw material: used in Sweden is,
imported, and sourced mainly from the Baltic states and Russia

" During the year, AssiDomén formed an internal council, the”
. Import Timber Group, with the asygnment of reviewing and

. resources eases the aggregate enwronmental ~ improving purchasing pohc1es contracts and supplier structures,

to assure responsnble tradrng in trmber sourced from the Baltic

voperat/ons generates frnanc;al and enwron-

'-menta/ effects Reduced utr/rsatlon of

® resources and mcreased usage of renewable

rmpact wh/Ie srmultaneously, the productron

3-'pI'OCESS In many actrwtles 'becomes more

‘}AssxDoman makes its operatnons ecocycle compatlble by N 2
) .;f'creasmg its utilisation of renewable resources and. by manu- .
N facturmg products that consume less resources, with less :
. '»productron shrinkage and waste - the advantages are both
environmental and fmanoal Ui o
Overwhelmlngly AssnDoman S operatrons use renewable o

. e able to secure positive beneﬂts through
lnternal processmg enhancements returnmg materlals td

8,538,000

375,000 - Sorted waste from pulp and ! per mills is conmdered accord :
T - mg toits material and envrronmental characteristics. Examples of

Waste S . " promising potential inciude calcium-content material, which can
" function as a binding agent in grave! ASSIDoman partmpates in

‘Hazardous waste, tonne
. Land-frﬂ waste tonne

150,000

he volume of Iand fill and hazardous
" waste in relation 1o total mput raw matenals L
was only 0.5% (0 7%) in conversion facmtles :

AssiDoman Kraftliner is participating in the =~
“Vagi Norr' project; the intention is.to use :

. waste as.a replacement for canventlonal

. hlghway r.onstrumon materials. " -
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The fic,l__imatic fun ction of forests -

ant photosyntheS/ resufts in _the.bmdmg

”fcarbon d/ox/d n forests and the

ground termed a carbon sink, wh/ch is

® - et wtal for !lmmng the effect of greenhouse

- gas em/ssmns Internatlonal agreements

: g AssnDomén s
: Savmg energy or exchangmg energy sources from fossu fuel to manufmurms
blO fuel or from oil to fossil gas, are effective means of reducing’

B carbon dioxide emissions, and mmgatmg the enwronmental

- .consequences The effect of em|ssnons can also be I|m;ted

the’ socxety This addmonal COZ is central to the's

gomg debate regarding the limitation. emlssmns of greenhouse ‘

.gases, and emission trading. ] »

Mapping carbon flows in and out of AssiDoman’s operatlons S ‘mpl pa:be;,"pecka"‘g‘irig

" reveals that over 10% of the carbon bound up in input raw . 48 million tonnes

_ materials (AssiDomén’s harvesting; externally-purchased wood e ,‘:;:‘;’v‘;::::;:'- S

- and other fibre raw ‘materials).is bound in-sawn timber for - ' :

: ... 50-100 years. The next century wilbe critical to progress of the
_greenhouse effect. i

" . Bic-energy ..

4.2 miltion tonnes
Wood raw material -
residue combusted,

generatmg steam and
ectrlcal

wn nrnber
1_;1 miltion tonnes . .
rbon bound for -
: 50-100 years
ln wood constructions - -

" BINDING AND EMISSIONS OF CA R'BO,N'DIOXIDVE,VCOIz,ZZZOQOI Accordingly, these products should be con51dered as a'carl

JERE o <0 sink:
8inding of 1.8 million tonnes .. ‘Harvesting in AsgDoman '( 9 input raw materlals is
. COy fram offrer soureas < forestland o Some 45% of the carbon bound in inp
@ in the society 19%

6.9 millicn tonnes coz, : transferred to pulp and paper products for short periods of less
7% S “than ten years, and accordingly, such products cannot be
cons:dered as a sustainable carbon sink. - L
B Paper products are either recovered as. matenals or as energy i ;
after use. Nearly 45% of the carbon bound up'in input raw
materials is used as energy in pulp, paper-and sawn timber -
manufacturing processes. ' '
SR : ‘ . Biogenic carbon dioxide that is released when combusting
o theT;g{::’;: gwghrgﬁs?gﬂiz Zgz:est’l;: 2fv:ansni§t|“;cl)inwtht€vas paper products, and by extracting energy in various processes

" harvested, with the remainder harbouring the capacity to accumulate is again bound up in growmg forest land. i

" €O, from other‘squrces in the sodiety.

Binding of 1.0 million
... tonnes CO2 corresponding.
- to'AssiDoman’s emissions
of fossit COy, 10%
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inan overall perspectrve from nursery to customer - renewab/e

Energy

fuels are the foundatron of Aseroman s fuel supp}y

;_Of AssnDoman s total‘fuel needs 67% are satrsﬂed by renewable o Steam turbmes ut|||se back pressure power to generate electnca

fuels (blo-fue|s) whlch comprise forest fuels, ‘bark, black liquor, -+ energy’ in pulp and paper milfs, whrch inthe Swedish facilities,
i sawdust and tall onl used in pulp ‘and paper mills and sawmills:” . - - provide some 30% of energy. needs Thls is apparent in the -
) . _ '~ Moreover, that. proportlon of the wood raw material not trans- following tabIe illustrating energy consumptlon for Aseroman 5o
® . formedinto products is basically. used as energy in- production - Swedish condmons : L

- processes, rmplyrng that AssiDoman utilises resources efﬂcxently
' The_majonty of AssxDomans energy consumption - heat andi o

E Use of energy |n AssuDoman s
Swedish pulp and paper: mills:

 Bio-fuels T i
lnternally generated T
o Purchased, T):
: Fossit fuels, . T)
conditions. - e o ST Total fuels, T) - PR
- E Pulp and paper mills represent the majorrty of Aseromans o of which: for own eIectncrty productlon TJV RS K
total consuription of fossil fuels (ail, fossil gas and coal). Fossil - SR S L
fuels are mainly used as a support to bio-fuel-driven processesin . lntema"y generated dectncxty. Gwh i5a0

- the production of pulp-from virgin fibre, while recycled fibre mills - Purchased electricty. GWh Lo e 280
. ate almost entirely run on fossil fuels. At Aseroman s Kraftliner - 1012l use of slectriciy GWh o e e

through outsourcing, implymg the mrlls sellmg Bio-fuels to and
tpurchasmg heating from, the energy provider. The collaboratlons :

. efficient measures.

- represent a financial and envrronmental symbiosis. . i N as envrronmental mana ment systems are |mplemented S
Corrugated's facilities have relatively modest energy needs. ..~ - ,reduced energy consumptnon has become an objective for more - -
compared to pulp and paper. mills; many of Corrugated’s : Lfacnhtres which. has also resulted in. the formulatlon of energy

‘conversion facilities use fossil.gas, whrch generates far lower "t savmgs plans '

C emrssrons than oil.

TOTAL FUEL-USE ... U.usE OF FossIL FUEL S USE OF ELE

Sawmills 1% Pulp and Swmils Bk . Pupand b
Forestry 3% ‘ -ggng mils Conversion 6% : purchased)
58%

Fossil fuels :Bio-fuezs
33% 57%

. Cbonversion
10%

. Transports 3%

L ] . Pulp and
E " Transports : paper mills ©
: 21% . . {own electricity
g — > productlon)
- 29%
® Total: 39.400. 7i Total: 13,000 T (20,000) Touk: 2360 GWh (3,330
The bio-fuels share has mcreased from 63% to AssiDoman’s pulp and paper miils consume the . Some 30% of total use of ele(tncuty is generated

67% since 1999. . : S . majority of AssiDoman’s fossil fuel needs. ) in pulp and paper milis.

The above flgures do'not include those units divested to Frantschach in 2000.
: anures in bra(kets are for AssiDoman overall in 1999 o G
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Adidification

Acidedrfning e’n‘)'/;s's'ionsvare sub‘s’ta'n.tes covntainxing
. sulphur, mamly sulphur dioxide, SOZ, and nitrogen
oxides, NOy. Sulphur arises when combust/ng fuels

o ol that contaln this: element such as oil, and when

manufacturlng pulp' ] /trogen ox:des are formed

n all types of combustion, and d

ng transports

-The vanous types of coal used at the Sturovo pulp and paper mlll
~area SIgnlflcant source of AssiDomin‘s S0, emussmns However,
since AssiDoman acquired this facility.in 1997, emissions of 50, -
per tonne of end- -product have been . cut by 60%, mainly the con- |
-sequence of efficient energy consumptlon rewsed fuel composn- :
. tion, and purlflcatlon equipment. : : o
[ NOX emissions.are fa harde to rectify' although SS|Doman has

er sswns Transfemng transports fromi ucks and shnps to rail,..

route runs in reased load factors and more pur»frcatxon qunpment

e on: hauhers vehncles and ships all gradually reduce emissions, -
AssiDoman’s Rail 99 transport system contnbuted to reducnng

. AssiDoman’s acid-forming emissions by a few percentage pomts

] through the year.

. When, planmng its forestry actwmes AssnDoman prioritises

. adaptations to the sensitivity of the chosen‘habltat to acidification -

i - because land usage can contnbute to the acidification of land

and water, -
.The key ratio applymg to the emission of acid-forming sub-- .

2 stances, addmcauon equwalents reiat‘on to group value-added

- was. O 87 9 502/SEK down by some 25% on 1999. :

SULPHUR DIOXIDE 502

NITROGEN OXIDES, NOx

(Forestry 0. 04%) . S
_— Sawmills 1% . - i pyyn and” Forestry 7% Sawmills 1%
o o . " paper mills .
. Co ] . Scnvgrsmnns%_ _615/': : Conversion 3%

Pulp and

. Tranéddrfs
C33%

Transports
49%

. h ) . Total: 3,180 tdn (5,180). . Total: 6,840 tonnes (9,870)

The share of AssnDoman H total SOz emissions generated . Transports generate some 50% of total NOy emissions.
by pulp and paper mills has reduced, largely a :onsequence
of all mills cutting their emissions heavnly

ove f:gures do not lndude those units divested to Frantschach in 2000. v '
2 Figures in. brackets are for Astoman overall in 1999,




I.ENVIYRONMENTAL REFORT

@
- . .Tra nsportatlon Transports are a wtal Irnk in ASS/Doman s operat/ons :t/VIth _
= e R ‘ substant/a/ drstances separat/ng manufactunng nrts"n
@ northern Sweden no’ European markets rmply g chall vng-
""" ‘ ing demands on eff/aent and envrronmenta/ 'transport
Aseroman has been pursumg group-wrde transport guidelfines : truck loads in close cotlaboratron wrth hauliers. Srm|lar|y ‘
® - since 1996, iwith:the overall.intention being to focus on w2 AssiDomén has: estabhshed objectives-for reducrng the emrssrons :

“measures. that are envrronmentally effrcrent measures that
: generate substant al envrronmental beneﬂts in relation to-cost.. ‘ oL e
- Apart from ratic nalising the group’s internal transport, ] Aseroman s demands contractors
-environmental activities must satisfy customer needs to develop " . Anew system ~ - AssiDoman: Quepass Tt force inthe
new packagmg systems for dlstrrbutrng goods such as foods. S year group-wide for 355‘355”'?9 the QA, envrronmental and
~ Rationalisation means increasing load factors, reducing empty. . product safeéty efforts of AssiDoman’s transport hauliers and
. -transports and identifying:suitable combinations of truck, rail.and - suppliers. This system is used group-wide, with the resuits of
.. ship transport - measures that most often, generate financial and  thesé assessments available for all facilities. The results enable
environmental benefits. Progress towards lightweight, strong and ~ AssiDomén to satrsfy customer demands f°" envrronmental
recyclable paper packaging is favourable to the distribution pro- transpoertation. ’ o
cess from an environmental Pperspective. In this context, paper

L packages are hrghlyr competmve compared to other matenals

from truck transports

L) Aseroman s transportatron rn 2000

Reduced envrronu ental lmpact ;
seromans Ratl 99 transport system ame rnto‘ orce in. autumn ’

L, tonne-krlometres the result of a mrgratron 1o ‘rail transport
e tand the ratronahsatron of transportat n.at several facrlrtres

i srzeable envrronmental garns in terrns of emissions of adid- _
e formmg sulphur dioxide and: nrtrogen oxrdes as well as reduced
~ use-of fossil fuels, and thereby, reduced emissions of fossil
- carbon dioxide. In its environmenta activities, Aseroman
g prioritises these issues.
The inauguration of the Oresu ‘
) ,Denmark implies further envrronmental gains for these transports
. —the first scheduled rail servrce to cross the Link was an '
.- AssiDoman goods train. Eachy year, AssiDoman will transport
~ some 800,000 tonnes: by rail across.the Link, replacing the
. previous ferry transports: The related emissions of nitrogen
oxides, carbon droxrde and carbon monoxrde have been vrrtually
" eliminated. . .
lncreasrng the share of rarl transports is an envrronmental
vobjectrve shared by several AssiDoman facilities. AssiDomén has
also formulated environmental objectives for reducing-empty * Excluding units divested to Frantschach in 2000.

‘ __r’fa né p_d rt.{

‘v&?
N e




ENVIRONMENTAL REFORT

o Land and Water - The conservation of land and water resources is a vital element
- o - of AssiDomén’s environmental /n/tlat/ves efforts that are focused

’ both on prevent/ng the unnecessary consumpt/on of resources

and to m/n/m/se pote tlal em:ss:ons to land an wate

f‘The emissions to water of organlc matertal, COop; nltrogen ( ) IR

. P The. group undertook mvestngatrons into the potentlal incidence  * and phosphorous (P) from group facilties have reduced, -
» of land contamination at its pulp and paper fadilities in the: year, measured per tonne of end- -product. As part. of its action for
" and into the risk that such contamination mrght arise through - - receiving permits for operations, Kraftliner is examining the
“ongoing opérations. AssiDoman took ¢ore and water table need and environmental benefit-of implementing additional
samples at several facilities. These mvestlgatlons have not - purification measures. In- house measures plus the consnstent
- revealéd anything rmplylng cost~mtensnve decontammatlon )

o . measures. e _ -
‘. TR Inrtxatwes to examlne ) resxdual envrronmental effects.

mumcrpallty of Ornskoldswk where the forest products mdustry
'corporatlon Neb = now AssiDoman Kraft Products AB < pursued
operations at sulphate and chlonne—alkall fac1l|t|es until- 1982 and
o _1994 respectxvely Aseroman Kraft Products is responsrble for
® potentnal decontammatlon measures. in the area surroundmg the
Lo H-‘now-closed chlorine-alkali facility: o o
-7+ Modest envrronmental aif leakages have occurred ata few
: facrlmes wrth AsSlDoman takmg remedlal .action-under.the--

A, mtal of 16 fish specnes .

. are present downstrad of
AssiDomén’s facility at. ‘Frovi
ncludmg zander. perch, eel

AssnDoman Corporate RlSk Management exammes the risk of -
- fire and major environmental acadents at the groups facilities on
" a yearly basis. The resuits of these etforts include all transformers .
containing PCB oils being removed throughout the group.

N Water
AssiDoman’s pulp and paper mrlls are rts ‘biggest consumers of
| . water, with 120 million m? consumed in the year. The reduction ..

-of. water consumption is prioritised. tmany facilities, although in

_..most. contexts, water. is not a critical resource in Sweden. At the "

;oA Frovi faolrty which i is s:tuated djacent to-water with low flow
", AssiDoman has taken internal va‘su s to reduce_}flow_s,‘an .. also contributed to reducing totaf emissions.
: ‘thereby the burden on its water. tréat ent ‘plant. i

7 AssiDomin undertakes timber watering at some sawmills
- The more limited access 1o, water ', contunental Europe means optimising its supply of water through climate control. Leachates
* that'water. consumption;is a: more’ pri msed issue. At Ania; ltaly

N .are.collected. and punﬂed before release to the surroundmg body‘ -
- AssiDoman is planning to close otf of parts of its water system of water.

:whlle the facility at Lecoursonnaais, “Frarice has been using an ‘ The water consumptlon of Corrugateds facilities has been
- aimost entirely sealed water system with muiti-stage treatment substantially reduced. Now, the majority of these facilities have

‘for several years. However, the circulating water did release waste water purification systems. This water is far more easy to

~odours into the surroundings = Ass:Doman has taken steps to treat than the waste water from pulp and paper mills.

resolve this problem.
"In the paper and pulp manufacturmg process wood fibres are : :

released by the naturat bindinga ligniin - being dissolved Emissions to water . 2000~ 1999

in water using chemicals. The- majority of the dissolved sub- €OD, tenne ..28.300 ° a2, 2800,

stances is used as energy, combusted in soda recovery boilers. CAOKTONR | oo e merseinee

The rémainder is captured in waste water, which at some Total N, tonne

fac1lmes is punfled externally. The necessary chem|cals are .

recycled in each facrlltys mternal systems _ * Exc. Dynés and Sepap.

' high performance of the purification facility at Frévi, have




R o s ‘ S R ENVIRONMENTAL REFQRT

' The conservation of Iand and water resources isa wta/ element

of Aseroman 5. enwronmenta/ /n/t/atrves efforts that are focused-‘, _

both on prevent/ng the unnecessary consump n of”e 'urces

" and to m/n/mlse potentla/ emtssrons to land and.water.

‘Wliand. S o The emissions to water of organic material, COD, nitrogen (N)*

® ‘ - The. group undertook mvestlgatrons into the potential incidence . and.phosphorous (P) from group facilities have reduced,
- ofland contarination at its pulp and paper facilities i the year, measured per tonne of end-product. As part of its action for

‘ _,and rnto the risk. that such; contamlnatron mlg_ht arise through

receiving permrts for operations, Kraftliner is examlnmg the

i of prevrous actlvmes at facrlltxes are now’ bemg undertaken by
*-the group’ and the authonttes These lnvestlgatrons revealed land
contamrnatron atthe Kopmanholmen Industnal Estate in the
' municipality of Ornsksldsvik, where the forest products industry”
corporation Neb ~ now AssiDomin Kraft Products AB ~ pursued
. operations. at sulphate and chlorine- alkali facilities until-1982 and
. 1994 respectnvely Aseroman Kraft Products is. responsrble for

A, total of 16 fish spe(:es
are present downstresi of
AssiDoman's facility at.Frovi ~ °
: mcludmg zander. perch, eel
and pike.
4 2nd pi

Aseroman Corporate Risk Management examines the r|sl< of
fire and major environmental accidents at the group's facilities on

. a yearly basis. The results of these efforts inciude all transformers
contalmng PCB oils being removed throughout the group.

) ‘l Water
: o A55|Doman s.pulp and: paper mrIIs are ts buggest consumers of
® S water, with'120° mllllon m consumed:in the year. The reduction %"

of. water consumptron |s pnormse many facilities, although in
) ’,most coritexts, water. is not acritical Tesolirce in Sweden. At the A
. Frowi: facrllty which is srtuated adjacent to'water with iow flow; .
B AssiDoman has: ‘taken internal measures to reduce flows, and
: ‘thereby the burden on its water treatment plant o
~ The more limited access to water in contmental Europe feans
that water consumption is a more,pno_rrtrsed issue. At Ania, Italy,
AssiDomdn is planning to-close off of parts of its water system,
. whilé the facility at Lecoursonnig France has been using'an . ..";
x a!most entrrely sealed water system-wit nulti-stage treatment..
: for several years. However, the. cxrculatlng water did release
. odours into the surroundings: i n 'has taken steps to
resolve this problem, -
" In the paper-and pulp manufacturlng process wood fibres are : :
released by the natural bmdxng, - Irgnm - being dissolved Emissions to water 2000" 1999
in water using chemicals. The ma onty ‘of the dissolved sub- €D, tonne - 28,100 " ..42.500.
stances is used as energy, combusted in soda recovery boilers.
The remainder is captured in waste water which at some
facllities, is purified externally. The necessary chemlcals are
recycled in each facrlutys mternal systems o * Exc. Dynds and Sepap.

 also contributed to reducmg total emissions.
AssiDomdn undertakes timber watering at some sawmills ‘
optimising its supply. of ‘water through climate control. Leachates”
are collected and purlﬂed before release to the surroundxng body
of water. : v :

« Theiwater consumptlon of Corrugated S facrlmes has been
substantlally reduced. Now, the majority-of these facilities have
waste water purlftcanon systems. This'water is far more gasy to:
treat than the waste water from pulp and paper mills.

Total N, tonne




ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT -

Forestry

management
conduct
B The revrew has.three section regene vtro ‘elhng, thrnnrng
3 _and pre-commercial thrnnrng where grades are awarded. for site
g vadaptatlon {choice of productron promotrng measures) nature
;" conservation and water conservation,
‘ The regeneratron felling review performed better in 2000 than
in. 1999 in terms of site adaptatron ature conservatron and

ives of AssiDoman’s forestry nature conservation'r

nd its;.practrca

are hrgh /ong term f/nanaa/ ‘returns

-"susta/nable wgorous ecosystems and

. preserved bro—drversrty

' Preserved b:o-drversrty means the preservatron of all extant plant

- _Threatened Specxes Unit considers endangered rare orin need
of specral protectlon

’ northeranweden.

- m Ecologxcal balance sheet R ~a T The baldnice sheet also revials that the majority of measures:
“AssiDomén has prepared an- ecotoglcal balance sheet every year -:undertaken conformed to prevrously established pians. Those’

since 1993, which monitors how.well the group is observing its deviations from such plans are most often due to producnon
“ forestry policy and instructions- through its choices of forest or envrronmental enhancement' '

ECOLOGICAL BALANCE SHEET, PERFORMANCE

Regeneration felling -

4 -Il! | P

94 95.96 97 98 99 00 96 97 98 35 00. 98,99 00
Shte ad. ion g Nature conservation _Waterconservancn

Regeneration fellmg, thmnmg and pre~commercial thinning is evaluated agamst
three standards - site adaptation, nature conservation ard water conserv_auon
- on an ascending fnvepomt scale. with three pornts bemg satlsfactory

* The balance sheets 1994 to 1999 inclusive relate to Aseroman and Sveaskog
The year-2000 baiance sheet is for AssiDoman forestry . .




ENVIRONMENTAL KEY FAGTS |

Environmental Policy

W Our environment Conservation of resources that reflects the carporate policy and its own
AssiDomdn’s operations have an impact on the We will economise on raw materials, conserve systems for implementing environmental controls
environment, as do all industrial activities. We energy and minimise use of non-renewabie raw and audits. Qur employees. will receive training
have a responsibility, however, to reduce this materials and fuels. and information to enable them to take

impact on the enviranment as far as this is

ecclogically and economically reasonable.
AssiDoman’s commitment to long-term

sustainable development means that as far as

responsibility for the environment in their daily
tasks. This will go hand in hand with consider-
ation for the working environment.

Benign processes
Our manufacturing processes and emissions
should not harm the environment. As far as

ossible we shall use renewable resources.t possible we will use technology which will Environmental planning and annual
2\ake roducts that are of maxim m“ g ,‘th increase closure of process circuits and treatment  environmental statement
P um use wi of emissions. Each year each unit will establish improvement

minimum consumption of resources.

N o~ : . . - ar a programme of action. Th it
Protecting forests, water and air is.crucial to ~ Waste minimisation, recycling and sustainabiliy ~ 2798% and a prog oF acton. They wi

the survival and deveiopment of our business. W will reduce waste and, as far as possible,  ~[oPO" PIOG1es5 in an annual enironmenta
Our respansibility to the natural environment is recyclewaste paper and our own production
the same that we owe ta our customers, waste t¢ produce new products or energy. We Openness . ]
employees, shareholders and society in general. will also investigate methods to return nutrients Qur manner of dealing with environmental issues
® Main guidelines in biofuel ash to the forest - all of these ' will inspire confidence among our customes.
Continuous impravement measures being ways to promote the sustainable  employees apd the generg! public. We \N.l|| seek

) ) . ecological cyde. broad scientific co-operation and open dialogue
Cur environmental efforts will be preventative. .

with authorities, environmental organisations and
our customers. We will review our goals and
methods regularly in the light of new informa-

We will seek continual improvement throughout  Suppfier conformity
the full life cycle of our products. We will encourage our suppliers to meet the
same standards of environmental awareness and

Sgstalqab/e _fore;rry and protection of openness that we apply to ourselves. tion.

biological diversity

We will use forestry methods that exploit the & Environmental measures

forest's own ability to renew and sustain itself Environmental management systems This policy is part of the group’s goals and
- while preserving biological diversity. Each unit will have its own environmental policy guidelines.

jse:of resources and emissions

 Forestry

. - . i 2000 -1999 R
.. Deliveries " ’ R : ‘ Products
"-Wood raw.material to AssiDomdn, 000 sm ub S 8,290 7,280 . Sawn tlmber 000 m*

Wood raw material, external, 000 sm’ub s 3,230 2,950
" Tatal wood raw maten'al deivered, 000 smiub” - 11,520 10,230

Wood raw matenal procurement v

5,020 5,100,

6,500 513007 7
11,520 . 510,230

Pun:hased wood raw material, 000" sm’
Tq;al wood raw rnqter_xal, 000 smiub

_ Emissions to air?
S0z, tonne

By-products for external delivery
Sawdust, bark and chips 000 s

By-products *
Forest fuels, Q005 e 308 872

. - Land R : RR. 1) Based on bio-fuels. .

Total | d 000 h, L ‘ 2) Only sourced from internal energy genaration including transports and work on i

otal land area, B § .

trucks at facilities, partial calculated values.
3) Raw materials for the pulp industry.

1) The ﬂgures for wood raw material m:lude round timber and pqu chips, exciudlng

.. “internal deliveries of chips from sawmills
B ‘Z) Esnrnate El For deliveries outside urits




'*"EN.VIWONM.ENTAL KEY FACTS

Use of resources - ..
and emissions - "

Sturévé','_ E
1999 - 2000 1999

.‘ lv"""..’vduttior'»-
Pulp, total, tonne

9,000 75,500 210,100

0

203,700

© 13,778,000 " 1,539.000 | 251,100

d pul 477000 47,800 TS g
- Regycled fibre, tonne " 7| 108,300 104,000 | 116,100 .
Chemicals, tonne ™" **" "%} 46,600 45,000 | .

Raw water, Mm*’

Purchased. thermal energy, TJ
chased electricity GWh .

Emissions to air ..~
S0y (totak-sulphur emissions, )
©_Counted as SOy), tonne

nted as NOy), tonne

Fossil Oy, tonne ...
|;726,00 ' 797,000°

:Blogenic COp tonne, ...

Emissions to water ..
© COD, tonne

Waste .
o . Hazardous waste, tonne

- Land-filled waste,

onne

B'y-b_rpducts” N
¢ Taltoll, tonne

Turpentine, tonne- .~

€,

ND No data available.

*  Amended since 1999.

1) Including transports and work on trucks at facilities.

2} For delivery outside units

3) Associated emissions have not been deducted from the facility's emission values.
4) Emissions to municipal treatment plant.




Use of resources
and emissions

ENVIRONMENTAL KEY FACTS

Production:

Paper raw material, tonne
. Plastic_tonne ;
~ Other |nput matenals tonne -

Externally supphed energy

ha .

kgv
kt
MJ
GJ
T

kWh
Mwh

Em' sion factors for-bio-fuels: 125g'CO/M)

Units and abbreviations

_ v'hectare (10 OOO m‘ 100 x 100 m)

smiub .
. .-.-(no empty space between logs). of Wholg stem.or, part .

" forest cubxc metre: total volume

““cubic metre bulk volume: outer: volume of matenal

MSEK

: kllowatt-hour(i OOO watt-hours)
v.megawan hour (1 mltl«on watt-hours)
Gwh

,cubxc metres solnd measure under bar acal volume

of stem, exc!udmg bark and tr

stump to tlp

{used when measuring chlps sawdust bark, forest
fuels ‘and similar products) "
million Swedish kronior
kilogram

kilotonne (1,000 metric tons)
megajoule (1 million joules = 0.278 kwh)

gigajoule (1 billion joules) .
terajoule (1, OOO billion joules). 1 TJ is the énergy
content of 26 m? of heating cil, 28 m’ of diesel .ail,
2m of petral or approximately 60 tonnes of wood
fuels (1= 12% m0|sture content)

g:gawart-hour (1 bllhon watt-hours)"



'+ Parts of page 9 and pages 10—15 form
" part of the Directors’ Report .

Comments on: thel Cash Fiow Statement .

' Pareht company




Directors’ Report

B Group restructuring

Corrugated & Contarnerboard S
: Aseroman is pursumg dnscussrons wuth external part|es rega
‘contmued restructunng of its mdustrlal operations. These
dxscussuons concern a divestment or merger of the group’s
packagmg operatxons (the Corrugated & Contamerboard
business area) The intention is'to, further consohdate the
busmess area s posmonmg and: competltlveness ASS|Doman

o forestry and mdusﬂ ial parts. i
' dwestment of Corrugated & Contam

i, value of MSEK 17, 500 in th«s years financial’ statement from

: :the previous MSEK 4,160. Such write-ups are only possrble
" coincident with annual financial statements. The:calculated
o ,tavxablevalue for 2001 intended to represent 75% of the
farket value, .i§ MSEK.17.500. -

“and. pulp, w1th estlmated annual turnover of MSEK 6 OOO plus '
_ThlS transaction 1mplres Aseroman freeing Up some MSEK 1,500
by reducmg its interest- -bearing net debt, RS -
The intention Is to list Billerud on OM Stockhalm Exchange as Other— : : &

soon as possible, but by no later than- 2002. A551Domans board lnlJuly 2000 Aseroman re ch n agreement to divest its
" intends to spin off its shareholding in Billerud AB to its share- - . Slovakiar” subsrdxary ICP 5.t Icopal ass, with lcopal;
holders coincident with this listing, by utilising the Swedish legal .+ :taking over operations:. as of 1 January 2000..The dlvested
- precedent known Lex ASEA, Ultxmately, Stora Enso intends to . '__vcorporatron has annual turnover of’ about MSEK 240 ‘and.
. divest its entire holdings, 20% of the ¢ company coincident, wrth s man_ufactures mineral- surfaced bitume felt and '
" the listing (i.e-40% of Stora Ensos holdings).:Stora Enso’s : '
L 1ntentron is to attempt to place this 20%: with f|nanc1al institu- "

_-»valu'e.deétruction. v




. Corrugated & Containerboard diveéted AééiDoman Por-Pac AB to" Profit after fmanmal items of MSEK 3, 090 represents an MSEK :
Fagerdala Industri AB as of 31 December 2000. Thrs unit's annual 2 251 rmprovement on 1999 (excfudmg an MS_EK 1 540 one-

‘G obaf economrc ogress'was. posmve in the first: 'half-year ‘with:
: favourable marke Conditions, firm demand and sustained llmzted
: producﬂon capacrty growth The price: and volume performance o
. of several of the group’s products was dastmctly posrtlve and this. e

applred pamcularly to market puip and papér raw material. The
;i demand for converted praducts progressed favourably, althdugh
' any pnce mcreases in these segments were: more restrained This
" Iaggrng ehcrted margi 'pressure xn conversro 1. :

_exchange rates exerted an MSEK -31 operatmg profrt umpact
' Net, fmancral |tems were MSEK =383; up MSEK 117 on the

: ‘A slowdown |n global econom|c growth rates became
_ “apparent late in‘the year - US demang: for corrugated board and:7
E contarnerboard prevuously hindered by.a strong uso, s!owed as:’
“a consequence of'a weakenrng business cycle and retail sales: In
. 'Europe however, demand remamed flrm on.most- markets wrth
prtcvng on most of AssxDoman s paper di cts plateauang at a

.groups products; despite the"fact that’ demand growth in 2001

will be slower than in: ZOOO-' .

Net turnover was MSEK 24, 643 in2000, an mcrease of MSEK. S ns. !

: 146 or 1%, on 1999, The'| rncrease was MSEK 1,773, or 9%, for o prlce lncreases were effected compared to 1999 levels

© remaining units (after operatlonal divestments to Frantschach U Operatmg proflt was MSEK 1,061 up MSEK 612 or 136%
AG). All remaining busiriess areas apart from Timber contributed - .on:1999. The prlmary comrrbutor here was rncreased delrvered
to these galns ' : oL o volumes and highe corrugated board prices..

-ln\}estments and depreciation

L e lnvestmen
. 1999 1998:1:1997::
2,588, 2871

12000

1999 1998 1997

. Other and eliminations . -16 15
i ,_Total remaining units - Yo 1,409 1,066 3,199 5,826-3,186 - - 46 53 1,666 1597 275 1,398 1,529 1,448

v'Conmanmsdwenedtoanschadt D270 507 655 1643 726 . = - 15 1512 40 221 43¢ 404
Tbtalgroup : ' 1573 3,854 7,469 3912 46 53 1.681 3,100 1619 1,963 1850 15




ACCOUNTS!

_‘averag'e pncmg mcreased ggmfucantly Operaﬁng‘proﬁt was i
'MSEK 790 up MSEK 712 on.1999, w1th pulp provudmg MSEK

_-efflClency and a h|gher share of redwo v

‘Net turhover, operating prof ating margin

Operatmg margm %,

Net tirnover RGNS
1999 % chang

MSEK 2600, "

'Cormgated& an merboard

ntra-group. deliveries .
otal remammg unlts )

[ :"Companues dlvested to Frantschach i

o 7 write-downs
Total group

* of 'which market pulp




M Cash flow and fmancxal posmon . g M Environment
.. Cash flow from ongoing operatians. was MSEK 3, 219 interest: 31 Dé
. bearlng net debt at year-end was MSEK 2177, agamst MSEK
-8,420 one year previously, the change mamfy attnbutable to

‘:operatlonal divestments, Payment for an MSEK 4,411 share %
= redemption programme resolved in'2000 is scheduled for

- An Extraordmary General Meetlng on 9 October 2000 resolved to.
-+ 'redeem-every flfth share for a cash payment of SEK 180; share- -
- holders correspondmg to some 98% of the_capital accepted this
- offermg, xmplymg the pt' n of 23/21 5,855 shares and the

v»authgn}sat‘xon has not beenutilis 5 T Kraft Products AB, pursied operations at the Forss chlorine-alkali

:Returns

"~ MSEK
Corrugated & Contamerboard

: Kraft Products .
.'CB“O”b‘.’ard TR
. Timber

Companies divested_to: Frahgehach :

Write-downs .
.Opérating profit

R .. Returnon
109 70 56 v capital empioyed *, % - -

- Financial income

" Operating profit plus finan‘ciall income . v ‘ 3,582 . -1 18 . 6
Financial expenses, etc. - -492 -570 o e
Profit .a.f.t.er.ﬁn_ahe_i.a.l items ;- 3,090 - -701

5. Returmon, .7

.. Tax S [
3 equity:*:%.

“ . Minority interests
Net profit :

: r Exc!udlng write ps 2060 and




. 'AssuDomans énv ronmental work is descnbed in: detan
: 38—53 although ' these pages have not beef reviewed by the

- intention: ofi mcreasmg efﬂaency by link

: v R day-to-day busmess . :
. ,Slovak|a ltaly and France assomated W|th the most Slgmflcant © L+ n 2000, ongomg R&D costs amounte
s envwonmental :mpact (see above) Operanons at these facmtles ‘ (250) or about 1% of nét turnover. ‘
‘ : - 4n’s R&D activiti




ACCOUNTS

~Operating income .
‘Net turnovar

Depreciation . | ;-
" Profit share in.associate

" Other financial expenses .
Exchange: rate differences. = - .

Profit a‘f_tér“financvi}al iigni
Ta.ij g

< -Minority interests::;"
‘Net profit- "

*-:2000: EUR 1
** of which:sufp onsolidation fun




ACCOUNTS

Comments on the Income Statement

. Other operatmg income con5|sts of cap:tal gains. of MSEK 526
Ry .(199) from the dtvestment of propemes machmery and equ-

Sepap paper mnlls the sack 6peratlons and the Barrler Coatmg
busmess umt) have aiso been included. The cost of wnte-downs

Net financial items
Proﬂt after financial 1tems

Minority interests
Net prof’t/loss for the perlod




T ACCOUNTS

Consoh dated B alance Sheet

Construction inprogress and adva e payments ‘

.---~for tang|ble flxed assets

-bearing

note:15;.16."

-cEs'h ané"bank'b‘ata"r}'c'es :

Cinote 167

; QTotal asset_f.

SHAREHOLDERS' E
Shareholders equnty

Non-interest-bearing liabilities

7,842 13,124 885.0 . .1,535.9

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

40,209 - = 30,304 45377 . - 35464

contingent liabilities

.. note 23 ¢




ACCOUNTS

financial risk managemen

Kraft Products =
Cartonboard

: Fixed: assets, net 27 i
17,687 ‘ Total capital employed .
o819 L1 460 A

- Total net operatlng assets, remalmng umts 5:.32,308 - 719,088

, e  Financing -,

‘ 'cOmpames divested 16 Frantschach © S LT T e “Interest-bearing debt and prows:ons
Total net’ operaung assets i 32,308 23,3460 Mmomy mterests i
‘Adjustart - R -2,338 7T E  Shdreholders. equity
’Total cap' al employed Frs 29, T 22918 . Totalf’ ancing:::

11999 mc!udmg taxable value of cumva ding ledseholds. i 1y Non—mterest-beann ong: term liabil
12000: including write-ups'of forest land. MSE : '




FACCOUNTS

n _.Ongomg operatnons
7 Net turnover
. .- Operating costs, etc:
Operating, surplus .

* " Investment activity - -
Investrents in fjxed éssets .




: Comm entso n the Cash Flow Sta_témehi

. Corporate: acquisitions
. Gross investments

- Disposals of fixed assets
Net investrment

6,485

lnvesffmenfs .
1999 1998 1997"

Cash ﬂ_b'w
8-> 1999 7 1998 .. 1997 * 149

MSEK

Corrugated &
- .Containerboard

1997

2000 9 1998

: 1‘;112‘-

‘Other-
. -Total remaining units.
*. Companies divested 1 5
Frantschach ‘

Total group -




- Parent company

ncome-Statement

‘ Machmery and equipment
Constructxon in. progress

Ionﬂg érm.receivable

expenses SBILL T8940 inventories
o = : e Current recejvables;

28,801

evaluatlon reserve
“Statutory résarve

" "Operating costs, etc.
) Operating surplus

Change rn work»ng capital -

) Non-restncred
_- “'Retained garnings -
..... L7 Net profit

note 19

rest- bearmg recaivables. 2,515 80"
) '-»E‘Cash ﬂow from mvestment act'vnty‘ ; :

note’ 21

Total shareholders equlty and habllltles ) 38,91.7 28 801

Assets pledged e .' fote 22 e - 37
) Conungent Ilabllmes : note 23 - 223"

" Cash flow for. he year . i
Liquid: assets, opening balance note 15, 16 S 7474 1,144
Liquid assets, closing balance - note 15,16 3,893 . 7,474




Accounting principles

» v 'stafé'rne_nfs is alten
.- book value of the-
" ]nc’ome Statement.

: deferred tax relatmg 1o these. appropnatrons rs posted a3 o
deferred tax cost inthe Consolidated Income' Statement; the -
deferred tax in untaxed reserves is posted asa provision for tax .
in-the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Unutilised deferred tax -
receivables in the form of tax-deductnble losses and.taxed -
reserves are netted off in-the calculatlon of provisions for
deferred tax.

107.07

.Slovakia

n Internal pricing -." L e
Prices for sales between group ies-a e based
‘business principles and' rnar_ket pr_ ces,

Switzerland.




: nominated recewables _provisions and
v I|abllmes are valued at dosmg rates H ged accounts recelvable

S lnventones are valued at the lower of the acquusutxon/producnon il
:.- cost or net realisable value. In the case.of finished goods, net
" realisable value is the sales value Iess sales costs In the case of
»-flmshed and mput mate

“Accrued mterest is mcluded among other current recewabies
L With. effect from 1999, the parent’ companys short-term. inve:
. stments including the trading portfolso are.posted item by item,
-at the lower of acquiisition value and net reahsable value. Any
. excess loss is reported under net fihancia tems wh||e no- corre
" sponding gain is reported. S
Investments intended to be eld: til maturxty are valued at -
; 20-33% acqmsmon cost. These investments'are posted under Iong-term
. 5-20% ;.. interest-bearing recelvables Accrued mterest |s reported under
T other current recelvables ‘

”"Goo.dwull
75% on acqu:smons prior:t0:1991




N otestothefmanoalstatements

he ccmpany owns sub tantral forest propertues
that are managed in the: Farestry operations, whi _assigns felling and
" other usage nghrs to thlS land to the subsidiary AssnDoman Wood 5 :

Supply AB s 1

 Other dperatmg mcome '
. Total i

.Audmng Wi
‘Otherasmgnmems
 Total

Parent company,
. 2000

 Year.of matirity, non=cancelfi

. .'rentalagreements p

L 2200%

L 2002-2005
~-2006 and beyond

’ Total . T PO Lo . -
L. . Yearof maturity for other major non- .. it T e i Croatia

' 'cance/lmg operational leasing agreemenrs S v o tithuania

Total subsndlariesv T 943250 129 3,651 ..
ol 102 3,427 152 3728




'.bonus programme is based on financial and mdrvrdual targets and

provides a close link between share price performance and individual -
-executives' prospects of receiving a bonus. Provided; that the remainder . 7
- of the group management completes.the restructurxng programme in-
vthe perrod until 30 June 2002, specral remuneration will also be payable.

“Note'd cont:

“Average number }o_‘f_ employees by country ‘

- The notice penod s months for te_rmmatlon by the’ company and
-6 months for termmatlon by:the'employee. In the évent of the company
~issuing notice,  severance pay-will-correspond to two annual salaries.

_ Severance pay.will be paid monthly following explry of the notice pericd.
If new employment is obtained in-this period; the: severance pay erI be:
red dv by th Int ecewed

he‘executives, conCerned :
different cail optrons

~ The:execise price for 3
‘ _SEK 1.56:50 For call optrons that exprreon 8 Ma C
price is:SEK; 174.The options.

“imply-no. commitment by

2,588 11,464 14,052 16.827
2,703 11,803 14,506 17,060

- S“EK' 1';'80‘3,304 :

Other Iand and Iand rmp ovements
»Machmery and equlpment

* Construction in progress
Total ESIH

~ “In the period 1 October 1999-31December 2000, the Presrdent bene-
“fited from a bonus’ system which rmphed -3 maximum bonus payment.of -
_35%.0f basic salary. The amount paid:comprised 27% of the maximum.
“-Provided that the President completés the' restructuring programme m
the penod ntrI 3 special: remuneration of MSEK 4 is.

" Write-downs

able salary..Reqular pension Sliows the: TP pl
entary pensions forsalar iti
ensron beneflts will:be:provi

" "Notice and severance pay : '
"There is a six-month mutual natice perrod in the event of notrce berng
given by the company, severance pay corresponding to 18.months’ ‘ : ] r
- salary becomes due, paid monthly after the end of the notice pericd. ‘ B - - Group s
If new-employment is obtained during this pericd, the severance pay MSEK . 2000~ 1999
: erI be reduced by the amountireceived: from: the new posmon - “Share of profit after financial ftems ) A L

. " Tax
Total

M Note 6 Profit share in associated companies -

'Bonuses o T R L ¥
Other membars of the group agement. team as well s & further 70' R Aseroman S share of assocrated compames profr
- 'of:50imanagers at. group and: business: unit level, were also.encompassed " reported according to: the equity method in-the manner'descrlbed
- by a.bonus’ programme iri:the perrod 1 October 1999231 December - the accounting prrncrples The proflt share penams to-a-profit share in

2 This. programme paid:a:maximum: of. 30%: of basrc salary The Spectra Packagmg Drsplay Ltd (50%)




n Note 7 . Profit from fmancral items

P'aten_ts‘;and ) N
Goodwill similarrights . Total )

Parent oomoany
& 2000 1999

Group

2000 . Accumu/ated depreC/a tio

: saccordmg to p/an

, 1250

Construction;

e MSEK
“.Group "
AgqUisition valua :
Openmg balance Y Jan 2000

Other f/nanC/a/ :ncome s
" Iriterest income, subsrdranes
'lnterest income, other

. _ ——S_—=. . Transltion differences. etc:
® i i . e T T Closmgbalance 1

Exthange rate d;fferences =2 . " 149 A / tedd at!
- R A = = — 355 Accumulated depreciatio
Tal B TN I ik
" The frnancra}l proportion of Costs of p pensnon commitments administered Opening balance.1 J

by:the com’ any is based on.an interest rate of . 7% (29). . e Reclassification of -f,'xed 3

: R Sales‘and dlsposal
Deprematxon for:the:ye
Translation' differences; etc.
Cl6sing balance 31 Dec.:2000
Closing residual value acc rding
to plan,ﬂ_il Dec. 12000,

Change deferred 1ax provmon

Of wh:ch wr/te-ups ‘
: -ji.jTotal

Opening. balance. ! Jan. 2000_ .

Sales I

-Write-ups * '

" Depreciation for the year of
written-up amount

" Translation differences

: _;f:Closmg balance 31.Dec. 2000.

ST After consohdatlon of the financial statements as of £} December 1999

® the financial statement was revised because twio subsidiaries reversed ¢
- dissolutions of untaxed reserves and re-Created provisions to untaxed
-reserves. As a consequence, deferred tax costs have increased and tax

- paid reduced by, MSEK 487, :

Parent company »
Acquisition values
Opening.balance 1 Jan. 2000

. ihiahgible fixed assets, group

Patents and -
.-Goodwill':: similar-rights.. Total

SEK”

——— - . Investments . . o082 38 .
: "/ Acquisition values o : From construction in progress . . -
® - Opening balance 1 Jan. 2000 S7°°2838  and advance payments o - o
o ... lnvestments 12712 Recassification of fixed assets . i 11
Corporate.acquisitions = .7#25°  saesand disposals . ¥ =25 L
From construction in progress o ‘ Write-ups * CE -
and advance payments L s B B T .17.036 305
. Reclassification of fuxed assets . 0o el RERr AR Closmg bafance 31 Dec 2000 - j'_ 036 - -
. Sales - e .—t 283 L e33 1316
o " Translation’ dlfferences W T 28" RSP ASED R The write-up of forest fand in A551Doman AB of MSEK 13 340 was

subject to 28% deferred tax; implying the.net amount of MSEK.9,604 '
bemg posted to. revaluatuon reserves.

+'. Closing balance 31 Dec’ 20007 44 2,595,




: __Note 10" cont.-:

"M Note 12 Long-term receivables
o Buildings, ’

‘Group” Parentcompany
19992 2000 1999

: nd land: _Machinery
:Imiprove-~and equip-,,.

Accumulated deprecratron accordxng : fas
| to plan taken cvet from subsnd'” : _ReEervab es from subsrdralrles
. Depreciation.for the year (iR _ R Other long term recelvab es
- Closing balance 31 Dec, 2000 39 »-'_f‘jT°‘a'
- Closing residual value': s . : ST o o
: accordmg to plan 31 Dec; zooo 17,036 266 .45 .30

261
it
64 2612

*of surplus consolxdatlon funds allocated by pensron fund manager SPP ,'_':
the company received MSEK'68 in” ‘the year, partly m ‘the form of'a’
cash payment and partly to offset pay i

','Machrnery and equrpment procured :

] lity relatrng to’ leasnng
“assetsiamounts. to MSEK 107 (144) The maturlty structure as of 31
December 2000 |s shown in note 20 :

-Consumables =
.Semi-finished goods

xable values stated above | pertal to offrcral taxable values :
“adjusted in some cases by the astimatéd effect of partial acquisitions
“and: partial disposals: The taxable value for:2001 relatlng 10 Current
holdrngs of forest Iand is estrmated at MSEK 17.500.

. Parent compa
2000 1999

i : : Accounts receivable " i
M Note 11 Shares and participations i L . Receivables from Subsidiari

el Other - “Tax.receivables -
“Asso: long-term Other.current recervables**
ciated-" securities’: i+ -..Prepaid costs and accrued income
 Com: " hoid:, ; Total
-panies - . £-lings s

3Translatron dlfferences efc,
,Closmg balance 31 Dec 2000, B

M Note 15 Short-term mvestments

L 'v I T Group #* Parent cornpanyb

: M'SEK” U - U2000 1999 2000 1999
« . Short-term investments© 12281 476 2,027 299
. Receivables from subsidiaries ) “ -~ 1,581 6,806 -

Parent company
Acquisition values S LT ;
Opening balance 1Jan. 2000.'"3'-* 12,952 - . 718.712,970

. Bills receivabie : 25 SRS
Investments - 7 32311 Other current mterest-bearmg e e
o= -381 receivables : b 0463 45+ )
T4 3653 Tota TT2.344 546 3,608 7,105
-~ 14 14,185 : - , T w
' T Most of the Swedrsh group has common bank accoums wrth the parent‘
ST _company as the main account holder.: The parent.company’s dealrngs
ST e B '1’32 " “with subsidiaries concerning, group -accounts dre'posted:to current |

= ; ; ..i-iifterest-bearing receivables from, and current lmerest-bearrng lrabllrtles z
. Write-down = o= 3,601 to, the SubSldIBFIES

- Closing balance 31 Dec. 2000 - 4,093 . = . = 4.093.
‘Book value 31 Dec. 2000 . ... 10,0787 7 147 10,002

" Note 11 continues _overleaf o




Note 11 cont., Shares and participations

: Regist e

identity niimber offrceycountry

Parent company holding .
* Direct hold/ngs in subsidiaries

“AssiDéman Cartonboard AB Lindesberg.”.
AssiDoman Déutschiand. Holdmg GmbH = Germany -
o < AssiDoman: Fastnghetsutvecklmg AB Solna: ™ -
- - AssiDomén’ Férsakring AB: : i .Stockholm
¥ " AssiDoman Holding France'SA France

* AssiDoma Holding (Nederland) BV ' The Netherlands -

L Hasselfcrs Vérdepappersfbrvattmng A
*" Qther subsidiaries * g

- Total dnrect holdungs in subsnduanes

'AssiDovman Sturovo a 5.

: 'compame_s
: f‘Ass:Doman Karefia
Total assocxated‘companies

Other. Iong-term secunt/es ho/dlngs
Bottenvikens Stuveri AB T
“Trdinformation AB
‘Rights of tenant-¢
Other participations ™ ;
Total other Iong-term securmes holdmgs
Total‘ parent company. holdmg s

5560537168 . Pited

ners

roup holdmgs in assoc:ated comp. :
o Parenr company direct’ hold:ng accordmg to abov
o _ Parent company. major lnd/recr ho/dmg

o - Spectra Packagmg Dlsplay Ltd
. Other -

Total associated compames

4,500,000 .

567207
L 27213
21,801
80,976

S ] ~Total group other Iong ~term securmes holdings”” .
. o Vi“ Total group holdmgs of shares and pammpatlons

Sty ‘I'he share of votes equals the share cf capltal for ali ums

) The complete statutory specmcatnon of the subsudlanes hoidmgs is included in the
-Annual Report submitted to the Swedish Patent and Registration Office: This specification
is available upon request from’ Aseroman AB; Corporate Commumcauons

“SE-105 22 Stockhoim Sweden, o




ACCouNTs. . T

orrespondmg to 98 l% of the capital accepted the:offer, rmplymg the
demption of 23 215,855 shares and MSEK 4, 417 bemg transferred .
-AssiDoman AB's reholders, of whic| EK 753 fiom. non- restrrcted
»equrty Payment i§ scheduled for March/A 3ril 2001 followmg legal ™

é _tlon the numb of sh itk

M Note 16 'Liquid assets

Pafent company;
2000 1999
12,0220 299
1,581 6,806
T 285 369
3,893 . 7,474

Cash and bank ba nces
Total S

- Parent éompahy
2000 - 1999

. Pension provisions, PRUFPG S
T Pensron provisions,. other

itments for’ pensrons
~.and annuities take over from- the:Swedish Natlonal Forestry Serv:ce
& with effect from

Translatlorr dlfferences :
Transfer between restricted:
,.and non: restncted equrty
. UNetloss o :
Shareholders’ equrty 31 Dec. 1999 -
Cash drvrdend to shareholders

ments to certain mployees; pnmanly of Aseroman 'AB and Aseroman ’
i+, Wood Supply AB."A provision fias beed made-to. cover these commit-
* ments corresponding to the amount eéxpected t0. be: pard The remamde
-~ of the theoretical caprtal value s reported asa contlngent |Iablllty of :
, MSEK 18 (25)

n=.: Statuaty-..
~reserves i

;,ZOOO mclude MSEK 3,736 |ng 28 deferred tax on write-ups
“of fixed assets of MSEK13:340 The provr i
x agamst shareholders equrty, :

" Parent company i
“Shareholders’ equity’

"310ec1998x-..v 236
h dividend to shareholders . : - B51 .-BST l Note 20

‘ miérés‘t-bééﬁn;q Tiabilitie

Bond:issues::
Loan-25.359
~Other. 5. 18% 19

' ' L : " Euro Medium Term.Note programme
Tax effect sn . Y Sl
contributions o Lengoitgn, o Utilised under MSEK:2,000 S
‘Provision 10 - & Medium Term Note programme : :
‘ aér Promissory-note loan SR PRI
AMF-STP loan, 1998-2003 . i 181
.-Other liabilities

~ revaluation reserve b
" Net.profit, o
'.Shareholders equoty

Current liabilities

Loan 2. 5 35% 1998-2001 .

or MSEK -63 after adjust-

ated transiation difference » " Utilisad: under MUSD 750 .
. as.of 31 Décember-2000 was MSEK. ~303. The accumulated Euro Commercial Paper D’°9'am’"9
" translation difference as'of 1 january-2000 in companies divested . Utilised under MSEK 5,000 _
during the year-is negligible, and- has’ not influenced profit or ) Swedish Commercial Paper Tt e R
translation différences for the year™ .~ . “. programme : 2,632 2363 2,632 2,363
e The write-up-of forest land in AssiDoman AB totalllng MSEK 13,340 Utilised under MSEK 2,000 ' . L L
was subject to 28% deferred tax, with the net amount of MSEK Medium Term Note programme 20 - 200 -
9,604 posted to revaluatron reserves " Liabilities to subsidiaries .- - 5,320 3,514 ‘
: e Other liabilities - L 229 646 . 100 .10 o
Share redempt/on Sub-total )

 An Extraordinary General; 'eetlng on.9: October 2000. resolved that. - . —————r— e — - —
every fifth share. ln'Aseroman AB would be offered for. redemptlon ok Total MO ATt o0l ol ) c 8 -8,941-.1
: ash paym 1s With holdmgs L




 Ma tunty struichré for external.
 interest-bearing liabilities, 31 Dec. 2000

M Note 22 Assets ;;iev:dg't‘e»d

; S L G:rcbup'v "i:‘Parentcompany
¢ Darentcompany - pgsgk oo T 2000 1999 - 2000 1999

* wiof which " Z
leasing . -Fropenty mongages -
Collateral: for liabilities to

" Total: liabilities.,

Collateral for liabilitie:
reditinstitutions
L Collateral for habﬂmes to other lenders;

Dec.'2000 dlstrlbuted by -
-currency mcludmg denvat:ves_ assoctated w:th l:ab:lmes i

 Bank déposits.
Léased assets |

Note 21

- Non-interest-bearing liabilities.

Accounts payable E
abilities o] sub51d|araes

. Lnabllmes to the State to’

. - settlé against dgreed shareholders'.

contnbutnon L
Other current Ilab" i

" plan’ and book deprematlo
Pensmn provisions, surplus

‘ ‘4_.7‘71:' Note 25" Untaxed reserves, parent,campany‘ ’

‘ :Im s ro the. Srate :
o The liabilities to-the State arose i connection:with the incorporation
.. 7. agreement. whereby AssiDoman: took over the’ operatxons of the

s Swedlsh Natlonal Forest Service and most of nls assets and liabilitigs. -

Accumu/ated deprec:arron in extess of plan
: Machmery and equnpment o

- Buildings .

“Land improvements

Other : . :
Capital-based reserve - 37
Replacement reserve for land 220 .. .
" Tax allocation reserve e ’
Foreign exchange resérve

Pensmn prowsnons surplus s
Total




ACCOUNTS

i : excluding ‘fedeemed shares totalhng 95; 157 179 shares.
© 7 and that the: remamder be carrned forward SEK' -

Bernt E. Magnusson Bjérn Bj6rnsson.

Lars-Olof Pettersso Carl Wilhelm Ros

-Roland-A }ohén‘s:sonr

Per Tegnér .. . : Gunn’a_f Fi’aim'e

ur Audit Réport was submitted on 6 March 2001

«-Stefan Holmstrom i » .. Owe Wallinder
. Authonsed Publ«cAccountanr o : Authorised R.ubl/c}lccounranr
S KPMG - : - KPMG




o :We conducted our audnt in accordance wnth generally accepted audmng stan Jards
Standards require. that we plan-and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual
accounts and the c_onsohdated accounts are free of matenal musstatement An audn

‘ unt Act and th 'eby, gnve a true and faur wew of the companysand the group’s financia
-and resultsof operations: orda

"?::_Board"of b!rectors and:the Presudent be d|scharged from I|abnhty fo he financial s

‘Stockholm, Sweden, 6 March 2001

Owe Wallinder
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o

tars-Olof Petterssan




& Board members

Bernt E. Magnusson, born in 1941,

Ph.D.Pol.S¢.

Chairman of AssiDoman’s Board since 1999.
Chairman of Dyno Nobet ASA and Swedish

Match AB. )

Deputy Chairman of AvestaPolarit AB and Net
insight AB. Member of the Boards of Volvo Car
Corporation, Hégands AB, Nordea AB, ArosMaizels
Corporate Finance, Emtunga international AB,
FSrvaltningsaktiebolaget Stattum and the Federation
of Swedish Industries. Advisor to the European Bank
for Reconstruction and Development.

Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 7,280.

Bjdrn Bjérasson, born in 1946,
M.Pol.Sc.

Member of AssiDomdn’s Board since 1999. Financial

~ consultant. Member of the Boards of Billerud AB,
Fastighets AB Tornet and B & N Nordsjéfrakt AB.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 6,000.

Jan Blomberg, born in 1939.
8.5¢.Econ. Stockholm School of Economics.
Member of AssiDomdn's Board since 2000.

* Chairman of Handelsbanken, Regionbank
Stockholm City. )
Deputy Chairman of Drott AB, Member of the
Boards of Skandia Investment AB, Haldex AB,
Capio AB, Swedish Match AB, Besam AB,
Byggelit AB and Svenska Spel AB.

Family sharehotding in AssiDomdn: 1,000.

Hans Carlsson, born in 1932. .

Member of AssiDoman’s Board since 1993.
President of ASSI AB 1983-1993, Member of ASSI's
Board 1977-1993. Member of the Swedish National
Forest Service's Board 1983-1992. Member of the
Boargs of Tumba AB and SIAR.

Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 1,112,

Gunne! Duveblad, born in 19S5,
Member of AssiDoman’s Board since 1999.
Responsible in Europe for 1BM’s services in
applications management and maintenance and
member of the corporate management of 1BM
Svenska AB. .

" Member of the Board of Skandiabanken.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 1,040Q.

Board and Board actions

The Board is composed of eight members appointed
at the Annual General Meeting and three members,
with two deputies, elected by the employees.

The President is @ member of the Board. Other
employees participate in Board meetings to present
reports or in an administrative capacity.

-The Board has adopted procedural rules that
stipulate the division of responsibility between the
Board and the President, as well as instructions for
financial reporting.

The Board had seven regular. meetings in the
financial year 2000, which followed an agenda
determined in advance. In addition, extraordinary
Board meetings were heid when required.
~ The Chairman monitors operations and progress,
“ensuring that Board members regutarly receive the
information they require to be able to monitor the
corporation’s and the group's pesiticn, financial
planning and progress. The Chairman confers with
the President when strategic issues arise and
represents the company on ownership issues.

Roland A lJohansson, born in 1947,

Member of AssiDoman’s Beard since 1998,
Employee representative (the Swedish Industrial
Salaried Empioyees’ Association, SIF). SIF Chairman
AssiDoman Kraftiiner.

Family shareholding in AssiDomdn: 65.

Roland N Johanson, born in 1943,

Member of AssiDoman's Board since 1993.
Member of the Swedish National Forest Service's
Board 1985-1992.

Employee representative (the Swedish Union of
Forest Workers, SSAF).

Member of the Board of SSAF.

Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 260.

Gunnar Palme, born in 1954.

LL8.

Member of AssiDoman’s Board since 1999.
President and Chief Executive Officer.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 3,500.
Number of options in AssiDoman: 24,000.

Lars-Olof Pettersson, born in 1952,

Requiar member of AssiDoman’s Board 1993-30
Sune 1995, deputy 1 July 1995~31 December 1998,
regular Board member from 1 January 1999. Deputy
member of ASSI's Board 1988-1991, regular Board
member 1991-1993. Chairman of AB Pite Energi.
Chairman of the Swedish Paper Workers’ Union,
branch 37. Chairman of the City Council and
Member of the City Executive Board, Pites.

Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 130.

Carl Wilhelm Ros, born in 1941,

" Ph.D.Pol.5¢.

Member of AssiDomén’s Board since 1999.
Chairman of Atle, Framfab and VLT AB.
Member of the Boards of NCC AB, LKAB,

" SEB and ProfilGruppen.

Family shareholding in AssiDomdn: 1,300.

Per Tegnér, born in 1944,

8.5¢.Econ. Stockholm School of Economics.
Member of AssiDoman's Board since 1994.

Director General of the Swedish National Space
Board. Chairman of TTA Technotransfer AB.
Member of the Board of Svenska Rymdaktiebolaget.

" Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 500.

The Chairman of the Board is also responsible for
ensuring that the Board fulfils its obligations under
the Swedish Companies Act..The Board exercises
supervision to ensure that the President conducts his
duties. .

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the
Company's organisational resources are suitable for
their purpose. The Board therefore regularly
evaluates the company's routines, guidelines,
management and investment of the company’s
funds. The Board decides the budget and strategic
plan for the company and the group, monitoring
the progress of operations in terms of budgets and
strategic plans.

Prasident

The President leads operations within the framework
established by the Board. The President produces
the information and underlying data for decisions
required ahead of Board meetings and submits
reparts, thereby submitting proposals for Board

THE BOARD AND AUDITORS

™ Deputy members

Gosta Utterstrom, born in 1946.

Deputy member of AssiDomén’s Board since 1993
Employee representative (the Swedish Union of
Forest Workers, SSAF).

Family shareholding in AssiDomdn: 845.

Kenth Strandberg, born in 1947.

Deputy member of AssiDoman’s Board since
{ January 2000. Employee representative (Ledarna).
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.

3 Auditors

Stefan Holmstrém, born in 1949.

Authorised Public Accountant, KPMG.
Auditor of AssiDomdn AB since 1994.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.

Owe Wallinder, born in 1949,

Authorised Public Accountant, KPMG.
Auditor of AssiDoman AB since 2000.

Deputy auditor of AssiComan AB 1994-2000.
Family shareholding in AssiDomdn: C.

DEPUTY AUDITORS

Ingrid Hornberg Roman, born in 1958.
Authorised Public Accountant, KPMG.
Deputy Auditor of AssiDoman AB since 2000.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.

Thomas Nilssan, barnin 1957,

Autharised Public Accountant, KPMG.
Deputy Auditor of AssiDoman A8 since 2000.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.

Stated shareholdings correct as of 1 January 2001.

" decision. Each month, the President provides the
Board with the information it needs 1o manitor the

company's and the group’s pasition, liquidity and
progress. In addition, the President keeps the
Chairman of the Board informed about the
company’s operations on an ongaing basis.

Other

The principal owner and Chairman consult with
major shareholders regarding propasals for the
election of Board members and auditors, as well as
fees 1o Board members and Auditors ahead of each
Annual General Meeting.

The company has a Remuneration Committee to
determine salaries and other employment terms,
pension benefits and bonus system for the President
and a defined group of senior executives.

The Committee is chaired by Bernt Magnusson;
other members are Jan Blomberg, Carl Wilhelm Ros
and Per Tegnér.




MANAGEMENT

Senior Management

N Executive Group Management

Gunnar Palme )

President and Chief Executive Officer.
family sharehelding in AssiDomdn: 3,500.
Number of options in AssiDaman: 24,000.

Roger Asserstahl

Executive Vice President and Députy CEQ.
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 390.
Number of options in AssiDeman: 16,000.

Sven Eric Lundstrém

Executive Vice President, CFO.

Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 374.
Number of options in AssiDoman: 16,000.

M Business unit managers

CORRUGATED

Hans Lindecrantz
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 260.
Number of aptions in AssiDoman: 12,000.

CONTAINERBOARD

_Torbj6rn Pettersson ]
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.

Number of options in AssiDoman: 16,000.

CARTONBOARD

Lars-Ola Almberg
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.
Number of options in AssiDaman: 0.

TIMBER

Anders Nilsson

Family shareholding in AssiDeman: 260.
Number of options in AssiDomdn: 8,000.

FORESTRY

Jonas Jacobsson
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 585.
Number of options in AssiDoman: 16,000.

M Group staff managers
BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE &
INVESTOR RELATIONS

Peter Minsson
Family shareholding in AssiDomén: O:
Number of options in AssiDomén: 8,000.

COMMUNICATIONS
Berit Hallberg

Family sharehclding in AssiDoman: 1,352.

Number of options in AssiDoman: 8,000.

CORPORATE IT

Kenneth Bolinder i
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 0.
Number of options in AssiDomén: 8,000.

FINANCE

Johan Lagercrantz
Family shareholding in AssiDomén: Q.
Number of options in AssiDomén: 8,000.

HUMAN RESOURCES

_Anna-Lena Nyberg

Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 864.
Number of options in AssiDoman: 8,000.

LEGAL AFFAIRS

Olle Lindqwister
Family sharehoiding in AssiDoman: 780,
Number of options in AssiDoman: 8,000,

PLANNING & CONTROL

Bjorn Olhans
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 200.
Number of options in AssiDomen: 8,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Per Sjdlander
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 260.
Number of options in AssiDoman: 8,000.

® Support functions

PURCHASING

Urban Svensson
Family shareholding in AssiDomén: 195,
Number of options in AssiDoman: 0.

LOGISTICS

Ragnar Thulin
Family sharehclding in AssiDoman: 674,
Number of options in AssiDoman: 8,000,

WQOOD SUPPLY

Anders Dahlqvist
Family shareholding in AssiDoman: 195,
Number of options in AssiDoman: 8,000.

Stated shareholdings correct as of 1 January 2001.

M| Stock option programme

25 senior AssiDoman executives acquired a total
of 284,000 call options in AssiDomén AB in
Novembaer 1999. Another senior executive acquired
8,000 call options in 2000. Under the terms of this
offering, the executives concerned have acquired a
package consisting of two different call options.
The exercise price for the call options that expire
on 8 March 2002 is SEK 156.50. For call options
that expire on 8 March 2005, the exercise price is
SEK 174. The options have been issued by a market
player and imply no commitment by AssiDoman AB
or its shareholders.

PURCHASING

WOOD SUPPLY
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The Report of the Directors comprises pages

14-41 and part of page 42.

The Environmental Report on pages 44-56 has not been
examined by the Company’s auditors.

Monday, 17 April:2000 at 4 p.m. at C|rkus KUnghga RS

eglster kept by the Swedlsh Secunttes Register.*’
i Centre (VPC AB) on Fnday, 7 Apnl ZOOO

ing no later than Tuesday, 11 April 2000 at 4 p mo o

n the name‘ofe S R

- $hareholders whose shares are registe
lar institution must, in order to be entitled tc participate in
the Meeting, request that their shares be temporarily re-reg-
istered in their own names in the register of shareholders
maintained by VPC AB. Such registration must be effected
on Friday, 7 April 2000. Shareholders are requested to

AssiDomaén will confirm receipt of notification of atten-
dance by sending an admission card which should be
shown at the entrance to Cirkus.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors proposes a dividend to sharehold-
ers of SEK 6.00 per share. The record date for dividends
is proposed as Thursday, 20 April 2000. If the Annual
General Meeting decides in accordance with this propos-
al, dividends are expected to be sent from VPC AB on
Thursday, 27 Aprit 2000.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Interim reports for 2000 will be published on the
following dates:

Interim Report January-March "4 May
Interim Report January-June 3 August
Interim Report January-September 6 November

All financial information is available in English and
Swedish and may be ordered from AssiDoman Corporate
Communications.




Ll The subsrdnary Sveas‘_og; AB was dlstrrbuted to

" shareholders which resulted among other
s thlngs ina reduction i in Swedrsh state. ownershlp
- in ASS|Doman AB from 50. 2% to 35. 5% '

.,"The Profrt Improvem

- ltabrllty and effrcvency

new board wa /ap

/Gunnar Palme took over as presrdent and CEO on.

. 't Program was launched
“asa comprehensrve prOJect to |mprove prof-- o

‘The co- operatlon between AssuDoman and WWF
to promote sustam ”ble forestry, recelved ane :

. The work of establrshmg A55|Doman s future

‘ dlrectron and’ structure started and led among
, other thmgs to the followmg L .
=a deusnon to- mttrate the sale of the Carton- B
‘board business unit with the cartonboard m|lI
n Frovr
a Lette of.-lntent srgned

rdmg the sale

of all Aseroman s sack plants the Dynas and
,\,Sepap paper mllls and the Barrler Coatlng
busmess umt s

.0 Key ratlos for sustamable development and eco-‘ '
¥ efﬁcnency show that envrronmental efforts have

FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES, GROUP

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Net turnover, MSEK 24,497 23,993 20,725 18,548 21,016
Profit after net financial items (excl. write-downs), MSEK 839 1,004 1,462 1,713 4,346
Write-down of fixed assets, MSEK -1,540 - - - -
Profit/ioss after net financial items (incl. write-downs), MSEK ~701 1,004 1,462 1,713 4,346
Net profit/loss for the year, MSEK - -863 710 772 1,407 3,418
Net earnings per share (excl. write-downs), SEK 3.51 6.00 6.50 11.90 28.90
Net earnings per share (incl. write-downs), SEK -7.29 6.00 6.50 11.90 28.90
Cash flow per share, SEK 19.70 22.80 24.10 24.40 43.50
Return on equity {excl. write-downs), % 3 5 5 9 26
Return on equity (incl. write-downs), % neg 5 5 9 26
Return on capital employed (excl. write-downs), % 6 7 9 1 28
Average number of employees 17,060 17,543 16,914 13,648 13,119
Definitions, see page 25
ENVIRONMENTAL KEY RATIOS, GROUP
Felling in relation to growth in Group forests, incl. forest not under cultivation, % 68 74
Proportion of renewable raw material in AssiDoman’s products, % 97 97
Total fuel consumption/value added, MJ/SEK 4.9 5.3
Total electricity consumption/value added, kWh/SEK 0.31 0.32
Biofuel proportion of total fuel requirements, % 63 60
Operations with certified/registered environmental management system, )

% of the Group’s net turnover 64 58




. FOCUS ON PROFITABILITY

"My key task and that of Group management has been to increase the
tempo of the work of improving efficiency and profitability after the
rapid expansion of recent years. It has also been important to strengthen the
work of defining the future structure and strategy of the Group and its units
in order to find a clear divection and focus for our business.”

In 1999, AssiDoman’s development was characterised by man-
agement changes and the distribution of Sveaskog.

The formation of Sveaskog, with nearly 900,000 hectares of
forest land, the distribution of the company to AssiDoman’s share-
holders, and the Swedish state’s takeover of the whole of Svea-
skog, marked an important turning-point in many respects. As a
result of this transaction, the Swedish state’s ownership stake in
AssiDomé&n was reduced from over 50% to 35.5%, and private
ownership in the Group increased by a corresponding amount.

The deal was also of fundamental importance for AssiDoman's
forestry operations and what is known as the core area strategy.
It resulted in a continued concentration of forest holdings to geo-
graphically and strategically important areas close to the Group’s
production plants. Even after the Sveaskog transaction, AssiDoman
is a very large forest landowner. This means that we have both a
responsibility and a key role to play in the future development of
forestry and timber flows in Sweden.
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EARNINGS TREND
In market terms the year got off to a weak start for our packag-
ing-related operations. A continued strong economy in North
America and a steady recovery in Europe and Asia contributed to
a gradual strengthening of the market and demand rose. This
applied in particular to pulp, liner and barrier-coated products.
The market for sack and kraft paper also improved. Demand for
corrugated board and cartonboard also rose in the latter part of
the year.

The increased sales volume, however, is not reflected in the
earnings trend, although | can say that profitabilityin the indus-
trial operations improved slightly. Excluding provisions for restruc-
turing costs, a loss of volume due to producticn shutdowns and
other items affecting comparability, there was also a positive
trend in the fourth quarter. ’

Taking the year as a whole, we performed better in the Corru-
gated & Containerboard business area, where earnings improved,
and in Cartonboard where the productivity trend is now positive
again. These improvements were to some extent also due to the
efficiency enhancement measures starting to have an effect.

Against the background of weak profitability in parts of
AssiDomdn’s operations, we have written down the value of sev-
eral of the Group’s fixed assets within Sacks & Kraft Products,
Corrugated & Containerboard and Wood Products & Timber.
These write-downs have been charged against fourth quarter
earnings in the amount of MSEK 1,540.

PROFITABILITY AND STRATEGY
My key task and that of Group management has been to increase
the tempo of the work of improving efficiency and profitability
after the rapid expansion of recent years. It has also been impor-
tant to strengthen the work of defining the future structure and
strategy of the Group and its units in order to find a clear direc-
tion and focus for our business.

The intention is to expose values and create competitive
structures, particularly from the shareholders' point of view.

Activities have focused on finding the strategic direction and
suitable structures as well as an action plan for profitability
improvements, the Profit Improvement Program. Within the
framewark of measures to improve profitability, no less than 70
different efficiency and profit enhancement projects have been
started at the Group’s pulp and paper mills. They are grouped
under eight main projects depending on character and content,
and co-ordinated so that competence and experience can be
used effectively across organisational borders.

As early as in the first quarter of 2000, | expect concrete results
from efficiency and productivity improvements. At the same time,
we are taking action to increase sales and revenues through
aggressive marketing towards individual customers and market
segments. Many of our high-quality products are now marketed
on a global basis. We are also performing detailed analyses so that
we can better understand and meet our customers’ current and
future requirements. We are making active efforts to find the
most profitable segments, products and markets.

The starting position is good, not least in view of the opportu-
nities that weil-invested and high-class production facilities can
provide. The profitability and efficiency improvement programme
is designed to make us so strong that it will be our own abilities
that decide success. This will make us less sensitive to cyclical
change. ’

Most tangibie changes, however, are a resuit of continuous, daily
efficiency and consolidation. Among such measures, | would like
to mention the concentration of our corrugated board opera-
tions in France and ltaly through the sale of operations outside
the core business and structural reinforcements. The production
structure at the corrugated board plants in Spain is also being
streamlined and strengthened.

In the sack operations, considerable profitability improve-
ments have been achieved through continued rationalisation and
concentration to fewer and more effective production plants in
Germany, Belgium and the UK.

This will lead to a considerable improvement in competitive-
ness in each product area and market and therefore to enhanced
profitability.

ENVIRONMENTAL WORK
Active environmental work provides strategic value added. Envi-
ronmental awareness among consumers is strong today. This is
why it is important for us at AssiDomén to continue our active
environmentai work, not east with regard to informing various
stakeholders, both external and internal, about wood-fibre
based products’ positive role in a long-term, sustainable society.
In the long run this strengthens the AssiDomaén brand and will
increase demand for our products.

AssiDomdn has expanded into new markets since the start,
where we encounter many different environmental traditions.
The Group's environmental policy from 1995 has proved to be
an excellent tool for developing and guiding our environmental
efforts. We have also made considerable progress with environ-
mental management systems in many parts of the Group and all
the pulp and paper mills will soon be certified. Work is now
intensifying to introduce these systems fully in the conversion
stage as well.

Qur environmental work is also about caring for our country-
side, the biological diversity in our forests, about environmental
consideration in the daily work. It is therefore important to give
everybedy the support and training they need. This applies to
our employees in the forests and our industries, both our own
pecple and contractors. Dedicated employees are needed as a
driving force for continual improvement of both the external and
waorking environment in our operations. | therefore regard train-
ing as one of the most important environmental measures.

Successful marketing of FSC-labelled products continued dur-
ing the year. Communication and co-operation with external
stakehalders are important for long-term environmental work. We
therefore co-operate with the environmental organisation WWF to
support the establishment and extension of the FSC certification
system. This was acknowledged during the year with a prestigious
award which inspires us to continued, assertive environmental work.

VALUES AND WORKING METHODS
Since joining AssiDoman’s management, | have constantly found
proof of strong dedication and high competence at every level in
the organisation. | see a willingness to develop and improve as a
basic prerequisite for a continued change process and for living

" up to a high quality in the way we work and meet the market

and our customers.

It is aiso important to highlight other, intangible values, apart
from the purely economic. Profitability and efficiency require
well-functioning communication between employees, a common




approach and efforts to achieve a clear goai. The process of
change must therefore include matters related to the Group's
goals, visions and values.

Management's task during the autumn has been, and will
continue to be, making the best use of and channelling compe-
tence and dedication in order to be the customer-ariented and
profitable company that we endeavour to be. The way we make
decisions, conduct business, manufacture and market our prod-
ucts, our customer relationships, in fact everything we undertake,
must be viewed in the light of customer requirements, as a
coherent flow, a process.

Our working methods must also be developed in order to
reach new customers and more markets. The Internet and elec-
tronic commerce must be part of our business process.

STRUCTURE AND STRATEGY
Strategic work and the review of our structure are guided by
efforts to focus and concentrate operations, to identify those
segments where the Group has strong or potential positions |
which can provide long-term profitability.

We must make strategic choices. We must focus and invest in
operations and businesses where we have the opportunity to
assume a leading position. In the long term it is not possible to
build up and defend a leading positicn in too many areas with-
out diluting resources. To survive in the long run, we must be
truly competitive, both geographically and within selected prod-
uct segments. '

This is how we reasoned when we made the decision to sell
the Cartonboard business unit with the mill in Frovi, and with
regard to new ownership solutions for parts of Sacks & Kraft
Praducts and for Barrier Coating.

AssiDoman will consist of fewer operations in the near future,
but at the same time we will be a far more focused group, with
packaging, wood products and forestry as core operations. Qur
size and position in these areas allow us to play an active rale in,
and to influence, the structural changes in these sectors. We will
continue to develop competitiveness and profitability in the
restructured AssiDoman.

Once the current sales are completed and a decision on our
future focus has been made, AssiDoman’s capital structure will be
adapted. The alternatives we are considering are a dividend,
repurchase or redemption of shares for part of the proceeds from
these sales.

GUNNAR PALME
President and Chief Executive Officer

“The way we make decisions, con-
duct business, manufacture and mar-
ket our products, our customer rela-
tionships, in fact everything we
undertake, must be viewed in the
light of customer requirements, as a
coherent flow, a process.”




NEED FOR RENEWAL

At the beginning of 1999, an analysis was started of the Group’s

various operations from a strategic and value-creating perspective.

Following a long period of heavy investment and expansion, it
was necessary to clarify different alternatives ahead of the next
stage in the Group's development. This was especially motivated
by the fact that AssiDoman’s profitability and growth in value had
lagged behind that of other companies in the industry. This
review has been both extensive and unprejudiced in its approach.
The goal of this analysis was to find a structure that will allow
further development and thereby value creation.

This work was intended to:

e create a basis for decision on the content of the Group's future
business portfolio:

« identify the strategies and subsequent action required to
strengthen each business unit’s position and profitability.

From a portfolic perspective, a study was made of market size
and growth, return, structure and trends in the industry, capital
intensity and financial history. At business unit level, analyses
included relative market share (own market share in relation to
the three largest competitors), achieved customer value, compe-
tence and capital efficiency. '

Placing market attractiveness in relation to the strategic
strength of each unit provided a model for determining the
Group’s positioning. :

The above phase of the review was completed at the end of
summer 1999 and led to consideration of a number of alterna-
tives for action.

At the same time, the first haif of 1999 was affected by
changes in management and intensive work to complete the
Sveaskog project. In accordance with the decision at the Annual
General Meeting in June, 887,000 ha of forest land were trans-
ferred to Sveaskog which was then distributed to shareholders.
A largely new Board was also elected at the Annual General
Meeting. Gunnar Palme was appointed as the new CEQ and
took up his post on 1 September.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

{ndustry

For a number of years, forest products companies have had low
returns as well as a highly cyclical earnings curve. Investments to
increase capacity have led to temporary imbalances between sup-
ply and demand. At the same time, tied-up capital has increased.
With few exceptions, the ability to create value has been low. As
a result of a growing number of alternative investment opportu-
nities for asset managers, the forest products industry has been
increasingly marginalised on the stock market.

The industry must show that it can create long-term growth in
value if it is to be able to attract venture capital in the future.
There is a clear need for change and a number of driving forces
that influence industry trends teday can be identified.

FOREST PRODUCTS INDUSTRY’S SHARE OF THE OM
STOCKHOLM EXCHANGE GENERAL INDEX, 1980-2000

Source: Affarsvariden

Economies of scale
The drive to exploit economies of scale is leading to larger
machines and production plants and therefore to even higher
capital intensity. Larger machines increase demands for consoli-
dation and concentration to maximise productivity and optimise
capital utilisation. Large companies also have more resources to
conduct product development. Niche players that can act globally
will remain, alengside larger production structures with a broader
product pertfolio.

Gilobalisation
Trade barriers are coming down and downstream consolidation
is accelerating. When the market grows outside its traditional
home base and demand becomes increasingly global, pressure
mounts on the supply chain to meet this change. Greater cus-
tomer orientation in the producer stage is needed. Globalisation

is alsa & driving-force for concentration and growth.

Focusing )

The pace of change is constantly accelerating and this places
new demands on traditional companies. Competition is intensi-
fying due to an increasingly global market and new methods of
reaching and cultivating customers. The use of new IT solutions
will in all probability require further changes in working methods
and organisational structure. This will require the ability to adapt
faster. Taken overall, this means that there is a need to concen-
trate efforts to fewer segments.

The diagram on the next page indicates the characteristics of
tomorrow’s winners.
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ASSIDOMAN
AssiDoman has a strong base with well-invested production
plants and a developable market position in many areas. At the

same time, profitability is too low and the structure is overgrown.

Few parts of the Group have a sufficiently strong position, which
means that continued development is necessary. In order to

achieve a competitive structure with favourable opportunities for
good profitability and growth in value, it was necessary to review

. the business portfolio. The conclusion was that AssiDoman lacks

the resources to grow in all areas. A focus of the portfolio was
required. The diagram below shows AssiDoman’s different busi-
nesses according to the mode! described above.

Based on completed analyses, an implementation phase was

started in the autumn which contains two main parts: '

1. To implement profit improvement measures in order to reach
the return target.

2. To implement necessary restructuring in order to obtain a
focused business portfolio.

o

Market attractiveness
Medium High

Low

Weak Average

Strong
I L
Strategic position

PROFITABILITY IMPROYEMENT MEASURES
Profit Improvement Program, FIP

The Group has been working with a number of cost-saving pro-
grammes for two years. In 1999, these were re-designed and
incorporated into an overall; revised improvement programme. In
the autumn, a support function was set up at Group level to co-
ordinate the improvement work within, first of all, AssiDoman’s
mill structure. The key task of the support function is to set
group-wide efficiency targets, decide which areas for improve-
ment should be given priority and how follow-up should be car-
ried out, all in order to increase the Group's earnings capacity.
Responsibility for achieving the targets set rests with the operat-
ing units.

A project organisation has been set up to ensure that ail avail-
able competence in the most important improvement areas is
used and at the same time see that results and experiences are
communicated to all the mills. This project is followed up on a
monthly basis and is already starting to yield results.

To measure development the concept of rea! productivity has
started to be used. This concept is based on a price-adjusted

* quotient showing the relation between revenues and costs. By

measuring the change in this figure over time, the real productivi-
ty effects of different measures can be shown. A change in real
productivity acts as a powerful lever on profit and return and is
one way to focus internal efficiency enhancement.

Besides the work described above, the PIP includes a number
of activities throughout the Group that are continuously mea-
sured, prioritised and complemented with new measures.

In 1999, the positive effect of action taken on the Group’s
operating profit is estimated at approximately MSEK 400. Ongo-
ing-and planned measures are expected to lead to an improve-
ment in this year's operating profit of more than MSEK 1,000.
This amount applies to the Group in its present structure.

STRUCTURAL MEASURES
The review has resulted in a number of strategic decisions.

Cartonboard i
The Cartonboard business unit, with the board mill in Frovi, is to
be sold. A sales process was initiated at the end of 1999. This
decision was based on the fact that Cartonboard was insuffi-
cient in size to provide a long-term, sustainable gcod develop-
ment. At the same time, the cartonboard segment is concentrat-
ed with relatively few producers. An expansion within
AssiDoman was assessed as difficult. The mill in Frévi is in very
good conditicn following investments and the prerequisites for a
successful sale are regarded as good. The decision to sell the car-
tonboard operations was therefore a logical step in the stream-
lining of AssiDomén.

Kraft Products and Barrier Coating
At the beginning of February 2000, a letter of intent was signed
with the Austrian company Frantschach regarding the cash sale
of two paper mills, Sepap in the Czech Republic and Dynés in
Sweden, all the sack plants and Barrier Coating.

Kraft Products’ market is stagnating and characterised by
overcapacity, particularly in Europe. Sack conversion operations
are under pressure from increased downstream consolidation,
Although substantial consolidation has already occurred in recent
years, the assessment is that further steps are necessary. A con-




tinued expansion for AssiDoman has been assessed as risky and
of uncertain value for the Group’s sharehoiders. Following evalua-
tion of number of alternatives, a cash sale to Frantschach was
found to be the best solution in terms of value. Two of the
Swedish mills within Kraft Products, Karlsborg and Skérblacka,
will be kept by AssiDomaén. . .

Barrier Coating is an interesting operation that contains some
segments with fast growth. The business area is small, however,
and it will take too long to grow to a size that would justify a
place within the Group in the long term.

In addition to the ongecing transactions described above,
some small operations were sold at the end of 1939 or the
beginning of 2000. ’

OPERATIONS REMAINING IN THE GROUP
Assuming the above transactions are completed, AssiDomén will
have the following structure.

- Corrugated/
Containerboard

- Karisberg and
Skirblacka

Corrugated & Containerboard
AssiDoman’s operations are third-largest in Europe in this area.
The business area has a strong foundation with operations in a
large number of European countries, well-invested and effective
mills and plants. In some countries and product segments,
AssiDomén has a very good position today.

Development of this position, however, will require additional
measures. in the short term improved profitability has top priority.
Key parts of this work are integration of units acquired in recent
years, more efforts to work closer to customers, optimising the
product mix and improving efficiency at the conversion stage.

At the same time, AssiDomaén needs to identify which market
it needs to be stronger in, or perhaps |eave. The Group’s paper
balance, between mills and conversion and between virgin-fibre
based and recycled-fibre based paper must be analysed.

Despite consolidation in recent years in the corrugated board
market in Europe, there are still good opportunities for acquisition
of both large and small local complementary operations. It is not
AssiDoman’s intention, however, to develop these operations
through major acquisitions in the short term.

Karisborg and Skarblacka
Both mills today have strong, competitive positions within their
product areas, mainly bleached paper with not inconsiderable
capacity for bleached market pulp. in the current favourable busi-
ness climate, profitability is good.
The intention is to further develop this position by focusing on
product and market development.

Timber
AssiDoman is Sweden’s largest producer of sawn timber. For
many years, the sawmill industry has been suffering from frag-
mentation, imbalance between supply and demand, and an inad-
equate customer focus. Profitability throughout the industry has
with few exceptions been very low or non-existent. This situation
is untenable in the long term.

Future work within AssiDoman’s sawmills will entail additional
profitability and efficiency enhancements in both production and
marketing. No doubt there is also a need for larger structures in
Sweden. AssiDoman intends to work actively for the formation of
larger structures in this sector.

Forestry
The Group’s forestry operations generate large and stable cash
flows each year. Operating profit in the present market situation
can be estimated at approximately SEK 1 billion per year.
AssiDomén owns and cultivates 2.4 million ha of forest land and
this is a major and important asset for the Group. The value of
these forest assets, however, is represented on far too small a
scale in the valuation of the entire Group. An evaluation is under
way to determine how the future forest structure should look.
The overall question is whether there is scope for new structures
for forest ownership, where the value is reflected to a greater
extent, without risking fibre supplies to the Group’s industries.

FINANCIAL TARGETS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

‘A review of financial targets wil be conducted once the above

transactions are completed. A key part of the review will be the
question of the Group’s future capital structure. The aim is that
the balance sheet should not be over-capitalised. Depending on
the outcome of the current transactions, different alternatives
will be considered for returning money to the shareholders,
whereby repurchase of shares, redemption or dividend will be
considered.

The existing financial targets apply for the time being.

THE GROUP'S FINANCIAL TARGETS
Target over
Average  abusiness
1999 1994-99 Cycle
Return on equity, %

- excl. write-downs 3 10 13

- incl. write-downs neg 9 13
Return on capital employed, %

- excl. write-downs 6 10 14
Debt/equity ratio, times 0.64 0.35 0.60
Dividend yield, % 5.4 4.2 4.0
Definitions, see page 25




AN INTERNATIONAL FOREST PRODUCTS COMPANY

AssiDoman is one of Europe’s leading forest products companies. Pro-
duction includes packaging paper, packaging, sawn timber and wood process-
ing. The Group is also a significant forest owner with 2.4 million ha of produc-

tive forest land in Sweden.

AssiDoman’s main market is Europe. A growing portion of the -
Group’s pulp and paper sales are also made to so-called overseas
markets. Nearly 85% of sales are to customers outside Sweden.

Basic production is mainly located in Sweden. In addition to
the forestry operations, this includes manufacture of packaging
paper, for corrugated board, sacks and other advanced packaging
products, as well as liquid and packaging board. The Group also
operates pulp and paper mills in ltaly, France, the Czech Republic
and Slovakia. The mills in [taly and France manufacture recycled-
fibre based grades. ’

Approximately 36% of the paper raw material is further
processed into corrugated sacks. There are some 70 conversion
plants in 17 countries - Sweden, Belgium, Croatia, the Czech

ASSIDGMAN’S ORGANISATION

Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, Italy, Lithuania, the Nether-
lands, Norway, Poland, Russia, Slovakia, Spain, Switzerland and
the UK.

The total annual production capacity for packaging paper and
board amounts to 2.2 million tonnes. Capacity for corrugated
board manufacture is 2,200 million m?, and capacity for sacks is
one billion units.

The Group is the market leader in Europe in sack and kraft
paper, second in sacks and barrier-coated products, third in corru-
gated board and liquid cartonboard and fifth in sawn timber.

Net turnover amounted to MSEK 24,497 (23,993) in 1999 and
the average number of employees was 17,060 (17,543), of whom
64% (63) or 10,977 (11,113) were employed outside Sweden.

" All sack plants and the Dynds and Sepap paper mills are being sold. ¥ Sale in progress.

RAW MATERIAL AND PRODUCT FLOWS

FIBRE RAW MATERIAL
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All figures are in million sm” ub.

Delivery/Sales
from own forest: 5.1

N ps
zach-Republic




. Ownership of 2.4 million ha of productive forest land gives AssiDomén a significant, renewable raw material base.
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ASSIDOMAN SHARES

SHARE PRICE TREND

For AssiDoman’s shares, 1999 can be divided into two halves. The
first was a period of powerful upswings untit 29 October and the
second a relatively weak period during the rest of the year. 15
June was the first day when the shares were traded excluding.
Sveaskog. The value of the distribution of Sveaskog, calculated
according to the National Tax Board's recommendation, amounted
to SEK 40.27 per share or a total of MSEK 4,767, based on share
price development between 14 and 15 June. In the text below
prices before 15 June 1999 have been adjusted by a factor of
0.7851 in order to reflect the share price trend more accurately.

The year started well and the share price developed favourably,
except for a few fluctuations, until the Annual General Meeting
on 14 June when the price had risen 43% since the beginning of
the year. In the same period, the Forest Products Index rose by
29.1% and the General Index by 16.6%. Subsequent develop-
ment was weaker, but improved in August. The year’s top listing
was on 25 August when the maximum price paid was SEK 162.
The share price then largely remained at the SEK 150-160 level
until the nine-month report, which was published on 29 October.
At that time the share price had risen more than 55% from which
it fell 16% by 16 November under heavy trading. The share price
then recovered somewhat towards the end of the year and the
closing price for 1999 was SEK 138.50, which represented an
increase of 37.8% for the full year. The lowest price for the year
was noted an the very first trading day, 4 January, with SEK
100.50 (unadjusted SEK 128). The Forest Products Index rose by
63.5% during the year and the General index by 66.4%.

FOREST PRODUCTS INDEX !N RELATION TO LOCAL
EXCHANGE INDEX, 31 DECEMBER 1998-31 DECEMBER 1999

Forest index In relation to

Exchange change 1999, %  exchange index, %
Stockholm . 63.5 =29
Helsinki - 934 -68.6
London 40.3 225
New York 40.2 20.7
TJoronto 47.0 17.3
Tokyc 6.8 -30.0

Source: Datastream, RMS

Up until 2 February 2000, the share price fell by more than 6%
to SEK 130 (Forest Index -10.8%, General Index 16.9%).

The total return on an AssiDoman share from the listing day in
April 1994 through 1999 is approximately 42.6%. Total return
refers to the share’s development on the exchange as well as divi-
dends as if they had been continuously reinvested in AssiDoman’s
shares. This indicator includes the proposed dividend for 1999.

AssiDoman‘s market capitalisation at year-end 1999 was
MSEK 16,395 (15,152). The figure for the previous year includes
the distribution of Sveaskog as described above.

TRADING
AssiDoman’s shares are listed on the OM Stockholm Exchange's
Alist, the list of most traded shares. A trading block consists of
100 shares and each share has a par value of SEX 20.

Average daily trading in 1999 was 192,385 shares, an N
increase of 92,774 compared with the previous year, or almost
double. The turnover volume increased sharply from June when
the Swedish State had acquired Sveaskog and reduced its own-
ership in AssiDoman. In 1999, a total of 48.5 (24.9) million
shares were traded, corresponding to 41% of the total number
of shares.

BETA AND CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS
The beta coefficient is a risk indicator that measures the volatility
of a share compared with the rest of the stock exchange. The
beta is normally reported for a 48-month period. According to
the Stock Exchange’s measurement, the beta coefficient of an
AssiDomaén share was 0.67 during the last 48-month period.
With a beta coefficient of 1.0, the volatility of the share price
would be exactly the same as the SX General Index. The correla-
tion coefficient was 0.16 which means that 16% of the price
trend for AssiDoman shares is explained by the total trend for
the stock exchange.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

The greatest change among AssiDomén’s ten largest sharehoiders
during the year was the reduction in the Swedish State’s owner-
ship from over 50% to 35.5%. This change is entirely attributable

SHARE PERFORMANCE AND TRADING VOLUMES, 1 JANUARY 1998-1 FEBRUARY 2000

wa AssiDomén share = SX Forest Index

el .SX General index

350 SEK No. of shares, millions 1.8
30 16
A
\ A 14
250 7
Pd 1.2
L
20 | . W‘Mh‘nﬁw Wk 10
ﬁ“\’ P w PV A
150 {8 gt oI DA, ] : 08
e H e T T PN
{ ,M“‘s" ""F\v ™ 06
100 [ ™ ;
i IS 0.4
50 | 02
0 !f,}: i d aih 5 s R s AN 0.0
wizeT 030398 S0N98 0ROV Sw08/98 ovtes omee  owoxe cowes  tsOMSS  OMOUSS  oanies oS 12
1998 1999 | 2000

. .
£ Volume, millions of shares




to the distribution of Sveaskog AB which was acquired by the
State against payment in the form of AssiDomén shares. Other
changes in the table are that Robur Fonder has sold its entire
helding, and the inclusion of AMF Pension, SEB mutual funds and
Zenit Fond among the ten largest shareholders at year-end.

Of the total share capital, 18.3% is held by shareholders with
heldings of less than 500 shares, which adjusted for the
Sveaskog transaction represents a reduction of approximately
2.2%. The number of shareholders in the company decreased by
19,133 to 253,835. :

The proportion of foreign shareholders, adjusted for
Sveaskog, decreased during the year by just over 1% to 17.5%.
The majority of these shares are registered in the US.

When listing the largest shareholders in AssiDoman there is an
element of uncertainty with regard to holdings registered outside
Sweden. All Swedish shareholders are named in the registers
kept by the Swedish Securities Register Centre (VPC AB), while
foreign shareholders are normally registered under the names of
nominees. For this.reason, the table of largest shareholders only
specifies Swedish shareholders even though unidentified foreign
institutions may be among the largest shareholders.

KEY DATA PER SHARE

Based on the number of shares in issue on 31 December.
SEK per share except where stated otherwise.

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Earnings after full tax -729 600 6.50 11.30 2890
Market price, 31 December 138.50 128.00 201.00 190.00 144.00
Average price during the year 137.59 190.79 214.26 157.65 161.45

Dividend " 6.00 - 550 550 525 5.00
Netturnover ~ . 206.95 202.70 175.10 156.70 177.50
Cash flow 19.70 22.80 24.10 24.40 4350
Shareholders’ equity 111.46 133.30 131.95 130.90 124.20
Net debt 7113 81.10 58.95 19.20 19.40

Market pricefcash flow, times 7.0 5.6 8.3 7.8 33
Market price/closing

equity, % 124.3 96.0 152.3 1451 1159
Dividend/equity, % 5.4 4.1 42 40 40
Yield, % 4.3 43 27 28 35
Dividend/earnings, % : - 917 83 441 173
P/E ratio, times - 21 31 16 5
EV/EBIT, times ) - 16 17 13 4

" 1999 proposed dividend

Definitions, see page 25

TEN LARGEST SWEDISH SHAREHOLDERS, 31 DECEMBER 1999

% of shares

and
Shareholder Number of shares votes
Swedish State 42,006,486 35.5
Férsakringsbolaget SPP 4,857,758 4.1
fourth AP Fund 4,160,415 35
OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE, 31 DECEMBER 1999 AMF Pension 2,108,700 1.8
SEB mutual funds 2,031,340 1.7
Other Swedish Lansforsakringar Wasa 1,769,025 15
owners, 10.6% Zenit Fond 1,752,000 1.5
. ~ SEB-Trygg Forsakring 1,548,700 13
-Foreign owners, i Handelsbanken mutua! funds 1,433,564 ) 1.2
17.5% 2 Swedish State Swedish Industrial Salaried :
35.5% Employees’ Association 976,560 0.8
Total 10 shareholders 62,644,548 52.9
ol Others 55,728,486 47.1
10 largest
Swedish owners, excl. Total 118,373,034 100.0
Swedish State, 18.1% Owners of 1-500 The above list shows the ten largest registered shareholders in accordance
shares 1853% with VPC's official register of shareholders at 31 December 1999. The total
share of Swedish and foreign institutional investors was 76.7% (81.1) on the
Total number of shares: 118,373,034 same date.
SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE, 31 DECEMBER 1999
Size of Number of % of all Number of % of
shareholding shareholders shareholders shares share capital
1-500 249,564 98.32 21,639,488 18.28
501-10,000 4,043 1.59 5,697,902 4.81
10,001-100,000 173 0.07 5,316,819 4.49
100,001-1,000,000 44 0.02 14,306,093 12.09
1,000,001- 11 0.00 71,412,732 60.33
Total 253,835 100.00 118,373,034 100.00




RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The main task of AssiDoman’s Résearch and Development is to contribute
towards the development of products that create value added for cus-
tomers and increased profitability and competitiveness for the Group.

in the capital-intensive pulp and paper industry, development
largely involves successive process optimisation and modification
in order to improve gualities, continually improve production
economy and minimise environmental impact.

R&D at AssiDoman is conducted through co-operation
between resources at Group, business unit and factory level, The
R&D organisation has a broad geographical spread which facili-
tates recruitment, network build-up and therefore knowledge
transfer within the Group. The majority of the R&D resources are
in Sweden, where most of the Group’s basic production is located.

Of the total R&D ihvestment of MSEK 230, approximately
one-fifth is spent on external research. Ceo-operation with indus-
try-wide institutes and academic institutions provndes access to
important knowledge for future success.

The purpose of development is to contribute to long-term

profitability and competitiveness. During the year special invest-

ments were also made in @ number of development projects
which may contribute to improved competitiveness and prof-
itability in a short time. These projects have been collected into a
group-wide structure, the Booster Program. The maximum pro-
ject period is two years, and the programme currently includes
more than 40 projects.

The waork of enhancing the efficiency of R&D operations
includes both creative processes and generation of ideas as well
as setting priorities and decisions on the most urgent projects.
The business objectives are the driving force behind all the
Group's development projects.

Major projects conducted in 1999 included:

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
Optimal packaging
Every packaging unit is subject to a number of different requnre-
ments with regard to properties and function. To identify these
requirements and create optimal packaging solutions, AssiDoman
has developed a new decision support system. The system is
based on broad expertise and makes it possible to calculate how
the packaging will function in different situations and therefore
find effective solutions.

In co-operation with Semper Foods AB, Corrugated has deve!l-
oped a total packaging solution for powder-based products
packed in bags with an outer corrugated packaging. This devel-
opment work has resulted in packaging with exceilent character-
istics. The packaging solution earned a Nordic Scanstar award.

Patented multi-layer product

Barrier Coating's unit Inncoat, in Germany, supplies approximately
10 million m? of base materials for nappy tapes. Customer demand
for a textile-like surface resuited in a new product based on layers
of nonwoven/polythene/nonwaovenysilicon. This development work
was mainly carried out on the pilot extruder at Inncoat. The prod-
uct is patented and has been launched successfully.

Coated paper

The pilot coater at the Frovi Tech Centre was used intensively dur-
ing the year for further development of the Group's coated
grades which include coated kraft paper, coated white-top liner
and coated cartonboard. This.expertise is now being used for the
development of existing and new grades.

Printability v
Printability demands are increasing throughout the entire product
range, particularly for high-quality packaging paper with white
surfaces, both coated and uncoated.

As part of efforts to meet customer requirements, a major
training programme in printing technology for packaging has
been attended by parts of the sales team and many customers.
The training is based on a handbook in printing technology pub-
lished by AssiDoman in eight languages, combined with a review
of the results from test printing carried out on 25 of the Group’s
paper grades. ’

) PROCESS DEVELOPMENT
Better chips quality
Improved chips quality leads to lower production costs and less
end product variations. Improving wood utilisation when chip-
ping in the sawmills allows a higher volume of chips to be used
in pulp production instead of for fuel. This creates increased rev-
enues for the sawmilis and lower production-costs for the pulp-
producing units.

Pulp manufacturing in closed systems
Production of bleached pulp in closed systems has so far been

. difficult to achieve. Kraftliner and Frévi are making good progress

towards successful implementation of such manufacturing. Dur-
ing the year continued development of the processes was carried
out which provided increased awareness of the importance of
the de-barking and washing process. This knowledge can now be

" used to influence and contral the pulp’s characteristics depending

on applications and reguirements.

Semper's new cereal formuta packaging ~ an effective packaging
solution from AssiDomin.




ade in Denmark

At the Corrugated business unit understanding of customers’ spedcial requirements is audal
for succass in the market. AssiDoman Dansk Kraftembailage has developed packaging for Peter
Beier Chokolade in Denmark that preserves the contents, attracts consumer attention and does jus-
tice to an exclusive product.

The Corrugated business unit is described on page 58.




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CHANGES IN THE GROUP
The shares in the subsidiary Sveaskog AB, with approximately
900,000 ha of productive forest land, were distributed to share-
holders in 1999. In conjunction with the distribution, the Swedish
State offered to acguire shares in Sveaskog in exchange for part
of its shareholding in AssiDomén AB. Following acceptance by
more than 98% of the shareholders, the State’s sharehalding
decreased from 50.2% to 35.5%.

An exchange of land was carried out with MaDo AB during
the year when 81,000 ha of productive forest land in Norrbotten
and Vasterbotten was exchanged for 78,000 ha of productive
forest land, mainly in south Norrland. The exchange has been
included in the accounts for 1999 with no impact on earnings.
AssiDoman sold 13,200 ha of the land it acquired to Sveaskog.
This sale had an earnings impact of MSEK 56.

NEW BGARD OF DIRECTORS AND PRESIDENT
At AssiDomén AB’s Annual General Meeting held in June 1999, a
largely new Board was elected with Bernt Magnusson as the new
Chairman. Gunnar Palme took over as President on 1 September.

EVALUATION OF FUTURE FOCUS
In 1999, an internal evaluation was started of AssiDoman’s
future focus and business portfolio. The aim is to find competi-
tive structures as well as create sharehclder value. All parts of
AssiDoman have been evaluated in order to decide the best
alternative, which may be to retain the operations for future
development and expansion or to create new structures through
a merger or sale.

The sale of the Cartonboard business unit was started at the
end ot the year. AssiDoman has decided that the unit has better
development opportunities in a structure other than within
AssiDoman, whose other operations are only integrated with
- Cartonboard to a limited extent. The sales process is expected to
be completed before summer 2000.

On 1 January 2000, AssiDoman sold Niab Hestra AB and the
Hestra sawmill to the sawmill group Vida AB. AssiDomaén’s strate-
gy for the sawmill and wood business is focused mainly on red-
wood (pine). Hestra is exclusively a whitewood (spruce) sawmill.
Niab's processing is focused on whitewood.

At the beginning of February 2000, AssiDomén AB and
Frantschach AG signed a letter of intent under which AssiDoman
will sell for cash the Dynés and Sepap paper mills, all the sack
plants and the Barrier Coating business unit. The planned trans-
action is in line with AssiDomaén’s efforts to focus its operations.
Negotiations on a final agreement are expected to be completed
in spring 2000. _

The evaluation of the Group’s operations has also resulted in a
decisions to initiate & sale of PorPac AB. PorPac, which is a sub-
sidiary of AssiDoman Férenade Well AB, manufactures expanded
polystyrene for the automotive and other applications. These
products have few points of contact with AssiDoman’s other
operations.

AssiDomdn’s capital structure will be adjusted once the cur-
rent sales are completed and a decision as to future direction has
been made. It is the intention of the Board that part of the sales
proceeds should accrue to shareholders. At such time, repurchase
of shares, redemption or dividend will be considered.

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE GROUP
Markat, Sales and Results

Following a weak start to the year the markets for packaging-
related products gradually strengthened. The economic recover-
ies in Europe and Asia, combined with a continued strong North
American economy, contributed to this. Improvements in the
market mainly applied to liner, sack and kraft paper and barrier-
coated products. The market for market pulp also developed
well, A favourable development for cartonboard and corrugated
board was not noted until the end of the year. The market trend
for paper sacks and sawn timber was weak.

The favourable economic development that characterised the
final months of 1999 has continued in 2000. Development
remains strong across the board and now includes the important
economies of Western Europe to an greater extent than before.

The market situation is expected to lead to a positive price
and volume development for most of the Group’s products during
the year. Taken overall, this means that the potential for strong
development in 2000 is very good. Ongoing profitability improve-
ment measures will strengthen the positive earnings trend.

AssiDoman’s net turnover amounted to MSEK 24,497
(23,993) in 1999, an increase of MSEK 504 or 2% compared
with 1998. All the business areas, with the exception of Barrier
Coating and Wood Supply & Forestry, increased their turnover,
For Corrugated & Containerboard the increase was mainly attrib-
utable to the corrugated board company Esswell, which was
acquired on 1 July 1998. Higher price levels within several busi-
ness areas and increased deliveries, mainly within Cartonboard,
also contributed to this increase.

write-Down of Fixed Assets and Operating Profit
In view of the weak profitability in parts of AssiDoman’s opera-
tions and the requirements in the Swedish Companies Act and
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act for regular assessment of
asset values, the value of the Group’s assets has been reviewed. -
Since legislation and recommendations do not allow surplus and
deficit values to be offset against each other, earnings have been
charged with costs for write-downs without taking existing sur-
pius values into account.

An analysis of the write-down requirement was conducted
applying recommendations regarding revaluations issued by the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council, the Swedish
Institute of Authorised Public Accountants and IASC. Individual
valuations have been performed of the Group’s operating units
which led to identification of bath units with surplus values and
units with deficit values in relation to book values. Surplus values
exist in the Group's forest assets as well as in the Group’s other
business areas.

The operating loss for the year was MSEK 201 (+1,578).
Earnings were charged with a write-down of fixed assets of
MSEK 1,540 in the fourth quarter. The write-down was attribut-
able to Corrugated & Containerboard with MSEK 435, Sacks &
Kraft Products with MSEK 995 and Wood Products & Timber
with MSEK 110.

Operating profit before the write-down of fixed assets
amounted to MSEK 1,339 (1,578), a decrease of MSEK 239 or
15% compared with 1998,

in addition to the write-downs, earnings were charged with a
net amount of MSEK 77 (309) for items affecting comparability.




These mainly relate to restructuring costs in Sacks & Kraft Prod-
ucts of MSEK 137. In Corrugated & Containerboard items affect-
ing comparability were positive and amounted to MSEK 60.

Operating profit for Cartonboard and Corrugated & Con-
tainerboard increased compared with 1998. Earnings for the
other business areas fell. The less satisfactory result for the
forestry operations was due to the distribution of Sveaskog and a
lower felling level in the remaining forests.”

Major production shutdowns as a result of investments at the
kraftliner mill in Pited and Sepap in the Czech Republic led to an
earnings loss of approximately MSEK 200 due to reduced voi-
umes and higher costs. )

Deliveries in 1999 rose slightly compared with 1998. Since
price increases at the end of the year did not compensate for
reductions earfier in the year, the average price level fell.

The changed value of the Swedish krona against AssiDoman's
export currencies, including effects of forward exchange con-
tracts and translation differences, had a net effect on the Group’s
operating profit of MSEK ~168.

AssiDomén’s loss after financial items amounted to MSEK 701
(+1,004), a decline of MSEK 1,70S. Financial items amounted to
MSEK-500 (-574). The improved net financial items was mainly
due to a reduced net debt and lower interest rates.

The estimated tax charge amounted to MSEK 161.(291). Tax

“costs for the year were affected positively by an allocation to
deferred tax receivables following the write-down of fixed assets
and tax effects from calculation of a forest deduction following
the Supreme Administrative Court’s confirmation of its prelimi-
nary ruling. '

Business Areas
Corrugated & Container Board'’s operating profit for 1999, before
write-down of fixed assets, amounted to MSEK 462, an increase
of MSEK 281 compared with 1998, At 31 December 1999, fixed
assets had been written down by MSEK 435.

A weak market situation at the beginning of the year, with
falling prices, gradually improved. Price increases were imple-
mented for both corrugated board and containerboard. Increased
demand for corrugated board, combined with reduced produc-
tion capacity for liner in the US, contributed to this improvement.

Volumes increased for the conversion operations, mainly due
to acquisitions at 1 July 1998. Despite price increases towards the
end of the year, the average price level in 1999 was lower than in
1998. Price increases did not compensate for higher raw material
prices. Despite the production shutdowns, containerboard deliv-
eries could be maintained at an unchanged level.

Operating profit for Sacks & Kraft Products, before write-down
of fixed assets, amounted to MSEK 24, a decrease of MSEK 44
compared with 1998. Pulp accounted for MSEK 63 (7) of operating
profit. This decline was due to.earnings in the fourth quarter being
.charged with restructuring costs of MSEK 137 and with approxi-
mately MSEK 100 relating to the investment-related production
shutdown at the paper mill in the Czech Republic. At 31 December
1999, fixed assets had been written down by MSEK 995.

Despite the declining total market for paper sacks, AssiDoman’s
delivery volumes rose. The average price level was lower than in
1998 but an earlier fall in prices has halted.

NET TURNOVER, OPERATING PROFIT AND OPERATING MARGIN™"

Net turnover Operating profit Operating margin, %
MSEK 1999 1998  Change, % 1999 1998 Change, % 1999 1998
Corrugated & Containerboard 11,618 11,204 4 462 181 155 4 2
Sacks & Kraft Products 2 6,057 6,008 1 24 68 -65 0 1
Barrier Coating 1,729 1,776 -3 93 108 ~14 S 6
Cartonboard 1,767 1,537 15 1 -83 1 " neg
Wood Products & Timber 2,556° 2,486 3 -53 8 neg 0
Wood Supply & Forestry 4,526 4,930 -8 1,048 1,482 -29 23 30
Property sales - - 98 90
Other and eliminations 225 152 -344 -276
Intra-Group deliveries -3,981 -4,100 - -
Sub-total * 24,497 23,993 2 1,339 1,578 -15 5 7
Write-downs - - -1,540 -
Total Group 24,497 23,993 2 -201 1,578 neg 7
? of which, market pulp 1,382 1,367 1 63 7 5 1
? see below
Restructuring costs and items affecting comparability

1999 1998

MSEK Fuil year Q4 Full year Q4
Corrugated & Containerboard 60 10 -254 -208
Sacks & Kraft Products -137 -137 -43 -43
Other - - -12 =12
Total Group =77 -127 -309 -263

" AssiDoman’s external financial reporting has been changed to describe the six business areas listed above.
In the breakdown into business areas, paper production and conversion were regarded as integrated operations.




The market for packaging paper improved successively during the
year, leading to price increases and higher delivery volumes. In
particular, deliveries to markets outside Europe rose. The average
price was largely unchanged compared with 1998, The puip mar-
ket also improved with substantial price rises.

Barrier Coating’s operating profit for 1999 amounted to
MSEK 93 (108). Favourable development in most market seg-
ments led to increased deliveries and a higher turnover in EUR.
Demand for some grades exceeded available capacity. Invest-
ments to increase capacity were started at the end of the year
but will first have an effect in 2000. The development of the
preduct range towards products with a higher value added and
margins continued. .

Operating profit for Cartonboard in 1999 amaunted to MSEK
11 (-83), an increase of MSEK 94. The market situation slowly
improved during the year. Despite some price increases, the aver-
age price level in 1999 was lower than in 1398. After the major
rebuilding programme, production has increased steadily and is
well on a par with increased demand. increased deliveries and
high productivity contributed to the improvement in earnings.

The operating loss for Wood Products & Timber in 1999,
before write-downs, amounted to MSEK 53 (+8). At 31 Decem-
ber 1999, fixed assets had been written down by MSEK 110.

The market for sawn timber, particularly for the redwood
products that dominate at AssiDomén, was weak which led to
price pressure and reduced margins. A somewhat better market
situation for whitewood products allowed limited price increases.
Profitability remained weak, however, for AssiDoman’s white-
wood sawmills. The market trend for further processed products
was more positive than for sawn timber.

Wood Supply & Forestry’s operating profit for 1999 amounted
to MSEK 1,048 (1,482). Both lower deliveries from the Group’s

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Net effect on operating profit, MSEK

Product of 5% price increase
Corrugated board . 480
Containerboard 20
Sacks 100
Packaging paper 150
Barrier-coated products 105
Cartonboard 125
Sawn timber : 125
Market pulp 90
Timber and pulpwood -30

own forests and lower prices contributed to this decline. The
lower volumes were partly due to the distribution of Sveaskog and
partly because the felling volume in 1998 was higher than normal,

The timber market was affected by the weak profitability in
the sawmill industry which put pressure on timber prices. The
market for pulpwood was balanced with stable but low prices.

AssiDoman’s 1999 operating profit includes Sveaskog’s result
for the period 1 January to 14 June with MSEK 100. Excluding
Sveaskog, profit for the year amounted to MSEK 948 (1,227).
Deliveries from the Group’s own forests (excl. Sveaskog) amount-
ed to.5.1 million smPub. In addition, volumes from Sveaskog until
the distribution were 0.6 million sm?ub. Corresponding volumes
for 1998 were approximately 5.5 million sm*ub and 1.3 million
smPub respectively. ’

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
The impact on earnings of changes in the price cf the Group’s
various main products, and of purchased raw materials, is out-
lined in the adjacent table. The analysis shows the anticipated net
change in earnings from a price increase of 5%, provided the
product mix, price levels and exchange rates remain unchanged.

INVESTMENTS
Fixed-asset investments for the year totalled MSEK 1,573, a
decrease of MSEK 2,281 compared with the previous year. The
investment level corresponds to 80% (208) of depreciation. This
considerably lower volume of investment represents an approxi-
mate level for the current year as well and is a consequence of
AssiDoman’s current phase of consolidation.

Most investment during the year consisted of small items of a
re-investment nature. Major investments mainly comprised the
rebuilding of PM2 at Kraftliner in Pited (MSEK 130), rebuilding
and extension of the soda recovery boiler in Sepap (MSEK 133)
and new extruders for Barrier Coating (MSEK 75).

PROFITABILITY

- In 1999, the operating margin (before write-down of fixed assets)

amounted to 5% (7). This decline was mainly due tc the conse-
quences of the distribution of Sveaskcg. The capital turnover rate
was 1.00 (0.96). Both a higher turnover and lower tied-up capitai
contributed to the increased capital turnover rate.

Excluding the earnings impact from the write-down of fixed
assets, return on capital employed was 6% (7) and return on
equity was 3% (5). The lower earnings level was the decisive fac-
tor behind the lower profitability.

INVESTMENTS AND DEPRECIATION

Of which
Investments acquisitions Depreciation
MSEK 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Corrugated &

Containerboard 726 2,588 2.871% 707 1,089 63 1,648 1,482 - 258 898 857 648 465 445
Sacks & Kraft Products 495 787 2,784 1,320 1,968 - 16 1,512 403 1,559 546 503 3N 269 237
Barrier Coating 116 70 56 69 540 - - - 1" 493 105 103 105 94 25
Cartonboard 135 134 1,268 663 200 6 2 - - - 171 115 104 93 a5
Wood Products & Timber 61 79 139 251 278 - - - - - 139 131 138 115 96
Wood Supply & Forestry 21 77 107 95 97 - - - - - 65 72 83 61 59 -
Other and eliminations 19 119 244 807 1,850 -16 15 115 262 1,452 39 69 52 a7 54
Total Group 1573 3854 7469 3912 6,022 53 1,681 3,109 676 3,762 1,963 1,850 1,521 1,144 1,011
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CASH FLOW AND FINANCIAL POSITION
Cash flow from operating activities amounted to MSEK 2,432
(1,559) and the net cash flow was MSEK 337 (-262). The main
reason for this change was the lower level of investment.

The interest-bearing net debt amounted to MSEK 8,420 on
31 December 1999, compared with MSEK 9,600 at the begin-
ning of the year. MSEK 240 of this decrease was attributable to
the distribution of Sveaskog. _ '

The Group’s equity ratio at year-end was 44% (47) and the
debt/equity ratio was 0.64 (0.61). The change comparedbwith
1998 is mainly due to the distribution of Sveaskog and the write-
down of fixed assets.

AssiDoman’s share of the allocated portion of SPP's surplus
amounts to approximately MSEK 340. This amount was not
included in AssiDoman’s closing accounts for 1999.

DIVIDEND
The proposed cash dividend for 1999 amounts to MSEK 710
(651), or SEK 6.00 (5.50) per share. The proposed dividend corre-
sponds to 5.4% (4.1) of AssiDoman’s shareholders’ equity at year-
end 1999. The increase should be seen in the context, among
other things, of the anticipated positive earnings trend in 2000.

REPURCHASE OF SHARES
Provided the proposed change in legislation is adopted, the
Board intends to request that the Annual General Meeting
should authorise the Board to carry out a repurchase of the
" Company's shares. -

ENVIRONMENT
At year-end 1999, AssiDoman had 14 operations which require a
licence and ten operations that require i'egistration in Sweden in
accordance with Swedish environmental legislation. The opera-
tions at these plants account for 41% of the Group’s net turnover.

The main environmental impact from operations comes from emis-
sions to air and water and in connection with waste and noise.

All plants have valid permits for their operations. Over the
next two years, new permits for production and emission levels
are expected to be issued for severai plants (sawmills and pulp
and paper mills). This will be effected within already established
routines for contacts with authorities.

Significant environmental investments have been made in
process and cleaning equipment in recent years. As a result, the
environmental standard in the Group’s operations can be classified
as good.

The operations in Sweden, including forestry activities,
which at year-end 1999 were certified according to FSC, I1SO
14001 and EMAS registered, correspond to 53% of the Group’s
net turnover. If operations outside Sweden are included, the
correspending proportion is 64%. The introduction of environ-
mental management systems has led to a structured and target-
driven environmental work which will also strengthen profitabil-
ity for the Group.

The Group has a large number of production units outside
Sweden. Of these, the four pulp and paper mills in the Czech

- Republic, France, Italy and Slovakia can be associated with the
most significant environmental impact. Operations at these mills
correspond to 9% of the Group’s net turnover. All plants have
permits for their operations and set requirements have been fol-
lowed except at StUrovo in Slovakia where emissions to air
exceeded the permitted levels. Before 2006, emissions must be
down at the levels set by the authorities.

AssiDoman’s environmental work is described in detail on
pages 44-56. These pages have not been examined by the com-
pany's auditors.

PROFITABILITY
Return on net
Operating profit operating assets, %
MSEK 1999 1998 Change, % 1999 1998
Corrugated & Containerboard 462 181 155 ] 2
Sacks & Kraft Products " 24 68 65 0 1
Barrier Coating 93 108 -14 12 14
Cartonboard 11 -83 0 neg
Wood Products & Timber -53 8 neg 1
Wood Supply & Forestry 1,048 1,482 -29 6 7
Property sales 98 90 9
Other and eliminations -344. =276
Operating profit before write-downs 1,339 1,578 -15 5 6
Write-downs -1,540 -
Operating profit/loss -201 1,578
Return on capital employed
Financial income 70 91 -23 (excl. write-downs), %
Operating profit/loss plus financial income -131 1,669 -108 6 7
Financial expenses, etc. -570 -665 -14
Profit/loss after net financial items -701 1,004
Tax -161 T291 Return on equity
‘Minority interests -1 -3 (excl. write-downs), %
Net profit/loss for the year ~863 710 3 5
v of which, market pulp 63 7 4 1
Definitions, see page 25




RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
During the year, R&D at AssiDoman concentrated on develop-
ment projects with well defined and accomplishable business
improvements. The Group’s R&D resources, scme 50 people,
work bath in co-operation with the business unit’s development
organisations and within selected strategic product areas. The
development projects that are under way contain identified and
significant potential for business improvement.
In 1999, ongoing development costs amounted to approximately
MSEK 230 (240) or around 1% of net turnover. The investment
in 2000 is expected to be the same size. In addition to ongoing
costs, over the past three years a total of more than MSEK 60 has
been invested in equipment. '

STAFF TRAINING STAFF TURNOVER

Days/emplayee % of average no. of employees
6 20
18 - %
16 %—
]4 L E—

Salaried  Wage-earners

employees .
Salaried  Wage-ea
w3 1998 employees sge-eamens
#1999 #% Number of employees
who joined during the year
) Number of employees
who left during the year
AGE STRUCTURE
Age
60-yrs
50-59 yrs L
40-49 yrs
30-39yrs |
20-29yrs
~19yrs |
0 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

8 Salaried employees 1% Wage-earners

" The proportion of salaried employees aged 50 and above was 29%
(31) and of wage-earners 23% (25). The proportion of salaried em-
ployees under 30 was 13% (13) and of wage-earners 18% (18), of
the total number of employees in each category.

IT DEVELOPMENT
The millennium changeover led to no disruptions for AssiDoman.
Analyses of the IT systems meant that a large part of critical sys-
tems and hardware had been were made compliant. Most of
these adjustments were achieved by bringing forward normal
maintenance work and investments. These activities are also of
benefit for the Group’s ongoing euro adaptation.

HUMAN RESCURCES
The average number of employees in 1999 was 17,060 (17,543), -
of whom 64% (63) or 10,977 (11,113) were employed cutside
Sweden. Despite the acquisition of Esswell in 1998, the total
number of empioyees decreased, mainly due to rationalisation
but also as a result of the sale of operations.

EMU
On 1 January 1999, the euro was introduced as the official cur-
rency for the eleven EMU member countries. Since that date it
must be possible to carry out commercial transactions with com-
panies in the EMU area in both local currency and euros.

No later than 31 December 2001, when the local currencies
within EMU cease to be valid all companies in the "in” countries
must have converted their accounting to euros only. This also
involves converting recent years’ profit and loss accounts and bal-
ance sheets to the new currency. At AssiDoman this process will
be completed in goad time prior to 31 December 2001. This task

" is well defined and will require a not inconsiderable effort in

terms of systems. In conjunction with this changeover a review of
all systems will be performed so that identified synergies can be
used to achieve better functionality and high cost efficiency in
every respect.

MARKET !MPACT
The introduction of the euro as a new currency is one of many
external factors that affect market conditions for the majority of
companies in Europe. It is therefore essential to evaluate the
impact the euro as an isolated phenomenon can have on the

- competitive situation and prices. This is done continuously at

AssiDoman as part of the business responsibifity of the manage-
ment of every subsidiary and business unit. During the year, this
specific euro impact will be reported at the business units’ regular
meetings with Executive Group Management.

Both the administrative and market-related aspects will be co-
ordinated from Group level to ensure that the euro issue is given
sufficient attention throughout the Group and that the costs of
necessary system conversions and business risks are minimised.




FINANCING AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The forest industry is capital intensive and cyclical. The market
position of a forest products company is affected by changes in
the relative competitiveness of different countries. This leads to a
comparatively high operating risk that should be offset by a low
level of financial risk.

AssiDomén’s goal is to reduce the financial risks which arise in
its operations in accordance with the finance policy established
by the Board. Responsibility for the Group’s financing, financial -
risk management and other financial matters is centralised to the
parent company’s finance department.

This division of responsibility provides subsidiaries with a goed
financial service and leads to economies of scale and control over
the Group’s financial risks.

. CURRENCY RISKS
Most of AssiDoman’s production takes place in Sweden. Approxi-
mately 75% of invoicing, however, is in currencies other than
Swedish kronor (SEK), in the form of foreign subsidiaries’ sales and
exports from Sweden.

Of total invoicing in 1999, 45% was in currencies that were
replaced by the euro when European Monetary Union, EMU, came
into force in January 1999. If the currencies for those countries that
remain outside EMU, that is Denmark, Sweden and the UK, are
included this propertion rises to 86%.

When a company enters into a business agreement that will
- result in future payment flows in currencies other than the com-
pany's local currency, currency risks arise. This type of currency
risk is known as transaction exposure.

AssiDoman operates in an industry with cyclical fluctuations
which limit the ability to make long-term forecasts in respect of
price and volume for most of the Group’s products. The actual
transaction exposure is therefore defined as the net of accounts
receivable and accounts payable, plus any additional amounts
which at each paint in time may be regarded as stable future
flows. This means that the exposure is defined on the basis of the
time it takes to adjust the company to 3 new price level. Essentially,
this means that flows are hedged for four months on an ongoing
basis. In addition to this, Executive Group Management may in cer-
tain cases decide on shorter or longer hedging periods.

According to the Group's policy, the purchasing company’s cur-
rency should be used in the first instance when invoicing within
the Group which means that the currency risk mainly occurs in the
Group's Swedish units. The Group’s net currency expaosure is
hedged externally by using derivative instruments, mainly forward
contracts, and by raising loans in foreign currency. .

The effect of these hedging activities is that the impact on the
Group's earnings of exchange rate fluctuations will be delayed
for a time corresponding to the period within which future cur-
rency flows are hedged. At year-end 1999, approximately four
months’ currency flows were hedged. .

The Group's net commercial transaction exposure amounted
to approximately MSEK 6,300 in 1998. The breakdown between
currencies can be seen in the adjacent table.

NET COMMERCIAL TRANSACTION EXPOSURE IN 1999

Inflows MSEK %
EUR 3,400 - 54
GBP 1,400 21
usot 1,300 21
DKK 100 2
NOK 100 2
Total 6,300 ~ 100
Qutflows MSEK - %
SEK 5,700 91
SKK 400 6
CZK 200 3
Total 6,300 100

A change in the value of the Swedish krona affects the Group’s
operating profit, primarily by changing the value of the Swedish
companies’ net exports. A five per cent weakening of the SEK, in
relation to exchange rates at 31 December 1999, will affect the
value of the net currency flow into Sweden and therefore
improve operating profit by approximately MSEK 300, without
taking currency hedging into account.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF A 5% CHANGE IN EXCHANGE
RATES ON THE NET CURRENCY FLOW TO SWEDEN IN MSEK
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AssiDoman’s own SEK index, calculated at average exchange rates
during the period, weighted in relation to the Swedish companies’
net exports, weakened by 4.2% in 1999 compared with 1898. In
1999, the effect on operating profit was MSEK -251. This must be
offset by the effect on operating income generated through hedg-
ing net flows, amounting to MSEK 83, of which the unrealised
result of hedging activities amounted to MSEK 20.




At 31 December 1999, future flows corresponding to MSEK
2,226 had been hedged. Of the total hedged volume, 92% com-
prised hedging against the SEK. The diagram below shows the
volume of currency hedging against the SEK, average duration
and the weighted average of the forward rates at which they are
hedged.

CURRENCY SOLD AGAINST SEK AT 31 DECEMBER 1999 EX-
PRESSED IN MSEK, AVERAGE FORWARD RATES AND DURATION

Duration Forward Cutrency
(months) rate

20 8770
16 13.501
PR 9.3
14 1161
29 1.043
18 5.434

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 90C 1,000 1,100

The currency exposure which arises when the Group’s net assets
outside Sweden are translated into SEK is called translation or
balance exposure. The effects of exchange rate fluctuations on
the Group’s equity can be reduced by borrowing in local currency
and making use of derivative instruments. The Group’s policy is to
hedge this exposure, but without taking the possible tax effects
of such hedging measures into account. Exceptions from this rule
may arise in situations where the cost is considered too high, due
to a capital market that is not fully functioning and/or too large
an interest rate difference. '

Of the Group's shareholders’ equity on 31 December 1999 of
MSEK 13,194, MSEK 4,720 comprised net assets in foreign asso-
ciated companies and subsidiaries. Of these, 78% were hedged
at year-end 1999. Net assets, which are not hedged for the rea-
sons given above, thus amount to 22% of net assets in foreign
associated companies and subsidiaries. ‘

NET ASSETS IN FOREIGN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

AND SUBSIDIARIES AT 31 DECEMBER 1999

SKK, 8.6%
RUR, 1.2% \

NOK, 1.9%
EUR, 33.8%

GPB, 21.9%—

CHE 3.0%
DKK, 7.9%
K, 21.7%

The translation effects in 1999 from consolidation cf foreign net
assets amounted to MSEK -378. After adjustment for hedging
carried out, the total transiation effect for 1939 amounted to
MSEK -240. The effects of this type of hedging on the Group's.
net financial items amounted to MSEK —6 in 1999,

AssiDomaén is also indirectly affected by the trend for the USD,
CAD and the EUR as a result of competition from forest products
companies with their main production in the US, Canada and Fin-
land, so-called economic exposure. During periods when these
currencies strengthen, particularly against the SEK, the Group’s
competitiveness improves since the relative cost situation in Swe-
den becomes lower. When the reverse occurs, the effect is the
opposite. Economic exposure is difficult to influence. From one
time to another the effect of this type of risk on the earnings
trend is considerable for certain of the Group’s products, particu-
larly kraftliner and paper pulp.

in the long term as well, exchange rate fluctuations can affect
the balance between income and expenses in the Group. The
fact that production locations and customers in many cases differ
from each other in the form of different countries and currencies
affects earnings. Nearly 56% of the Group’s capital employed is
denominated in SEK but only 16% of the Group’s net turnover
pertains to customers in Sweden. The same relative conditions
apply to the Czech Republic and Slovakia. Countries with an
‘opposite imbalance are France, the UK and Germany each with
approximately 12% of the Group’s net turnaver compared with
6% or less of the Group’s capital employed. In other countries
there is a relatively good balance between net turnover and capi-
tal employed. This means that AssiDoman is largely dependent '
on the development of the SEK and on economic conditions in
Sweden.

FINANCING AND INTEREST-RATE RISKS
Long-term financial stability is a basic prerequisite for AssiDoman’s
continued growth. Great importaﬁce is therefore attached to
avoiding dependence on individual sources of financing and min-
imising both the financing risk and the interest-rate risk associat-
ed with borrowing. The financing risk is the risk that a major bor-
rowing requirement will arise in a tight credit market. The
interest-rate risk corresponds to the effect on earnings of a
change in interest rates. How fast a trend-related change in inter-
est rates affects earnings depends on the fixed-interest period of
loans and investments.

AssiDomin’s interest-bearing net debt, including pension lia-
bilities, decreased from MSEK 9,600 to MSEK 8,420 during the
year. At 31 December 1999, external liquid assets'in the parent
company amounted to MSEK 668 and committed credit facilities
to MSEK 5,840. The immediately available funds thus amounted
to MSEK 6,508, corresponding to 27% of turnover, which is well
in excess of the minimum level according to the Group’s policy.
The average fixed-interest period, including interest-rate deriva-
tives, for the Group’s liquid assets and interest-bearing receiv-
ables of MSEK 1,257 was approximately two months.




Interest-bearing liabilities excluding pension liabilities amounted
to MSEK 8,353 at year-end 1999, most of which is included in
the loan programme described below. In order to obtain the
required financing adjusted to the subsidiary’s domicile and cur-
rency, adjustment is made through derivative instruments. Note

18 shows interest-bearing liabilities dlassified by currency taking
derivative instruments used into account. AssiDoman endeavours
to have a profile for its borrowing which allows repayments to
be spread as evenly as possible. With the customary definition of
short-term and long-term borrowing, the spread must be even
both between and within the short and long-term perspective.
At year-end 1999, the average period to maturity was 2.5 years.
The repayment structure for loans at the end of 1999 is shown -
in Note 18. ' .

The AssiDoman Group’s primary financing base comprises
four market programmes for commercial papers and bonds - a
Swedish commercial paper programme with a programme size
of MSEK 5,000; a Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) with a pro-
gramme size of MUSD 750; a Swedish Medium Term Note (MTN)
programme with a size of MSEK 2,000; and a Euro Medium
Term Note (EMTN) programme with a size of MEUR 1,000. Bond
issues during the year corresponded to MSEK 1,235 and MEUR
250 respectively. A good balance between short- and long-term
borrowing has thus been achieved. The ECP programme contin-
ued to receive a rating of A-2 from Standard & Poor's and P-2
from Moody’s, while the EMTN programme has a credit rating of
A-/Baa2 from both agencies. )

AssiDomén’s norm for the average period during which interest
rates are fixed is six months. The Group uses interest-rate deriva-
tives to achieve this. The average fixed-interest period, including
interest-rate derivatives, at the end of 1999 was approximately
four months. The weighted average interest rate for the loans was
4.6% at year-end, including effects for derivative instruments
attributable to the loans. Taking fixed-interest periods for loans
and investments into account, a one-per cent interest-rate increase
would have an effect on earnings of MSEK =50 in 2000.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF A 1%-POINT INCREASE
IN INTEREST RATES ON LOANS, EXPRESSED IN MSEK

TRADING ON MONEY AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE MARKETS
in order to generate a higher return, calculated risks are taken on
the money and foreign exchange markets. There are instructions
for this specifying well-defined risk limits. The total risk mandate
for interest-rate and currency risks is MSEK 75, calculated as the
loss in the event of an unfavourable interest rate change of two
percentage points (parallel shift of the yield curve) and an
unfavourable change in exchange rates of 5%. Risk and resuits
are measured daily. The average utilisation of the risk mandate
was MSEK 25 during the year.

With regard to liguidity risks and credit risks, investments may
only be made in instruments with high liquidity and creditworthi-
ness and within established limits per counterpart. For Swedish
issuers, the requirement is K1 according to Standard & Poor’s. For
foreign issuers, A-1 and P-1 apply to short-term and A and A-2 to
long-term investments according to Standard & Poor’s and
Moody's respectively. Certain exceptions are allowed for short-
term investments following special assessment.

Caleulation of credit risks also includes gains on derivative con-
tracts with counterparts. No credit losses were incurred in 1999.

LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT
Between 1997 and 1999, agreements were signed regarding
overall account structures for the AssiDoman Group's staffs and
subsidiaries. In co-operation with global banks, cash pools have
been established for all significant countries. These structures
allow cross-border concentration of flows in EUR. They contain a
high degree of automation of earlier manual routines such as cur-
rency exchange. Having carried-out these measures the Group can
control and manage its liquidity more efficiently and be well
equipped to use the range of new products and services in this
fast-growing area. This work, together with simplified administra-
tion, savings and increased earnings capacity, can also be regard-
ed as necessary preparation for an internal process of renewal and
rationalisation within accounting systems and IT development.







AssiDoman and architects
and advertising agency
Sandell-Sandberg are co-
operating to develop new
and exciting interiors
made of wood which are
now sold in D.LY. stores
throughout Europe.

The demands made by distinguished designers help to improve
product quality and thereby AssiDoman’s competitiveness.

The material unites sound economics with well-being. This is some-
thing that arciitact Erik Stenberg, SA¥, had in mind when
rebuilding a traditional apartment block built at the end of the 1960s
in the Stockholm suburb of Tensta. Wood has been used here in a
conscious way for fittings and other details.

Read more about the Wood Products & Timber business area on page 68.




STATISTICS BY COUNTRY

Operations of Group companies by country

Wages, salaries

Net turnover per

Capital Average number and country of destination
Net turnover employed Investments of employees payroll overheads Share, %

MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998 . 1999 1998 1999 1998 1999 1998
Sweden 10,947 11,383 12,887 12,519 625 923 6,083 6431 2,489 2514 3,905 4,204 16 18
Austria - - - - 1 5. - - - - 196 174 1 1
Belgium 1,054 1,028 370 414 88 30 640 630 253 235 939 906 4 4
Denmark 1,112 1,106 839 947 54 34 1,034 1,017 356 349 1,303 1,301 5 5
Finland - - .- - - 2 - - - - 178 234 1 1
France 1,652 1,431 1,317 2,262 74 483 1,171 1,164 427 380 2,724 2,335 11 10
Germany 1,546 1,525 518 1,144 104 245 998 9g7 413 390 3,102 3,197 13 13
Greece - - - - - - - - - - 75 72 - -
Ireland - - - - - - - - - ~ 86 76 - -
Italy 1,394 1,332 1,110 1,328 91 254 758 788 241 246 1,775 1,852 7 8
Netherlands 537 479 1,070 3,028 20 112 227 187 87 73 1,152 1,181 5 5
Portugal - - - - - - - - - - 89 99 1 -
Spain 1,158 510 428 428 63 954 579 303 130 60 1,541 892 6 4
United Kingdom 1,631 2,079 1,293 1,118 85 30 1,495 1,857 453 559 2,995 3,367 12 14
Other EU countries - - - - - 3 - - - - 8 16 - -
EU, excl. Sweden 10,084 9,490 6,945 10,669 580 2,152 6,902 6,943 2,360 2,292 16,163 15,702 66 65
EU, total 21,031 20,873 19,832 23,188 1,205 3,075 12,985 13,374 4,849 4,806 |20,068 19,906 82 83
Croatia 79 - 23 28 - - 96 - 7 - - - - -
Czech Republic 1,723 1,646 1,871 1,982 206 490 1,559 1,665 126 119 804 731 3 3
Hungary 47 36 6 - 1 - 5 6 1 - 97 85 - 1
Latvia 156 167 13 1 1 - 4 4 1 1 14 16 - - -
Lithuania 33 29 31 27 3 1 62 60 4 3 38 33 - -
Norway 207 203 149 104 7 131 144 153 a4 45 416 510 2 2
Poland 24 S 86 79 33 108 69 49 8 5 218 147 1 1
Russia ‘95 49 61 52 11 3 149 98 7 18 11 82 1 -
Slovakia 764 658 623 678 92 38 1,787 1,940 95 94 282 327 1 1
Switzerland 337 327 221 245 9 8 199 194 90 86 391 337 2 1
Turkey - - - - - - - - - - 98 174 - 1
Other European )

countries - - - - 4 - - - - - 222 129 1 1
Europe, excl. EU 3,466 3,120 3,084 3,196 367 779 4,074 4,169 383 37 2,691 2,571 1 11
Europe, total 24,497 23,993 22,916 26,384 1,572 3854 17,059 17,543 5232 5,177 22,759 22,477 93 94
Africa - - - - - - - - - - 577 648 2 3
Americas 0 - 2 - 1 - - - - - 382 326 2 1
.Asia - - - - - - - - - 715 377 3 2
Rest of the world - - - - - - - - - - 64 165 - -
Total 24,497 23,993 22,918 26,384 1,573 3,854 17,060 17,543 5232 5,177 |[24,497 23,993 100 100

Definitions, see page 25




FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

KEY FIGURES OVER FIVE YEARS

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Net turnover, MSEK 24,497 23,993 20,725 18,548 21,016
Gross margin, % 13 14 16 16 26
Operating profit (excl. write-downs), MSEK 1,339 1,578 ) 1,845 1,843 4,473
Operating margin, % ‘ 5 7 -9 10 21
Write-downs, MSEK -1,540 - - - . -
Operating profitloss, MSEK =201 1,578 1,845 1,843 4,473
Profitfloss after net financial items, MSEK -701 1,004 1,462 1,713 4,346
Net profitfoss for the year, MSEK -863 710 772 1,407 3418 |
Shareholders’ equity, MSEK . 13,194 15,777 ) 15,623 15,499 14,707
Return on equity (excl. write-downs), % 3 5 5 9 26
Return on equity {incl. write-downs), % neg 5 S 9 26
Capital employed, MSEK 22,918 26,384 23,939 19,274 18,565

Return on capital employed (excl. write-downs), % 6 7 9 1 28
‘Capital turnover, times 1.00 0.96 0.95 1.02 1.30

Total assets, MSEK 30,304 33842 31,194 25,571 24,994
Equity ratio, % a4 47 50 61 - 59

Interest-bearing net debt, MSEK 8,420 9,600 6,979 2,278 2,298
Debv/equity ratio, times 0.64 0.61 0.44 0.15 0.16
Interest cover, times -0.2 ) 24 39 6.8 133
Cash flow before investments, MSEK ¥ 3,125 2,377 3,156 2,880 3,618
Investments, MSEK 1,573 3,854 7,469 3,912 6,022
Average number of employees 17,060 17,543 16,914 13,648 13,119

For key data per share, see page 11 .
1) 1995-1997 according to each year's accounts. In 1998 and 1999 the Swedish Financial Standards Council's recommendation RR7 Accounting for cash flows has
been applied.

DEFINITIONS

Adjusted equity
Shareholders' equity plus minority interests.

Capital employed
Total assets less non-interest-bearing liabilities,
all calculated at year-end.

Capital turnover
Net turnover plus other operating income
divided by average capital employed.

Cash flow before investments
Operating surplus plus change in working
capital.

Cash flow per share

Profit before depreciation and share of profits
of associated companies +/- financial items,
less paid tax divided by the number of shares
at year-end,

Debt/equity ratio
Interest-bearing net debt divided by adjusted
equity.

Earnings per share after full tax
Reported profit after tax divided by the
number of shares at year-end.

Equity ratio
Adjusted equity divided by total assets, all
calculated at year-end.

EV/EBIT

Market capitalisation plus interest-bearing net
debt, plus minority interests divided by profit
after depreciation. (EV = Enterprise Value,
EBIT = Earnings Before interest and Tax).

Gross margin
Operating profit before depreciation as a
percentage of net turnover.

Interest-bearing net debt
Interast-bearing liabilities, less interest-bearing
assets, all calculated at year-end.

Interest cover

Operating profit plus financial income divided
by financial expenses including exchange rate
differences.

Net operating assets

Total assets less interest-bearing assets and
tax receivables, less non-interest-bearing
liabilities excluding tax liabilities, all calculated
at year-end.

Operating margin
Operating profit as & percentage of net
turnover.

P/E ratio
The closing share price divided by earnings
per share after full tax.

Return on capital employed, ROCE
Operating profit plus financial income divided
by average capital employed.

Return on equity, ROE
Reported profit after tax as a percentage of
average adjusted equity.

Return on net operating assets, RONA
Operating profit divided by average net
operating assets.




CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

MSEK MEUR 1
1999 1998 1999 1998
Operating income
Nat turnover 24,497 23,993 2,866.8 2,533.3
Other operating income Note 1 209 145 245 15.3
24,706 24,138 2,891.3 2,548.6
Cperating expenses
Raw materials and consumables -7.803 -7,745 -913.2 -817.8
Change in stocks -60 120 -7.0 127
Other external costs Note 2 -8,307 ~7,908 -972.4 --835.0
Staff costs Note 3 -5,232 -5,177 -612.3 ~546.6
Depreciation Note 4 -1,963 -1,850 -229.7 -195.3
Share of profits of associated companies Note 5 -2 - -0.2 -
-23,367 -22,560 -2,734.8 -2,382.0
Operating profit before write-downs 1,339 1,578 156.5 166.6
Write-downs Note 4 -1,540 - -180.0 -
Operating profit/loss =201 1,578 =23.5 166.6
Result from financial items Note 6
Result from participations in subsidiaries -15 - -1.8 -
Result from participations in associated companies 32 - 3.7 -
Result from other securities and receivables
accounted for as fixed assets -4 32 -0.5 34
Other financial income 70 91 8.2 9.6
Other financial expenses -588 -679 -68.8 =717
Exchange differences 5 -18 0.7 -1.9
-500 -574 -58.5 —60.6
Profit/loss after financial items =701 1,004 . =820 106.0
Taxes Note 7 ~-161 =291 . -18.9 -30.7
Minority interests -1 -3 0.1 -0.3
Net profit/loss for the year -863 710 -101.0 75.0

1 1999: EUR 1 = SEK 8.545000
1998: EUR 1 = SEK 9.470920

EXTERNAL NET TURNOVER BY PRODUCT

OPERATING EXPENSES”

Barrier-coated
products, 7%

Forestry, 6%
Cartonboard, 7% 3

Sawn timber, 9%

Sacks, 8% Container-
77 board, 11%
Packaging
paper, 11%
Pulp, 5%

Corrugated board, 36%

External purchases,
/ wood raw material, 11%
* External purchases,
paper and recycled
fibre, 16%

Other raw
7 materials, 1%

7~ Chemicals, 6%

Other costs, 24%

Wages, salaries 3
and social

security costs, 25%
Energy, 5%

Detivery and
transport costs, 12%

* Excl. depreciation and share of profits of associated companies







"CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

MSEK MEUR P
1999 1998 1999 1998
ASSETS
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets Note 8
Goodwill, patents and similar rights 1,354 2,046 158.5 216.0
Tangible fixed assets - Note 9
Forest land 4,117 5,218 481.8 550.¢
Buildings, other land and land improvements: 3,710 3,989 434.2 421.2
Machinery and equipment 10,742 12,822 1,2571 1,353.9
Construction in progress and advance
payments for tangible fixed assets 499 498 58.4 52.6
19,068 22,527 2,231.5 2,378.6
Financial fixed assets
Shares and participations Note 10 105 98 12.3 10.3
Interest-bearing long-term receivables Note 11 15 15 1.8 1.6
Non-interest-bearing long-term receivables Note 11 93 89 10.8 9.4
213 202 24.9 21.3
20,635 24,775 2,414.9 2,615.9
Current assets
Stocks Note 12 2,826 . 3,020 . 330.7 318.9
Non-interest-bearing current receivables Note 13 5,586 5117 653.7 540.3
Short-term investments Note 14, 15 546 204 63.9 215
Cash and bank balances ‘Note 15 711 726 83.2 76.7
9,669 9,067 1,131.5 957.4
Total assets 30,304 33,842 3,546.4 3,573.3
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ,
Shareholders equity Note 16
Restricted equity )
Share capital 2,367 2,367 277.0 2499
Restricted reserves 7,349 7,428 860.0 784.3
9.716 9,795 1,137.0 1,034.2
Unrestricted equity
Unrestricted reserves 4,341 5272 508.1 556.6
Net profit/loss for the year -863 710 -101.0 75.0
3,478 5,982 407.1 631.6
13,194 18,777 1,544.1 1,665.8
Minority interests 32 62 3.7 6.5
Provisions
Interest-bearing
Provisicns for pensions Note 17 1,339 1,672 156.7 176.5
Non-interest-bearing )
Provisions for taxes 1,635 1,933 191.3 2041
Other provisions Note 17 980 698 114.7 73.7
3,954 4,303 462.7 454.3
Liabilities :
Interest-bearing liabilities Note 18 8,353 8,873 977.5 936.9
Non-interest-bearing liabilities Note 19 4,771 4,827 558.4 509.8
13,124 13,700 1,535.9 1,446.7
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 30,304 33,842 3,546.4 3,573.3
Assets pledged Note 20 1,066 1,451 124.8 153.2
Contingent liabilities Note 340 269 39.8 284

1 1999: EUR 1 = SEK 8.545000
1998: EUR 1 = SEK 9.470920
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

MSEK MEUR"
1999 1998 1999 1998
Operating activities .
Net turnover 24,497 23,993 2,866.8 2,533.3
Operating expenses, etc. -21,237 -20,631 -2,485.3 -2,178.3
Operating surplus 3,260 3,362 381.5 355.0
Change in working capital
Operating receivables -620 -129 ~72.6 -136
- Stocks” 46 -80 5.4 -84
Operating liabilities, etc. 439 -776 51.4 -82.0
: 3,125 2,377 365.7 251.0
Net financial items =512 —606 -59.9 -64.0
Paid tax -181 -212 =21.2 -22.4
Cash flow from operating activities 2,432 1,559 284.6 1646
Investing activities ‘
Current investments in fixed assets -1,284 -1,477 -150.3 -156.0
Strategic investments in fixed assets -236 -696 -27.6 =735
Acquisitions -53 -1,681 -6.2 -177.5
Sale of non-strategic fixed assets 472 298 55.2 31.5
Sale of other fixed assets 198 17 23.2 124
Change in interest-bearing receivables -34 120 -4.0 12.7
Cash flow from investing activities ~937 -3,319 ~-109.7 -3504
Financing activities
Change in shareholders’ funds
Change in minority interests ~-31 -5 -3.6 ~0.5
Dividend -651 -651 -76.2 -68.7
Change in
provisions for pensions -69 -55 -8.1 -58
other interest-bearing liabilities -407 2,209 -47.6 233.2
Cash flow from financing activities -1,158 1,498 -135.5 158.2
Cash flow for the year 337 -262 39.4 -276
Liquid assets, opening balance ) Note 15 838 1,104 93.8 116.6
Translation difference in liquid assets -38 46 5.7 438
Liquid assets, closing balance Note 15 1,187 888 138.9 938
" 1999: EUR 1 = SEK 8.545000 1998: EUR 1 = SEK 9.470920
INTEREST-BEARING NET DEBT AND
CHANGE IN INTEREST-BEARING NET DEBT
Group
MSEK 1999 1998
Interest-bearing net debt
interest-bearing assets
Liquid assets, see Note 15 1,187 888
Current receivables, see Note 14 70 42
Long-term receivables, see Note 11 15 15
Interest-bearing liabilities
Current liabilities, see Note 18 -4,336 ~7,841
Provisions for pensions, see Note 17 -1,339 1,672
Other long-term liabilities, see Note 18 -4,017 -1,032
Closing net debt -8,420 -9,600
Change in interest-bearing net debt
Liguid assets 299 -216
Interest-bearing receivables 28 -1
Provisions for pensions 333 20
Other interest-bearing liabilities 520 -2,314
Total 1,180 -2,621







PARENT COMPANY

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

BALANCE SHEET

MSEK 1999 1998 MSEK 1999 1998
Operating income ASSETS
Net turnover 897 1,293 Fixed assets
Other operating income Note 1 136 30 Tangible fixed assets Note 9
1,033 1,383 Forest iand 3,652 3,538
Operating expenses Buildings, other land and land improvements 250 151
Other external costs Note 2 -410 =345 Machinery and equipment 3 67
Staff costs Note 3 -158 -92 Construction in progress 8 2
Depreciation according to plan Note 4 =24 -19 : 3,941 3,758
~592 -456 Financial fixed assets :
Operating profit 441 927 Shares and participations Note 10 11,515 12,072
Interest-bearing long-term
Result from financial items Note 6 receivables Note 11 2,445 8,031
Result from participations in subsidiaries =261 -21 Non-interest-bearing long-term -
Resuit from other securities receivables Note 11 2,612 1,247
and receivables accounted for as fixed assets - 22 16,572 21,350
Other financial income 456, 665
Other financial expenses -694 -597 20513 25,108
Exchange differences 149 -171 Current assets
Stocks Note 12 5 5
-305 ~102 Non-interest-bearing,
Profit after financial items 91 825 current receivables Note 13 809 1,668
ot Short-term investments Note 14, 15. 7,105 833
Appf';p"amns Note 22 i -310 Cash and bank batances Note 15 369 2
Profit before tax 57 515 3,283 7818
Tax Note 7 -31 -35 Yotal assets 28,801 27,926
Net profit for the year 26 480
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CASH FLOW STATEMENT Shareholders’ equity Note 16
Restricted equity
MSEK 1999 1998 Share capital (118,373,034 shares
Operating activities with a par value of SEK 20 each) 2,367 2,367
Net turnover 897 1,293 Statutory reserve 3,573 3,573
Operating expenses, etc. ~535 -447 5,940 5,940
Operating surplus N 362 846 Unrestricted equity
Change in working capital Retained earnings 4,613 5,514
Operating receivables 181 -342 Net profit for the year 26 480
Stocks - 9 4,639 5,994
Operating liabilities 61 -59 10,579 11,934
604 454
Net financial items 35 -103 Untaxed reserves Note 23 381 807
Paid tax -99 -90 -
Cash flow from operating activities 540 261 Provisions .
Interest-bearing
Investing activities . Provisions for pensions Note 17 726 1,012
Current investments in fixed assets -341 -1 Non-interest-bearing
Acquisitions -1,702 -1,766 Other provisions Note 17 684 566
Sale of fixed assets 652 1,340 1,410 1,578
Change in Liabilities .
non-interest-bearing other receivables -80 -296 Interest-bearing liabilities Note 18 11,037 9,644
non-interest-bearing other liabilities 1454 890 Non-interest-bearing liabilities Note 19 5,394 3,963
Cash flow from investing activities -17 57 16,431 13,607
Financing activities Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 28,801 27,926
Change in shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ contribution ~460 -14 Assets piedged Note 20 8 17
Group contribution - ~496 Contingent liabilities Note 21 358 377
Dividend -651 -651
Change in
provisions for pensions -61 -17
interest-bearing receivables 5586 ~ . -1,438
other interest-bearing liabilities 1,393 2,453
Cash flow from financing activities 5.807 -163
Cash flow for the year 6,330 155
Liquid assets, opening balance Note 15 1,144 989
Liquid assets, closing balance Note 15 7.474 1,144




© ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Accounting Principles

The accounting principles remain unchanged compared with the pre-
vious year. AssiDoman follows the recommendations of the Swedish
Financial Accounting Standards Council.

Principles of Consofidation

The consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with the recom-

mendation of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council.
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent Company,

AssiDoman AB, and those companies in which the Parent Company

directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting rights for the

shares or over which it exercises a decisive influence for another reason.

Accounting for acquisitions and disposals

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with the purchase method. This means that equity, including the esti-
mated equity proportion of untaxed reserves, in subsidiaries on the
acquisition date is totally eliminated against the book value of the
shares in the respective subsidiary. Consolidated equity therefore con-
sists solely of the proportion of subsidiaries’ equity that is generated
since acquisition.

Assets, provisions and liabilities in acquired companies are included
in the consolidated financial statements at market value. Should the
acquisition value of shares in subsidiaries exceed the market value of
the acquired assets, after deduction of assumed provisions and liabili-
ties, the difference is stated as goodwill.

Fixed assets and goodwill are depreciated in accordance with the
principles described below under " Depreciation according to plan”.

Should the acquisition value of shares in subsidiaries be lower than
the market value of the assets, after deduction for provisions and lia-
bilities, negative goodwill will arise. Negative goodwill is normally
used to write down the value of non-monetary fixed assets, and is
otherwise stated as a long-term liability and reversed in accordance
with a specific plan. ‘

The results of companies acquired during a current year are only

_ included in the consolidated profit and loss account for the part of

the year in which the company belonged to the Group. The results of
companies sold during the year are included in the consclidated profit
and loss account untii the date of disposal. Income recognition of the
disposal is based on the Group's net assets in these companies at the
date of disposal.

- Translation of profit and loss accounts

and balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries

Foreign subsidiaries are classified as independent operations. Their
profit and loss accounts are translated into Swedish kronor at the
average exchange rates for the year. Balance sheets are translated
into Swedish kronor at closing rates. Any differences thus arising are
taken directly to equity. For the accounting treatment of hedging
transactions, see below.

EXCHANGE RATES

Average rate Closing rate
January-December 31 December

Country Currency 1999 1998 1999 1998
Austria 100 ATS 64.04 64.31 62.10 68.65
Belgium 100 BEF  21.85 2193 2118 2342

Czech Republic100  CZK  23.88 24.88 2365 27.01
Denmark 100 DKK 118.53 11881 11492 126.83
France 100 FFR  134.35 134.96 130.27 144.03
Germany 100 DEM 450.59 45246 436.90 483.01
Hungary 100 HUF 3.49 3.69 3.35 3.73
haly 1000 ML 4.55 458 4.41 4.88
Latvia 1 WL 1407 1349 . 1453 1422
Lithuania 100 LTL  206.34 199.17 212,67 202.02
Netherlands 100 NLG 399.91 401.3S 387.76 428.63

Norway 100 NOK 106.01 105.38 105.84 107.09
Poland .100 PLN 208.86 227.25 20537 230.84
Russia 100 RUR  33.27 100.55 3088 39.81
Slovakia 100 SKK  19.94 2259 2016 22.58
Spain 100 ESP 530 533 5.14 5.68

Switzerland 100 CHF 551.54 549.41 53225 589.71
United Kingdom 1 GBP  13.37 13.17 13.75 1353

USA 1 USD 826 795 8.51 8.07
ECU 100 XeU - 892.54 - 947.09
Euro 100 ECU 881.28 - 85450 -

Equity method of accounting for associated companies

The equity method means that for companies in which the Group has
at least 20% and not more than 50% of the votes, the equity share in
the associated company's profit after financial items is included in con-
solidated operating profit. The share of tax in the associated company
is stated as tax, after which the net result is taken to restricted equity.
The book value of shares in associated companies in the consolidated
financial statements is changed by the net result. Dividends received
reduce the book value of the shares and do not affect the consolidat-
ed profit and loss account.

_ Provision for Deferred Tax

in Sweden, as in most other industrialised countries, tax charges can
be postponed. This leads to a deferred tax liability.

~ For the Parent Company this means that appropriations made for
tax purposes in the profit and loss account are placed in an untaxed
reserve in the balance sheet.

. Appropriations and untaxed reserves are not included in the con-
solidated financial statements. They are divided into equity and
deferred tax, using the tax rates applicable in each country. The esti-
mated deferred tax which relates to these appropriations is stated in
the consolidated profit and_loss account as a deferred tax cost and
the deferred tax in untaxed reserves as a provision for tax in the con-’
solidated balance sheet. Unutilised deferred tax receivables in the
form of loss allowances and taxed reserves are netted off in the calcu-
lation of provision for deferred tax. ‘

Internal Pricing
Prices for sales between Group companies are based on sound busi-
ness principles and market prices.

Receivables, Provisions and Liabilities in Foreign Currency
Main rule

Receivables, provisions and liabilities in foreign currency are valued at
closing rates. Hedged accounts receivable or payable in foreign cur-
rency are valued at the spot rate with addition or deduction of the
deferred forward premium. .




The deferred forward premium is included with exchange differences
in operating profit.

Forward contracts are also used to some extent for future deliveries.
These contracts are not matched by accounts receivable or payable on
the closing date. Any unrealised exchange differences at the closing
date on this type of contract are not stated.

Exchange losses and exchange gains on long-term receivables and
liabilities are offset against each other. In the event of a negative net
amount, this is stated as an exchange rate fluctuation among finan-
cial items in the profit and loss account.

Exception

Any exchange differences arising on loans and forward contracts
entered into to hedge exchange rates of net assets in foreign compa-
nies are netted off in the consolidated financial statements, after tax
is taken into account, against exchange differences for the year aris-
ing from the translation of the balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries
to Swedish kronor.

Valuation of Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of the acquisition/production cost or
net realisable value. In the case of finished goods, net realisable value
is the sales value less selling expenses. In the case of semi-manufac-
tured and input materiais, the net realisable value is the replacement
value. The FIFO (= first in, first out) principle is used as a general rule.

Depreciation According to Plan

Depreciation requirements are based on estimates of the remaining
useful economic life of the assets. The following depreciaticn rates
are used for calculating depreciation according to plan.

DEPRECIATION RATES %
Industrial buildings 3-5
Residential and office buildings 2-2.25
Land improvements 5
Heavy machinery 5
Light machinery 10
Other machinery and equipment : 20-33
Goodwill 5-20
#3,75% on acquisitions prior t0 1991 '

Goodwill is depreciated according to plan at 5-20% per year. The
lower rate is used for acquisitions of well-reputed companies that are
well established in the market. The higher rate is used in the case of
acquired companies with an insignificant market impact.

Depracation according to plan normally begins in the year after the
year of the investment. In the case of major investments, depreciation
may start when the asset is commissioned.

in the case of acquisitions, depreciation of goodwill and surplus
values of assets begins on the acquisition date.

Write-Down of Fixed Assets )

An analysis of the write-down requirement was conducted in 1999 in
accordance with stipulations in the Swedish Companies Act and the
Annual Accounts Act for regular assessment of asset values and
applying the recommendations for revaluations issued by the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council, the Swedish Insti-
tute of Authorised Public Accountants and 1ASC. Individual valua-
tions were made of the Group's operating units, whereby both units
with surpius values and units with deficit values in relation to book
values were identified. Surplus values exist, in addition to in the
Group's forest assets, in the Group’s other business areas. Since legis-
lation and recommendations do not altow surplus and deficit values
to be offset against each other, earnings have been charged with
costs for write-downs without taking surplus values into account.

Leased Assots

In some cases, leasing is used to finance acquisitions of machinery.
AssiDoman has chosen to report leased assets among fixed assets in
the balance sheet, provided one of the following conditions is met
- ownership of the asset transfers automatically at the end of the
leasing period

- the leasing contract includes an option to acquire the assets at a
favourable price

— the leasing period includes the greater part of the asset's useful life,
or

— the present value of the leasing rents is the same as or in excess of
the acquisition value of the assets.

Depreciation according to plan of leased equipment stated among
fixed assets is effected at the rates applied by the Group for similar
acquired assets.

In cases where AssiDoman does not intend to acquire the leased
asset after the expiry of the leasing period, the depreciation period
does not extend beyond the expiry of the leasing contract.

Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments include treasury bills, commercial papers,
bonds and other interest-bearing instruments. Short-term invest-
ments including the trading portfolio are valued using the portfolio
method at the lowest of acquisition value and net realisable value.
This means that unrealised losses are offset against unrealised gains
on listed financiat instruments. Any excess loss is stated among net
financial items while a profit is not stated. Accrued interest is includ-
ed among other current receivables.

With effect from 1999, in the Parent Company short-term invest-
ments are reported including the trading portfolio item for item at
the lower of acquisition value and net realisable value. Any excess
loss is reported in net financial items while a corresponding gain is
not reported!

Investments intended to be held until maturity are valued at acqui-
sition cost. These investments are included among long-term inter-
est-bearing receivables. Accrued interest is reported among other
current receivables.




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special Information About the Parent Company

AssiDoman AB is a holding company whose main role is to administer
shares and provide group-wide management. The company owns a sub-
stantial portfalio of property, mainly forest land, which is used in the
forestry operations and assigns felling and other usage rights to these
properties to the subsidiary AssiDoman Skog & Tra AB.

The following notes apply to both the Parent Company and the Group.

Note 1 Other Operating Income

) Group Parent Company
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Own work capitalised . 5 5 - -
Capital gains on sales of property,
machinery and eguipment 199 132 103 90
Other operating income - H 3 33 -
Total 209 145 136 90

Note 2 Fees and Expenses to Auditors

Group Parent Company
MSEK 1999 1999
KPMG
Audit assignment - 13 1
Other assignments 6 4
Other auditors
Audit assignment 1 -
Other assignments -
Total
Audit assignments 14 1
Other assignments 7 4
Total 21 5

Note 3 Staff Costs and Average Number of Employees

Wages, salaries and other remuneration, and social security costs

Group Parent Company

MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Wages, salaries and other remuneration 3,880 3,967 100 60
Contractual pensions to board members,

presidents and vice presidents 44 25 13 3
Contractual pensions, other 207 166 1 8
QOther social security costs 1,101 1,019 34 21
Total 5232 5,177 158 92
Capitalised pension commitments to board

members, presidents and vice presidents 106 58 a -

Wages, salaries and other remuneration by country

1999 1998
Boards, Other Boards,  Other
MSEK Pres/ em- Pres/ em-
Vice Pres  ployees Vice Pres ployees
Parent Company
Sweden 23 77 7 53
Subsidiaries
Sweden 48 1,577 26 1,69
United Kingdom 13 391 15 498
Denmark 10 333 11 326
Germany 11 318 13 278
France 8 260 8 276
Belgium 8 169 7 180
italy 7 171 7 172
Spain 6 96 2- 45
Czech Repubiic 7 86 6 84
Slovakia , 1 66 1 67
Netheriands 2 60 4 65
Switzerland 6 67 4 57
Norway 1 35 1 36
~ Croatia 1 6 - -
Poland - 7 - 3
Russia 0 5 2 13
Lithuania ) - 3 - 3
Hungary - 1 - -
~ Other countries B - - - 1
Total subsidiaries 129 3,651 107 3,800
Total 152 3,728 114 3,853
Average number of employees by country
1999 1998
Women Men  Total Total
Parent Company
Sweden 94 139 233 148
Subsidiaries
Sweden 880 4,970 5,850 6,282
Siovakia 487 1,300 1,787 1,941
Czech Republic 290 1,269 1,559 1,665
United Kingdom 248 1,247 1,495 1,857
france 279 892 1,171 1,164
Denmark 233 801 1,034 1,017
Germany 177 821 998 997
[taly 74 684 758 788
Belgium 98 542 640 630
Spain 53 526 579 303
Netherlands 25 202 227 187
Switzerland . 30 169 199 194
Russia 4 108 149 98
Norway 42 102 144 153
Croatia 42 54 96 -
Poland 21 48 69 49
Lithuania 12 50 62 60
Hungary 3 2 5 6
Latvia 4 - 4 4
Singapore - 1 1 -
Total subsidiaries 3,039 13,788 16,827 17,395
Total 3,133 13,927 17,060 17,543




Information regarding emoluments to.senior executives in
accordance with the recommendations of the Industry and
Commerce Stock Exchange Committee (NBK)

Chairman of the Board

Fee:

Olof tund (01/01/1999 - 14/06/1999)

Bernt Magnusson (14/06/1999 - 31/12/1999)

President

Salary and other benefits:

Lennart Ahligren (01/01/1999 - 14/04/1999)

Roger Asserstahi (16/04/1999 - 31/08/1999) SEK 1,527,326

Gunnar Palme (01/09/1999 - 31/12/1999) SEK 1,684,134

" Remuneration during Lennart Ahlgren’s time as president. In addition,
Lennart Ahlgren received notice and severance pay totalling SEK
3,841,207.

SEK 138,507
SEK 273,288

SEK 1,298,171 9

Notice and severance pay (Lennart Ahigren)

The periad of notice from the company’s side was 16 April 1999 until

15 October 1998. Subsequently, severance pay with full employment ben-
efits is payable for 2.5 years. A provision was made in the 1999 accounts
for severance pay with full employment benefits,

Pension (Gunnar Palme)

The agreement on future pension involves retirement at the age of 65, but
either party is entitled to call for retirement with pension from the age of
60. Between the ages of 60 and 65, pension will be paid at 65% of pen-
sionable salary. Regular pension follows the ITP Plan. In addition, comple-
mentary pension benefits will be provided on the portion of the annual
salary that exceeds 7.5 base amounts.

-Notice and severance pay (Gunnar Palime)

The period of notice is six months on either side. in the event of notice
being given by the company, a severance pay corresponding to 18 months’
salary will be paid. The severance pay will be paid monthly after the end of
the notice period. if new employment is obtained during this period, the
severance pay will be reduced by the amount received from the new position.

Other Senior Executives

Pension

The agreement on future retirement pension involves retirement at the age
of 65, but either party is entitled to demand retirement from the age of
62. Between the ages of 62 and 65, pension will be paid at 70% of pen-
sionable salary on the retirement date. The regular.pension follows the (TP
plan. In addition, supplernentary pension benefits are provided on the pro-
portion of annual salary which lies between the ITP plan’s upper salary ceil-
ing and 50 base amounts.

Notice and severance pay

The period of notice is 12 months on the part of the Company and 6
months on the part of the employee. in the event of notice being given by
the Company, severance pay will correspond to two annual salaries. Sever-
ance pay will be paid monthly following expiry of the notice period. If new
employment is obtained during this pericd, the severance pay will be
reduced by the amount received from the new position.

Note 4 Depreciation According to Plan and Write-downs

Group Parent Company
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Depreciation according to plan
Intangible fixed assets

Goadwill 232 209 - -
Patents and similar rights 7 8 - -
Tangible fixed assets :

Buildings 217 210 5

Other land and land improvements 16 13 3
Machinery and equipment 1,491 1,413 16 12
Construction in progress - -3 - -
Total 1,963 1,850 24 19
‘Write-downs

Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill 488 - - -

Tangible fixed assets

Buildings 4 - - -
Other land and land improvements 3 - - -
Machinery and equipment 1,045 - - -
Total 1,540 - - -

An analysis of the write-down requirement was conducted in 1999 in
accordance with stipulations in the Swedish Companies Act and the Annu-
al Accounts Act for regular assessment of asset values and applying the
recommendations for revaluations issued by the Swedish Financial
Accounting Standards Council, the Swedish institute of Authcrised Public
Accountants and IASC. Individual valuations were made of the Group's
operating units, whereby both units with surplus values and units with
deficit values in relation to book values were identified. Surplus values exist,
in addition to in the Group’s forest assets, in the Group’s other business
areas. Since legislation and recommendations do not allow surplus and
deficit values to be offset against each other, earnings have been charged
with costs for write-downs without taking surplus values into account.

Note 5 Share of Profits of Associated Companies

Group
MSEK 1999 1998
Share of profit after financial items -2 -
Taxes - -
Total -2 -

AssiDoman’s share of associated companies’ profits and equity is reported
according to the equity method in the manner described in Accounting
Principles. The 1999 profit share pertains to a profit share in Spectra Pack-
aging Display Ltd (50%).




Note 6 Result from Financial items

Note 8 Intangible Fixed Assets, Group

Group Parent Company Patents
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998 - and similar
Result from participations in subsidiaries MSEK Goodwill rights Total
Dividends - 1250 _ Acqui.sirion vafues
Write-downs - - 1418 -2 Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1999 2,771 49 2,820
Capital gains 54 - - - Investments o - 10 10
Capital losses -69 - 93 - Eompany acquisitions -12 - -12
rom construction in progress
Total -1 - = - L
5 261 21 and advance payments - 1 1
Resuft from participations in associated companies ?:f;:ssxf'catlon of fixed assets ?g: - 32?
Capital gai - - _ : - -~ -
Tatml gan ;; Translation differences -64 -3 -67
otal - - -
Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 2,781 57 2,838
Result fi it i
aszgljn;:;nfgfh;r f;eec:’a':’:::nd receivables Accumulated depreciation according to plan
Capital ains 1 a1 Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1999 ~735 -39 -774
pita ' g - 2 Reclassification of fixed assets -88 - -88
Capital losses -4 -1 - - Sales 76 - 76
Write-downs -1 -8 - - Depreciation for the year =232 -7 =239
Total 4 3 -2 Write-downs -a88 - 88
Other financial income Tranglation differences 26 3 29
Interest income, subsidiaries - - 410 603 Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 -1,441 43 -1,484
Interest income, other 66 87 46 62 Closing residual value
Other financial income 4 4 - - according to plan, 31 Dec. 1999 1,340 14 1,354
Total 70 91 456 665
] Of which revaluations
Other financial expenses Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1999 - - -
Interest expenses, subsidiaries - - =132 -86 . Reclassification 63 . 63
Interest expenses, pensions -84 -9 ~71  -108 Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 63 ~ 53
Interest expenses, other -465 -~561 -482 -39 - -
Other financial expenses -39 -26 -9 -7
Total -588 679 -694 -597 Note 9 Tangible Fixed Assets
Exchange differences 5 -18 149 -171 Buildi Construc
- — uildings, onstruction
Total result from financial items ~500 -~574 -350 -102 other land in progress
andland Machinery and
The financial portion of costs of pension commitments administered by the MSEK . Fc;;s; 'm?nrg:z equipmaer;g p:%aer:\cé
Company is based on an interest rate of 2.9% (3.3). Group
E 7
Acquisition values
Note 7 Taxes Opening balance, 1Jan. 1999 5,218 6,628 25,326 495
investments 95 85 675 655
Company acquisitions - - 2 -
Group ‘Parent Company L.
From construction in progress
MéEK 1999 1998 1999 1998 and advance payments - 45 488 -534
Paidtax -469  -153 31 -3 Reclassification of fixed assets =106 68 -83 -86
Change in provision Sales, distribution to
for deferred tax 308 138 - - Sveaskog and disposals  -1,000  ~169 1,194 -2
Total -161 291  -31 35 Translation differences, etc. - ~303 -975 -24
Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 4,117 6,354 24,239 504
Accumulated depreciation according to plan
Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1999 - -=2,639 -12,504 3
Reclassification of fixed assets - 39 49 -
Sales and disposais - 73 930 -
Depreciation for the year - =233 -1,491 -
Write-downs - -7 -1,045 -
Translation differences, etc. - 123 564 -8
Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 - -2,644 -~13,497 -5
Closing residual value according
to plan, 31 Dec. 1999 4,117 3,710 10,782 499




Note 9 cont.

Note 10 Shares and Participations

Buildings, Construction Other securities
other land in progress Associated  held as fixed
and land Machinery and MSEK Subsidiaries companies assets  Total
Forest improve- and  advance Grou
MSEK land ments equipment  payments P
- - Opening balance, 1 lan. 1999 - 53 45 98
Of which, revaluations Investments _ 60 o 62
Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1993 - 97 70 - Sales - -50 - =50
Reclassification - -58 -5 - Share of profits of
Sales - - 2 - associated companies - -2 - 2
Depreciation for the year on Write-down - - -1 -1
revalued amount - -1 - - Translation differences; etc. - - -2 =2
Translation differences, etc. - -9 -2 - Closing balance,
Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 - 29 65 - 31 Dec. 1999 - 61 44 108
Parent Company
. Parent Company Opening balance, 1 an. 1999 12,055 1 16 12,072
Acquisition values investments 1,700 - 21,702
Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1999 3,538 175 95 2 Write-down -1,418 - - -1,418
(nvestments . 310 5 15 " Sales -840 -1 - =841
From construction in progress Closing balance,
and advance payments - 5 - -3 31 Dec. 1999 11,497 - 18 11,515
Reclassification of fixed assets . ~106 106 - - 10 39
Sales and disposals 90 -10 46 - Note 10, cont., see page
Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 3,652 281 64 8
. X Note 11 Long-term Receivabies
Accurnulated depreciation according to plan
Opening balance, 1 Jan. 1999 - =24 -28 ~ Group Parent Company
Sales and disposals - 1 1 - MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Depreciation for the year e -8 -6 = interest-bearing long-term receivables
Closing balance, 31 Dec. 1999 - -3 -33 - Receivables from subsidiaries - - 2,445 8030
Closing residual value Other long-term. receivables 15 15 - 1
according to plan 31 Dec. 1999 3,652 250 31 ] Totat 15 15 2,445 8,031
Machinery and equipment rented through leasing contracts Non-interest-bearing long-term receivables
Group Receivables from subsidiaries - -~ 2,611 1,245
MSEK 1999 1998 Other long-term receivables 93 89 1 2
Acquisition values 1,083 1,255 Total 93 89 2,612 1,247
Accumulated depreciation according te plan =591 -578
Closing residua! value according to plan 492 677 Note 12 Stocks
The liability reported in the consolidated balance sheet for leased Group  Parent Company

assets amounts to MSEK 144 (292). Repayment years for the liability MSEK 1999 1998 1999 - 1998
at 31 December 1999 are stated in Note 18. Felling rights 69 62 - -
’ Felled timber in forests 15 46 - -
Assessed values of Swedish property ) zi\::sznr:;et: :l: ‘ :;: g?f : :
Group Parent Company X ~
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998 33257?2522:?“ goods 1;: Zg -
Forest land 15412 17,051 15,392 13,575 Finished products 1,092 1,263 - _
Otherland 32 431 121 140 Buildings held for resale 5 14 5 5
Buildings 2,620 4,539 44 54 Work in progress 3 - _ _
Total 18,354 22,021 15,557 13,769 Advance payments to suppliers 28 a4 - -
Book values, forest land 4,117 5218 3,652 3,538 Other 234 290 - -
Total 2,826 3,020 5 5
The assessed values stated above pertain to official assessed values,
adjusted in some cases by the estimated effect of partial acquisitions i X
and partial disposals. Note 13 Non-interest-Bearing Current Receivables
Group Parent Company
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Accounts receivable 4,354 4,143 [ 2
Receivables from subsidiaries - - 387 1,394
Tax receivable 330 260 142 74
Other current receivables 481 473 88 140
Prepaid expenses .
and accrued income a11 241 186 58
Totat 5586 5117 809 1,668
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Note 10, cont,

Specification of shares and participations, and other securities held as fixed assets

Registration Registered Share of Book value

number office equity, % No. of shares SEK 000s
Parent Company's holdings
Direct holdings in subsidiaries :
AssiDoman Cartonboard AB 556004-5097 Lindesberg 100 220,000 649,967
AssiDomdn Fastighetsutveckliing AB 556438-3635 Soina 100 1,000 © 254
AssiDoman Férenade Well AB 556037-6898 Eslov 100 700,000 142,784
AssiDoman Forsakring AB 516401-8466 Stockhelm 100 100,000 10,162
AssiDoman Deutschland GmbH . - Germany 100 1 198,837
AssiDomadn Holding France SA - France 47.25 605,770 338,91
AssiDomdn Holding {(Nederland) BV - Netherlands 100 2,300 1,838,438
AssiDoman Holdings UK Ltd - United Kingdom 100 40,145,453 641,097
AssiDoman Kraft Products AB 55607 1-4072 Solna 100 692,911,345 1,453,905
AssiDomén Packaging AB 556040-5960 Stockholm 100 10,000,000 3,111,468
AssiDomén Reinsurance SA - Luxembourg 100 11,999 54,005
AssiDoman Sepap, a.s. - Czech Republic 59.5 2,038,594 644,681
AssiDoman Skog & Tra AB 556087-3464 Solna 100 12,500 196,350
AssiDoman Stdrovo a.s. - Slovakia 94.5 1,368,332 318,000
Forvaltnings AB Hasselfors 556000-4490 Saina 100 - 4,931,328 1,030,425
Hasselfors Vérdepappersforvaltning AB 556424-4019 Laxd 100 6,602,547 829,052
Other subsidiaries 38,486
Total directly owned subsidiaries 11,496,822
Major indirect holdings in subsidiaries
AssiDoman Barrier Coating AB 556039-3828 Orebro 100 200,000 -
AssiDomén Belcoat NV - Belgium 100 72,999 -
AssiDomén Holding france SA - France 52.75 676,200 -
AssiDomén Inncoat Gmbh - Germany 97.1 2 -
AssiDoman Interior AB 556062-3080 Mald 100 4,300 -
AssiDoman Karlsborg AB 556310-4198 Kalix 100 250,000 -
AssiDoman Nord Trd AB 556046-8208 Pited 100 150,000 -
AssiDoman Italia SpA - laly 100 853,100 -
AssiDoman Packaging Danmark AS - Denmark 100 17,000 ~
AssiDoman Packaging Benelux NV - Belgium 100 230,000 -
AssiDoman Sepap, a.5. - Czech Republic 39.0 1,337,881 C -
AssiDoman Skarblacka AB 556190-3179 Norrkdping 100 1,000 -
Hasselfors Trd AB 556221-1945 Orebro 100 50,000 -
Natro Cellulosa — (ndustria Imballagi Carta SpA - Italy 100 88,240 -
Papeteries Lecoursonnois SA - France 100 2,000 -
Associated companies
AssiDomdn Karelia . Russia 100 100 60
Total associated companies 60 a
Other securities held as fixed assets
Stratton Paper Company Ltd : Cyprus ? 100 1,000 -
Bottenvikens Stuveri AB 24.1 18,775 2,586
Krapokowice Polang 38 70,693 3,814
Trainformation AB S 510 2
Commonhold residential units 8,702

" Other participations -~ 3,005

Total other securities held as fixed assets 18,109
Total Parent Company’s holdings . 11,514,991

" Share of voting rights corresponds to share of equity for all participations.
4 after deduction of MSEK 375 provision for write-down.

Group’s holdings in associated companies

Parent Company’s direct holdings as specified above 60
Parent Company’s major indirect holdings

Spectra Packaging Display Ltd United Kingdom 50 4,500,000 59,502
AssiDoman Isikiar Foreign Trade Company Turkey 50 368
Others 1,145
Total associated companies ’ 61,075

Group’s ather securities held as fixed assets

Parent Company'’s direct holdings as specified above 18,109
Parent Company'’s major indirect holdings

IL Returpapper . 14.9 14,000 5,672
Rubezansky karton.obalovy komb 8.3% 1,479,000 12,628
Others 7472
Total Group's other securities held as fixed assets 43,881

Group's total holdings of shares and participations 104,956

A complete statutory specification of subsidiaries’ holdings is included in the annual report submitted to the Patent and Registration Office.
This specification may be obtained from AssiDoman AB, Corporate Communications, SE-105 22 Stockholm.
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Note 14 Short-Term Investments

Group Parent Company

MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Short-term investments 476 162 299 51
Receivables from subsidiaries - - 6,806 781
Bills receivable . 25 23 - -
Other interest-bearing current

receivables 45 19 - 1
Totat 546 204 7,105 833

Most of the Swedish group has common bank accounts with the Parent
Company as the main account-holder. The Parent Company’s dealings with
subsidiaries concerning common bank accounts are reported as current
interest-bearing receivables from and current interest-bearing liabilities to
the subsidiaries.

Note 15 Liquid Assets

insurance premiums for {TP and STP, etc., consolidated result and financial
position are affected by substantial commitments for pensions and annu-
ities taken over from the Swedish National Forestry Service with effect from
1 July 1992 under the terms of the incorporation agreement.

AssiDoman’s pension commitments include refutable pension commit-
ments to certain employees, primarily at AssiDomén Skog & Tré AB. Provi-
sion has been made to cover these commitments corresponding to the
amount which it is believed will be paid. The remainder of the theoretical
capital value is reported as a contingent liability of MSEK 25 (25).

Provision for industrial injuries and the proportion of the pension com-
mitment which is not yet tax deductible are reported among Other provi-
sions together with AssiDomdn Skog & Trd's refutable pension liability. This
provision amounts to MSEK 171 (148) in the Parent Company and MSEK
344 (371) in the Group. .

Note 18 Interest-Bearing Liabilities

Group Parent Company

MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Long-term liabilities )
Group Parent Company Bond issues
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998 Loan 2 5.35%, 1998-2001 171 17 171 171
Short-term investments, see Note 14 - 476 162 299 51 Other  5.18%, 1998~2002 99 99 99 99
Receivables from subsidiaries -~ - 6,806 781 Utilised under MEUR 1,000
Cash and bank balances 71 726 369 312 Euro Medium Term Note programme 2,136 - 2136 -
Total 1,187 8388 7,474 1,144 Utilised under MSEK 2,000
Medium Term Note programme 1,235 - 1235 -
Promissory note loan
Note 16 Shareholders’ Equity AMF-STP loan,  1998-2003 181 181 181 181
Other liabilities 195 581 1 1
Share Restricted Unrestricted Total 4,017 1,032 3,823 452
MSEK capital  reserves equity Total .
Group : Current liabilities
Shareholders’ equity, 31 Dec. 1998 2,367 7,428 5,982 15,777 Band issues
Cash dividends to shareholders - - -651 -651 Loan 3 5.85%, 1984-1999 - 10 - 10
Distribution of Sveaskog - - -7%94 -794 Utilised under MUSD 750
Costs directly related to Euro Commercial Paper programme 1,327 984 1,327 984
distribution of Sveaskog - - -35 =35 Utilised under MSEK 5,000
Translation difference - -383 143 -240 Swedish Commercial Paper
Transfer between restricted - - programme 2,363 3,549 2,363 3,549
and unrestricted equity - 304 -304 - Liabilities to subsidiaries - - 3,514 2267
Net loss for the year : - - -863 -863 Other liabilities 46 3,298 10 2,382
Shareholders’ equity, 31 Dec. 1999 2,367 7,349 3,478 13,194 Total 4,336 7,841 7,214 9,192
Share Restricted Unrestricted Totai interest-bearing liabilities 8,353 8,873:11,037 9,644
MSEK capital  reserves equity  Total
Parent Company Maturities for external
Shareholders’ equity, 31 Dec. 1998 2,367 3,573 5,994 11,934 interest-bearing liabilities, 31 December 1999
Cash dividends to shareholders - - -651 651 Group Parent Company
Distribution of Sveaskog - - -695 -695 Of which Of which
Cos.ts c.jlrequ related to - - leasing leasing
distribution of Sveaskog - - =35 -3 MSEK Total liabilities  Totat liabilities
Net profit for the year - - 26 26 2000 4.336 39 3710 -
Shareholders’ equity, 31 Dec. 1999 2,367 3,573 4,639 10,579 2001 227 13 171 -
2002 132 20 90 -
2003 1,450 17 1,416 -
Note 17 Provisions for Pensions 2004 24 16 0 -
2005 and thereafter 2,184 39 2,136 -
Group Parent Company Total 8,353 144 7,523 -

MSEK ' 1999 1998 1999 1998
Provisions for pensions, PRUFPG 21 218 - -
Provisions for pensions, other " 1,928 1,454 726 1,012
Total 1,339 1,672 726 1,012

in addition to customary contractual pension commitments on the labour
market, which are charged against the consolidated result in the form of

The maturity structure of credit commitments is affected, apart from the

maturity years of existing foans as listed above, by the fact that an agree-
ment was concluded in 1996 for a seven-year syndicated credit commit-

ment of MUSD 600. This credit commitment corresponds to MSEK 5,107
and has a remaining term of aearly four years.




Interest-bearing liabilities at 31 December 1999, currency
breakdown incl. derivative instruments related to the liabilities

Group
1999 1998
Currency MSEK  Share, %  MSEK  Share, %
MSEK 4,125 49 4187 47
MEUR 2,799 34 2,827 32
MGBP 141 2 520 6
MCZK : 684 8 501 6
MDKK 227 3 304 3
MSKK m 1 151 2
MPLN 110 1 68 -
MCHF ' 62 1 93 1
MNOCK 58 1 143 2
Others 36 - 79 1
Total 8,353 100 8,873 100
Note 19 Non-Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Group Parent Company

MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Long-term liabilities
Liabilities to subsidiaries - - 4788 3453
Other long-term liabilities 45 340 - -
Total 45 340 4,788 3,453
Current liabilities
Advance payments 10 - - -
Accounts payable 2,39 2,306 58 43
Liabilities to subsidiaries - - 50 30
Taxes payable 485 152 - -
Dabt to State to settle against agreed

shareholders’ contribution 28 29 28 29
Other current liabilities 508 811 48 129
Accrued expenses and :

prepaid income 1,299 1,189 422 279
Total 4,726 4,487 606 510
Total non-interest-bearing liabilities 4,771 4,827 5,394 3,963

Note 21 Contingent Liabilities

Group Parent Company

MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998
Guarantees on behalf of subsidiaries - - 85 118
Other contingent liabilities

for subsidiaries - - 146 161
Guarantees and other

contingent liabilities 315 244 127 98
Capital value of pension commitments

in excess of those

stated among liabilities 25 25 - -
Total 340 269 358 377

Capital value of pensicn commitments in excess of amount entered as a

liability, see also Note 17.

" Note 22 Appropriations, Parent Company

Parent Company

MSEK 1999 1998
Group contribution, net - 49
Shareholders’ contributions to subsidiaries 460 -14
Change in capital-based reserve 37 37
Transfer to replacement reserve for land - -4
Utilisation of replacement reserve for land 451 168
Change in tax allocation reserve -16 -
Change in foreign exchange reserve 1 -
Difference between depreciation according to plan

and book depreciation 10 )
Provisions for pensions, surplus -57 S
Total -34 -310

Note 23 Untaxed Reserves, Parent Company

Parent Company

The debt to the State arose in connection with the incorpcration MSEK 1999 1998
agreement whereby AssiDoman tock over the operations of the Swedish Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan
National Forest Service and most of its assets and liabilities. Machinery and equipment 14 23
Buildings 16 17
Land improvements 1 1
‘Note 20 Assets Pledged
Other
Group Parent Company Capital-based reserve 37 74
MSEK 1999 1998 1999 1998 Replacement reserve for land - 451
Property mortgages Tax allocation reserve 215 199
Collateral for debts to ¢redit institutions 448 526 - - Foreign exchange reserve 1 2
Collateral for debts to other lenders 8 8 - - Provisions for pensions, surplus 97 40
Total 456 534 . - - Total 381 807
Chattel mortgages
Collateral for debts to credit institutions 109 200 - -
Collateral for debts to other lenders - 10 - -
Total 109 210 - -
Bank deposits 9 30 8 17
Leased assets 492 677 - -
Total assets pledged 1,066 1,451 8 17




PROPOSED DISPOSITION OF UNAPPROPRIATED EARNINGS

Unrestricted equity as stated in the consolidated balance sheet amounts to MSEK 3,478,

No allocation to restricted reserves is proposed.

Unrestricted equity in the Parenf Company is
Retained earnings, SEK ‘
Net profit for the year, SEK

The Board of Directors and the President propose
that a dividend of SEK 6.00 per share be paid to shareholders,
and that the remaining amount be carried forward to new account, SEK

Stockholm, 17 February 2000

Bernt Magnusson
Chairman

Gunnel Duveblad

Bjdrn Bjornsson
Lars-Ake Helgesson
Roland A Johansson Lars-Olof Pettersson

Per Tegnér Gunnar Palme

President and CEO

4,613,316,900
26,004,668
4,639,321,568

710,238,204

3,929,083,364
4,639,321,568

Hans Carlsson

Roland N Johanson

Carl Wilhelm Ros

AUDIT REPORT

To the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of
AssiDomédn AB. Corporate identity number 556016-9020

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated
acceunts, the accounting records and the administration of the
Board of Directors and the President of AssiDoman AB for the
year 1999. These accounts and the administration of the compa-
ny are the responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Presi-
dent. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual
accounts, the consolidated accounts and the administration
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accept-
ed auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
that the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
accounts. An audit also includes assessing the accounting princi-
ples used and their application by the Board of Directors and the
President, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of infor-
mation in the annual accounts and the consclidated accounts. As
a basis for our opinion concerning discharge from liability, we
examined significant decisions, actions taken and the circum-
stances of the company in order to be able to determine the lia-
bility, if any, to the company of any board member or the Presi-
dent. We also examined whether any board member or the

President has, in any other way, acted in contraventicn of the
Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Asso-
ciation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion set out below.

The annual accounts and the consolidated accounts have
been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and,
thereby, give a true and fair view of the company’s and the
Group’s financial position and results of operations in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden.

Wa recommend to the Annual General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers that the profit and loss accounts and balance sheets of the
Parent Company and the Group be adopted; that the profit for
the Parent Company be dealt with in accordance with the pro-
posal in the administration report and that the members of the
Board of Directors and the President be discharged from liability
for the financial year. i

Stockholm, 22 February 2000

Owe Wallinder Stefan Holmstrom

Authorised Public Authorised Public
Accountant Accountant
Deputy auditor replacing”
regular auditor
Thomas Jansson




¢t provided better printability

Growing demands from the retail trade for attractive and sales-promoting

® packaging is a driving force for AssiDomin’s research and development work.

The demand for higher printing quality has resulted,
among other things, in an extensive training programme
focused on customers. The training is based on a hand-
beok in printing technology in which experiences from
the development work are put to practical use.

Flexo Emballasje A/S, a subsidiary of | D Stengvist AB,
is a mndern paper processing company that
uses kraft paper from AssiDomin in 2 number
of different products. Both production staff and the
sales team at J D Stenqvist have improved their skills in
advanced printing technology as a resuit of this trainin
programme., :

Read more about Research and Development
at AssiDoman on page 12.




ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION
Questions about AssiDoman’s environmental work
should be addressed to:

Corporate Technology & Environment

Telephone: +46 8 655 91 73, 655 91 74, 655 91 54
Fax: +46 8 65594 21

E-mail: environ@asdo.se

Information about the Group’s environmental work and
contacts at business units and the pulp and paper mills
are available on AssiDoman’s website:

www.asdo.se




‘ENVIRONMENTAL STRATEGY

AssiDomaén’s environmental strategy is to work with a holistic approach to
environmental issues in its development of sustainable product solutions. The
environmental management systems at the plants are a key part of this strategy.

STRATEGY FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

At the UN Environmental Conference in Ric de Janeiro in 1992, it
was established that sustainable development has four dimensions:
ecological, economic, social and cultural. The raw material for
AssiDomdn’s operations, the forest, encompasses all these dimen-
sions: ecological forestry that is conducted with a good long-term
return and with social and cultural consideration. This has been
guaranteed through certification according to the FSC's principles
for sustainable forestry. In the industrial operations, a certified envi-
ronmental management system guarantees continual improve-
ments throughout the entire chain all the way to the customer.

AssiDoman’s environmental policy expresses the ambition that

the Group should operate with a view to sustainable development -

and work for this in society. Operations and products must fit into
an ecological cycle so that customers’ requirements are met with-
out comprising the availability of resources for future generations.
AssiDomdn's operations, which depend to a considerable extent
on renewable raw materials, have good chances of playing a
prominent role in the market in both the short and long term.
Customers’ overall view of the perceived benefit of the
Group’s products and of AssiDoman as a cost-effective and envi-
ranmentaily compliant company must be strengthened. This is
why it is a natural part of business development for AssiDoman
to work with a holistic approach to environmental issues and
active efforts to provide society with sustainable product solu-
tions. Ongoing intreduction of and work with environmental

management systems is a very important part of the Group’s
strategy. All in all, this is expected to provide new business
opportunities within those areas in which the Group has
expressed ambitions to develop and lead.

ORGANISATION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL WORK
An environmental forum, Corporate Environmental Council, with
management level representatives from the business units and
the Group’s staff functions, acts as an advisory body to Executive
Group Management. The task of the environmental forum is to
prepare and propose Group-wide environmental strategies.

The Environmental Affairs Department, within Corporate
Technology & Environment, co-ordinates, and provides informa-
tion, training and support relating to environmental work in close
co-operation with plant management, environmental managers
and other employees.

To monitor environmental issues in the countries in which
AssiDoman operates, the Group participates in some 30 internai
and external environmental groups and organisations. The inten-
tion is to create a network so that experiences can be exchanged
and to promote the advantages of wood-based products for
many applications in various contexts.

Communication plays a key role in the Group’s environmental
activities and is used in all customer contacts. Group-wide envi-
ronmental information is communicated by the Environmental
Affairs Department and Corporate Communications.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

CUR ENVIRONMENT
AssiDoman’s operations have an impact on the ‘envi-
ronment, as do all industrial activities. We have a
responsibility, however, to reduce this impact on the
environment as far as this is ecologically and eco-
nomically reasonable. '

AssiDomdn’s commitment to long-term sustain-
able development means that as far as possible we
shall use renewable resources to make products
that are of maximum use with minimum consump-
tion of resources.

Protecting forests, water and air is crucial to
the survival and development of our business. Qur
responsibility to the natural environment is the
same that we owe to our customars, employees,
sharehoiders and society in general.

MAIN GUIDELINES
Continual improvement
Qur environmental efforts will be preventative.
We will seek continual improvement throughout
the full life cycle of our products.

Sustainable forestry and

protection of biological diversity

We will use forestry methods that exploit the for-
est's own ability to renew and sustain itself while
preserving biclogical diversity.

Conservation of resources

‘We will economise on raw materials, conserve
energy and minimise use of non-renewable raw
materials and fuels.

Benign processes

Our manufacturing processes and emissions should
not harm the environment. As far as possible we
will use technology which will increase closure of
process circuits and treatment of emissions.

Waste minimisation, recycling -

and sustainability

We will reduce waste and, as far as possible, recy-
cle waste paper and our own production waste 0
produce new products or energy. We will also
investigate methaods to return nutrients in biofuel
ash to the forest - all of these measures being
ways to promote the sustainable ecological cycle.

Supplier conformity

We will encourage our suppliers to meet the same
standards of environmental awareness and open-
ness that we apply to curselves.

ENVIRONMENTAL MEASURES
Environmental management systems
Each unit will have its own environmental policy that
reflects the corporate policy and its own systems for
implementing environmental controls and audits.
Our employees will receive training and information
to enable them to take responsibility for the environ-
ment in their daily tasks. This will go hand in'hand
with consideration for the working environment.

Environmental planning and

annual environmental statement

Each year each unit will establish improvement tar-
gets and a programme of action. They wiil report
progress in an annual environmental statement.

Openness

Qur manner of dealing with environmental issues
will inspire confidence among our customers,
employees and the general public. We will seek
broad scientific co-operation and open dialogue
with authorities, environmental organisations and
‘our customers. We will review cur goals and meth-
ods regularly in the light of new information.

This policy is part of the
Group’s goals and guidelines.




ENVIRONMENTAL KEY RATIOS

Key ratios for sustainable development and eco-efficiency show that environ-
mental efforts have resulted in improvements in several prioritised areas.

PRICRITISED AREAS AND KEY RATIOS

Objectives for environmental work have been formulated for a
number of prioritised areas in order to steer operations towards
sustainable development. Key ratios for these operations have
been drawn up within these areas which illustrate the development
of environmental impact and eco-efficiency. The introduction of
these key ratios has also started at unit leve! within the Group.

Some of the key ratios measure the long-term sustainable
development of operations, such as ratios that express how
forestry is conducted, renewability of raw materials, use of ener-
gy and the introduction of environmental management systems.

The other key ratios express use of resources and environmen-
tal impact in relation to production volume, expressed as value
added. This makes it possible to express the total production of

different types of products in a uniform manner, i.e. in economic
terms. To allow key ratios that relate to added values to be com-
pared, the method used in Sweden’s National Accounts is
applied. 1995 constitutes the base year. Added values for 1998
and 1999 have been adjusted with the producer price index for
the pulp, paper and paper products industry and the wood prod-
ucts industry respectively. These price calculations in real terms
allow figures from different years to be compared.

The table shows AssiDomén’s objectives within the prioritised
areas and the group-wide key ratios for sustainable development
and eco-efficiency. This information is based on extensive envi-
ronmental statistics from all the Group’s operations. A selection
of key ratios at business unit level is provided in the Description
of Operations starting on page 57.

PRIORITISED AREAS
AND GROUP OBJECTIVES KEY RATIOS" 1999 1998
Forestry
« 100% FSC-certified forestry Proportion of FSC-certified forestry, area Group forests, % 100 100
« Guarantee sustainable forestry Grade according to ecological balance sheet See page 48 See page 48
and biodiversity Felling in relation to growth in Group’s own forests,
incl. forest not under cultivation, % 68 74
Area given special consideration for nature conservation
reasons, % 19 20
Ecocycle compatibility
« Increase the proportion of Proportion of renewable raw materials in AssiDoman’s
renewable resources used _products, excl. water, % 97 97
» Reduce emissions of greenhouse gases €O, equivalents/value added?, g fossil CO¥/SEK 140 158
Energy use
» Use energy more efficiently Total fuel consumptionivalue added, MJ/SEK 4.9* 5.3»
: Total use of electricity/value added, kWh/SEK 0.31° 0.32¢
* Increase use of biofuels Biofuel proportion of total fuel requirements, % 63 60
Biofuel proportion of Swedish pulp and paper mills’ fuel
requirements, % 839 83%
Acid-forming emissions
» Reduce acid-forming emissions Acid-forming equivalents/value added, g SQ./SEK 1.13 1.48
+ Make transport more efficient Emissions of sulphur dioxide, g SO,/tonne-km 0.13 0.15
Emissions of nitrogen oxides, g NO/tonne-km 0.42 - 0.42
Land and water
« Obtain information about and if neces- | Not available See page 53
sary decontaminate polluted land
« Reduce emissions to water Reported at plant level See pages 53, 74-75 See pages 53, 74~75
Products
« Manufacture products with less use of Conversion plants® - landfilled and hazardous waste in
resources and environmental impact relation to the total volume of input raw materials, % 0.7 "+ 0.6
Environmental management systems
« No [ater than year-end 2001 ail units Operations with certified/registered environmental
to have started introducing environ- management system, % of the Group’s net turnover 64 58"
mental management systems

"From nursery to customer including transport. ®Value added is the sum of operating profit before depreciation and staff costs expressed in 1995 fixed prices (Source:
SCB, Statistics Sweden). Value added far the Group in 1999 current prices was MSEK 8,534 (8,605) and MSEK 10,687 (10,250) in fixed prices. *Pulp, paper and paper
goods industry and wood products industry in Sweden, excluding transport, 3.6 MJ/SEK (3.5) (Sources: Swedish Forest Industries Association, the Energy Authority, SCB,
Sweden’s National Accounts). “See footnote 3, 0.37 kWHSEK (0.38). % Sweden's pulp and paper mills, ¢. 80% (80). @ Paper raw material, plastic raw material and chemi-

cals at Corrugated, Sacks and Barrier Coating. "Amended since 1998.




‘COMMENTS ON KEY RATIOS

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Forestry in AssiDoman’s own forests has been 100% certified
since 1998 according to the FSC’s principles for sustainable
forestry. Nearly 30% of the wood raw material for AssiDoman’s
pulp and paper mills and sawmills comes from the Group’s
forests. The total proportion of FSC wood raw material is there-
fore at least that figure. Other wood raw material is purchased
from local forest cwners or imported, to some extent from coun-
tries where FSC certification is not yet available.

The timber reserves increase constantly since growth widely
exceeds felling. In 1999 felling amounted to 68% (74) of growth
for the year.

AssiDomén’s products are made up t0 97% (97) of renewable
raw materials. The products are thus part of an ecological cycle,
not just for material and energy recavery, but also with regard to
ecological cycles in the longer term, i.e. carbon dioxide released
when breaking down or burning a wood product or paper pack-
aging is bound back into the growing forest. Few if any other
products have such ecocycle compatibility.

Energy supply is mostly based on renewable energy sources.
The greater part of the Group’s fuel requirement, approximately
63% (60), is met by biofuels. AssiDoman’s aim is to raise this pro-
portion still further. For the Group an increased use of biofuels
will lead to lower costs in the form of taxes and charges.

ECO-EFFICIENCY
AssiDoman endeavours to make its operations eco-efficient, to
produce more and obtain greater financial benefit with less
resources and less environmental impact.

The key ratios for energy use are highly suitable for following
up energy efficiency. Related to value added, the key ratios for
fuel consumption and use of electricity indicate that efforts made
10 enhance energy efficiency have paid off. The main reasons are
acticn taken at the pulp and paper mill Sepap and changes in
transport systems.

Another measure of the eco-efficiency of fuel supply and also
of global climate impact is emissions of fossil carbon dioxide,
expressed as carbon dioxide equivalents, in relation to value
added. This key ratio shows a clear positive trend due, among
other things, to the measures referred to above.

it is important to further reduce the use of energy and emis-
sions of fossil carbon dioxide through greater energy efficiency
and a review of fuel composition. The Group’s energy supply and
environmental impact, which are connected to this, are being
examined in a project as part of the Profit Improvement Program
(see page 6).

Energy use is the main source of emissions of acid-forming
substances from the Group’s operations. The acidifying properties
of sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxides are combined to a mea-
sure, acid-forming equivalents, which placed in relation to value
added expresses eco-efficiency. The progress that was reported
using this key ratio in 1998 shows that the positive trend contin-
ued in 1999. '

ENVIRONMENTAL ACCOUNTS
A significant portion of investments made in operations have
taken the form of environmental improvements. The need for
measures that are totally environmentally criented has gradually
decreased and accounted for 5% (18) of total capital expendi-

tures in 1999, The actual proportion of environment-related
investments is actually considerably higher since mast invest-
ments also provide environmentai gains.

- Costs for electricity and fossif fuels in the forestry operations
and at the plants accounted for approximately 65% of environ-

~mental costs in 1999. In addition to direct costs, the use of ener-

gy leads to indirect costs in the form of taxes and charges. Energy
efficiency will thus lead to improved profitability.

Water costs have risen compared with 1998. This was not due
to increased water consumption but a result of higher prices for
what in some countries is a resource in increasingly short supply.

The focus on ecologically compatible forestry methods accord-
ing to the FSC’s criteria provided additional revenues from sales

. of sawn timber and paper pulp. These additional revenues

amounted to approximately MSEK 12 in 1999 and are expected
to rise as market demand grows.

Active environmental work strengthens brands and goodwill.
At the same time the level of competence among the Group's
employees and external stakeholders is raised. It has proved diffi-
cult to express the financial advantages of the introduction of
environmental measures and active environment work in mone-
tary terms. The reascn for this is that environmentai work has
become increasingly integrated with economic and market-relat-
ed activities. Taken overall, the impact of environmental aspects
cannot be separated from other factors.

External stakeholders’ evaluation of the Group’s environmen-
tal work must also be included as value added, although this is
very difficuit to quantify. Examples of this are AssiDomén’s inclu-
sion in the green funds of several banks and institutions. This
marks approval of the Group according to a long list of environ-
mental criteria.

In addition, AssiDoman was included on the Dow Jones Sus-
tainability Group Indexes during the year. This is a stock index
that lists the world’s top companies in terms of good manage-
ment and awareness of social, economic and environmental
issues. The listed companies are regarded as able to achieve their
goals by integrating economic opportunities with responsibility
for environmental and human resources issues.

ENVIRONMENTAL-ECONOMIC DATA
MSEK 1999 1998
Environmental investments” 80 400

Environmental costs
Depreciation® on environmental investments,

operating expenses 283 275
Environmental management and certificationv/registraton 6 16
Environmental taxes and charges for emissions 95 115
Waste management 486 55
Packaging charges ¢ ) 4%  6°
Other? . . 22 23

Costs for electricity and fossil fuels® 950 945
Costs for water 67 44
Sales revenues from by-products 130 76

v Investments made entirely for environmental reasons. »The ratio of environ-
mental investments to total investments was 5% in 1999, In 1994-1997, this
ratio was estimated at 18%. Assumed deprediation period is 10 years.
»Operating costs include inspection charges and environmental analyses.
“Collection system in Europe. "The lower charge compared with 1998 was
due to a reduced charge for collection in the UK. ® Amended since 1998
Exceeding licence limits, decontamination (performed and planned), environ-
mental insurance. YExcluding environmental taxes and charges for emissions.




FORESTRY

The ecological balance sheet for 1999 shows a substantial improvement in
implementation of pre-commerdial thinning, in terms of site adaptation,
nature conservation and water conservation. This creates conditions for eco-
nomically valuable stands in the future, which also have high natural values.

The goals for AssiDomén’s forestry are to maintain a high and
sustainable financial return, long-term viable ecosystems and to
preserve biodiversity. Preserved biodiversity means that all the
present plant and animal species will be maintained in viable
numbers in the landscapes where AssiDoman operates. Achieving
this requires knowledge of the landscape and its natural values.

Ecological landscape planning is therefore being used to establish

which habitats in the forest landscape need to be strengthened.
This work is being carried out in all AssiDomaén’s forest holdings
and is expected to be completed in 2002.

Key biotopes are distinctive areas with particularly high natu-
ral values and their character is such that they contain or can be
expected to contain red-listed species, i.e. species that the
Swedish Threatened Species Unit consider to be endangered, rare
or in need of special protection. The inventory of key biotopes on
AssiDomaén’s lands is now in its final phase and is expected to be
completed during 2000. .

Of AssiDomaén’s productive forest land, 2.4 million ha, 19% is
given special attention for ecological reasons. Nature reserves
and other areas not covered by landscape plans account for 6%,
while areas requiring everyday consideration - sensitive biotopes,
edge zones and forest groups - account for 13%.

ECOLOGICAL BALANCE SHEET
AssiDoman has prepared an ecologicai balance sheet every year
since 1993. The balance sheet is a follow-up of how the Group's
policy and instructions for forestry are being adhered to in choice
of forest management and nature conservation measures and
how these measures are carried out in practice.

The review is conducted in three sections: regeneration
felling, thinning and pre-commerciai thinning, where grades are
awarded for site adaptation (choice of production-promoting
measures), nature conservation and water conservation.

The grades for regeneration felling, compared with 1998, are
more or less unchanged for site adaptation and nature conserva-
tion, but noticeably higher for water conservation. Training work
in 1999, combined with the introduction of the new handbook

Key biotope in northemn Sweden. An aromatic fungus, Haploporus edor-
us, can be seen on one of the trees. This wood fungus needs special pro-
tection and was used to perfume the linen cupboard in bygone days.

on regeneration planning, are expected to lead to a general
improvement in results in the next balance sheet.

Compared with the previous year, the 1999 balance sheet gave
thinning slightly higher grades for site adaptation and nature con-
servation, while the grade for water conservation was slightly
lower. The latter was mainly because deciduous trees were not
favoured sufficiently in edge zones around watercourses. The pro-
portion of deciduous trees continues to grow, however, from 6.1%
in 1998 to 8.4% in 1999 on productive forest land.

The pre-commercial thinning balance sheet shows higher
grades in every category, particularly for site adaptation. Improve-
ments regarding the level of thinning out, the type of tree favoured

" and regulation of the proportion of deciduous trees are examples

of factors that contributed to this. Provided thinning continues to

. be done correctly, future tree stands will show clear traces of this.

The balance sheet also shows that most measures were car-
ried out in accordance with set plans. Where deviation from plan
occurred, this was usually better from a production and environ-
mental viewpaint.

REGENERATION FELLING

PRE-COMMERCIAL

THINNING THINNING

The evaluation of each regeneration
felling, thinning and precommercial
thinning, respectively, results in three
different grades: site adaptation,
nature conservation and water conser-
vation. Grades are awarded on a five-

is the highest grade.

point scale, where 3 is adequate and 5 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999
smes Site adaptation

1996 1997 1998 1999 1998 1999

: Water conservation

weewen - Nature conservation




ECOLOGICAL CYCLES

AssiDoman’s operations have a high potential for ecocycie compatibility
which leads to ecological sustainability. The proportion of renewable raw
materials in the Group’s products is 97 %.

THE MATERIAL CYCLE
Effective utilisation of resources is important both from environ-
mental and economic aspects. AssiDoman makes its operations
ecocycle compatible by increasing utilisation of renewable
resources and by making products which use less resources and
lead to less production residue and waste.

The greater part of the Group's operations are based on re-
newable raw materials such as round timber and chips - which
are used as a source of both fibre and energy - recycled fibre and
starch. The proportion of renewable raw materials in AssiDoman’s
products (key ratio) was 97% (97) in 1999.

The non-renewable input materials used are certain chemicals
and plastics. The pulp and paper mills account for most of the
chemical utilisation. Plastic barriers are necessary to obtain opti-
mal properties in some products, for example when resistance
against moisture and grease is required. Efforts are made to use
the thinnest possible coating.

The waste situation is improving continucusly at the plants.
This is being done by reducing the volume of waste that is
formed and by pre-sorting which allows recycling. Several pro-
jects are under way within the Group aimed at finding alternative
applications for waste. These include preparing and restoring bio-
fuel ash to forest land. Approximately half of landfilled waste in
1999 is estimated to have such ecclogical and/or econemic value
that it can be used in the future.

At the conversion plants the volume of landfilled and haz-
ardous waste in relation to the volume of total input raw materi-
als was 0.7% (0.6) (key ratio).

RAW MATERIAL USE 1999 1998

Wood raw material to pulp and paper
mills and sawmills, sm*ub
Externally purchased paper

9,865,000 9,934,000

raw material, tonnes 903,000 705,000
Plastic raw material, tonnes 42,000 38,200
Qther input material, tonnes 342,000 319,000
WASTE
Hazardous waste, tonnes 1,680 1,930
Landfilled waste, tonnes 201,000 303,000

THE CARBON CYCLE
Carbon dioxide is stored in forests and land by the photosynthesis
of green plants. This store of carbon dioxide, known as a carbon
sink, is very important for limiting the impact of emissions of
greenhouse gases. Many countries in the world have signed inter-
national agreements, the best known is the Kyoto Protocol, to
reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. This can be done by saving
energy or by changing the source cf energy, for example by chang-
ing from fossil fuels to biofuels or from oil to fossil gas. Another
way is to conduct active and long-term sustainable forestry which
achieves high growth and therefore binds carbon dioxide.

BINDING AND EMISSIONS OF CARBON DIOXIDE, CO,, 1999

Binding to 1.7 million tonnes
€0, from other sources, 17%

Binding of 1.5 million
tonnes CO,corresponding
to AssiDoman’s -
emissions of fassil
C0,, 15%

Felling in own forest,
6.7 million tannes
€0, 68%

Growth in own forest, 9.9 million tonnes CO,

Approximately 70% of forest growth is felled each year in
AssiDoman’s forests, making them a significant carbon sink.

This growth exceeds the total use of wood raw material at
AssiDoman’s industries by 15%. Emissions of carbon dioxide from
AssiDomin’s operatians caused by fossil fuels are considerably less
than the annual net binding (growth minus felling) of carbon diox-
ide in the Group’s forests. This means that in addition to this
amount of carbon dioxide, there is capacity in AssiDomén’s forests
to bind carbon dioxide from other sources in the community.

The sawn and processed wood products, which are manufac-
tured within AssiDomén can also be regarded as carbon sinks since
more carbon dioxide is bound in these products than is released in
the production process. The opposite is the case for many alterna-
tive building materials. Long-lasting wood constructions therefore
help to reduce the addition of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere.

Corrugated board packaging is made from both virgin and recycled
fibre depending on the demands placed on the packaging. Ecocycle
compatibility is considerable: renewable raw materials, transport-
efficient packaging and recyclable materials.




ENERGY

The Group endeavours to make its energy supply more ecologically compati-
ble. Biofuel is the dominant source of energy to meet fuel requirements.

AssiDoman’s fuel requirements, taken overall from the nurseries
to the customers for the industrial products, are based to 63%
(60) on renewable fuels (key ratio). These are biofuels, such as
forest fuels, bark, black liquor, sawdust and tall oil, which are
used in the pulp and paper mills and in the sawmills. In principle
it can be said that the part of the wood raw material that does
not become a product is used as energy in the processes.
Resource utilisation is therefore effective.

The pulp and paper mills use the most energy, in the form of
heating and electricity. The Swedish mills use a higher proportion
of biofuels than the mills on the European conitinent, approxi-
mately 83% (83) compared with 69% (67) which is the average
for all the Group’s mills (key ratio). This is due to many factors
such as energy supply in the country concerned, access to biofu-
els, capacity and performance of the boilers, and finances.

Despite the high proportion of biofuels, the pulp and paper
mills account for the largest part of AssiDoman’s total use of fos-
sil fuels, mainly oil, fossil gas and coal. A mill that manufactures
paper pulp from virgin fibre uses fossil fuels, mainly as support
for the biofuel-based process. A recycled-fibre mill runs more or
less entirely on fossil fuels.

The Swedish mills have good access to low-sulphur heating
oif, while the mills in Central Europe are mostly obliged to use
environmentally poorer grades of fossil fuels such as brown coal,
which has a lower calorific value than oil and causes considerably
higher emissions to air and more waste.

Combustion technology has been improved in the pulp and
paper mills’ boilers, including those at Sepap and Dynas. For many
sawmills it has been found to be both economically and environ-
mentally advantageous to outsource energy production to an ener-
gy company. The group-wide project, being conducted within the
framework of the Profit Improvement Program (see page 6), which
is designed to reduce energy consumption by reviewing fuet com-
position and making it more effective, will provide information as
to where and how additional measures should be taken.

A considerable volume of electricity - back-pressure power -

is produced using steam turbines in the pulp and paper mills.
The electricity requirements in the Swedish plants can be met to
approximately 30% using electricity produced on site. This can
be seen in the table which shows energy use for Swedish condi-
tions.

USE OF ENERGY AT THE SWEDISH PULP AND PAPER MILLS
1999 1998
Biofuels
Internally generated, T) 25,500 25,100
Purchased, T) 1,940 2,130
Fossil fuels, TJ 5,720 5,600
Total fuels, T) 33,160 32,830
of which for own electricity production, T) 2,600 2,580
Internally generated electricity, GWh 580 570
Purchased electricity GWh - 1,450 1,450
Total use of electricity, GWh 2,030 2,020

Increasingly fuel-efficient machines are being used in the forestry
operations. The conversion plants have a small energy require-
ment compared with the pulp and paper mills. Several of them
use fossil gas, which produces far less emissions than oil.

At the transport stage, continuous work is being carried out
to find new solutions that are energy and cost effective. Qne
example of this is Rail 99 (see page 52), a new low-energy and
eco-compliant transport system on the railways.

Reduced use of energy is a target for a growing number of
plants as environmental management systems are introduced.
This means that energy saving plans are being drawn up.

At some plants low-energy heat is recovered which is sold to
municipalities and energy companies. These include Sepap, Kraft-
liner, Frévi and Starovo, which supply hot water to the local dis-
trict heating network.

TOTAL ENERGY USE

USE OF FOSSIL FUELS

USE OF ELECTRICAL ENERGY

(54,100 TH

(21,400 T))

Forestry, 2% saumils 0% Sawmills, 3.5%
fossil fuels, Biofuels, 63% Conversion, 7.5% Conversion, 6.5% P :lpe ? rr‘nq“s
/ ) —_— H
7% O Transport, 2% ?pt?rchased
??2/: Pt Pulp and electricity),
paper mills 54%
{own
Pulp and elec(ridty
paper mils, production),
3% 34%
Total: 54,600 T) Totah: 20,000 T) Total: 3,330 GWR

(3,270 GWh)




ACIDIFICATION

Improved combustion technology, rebuilding of combustion equipment,
changed fuel compositions, and environmental adaptation of transport
systems, have resulted in lower emissions of acid-forming substances.

Acid-forming emissions are substances containing sulphur, mainly

sulphur dioxide, SO,, and nitrogen oxides, NO,. Sulphur stems

from combustion of fuels containing sulphur and from pulp man-

ufacture. Nitrogen oxides are formed from all types of combus-
tion, particularly.in combustion engines used in transport. Emis-
sions can be reduced by using low-sulphur fuels, efficient
combustion technology and various cleaning methods.

A significant source of AssiDomén’s SO, emissions is the
brown coal that is used in the Czech and Slovakian pulp and
paper mills. Several projects are under way to raise energy effi-
ciency, change fuel compositions and install cleaning equipment.

NOQ; emissions are far more difficult to combat. Changed
combustion technology and rebuilding boilers to reduce NO, are
examples of action taken,

More eco-efficient efforts, as regards NO, emissions, can be
made in transport. Route runs, increased load factors, a change-
over to rail from road and sea, and increased demands for clean-

ing eguipment in hauliers’ vehicles will lead to reduced emissions.

Since land usage can also lead to acidification of soil and
water, it is important that forestry is adapted to the pH value of
the site. This is taken into account in forestry planning at
AssiDomén.

Emissions from AssiDomén have decreased considerably in
recent years, both at the plants and in transport. The focus has
been on eco-efficient measures, i.e. those that provide major
environmental benefits in relation to costs.

Examples of action taken:

* New combustion technology and rebuilding of the boilers at
Sepap have reduced SO, emissions by 2,430 tonnes, corre-
sponding to approximately 70% compared with 1998,

¢ Changeover to brown coal and oil with a lower sulphur con-
tent at Sturovo and Sepap and from ail to fossil gas at several
conversion plants.

Acidification of soil and water is mainly caused by acid-forming sub-
stances from energy plants, industry, transport and agriculture. Acidi-
fication upsets the ecological balance between organisms and their
surroundings. Species may risk elimination and the forest can become
more sensitive to impact from climate and disease. Tree lungwort
{Lobaria pulmonaria) is a species that is sensitive to acidification.

* Installation of a new gas boiler with heat recovery at Karisborg
has reduced SO, emissions by nearly 20%.

» Changed fuel composition at Skarblacka has reduced SO,
emissions by nearly 20%. :

» The Rail 99 transport system means that acid-forming emis-
sions from AssiDomaén’s transport operations will decrease by
approximately 5%.

The key ratio for emissions of acid-forming substances, i.e.
acid-forming equivalents in relation to value added, was 1.13 g
SO,/SEK in 1999, a reduction of 24% compared with 1998.

SULPHUR DIOXIDE, SO,

NITROGEN OXIDES, NOx

(Forestry, 0.03%)
Sawmills, 0.5%

Conversion, 2.5%

Pulp and
paper mills,

Transport, 25%
part. 5% 72%

Total: 5,180 tonnes
(8,160 tonnes)

Forestry, 5% Sawmills, 2%
Conversion, Nk
2%

Pulp and
paper mills,
Transport, 49%

42%

Totak: 9,870 tonnes
(10,000 tonnes)




TRANSPORT

The environmental impact of AssiDomén’s transport operations is
decreasing. An important contribution is made by the Rail 99 transport
system where a large part of the Group’s products are transported by rail

from Sweden to Central Europe.

Transport is an essential part of AssiDomén’s operations, but it does
cause environmental impact. AssiDoman has therefore had group-
wide environmental guidelines for its transport activities since 1996.
The overriding goal is to focus on measures that are eco-efficient,
1.e. provide considerable environmental gains in relation to costs.
Environmental work involves making the Group’s own incom-
ing and outgoing transport more effective and meeting customer
demands for the development of transport-efficient packaging
systems for the distribution of food, for example. Greater effi-
ciency means better load factors, less empty runs, suitable combi-
nations of road, rail and sea transport — measures which in most
cases are both economically and environmentally advantageous.
One example is Rail 99, :
Product development towards light, strong and customised pack-
aging favours paper packaging from an environmental viewpaint in
competition with packaging made from other materials.

RAIL 89
In 1999, AssiDomén signed a multi-year agreement with SJ
Cargo Group and DB Cargo AG of Germany for a rail transport
system, called Rail 39, intended for parts of AssiDoman’s freight
transport. This new system means that some transport that was
previously carried out by road and sea will be transferred to the
railways. However, most of the freight that will be transported
under Rail 89 previcusly went by rail.

An environmental impact assessment of energy use and emis-
sions has been conducted to illustrate the environmental gains of
the new transport system. This survey was carried out for those
product flows for which the type of transport will be changed, a
total of approximately 320,000 tonnes per year.

The use of fossil fuels and emissions of carbon dioxide will be
more than halved, while other emissions will decrease by 80-
80% per year. Compared with similar values for all transport to
and from the Swedish plants in 1338, the reductions will be 5%
for fossil fuels and carbon dioxide, 5% for sulphur dioxide and
7% for nitrogen oxides.

The new transport system will provide environmental improve-
ments in several prioritised areas for AssiDoman’s environmental
work, such as use of fossil energy, emissions of acid-forming sub-
stances and ecocycle compatibility. The changeover to the new
transport system will also ensure shorter lead times and better
service.
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ENVIRONMENTAL GAINS FROM RAIL 99
FOR TRANSPORT OF 320,000 TONNES OF PRODUCTS

Pre-

Rail 99  Rail 99

Fossil fuels, T} 110 252

: S0, tonnes 5.3 65.7

: NOy, tonnes 52.6 296

; CH, tonnes 24 4.4
_ Particulates,

tonnes 1.6 10.5

CO, tonnes 6.8 47 .1

CO,, tonnes 7,940 19,000

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT FROM TRANSPGRY
The annual survey of the environmental impact from all
AssiDomin’s transport flows, from the nurseries to the customer,
shows a steady improvement. This is due to the transfer to low-
sulphur fuels, both for road and sea transport, as well as to a
change of transport system from road and sea to rail for a large
volume of paper and sawn timber (Rail 99). Future environmentat
work will concentrate on new eco-efficient measures to reduce
emissions of nitrogen oxides and fossil carbon dioxide.

TRANSPORT 1999 1998
Per Per
Total tonne-km Total tonne-km
Transport work,
million tonne-km 9,830 9,850
Road, million tonne-km 2,780 2,960
Rail, million tonne-km 1,710 1,700
Sea, million tonne-km 5,340 5,190
Fossil fuels, TJ, MJ 3,350 0.34 3,990 0.40
Electricity, GWh, kwh 73.3 0.0075 74.0 0.0075
SQO,, tonnes, g 1,290 0.13 1,470 0.15
NOy, tonnes, g 4,120 0.42 4,170 0.42
CO0,, tonnes, g 251,000 26 270,000 27




LAND AND WATER

The introduction of measures to prevent impact on land and water has
a high priority in the Group’s environmental work. One sign of success is the
reduced emissions to water of organic material, COD.

. . LAND

Work is under way to investigate any residual environmental
impact from earlier operations at the Group’s plants. Within the
environmental management systems, investigations into the risks
of land pollution from current activities are made. These investi-
gations cover land and groundwater. '

During the year these investigations led to lagoons at treat-
ment plants being dredged and landfill sites restored and closed
down. Furthermore, oil leaks were found at some plants. Decont-
amination was carried out and measures introduced to pravent
similar incidents. Containment dikes around chemical storage,
installation of collection and monitoring systems, and employee
training programmes are examples of such measures.

Investigations carried out so far have not revealed anything
requiring high-cost decontamination or restoration.

Corporate Risk Management assesses the fire risk at the
Group’s plants on an annual basis. Plants in France and Spain
have been found to have transformers that contain PCB oils. A
decision has been made to change these as soon as possible.

WATER
Water is an essential resource for AssiDomén'‘s operations. The
largest volumes are used in the pulp and paper mills which con-
sumed a total of 171 million m? (173) of water in 1999. Reducing
water consumption is important, for economic and environmen-
tal reasons, even though this is not a critical issue for the Swedish
mills. For example, Skarblacka’s annual intake of water from the
Motala channel is only 1% of the water flow.

The water issue has a higher priority for plants in continental
Europe where availability of water is more limited and the envi-
ronmental situaticn in the receiving water more sensitive due to
lower flows. Lecoursonnais has had an almost completely closed
system for several years, including several cleaning stages, in
order to reduce use and discharges of water. Ania is aiso plan-
ning to make additional parts of its water system closed.

In pulp and paper manufacture the paper fibres are released
when the wood's binding substance, lignin, is dissolved in water
with the aid of chemicals. The organic material that is dissolved,
known as black liguor, has a high calorific value and is therefore
burned for energy production. The chemicals are recovered in the
plants’ recycling system. The organic material that remains in the
pulp is washed out and collected together with nitrogen, phos-
phorus and chemicals in the waste water, which-undergoes exter-
nal treatment at some plants.

The Group's total emissions to water have decreased. This is
largely attributable to the rebuilding of the treatment plant at
Skarblacka which cut emissions by half. Emissions have also
decreased at Frovi.

Recent research has shown that a biological treatment plant
does not always give the effluent from today’s modern pulp and
paper processes better environmental characteristics. An industry-
wide study is under way to obtain the basis for assessment of the
need, and environmental benefits, of such cleaning methods.

Water consumption was reduced substantially at the conver-
sion plants. Many plants have introduced or are planning to
install treatment systems for effluent. This effiuent is far easier to
treat and contains far lower volumes of pollutants than effluent
from the pulp and paper mills.

EMISSIONS TO WATER 1999 1998
COD, tonnes 42,600 46,700
AQX, tonnes 79 90
Total N, tonnes . 353 493
Tota! P, tonnes 43 68
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things, to reduced emissions to water and fower noise levels.

A new wood room to handle incoming wood raw material went into operation at Skérblacka at the beginning of 2000. It will lead, among other




PRODUCTS

AssiDoman’s products, which are mainly based on renewable raw materials,
fit well into an ecologically aware scciety. Environmental product declara-
tions present environment performance on these in a comprehensive manner.

Wood-based products have a key role in an ecologically aware
society. Market demand for sustainable and resource-efficient
products is rising. Products which are mainly based on renewable
raw materials that are used in a resource-efficient manner there-
fore provide market advantages and create long-term competi-
tiveness.

PACKAGING DIRECTIVE
The EU’s Packaging and Packaging Waste Directive, which was

* adopted in 1994, sets definitive recovery targets for packaging.

As a packaging manufacturer, AssiDoman helps to finance recy-
cling in countries where systems are being built up. The directive
also stipulates that all packaging placed on the market must
meet “essential requirements”. Weight and volume must be min-
imised without lowering hygiene and safety standards. Levels of
heavy metals and other undesirable substances must also be min-
imised and packaging must be suitable for recycling through
material recovery, energy recovery or composting. AssiDomén’s
products meet these requirements.

Capadity for recycling plastic-coated paper, on the other hand,
is currently insufficient in the European market. It is important to
influence development of recycling of plastic-coated paper, while
at the same time it is very important to inform customers and
politicidns of the advantages and benefits of this type of paper
product. )

A revised version of the Packaging Directive is expected to
come into force at the end of 2001. The targets for material recy-
cling will be raised. Product development being conducted at
AssiDomén is in line with the proposed changes.

As support for the Packaging Directive, standards will be
adopted in 2000. One of these deals with the criteria for assess-
ing the compostability of packaging on a commercial scale. Sacks
manufactured using paper from Kraft Products meet the com-
postability requirements.

ENVIRONMENTAL PRODUCT DECLARATION

An environmental product declaration provides a comprehensive
description of a product’s environmental performance. For paper
packaging this means that environmental impact from every
stage, from the nursery through manufacture, is documented. In
1999, an environmental product declaration was formulated for
Dynas’ kraft and sack paper in accordance with the standards in
the I1SO 14000 series.

This environmental product declaration model will now be
used for other products from AssiDomén. The environmental
product declaration is an aiternative to other types of environ-
mental information such as the Swan label and the EU flower.

FSC-LABELLED PRODUCTS
FSC-labelled products have been manufactured and sold from
AssiDoman’s sawmills and wood processing units for a couple of
years. AssiDoman is the market leader for these products for

Interest is growing among customers for simply formulated environ-
mental information. This can be met with an environmental product
declaration which provides a comprehensive description of a prod-
uct’s environmental characteristics.

which there is strong demand in the UK, France, Belgium, Spain
and the Netherlands. Buyers’ groups have been formed in several
countries. There are other systems in the market for certification
of forestry and wood products, but FSC has gained wide and
international acceptance, including recognition from environmen-
tal organisations which increases credibility. The market for FSC-
labelled products is expected to grow both geographically and in
volume.

New rules apply to FSC-labelling of products from March
2000. These rules mean that sawn timber which is manufactured
using at least 70% FSC-certified raw materials can be eco-
labelled. Pulp and paper products can be eco-labelled when the
proportion of FSC-labelled virgin-fibre raw materials is at least
30% of the total content of virgin fibre in the product. This will
strengthen opportunities for AssiDoman to increase market
shares for such products. Karisborg is one of the few mills in the
world that manufactures FSC-labelled paper pulp.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Environmental work at AssiDoman is part of the regular business opera-
tions. Introduction of and work with environmental management systems
are key parts of the environmental strategy and are expected to provide
environmental improvements and efficiency gains.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT WORK
AssiDoman regards the systematic introduction of environmental
management systems on a broad front as a long-term and impor-
tant investment. The environmental management system helps to
widen the environmental concept - fife cycles are highlighted for
processes and products.

A farge part of the Group's operations have an environmental
management system that is certified according to IS0 14001
and/or registered according to EMAS.

The requirements in the systems are adapted for small and
large operations and for forestry or industrial activities.

Several years of work with these systems means that many
units have completed a thorough systematic review of their own
organisation and set up environmental objectives. Programmes
with set targets and clear divisions of responsibility and resources
contribute to action being taken in the right places. Systems for
following up environmental performance simplify reporting and
future work.

Local authorities regularly check that operations are conduct-
ed in accordance with current legistation and environmental
terms and conditions. Independent, accredited environmental
controllers make detailed examinations and audit the environ-
mental management systems. Any inadequacies detected are
remedied and new routines are introduced where necessary.

Training employees in environmental matters is important if
an environmental management system is to function in the day-
to-day operations. One prereqguisite if targets are to be met is the
involvement of every employee and extensive co-operation at all
levels. This leads to better control of the use of raw materials,
lower emissions and less waste. In order to ensure a high envi-
ronmental quality at operations linked to the Group, demands
are also placed on suppliers, contractors and hauliers. To an
increasing extent, AssiDoman can therefore satisfy customer
demands for a high environmental quality in its processes and

AssiDomédn endeavours to reduce negative
impact on seas, lakes and watercourses.
Clean water is a symbol for well-function-
ing environmental work.

products. Taken overall, this work is expected to provide environ-
mental improvements and significant efficiency gains and sav-
ings.

As a resuit of acquisitions, AssiDomén has expanded into new
markets. The Group’s environmental policy provides a common
platform for environmental work in all the countries in which the
Group cperates.

A review of the Group’s future structure is under way which
means that work with environmental management systems has
not yet started at several plants. During the year, however, several
initialenvironmental reviews were performed at conversion
plants.

ENVIRONMENTAL CERTIFICATION
At year-end 1999, énvironmental management systems certified
according to 1SO 14001 and/or registered according to EMAS
were in place at operations corresponding to 4% (58) of the
Group's net turnover (key ratio). The considerable experience
gained from work so far is now being used and provides incen-
tives for plants that have recentl